

Programa de Doctorado en Matemática Aplicada



UNIVERSIDAD DEL BÍO-BÍO

MODELLING AND NUMERICAL ANALYSIS OF NONLOCAL CONSERVATION LAWS WITH APPLICATIONS TO SEDIMENTATION AND TRAFFIC FLOW PROBLEMS.

Thesis submitted to Universidad del Bío-Bío in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor en Matemática Aplicada

by Harold Deivi contreras Contreras

Director: Dr. Luis Miguel Villada Osorio Co-director: Dr. Raimund Bürger Co-director: Dra. Felisia Angela Chiarello

MODELLING AND NUMERICAL ANALYSIS OF NONLOCAL CONSERVATION LAWS WITH APPLICATIONS TO SEDIMENTATION AND TRAFFIC FLOW PROBLEMS.

POR

HAROLD DEIVI CONTRERAS CONTRERAS

Tesis presentada al Programa de Doctorado en Matemática Aplicada, de la Universidad del Bío-Bío, como requisito parcial para la obtención del Grado de Doctor en Matemática Aplicada.

APROBADA POR:

Dr. Luis Miguel Villada Osorio Director Departamento de Matemáticas, Universidad del Bío-Bío

Dr. Raimund Bürger Co-Director Departamento de Ingeniería Matemática, Universidad de Concepción

> Dra. Felisia Angela Chiarello Co-Director

Scienze dell'Informazion

Dipartimento di Ingegneria e Scienze dell'Informazione e Matematica, Università degli Studi dell'Aquila

Dra. Veronica Anaya Domínguez Profesor Informante Departamento de Matemáticas, Universidad del Bío-Bío

Dr. Pep Mulet Mestre Profesor Informante Departamento de Matemáticas, Universidad de Valencia

Dr. Víctor Osores Escalona Profesor Informante Departamento de Matemática, Física y Estadística, Universidad Católica del Maule UNIVERSIDAD DEL BÍO-BÍO FACULTAD DE CIENCIAS DEPARTAMENTO DE CIENCIAS BÁSICAS DEPARTAMENTO DE MATEMÁTICA

Dedicatoria

A mi madre, Rosa Contreras, por darme existencia y unicidad, por su lucha incansable que ha sido mi inspiración para cada una de las metas que he alcanzado en mi vida. Te amo muchísimo ma. A mi compañera de vida, Andy; a mi Padre, Jorge Contreras; a mis hermanos,

Jorge y Kelly y a mis sobrinos, Kaky, Sebas, Unanys, Julieth, Skarleth y Kiara. A ustedes por permitir que la sucesión de mis años de vida converja a una única solución de entropía llamada Felicidad.

Agradecimientos

Quiero empezar dando gracias a Dios por permitirme estar donde estoy, por ponerme en el lugar correcto y rodearme de las personas correctas en el tiempo correcto.

Agradezco también a mi director de tesis, Luis Miguel Villada Osorio, por permitirme trabajar junto a él, por cada enseñanza, por su paciencia y sobre todo por su hospitalidad y humanidad, él tiene un don de gente único en esta vida. Así mismo, agradezco a mis codirectores, Raimund Bürger y Felisia Chiarello por aceptar trabajar conmigo y sumar su gran conocimiento a mi persona, los admiro mucho porque son grandes científicos.

Gracias a mi compañera de vida y de mil batallas, Andy, has sido un pilar fundamental para mí y un valioso aporte emocional con el que he contado siempre, más aún en pandemia, alejados de nuestros seres amados.

Gracias a mi familia, quienes desde la distancia siempre me han brindado su apoyo y amor incondicional, por respetar mi decisión de salir de mi país a vivir esta experiencia maravillosa de mi vida que hoy culmina con esta tesis.

Gracias a mis profesores del programa de Doctorado en Matemática Aplicada por brindarme sus conocimientos, por su amistad dentro y fuera de las aulas de clases, aprendí mucho de ustedes.

A mis compañeros y amigos del Doctorado en Matemática Aplicada, gracias por brindarme su amistad en todos estos años, en especial con quienes inicié este camino, Yocelyn, María, Helí y José. También agradezco a quienes fueron apareciendo en el camino y con quienes viví muchos carretes además de situaciones inolvidables, Claudio, Juancho, Yvan Baldera, Luis, Ana Rosa, Pedro, Marcelo y, obviamente la colonia de colombianos que me hicieron recordar nuestro pedazo de tierra, Alberth, Rubén, Barajas, Eider, Iván Velásquez, Rafael Ordoñez, Rafael

Acosta.

Gracias a Ginette por toda la colaboración brindada siempre. Nunca había conocido una secretaria tan eficiente en mi vida, pero sobre todo, nunca había conocido una secretaria tan amable.

Agradezco especialmente al programa de Doctorado en Matemática Aplicada por el financiamiento brindado los tres primeros años de mis estudios mediante la beca UBB para estudios doctorales. Así mismo, agradezco el financiamiento a la Agencia Nacional de Investigación y Desarrollo (ANID) por el financiamiento brindado mediante la Beca de Doctorado Nacional 2021. También agrdezco a las diferentes instancias que financiaron mis estadías investigativas en Francia y España.

Quiero expresar un agradecimiento especial a Paola Goatin por permitirme realizar una estadía investigativa en el INRIA y por su hospitalidad mientras estuve allí trabajando con ella.

Por último, pero no menos importante, quiero dar gracias a dos profesores de la Universidad de Sucre que me dieron el empujon que necesitaba para tomar la decisión definitiva de venir a estudiar un doctorado, ellos son Félix Rozo y Melba Vertel. De entre todos los consejos que me han podido dar en la vida, creo que ese fue el mejor.

RESUMEN

Esta tesis tiene como objetivo el modelamiento, análisis y aproximación numérica mediante métodos de volumenes finitos, de leyes de balance hiperbólicas unidimensionales en espacio, con función de flujo no local, que son motivadas por aplicaciones en sedimentación y tráfico vehicular. En particular, estamos interesados en estudiar el buen planteamiento y en diseñar esquemas numéricos eficientes para calcular soluciones aproximadas de nuevos modelos que se proponen en el marco de las aplicaciones objetivo.

Primero se pretende modelar un proceso de sedimentación por lotes en una columna cerrada, para ello consideramos un problema de valor inicial y de frontera (IBVP) para una ley de conservación no local en el que el término no local viene dado por la convolución entre una función kernel y la velocidad de sedimentación, se asume que este operador no local tiene en cuenta la presencia de los términos frontera. De este primer modelo propuesto estudiamos el buen planteamiento y adaptamos a una versión no local un esquema numérico tipo Hilliges-Weidlich (HW). Especificamente, se demuestra que la unicidad de soluciones débiles de entropía para el modelo no local depende Lipschitz continuamente de los datos iniciales y de frontera; así mismo, a través del esquema numérico se proveen estimaciones de compacidad, junto con una desigualdad discreta de entropía, que demuestran la existencia de soluciones débiles y la convergencia de la sucesión de soluciones aproximadas hacia una solución débil de entropía del problema no local. Comparamos el esquema HW con los esquemas basados en el flujo de Lax-Friedrichs mediante ejemplos numéricos. También se presenta un esquema HW de segundo orden basado en métodos tipo MUSCL.

En segunda instancia, modelamos la dinámica del tráfico en una carretera con condiciones heterogéneas, a través de una ley de conservación cuyo flujo no local contiene un término de obstaculización y tiene una única discontinuidad espacial. El término no local refleja que los conductores adaptan su velocidad con respecto a lo que pasa en frente de ellos. Estas hipótesis conducen a una función de flujo en la que la velocidad depende de una convolución downstream entre la densidad de vehículos y una función kernel. Aproximamos el problema a través del esquema HW propuesto antes y proporcionamos algunas estimaciones uniformes sobre la sucesión de soluciones aproximadas lo cual nos permite probar existencia de una solución débil de entropía. También establecemos estabilidad L^1 y por tanto unicidad de las soluciones de entropía.

Posteriormente, introducimos un modelo que describe la dinámica del tráfico vehicular en una carretera con rampas de entradas y salida, para lo cual consideramos una ley de balance no local en la que el término fuente describe de manera independiente el flujo de entrada y salida a través de las rampas. El término fuente depende de un término de convolución que describe el hecho de que los conductores sobre la rampa de entrada pueden ver lo que pasa detrás y en frente de ellos en la carretera principal. La existencia de las soluciones débiles de entropía es probada aproximando las soluciones numéricas por medio del esquema HW junto con un operador splitting que tiene en cuenta el término de reacción y proporcionando estimaciones \mathbf{L}^{∞} y **BV** para la sucesión de soluciones aproximadas. La unicidad de la solución débil de entropía es probada a través de la dependencia Lipschitz contínua de la solución sobre el dato inicial, la razón de entrada y la razón de salida de las rampas. También estudiamos numéricamente el modelo límite cuando el soporte de la función kernel tiende a cero y presentamos algunas simulaciones numéricas que ilustran la dinámica del modelo estudiado. Además, motivados por problemas de optimización y control en tráfico vehicular, estudiamos la dependencia de las soluciones para el modelo de tráfico vehicular con rampas introducido antes, sobre el kernel de convolución dado en el término fuente. Obtenemos una estimación de la dependencia de la solución con respecto al kernel del término fuente, el dato inicial, la razón de entrada y la razón de salida de las rampas. La estabilidad es obtenida de la condición de entropía a través de la técnica de duplicación de variables. También proporcionamos algunas simulaciones numéricas que ilustran la dependencia anterior para algunos funcionales de costo.

Finalmente, con el fin de modelar el tráfico en una carretera con dos carriles y dos vías en el cual los conductores tienen un carril preferencial (el carril de la derecha) y el otro carril es usado solo para adelantar, proponemos un sistema de leyes de balance no local. En este modelo la parte convectiva describe la dinámica intra-carril de los vehículos, por esta razón las funciones de flujo consideran términos locales y no locales, a saber, la función velocidad en cada carril depende localmente de la densidad de los vehículos de la clase preferente y de una forma no local de la densidad de vehículos de la otra clase que viene en dirección opuesta sobre el mismo carril haciendo adelantamiento; a su vez, los términos fuente describien el acoplamiento inter-carril entre los dos carriles del modelo, por lo que consideramos los criterios de adelantamiento y retorno dependientes de un promedio ponderado de la densidad del tráfico downstream de la clase preferencial y de un promedio ponderado de la densidad del tráfico downstream de las clases viajando en dirección opuesta. Aproximamos las soluciones del problema usando el esquema HW desarrollado en esta tesis y por medio de estimaciones de compacidad probamos la existencia de soluciones débiles. También mostramos algunas simulaciones numéricas que describen el comportamiento de las soluciones en diferentes situaciones.

Palabras Claves: Leyes de conservación no local, leyes de balance no local, problema de valor inicial y de frontera, término de convolución, funciones kernel, solución débil de entropía, esquema numérico tipo HW, función de flujo discontinuo, modelos macroscópicos de tráfico vehicular, modelos de tráfico LighthillWhitham-Richards, rampas de entrada y salida, buen planteamiento, modelo de tráfico multicarril, modelo de tráfico de dos vías y dos carriles.

ABSTRACT

This thesis aims at the modeling, analysis and numerical approximation by means of finite volume methods, of spatially one-dimensional hyperbolic balance laws, with nonlocal flux function, motivated by applications in sedimentation and vehicular traffic. Particularly, we are interested in studying well-posedness and to design efficient numerical schemes to compute approximate solutions of new proposed models in the frame of the target applications.

First we intend to model a batch sedimentation process in a closed column, for it we consider an initial boundary values problem (IBVP) for a nonlocal conservation law in which the nonlocal term is given by the convolution between a kernel function and the velocity of sedimentation. This nonlocal operator is assumed to be aware of boundary terms. For this first proposed model we study well-posedness and adapt a nonlocal version of a Hilliges-Weidlich (HW)-type numerical scheme. Specifically, it is proved that the uniqueness of entropy weak solutions to nonlocal model follows from the Lipschitz continuous dependence of the solution on initial and boundary data; likewise, by means of the numerical scheme we provide compactness estimates along with a discrete entropy solution, which show the existence of weak solutions and the convergence of the sequence of approximate solutions to an entropy weak solution of the nonlocal problem. We compare the HW-type scheme with schemes based on the Lax-Friedrichs flux through numerical examples. A second-order HW-type scheme based on MUSCL methods is also presented.

Second, we model the traffic dynamics on a road with rough conditions, by means of a conservation law whose nonlocal flux has a hidrance term and a single spatial discontinuity. The nonlocal term reflects that drivers adapt their velocity with respect to what happens in front of them. These assumptions lead to a expression flux in which the velocity depends on a convolution between density of vehicles and a function kernel. We approximate the problem by means of the HW-type numerical scheme proposed above and provide some uniform estimates on the sequence of approximate solutions what allow us to prove existence of a entropy weak solution. We also provide L^1 stability and therefore uniqueness of entropy solutions.

Subsequently, we introduce a model that describes the vehicular traffic dynamics on a road with on- and off ramps, for which we consider a nonlocal balance law in which the source term independently describes the inflow and outflow via on-ramp and off-ramps. The source term depends on a downstream convolution term that describes that drivers on the on-ramp can see what happens behind and in front of them on the main road. Existence of entropy weak solutions is proved approximating the numerical solutions by means of the HW-type scheme along with an operator splitting to account the reaction term and providing \mathbf{L}^{∞} and \mathbf{BV} estimates to sequence of approximate solutions. Uniqueness of entropy weak solution is proved by means \mathbf{L}^1 -Lipschitz continuous dependence of solution on initial datum, on-ramp rate and off-ramp rate. We also study numerically the limit model as support of the kernel function tends to zero and also are presented some numerical simulations illustrating the dynamic of the studied model.

Then, motivated by optimization and control problems, we study the dependence of solutions to the vehicular traffic model with ramps introduced above on the convolution kernel given in the source term. We obtain an estimate of the dependence of the solution with respect to the kernel function in the source term, the initial datum, on-ramp rate and off-ramp rate. Stability is obtained from the entropy condition through doubling of variable technique. We also provide some numerical simulations illustrating the dependencies above for some cost functionals.

Finally, in order to model vehicular traffic flow on a two-lane and two-way road where drivers have a preferred lane, the lane on their right, and the left one is used only for overtaking slower vehicles, we propose a system of nonlocal balance laws. In this model the convective part describes the intra-lane dynamics, for this reason the flux functions consider local and nonlocal terms, namely, the velocity function in each lane depends locally on the density of vehicles of the preferential class and on a nonlocal form on the density of vehicles of the another class coming in opposite direction on the same lane overtaking; in turn, the source terms describe the inter-lane coupling between the two lanes, so that we consider the overtake and return criteria dependent on a weighted mean of the downstream traffic density of preferred class and a weighted mean of downstream traffic density of the classes traveling in opposite direction. We approximate the solutions of the problem by means of the HW-type numerical scheme developed in this thesis and prove existence of weak solutions by means of compactness estimates. We also show some numerical simulations that describe the behavior of the solutions in different situations.

Key Words: Nonlocal conservation laws, nonlocal balance laws, initial boundary values problem, convolution term, kernel functions, entropy weak solution, HW type numerical scheme, discontinuous flux function, macroscopic vehicular traffic models, Lighthill-Whitham-Richards traffic model, on- and off-ramps, wellposedness, multilane traffic model, two way and two lane traffic model.

Contents

Contents						
1	Intr	roduction				
2	A H serv 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4	illiges-Weidlich-type scheme for a one-dimensional scalar con- ation law with nonlocal flux2Introduction.2.1.1Scope2.1.2Related work.2.1.3Outline of Chapter 2.Initial-boundary value problem.Uniqueness of entropy solutions.Existence of solutions.2.4.1Numerical scheme2.4.2Uniform bounds of numerical solutions	 27 27 28 29 29 32 35 35 36 			
	2.52.62.7	2.4.2 Convergence analysis 4 2.4.3 Convergence analysis 4 A second-order scheme 4 Numerical examples 4 2.6.1 Example 1 2.6.2 Example 2 2.6.3 Example 3 2.6.4 Example 4: Error test for second order scheme 2.6.4 Example 4: Error test for second order scheme	 41 49 50 50 50 50 52 54 54 55 			
3	Exis els v 3.1 3.2 3.3	istence of entropy weak solutions for 1D non-local traffic mod- with space-discontinuous flux Introduction				

Contents

		3.3.3	Convergence to an entropy solution	71				
		3.3.4	L^1 -Stability and uniqueness.	74				
	3.4	rical examples	81					
		3.4.1	Example 5	81				
		3.4.2	Example 6: Limit $\eta \to 0^+$	81				
	3.5	Conclu	usions of Chapter 3	83				
4	Nor	ilocal i	reaction traffic flow model with on-off ramps	85				
	4.1	Introd	luction	85				
		4.1.1	Scope	85				
		4.1.2	Related work	87				
		4.1.3	Outline of the chapter	88				
	4.2	Mathe	ematical model	88				
	4.3	Existe	ence of an entropy solution	90				
		4.3.1	Numerical discretization	90				
		4.3.2	Existence of solution Model 1	92				
		4.3.3	BV estimates	93				
		4.3.4	Discrete Entropy Inequality	98				
		4.3.5	Proof of Theorem $4.3 \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	103				
		4.3.6	Existence for Model 2	103				
		4.3.7	BV estimates	104				
	4.4	Nume	rical experiments	106				
		4.4.1	Example 7. Dynamic of Model 1 vs. Model 2	107				
		4.4.2	Example 8. Limit $\eta \to 0$ in Model 2	107				
		4.4.3	Example 9. Maximum principle	109				
		4.4.4	Example 10. Free main road	109				
	4.5	Conclu	usion of Chapter 4	111				
5	Stal	bility e	estimates for nonlocal balance laws arising in traffic mod-	-				
	ellir	ıg	9	113				
	5.1	Introd	luction	113				
		5.1.1	Scope	113				
		5.1.2	Outline of this chapter	114				
	5.2	Mathematical model \ldots 11^4						
	5.3	Main 1	Result	115				
	5.4	rical examples	119					
		5.4.1	Example 11	119				
	5.5	Conclu	usions of Chapter 5	120				

16

Contents

6	Two	o-way :	nonlocal traffic model	123							
	6.1	Introd	luction	. 123							
		6.1.1	Motivation	. 123							
		6.1.2	Related Work	. 125							
		6.1.3	Outline of the chapter	. 126							
	6.2	Mathe	ematical model	. 126							
	6.3	Nume	rical scheme	. 128							
		6.3.1	Discretization of the model	. 128							
		6.3.2	BV estimates	. 140							
		6.3.3	Proof of Theorem 6.2	. 147							
	6.4	Nume	rical examples	. 149							
		6.4.1	Example 12	. 149							
		6.4.2	Example 13	. 149							
		6.4.3	Example 14	. 150							
	6.5	Concl	usions of Chapter 6	. 152							
7	Conclusions and future work										
	7.1	Concl	usions	. 155							
	7.2	Futur	e works	. 156							
References											

Chapter 1 Introduction

Nonlocal balance laws are given by expressions of the type

$$\partial_t \mathbf{u} + \operatorname{div}_{\mathbf{x}} \mathbf{F}(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{u}, W) = \mathbf{R}(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{u}, W), \qquad t > 0, \ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 1, \qquad (1.0.1)$$

where the variable $W = W(t, \mathbf{x})[\mathbf{u}]$ depends on a integral evaluation of \mathbf{u} . Such equations are intended to model macroscopically the action of nonlocal interactions occurring at the microscopic level and for this reason nonlocal balance laws are being developed to model various phenomena, such as the dynamics of crowd [33, 32, 34], vehicular traffic [11, 14, 26, 43, 44, 51], supply chains [7], granular materials [4] and sedimentation phenomena [13]. Challenges in these applications are related to the theoretical and numerical treatment of nonlocal terms in the presence of discontinuous solutions. In fact, discontinuous solutions may arise despite the expected regularizing effect of the convolution product. Consequently, one must consider generalized solutions or in the sense of distributions; furthermore, these solutions are not necessarily unique, and therefore some extra conditions, called entropy conditions [63], need to be imposed to guarantee stability and uniqueness of solutions to the Cauchy problem for the conservation law under consideration. Thus, nonlocal terms make the classical techniques developed for hyperbolic systems of conservation laws inapplicable and call for novel analytical and numerical methods. Moreover, integral terms strongly impact the cost of numerical simulations, especially in the case of multidimensional problems that possibly involve space-dependent convolution kernels [70, 71], which motivates the design of efficient approximation schemes. Until recently, numerical discretizations had been based on first-order Lax-Friedrichs-type methods [2, 6, 14] that usually exhibit high diffusion properties, or second-order central schemes [64] and discontinuous Galerkin schemes [52], which are more accurate but harder to implement and require the computation of a larger number of integral terms. The main objective of this thesis is to propose, study well-posedness and develop efficient numerical scheme, for hyperbolic conservation and balance laws with nonlocal flux function that arise in applications related to sedimentation and vehicular traffic.

Motivated by the above discussion and taking into account our main goal, we first start studying an initial-boundary value problem (IBVP) for a scalar conservation law with nonlocal flux function, on a open bounded interval $[a, b] \subset \mathbb{R}$, which is a simplified version of the model introduced in [13, 50] and describes, for instance, a batch sedimentation process in a closed column. The main motivation for studying this nonlocal model is to propose an approach for a rigorous treatment of boundary conditions in the case of a spatially one-dimensional nonlocal problems due to the lack of literature on the subject so far. Regarding vehicular traffic applications, we propose and study several models which extend the classical LWR (Lighthill - Whitham [66] and Richards [72]) traffic model in several directions in order to simulate more realistic features of traffic on roads, e.g., traffic flow with abruptly changing road conditions, which we do by means of a nonlocal conservation law with discontinuous flux function; traffic flow in a road with on- and off-ramps, which we do by means of a nonlocal balance law, where the key feature is in the right hand side due to the presence of a nonlocal source; traffic flow in a two way and two lanes road, which we introduce through a nonlocal system of balance laws including nonlocal criteria for changing lane maneuvers in the source terms.

Let us introduce the problems to work in this thesis, and then give a description to solve each.

Chapter 2 is concerned with an IBVP for a scalar conservation law with nonlocal flux function, on a open bounded interval $]a, b[\subset \mathbb{R}$ which reads

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t \rho + \partial_x \big(f(\rho) V(t, x) \big) &= 0, & (t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times]a, b[, \\ \rho(x, 0) &= \rho_0(x), & x \in]a, b[, \\ \rho(a, t) &= \rho_a(t), \quad \rho(b, t) = \rho_b(t), & t \in \mathbb{R}^+, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$f(\rho) := \rho g(\rho),$$

$$V(t,x) := \left(\omega * v(\rho)\right)(t,x) = \frac{1}{W(x)} \int_a^b v(\rho(t,y)) \omega(y-x) \, \mathrm{d}y$$

with $W(x) := \int_a^b \omega(y-x) \, dy$ for a suitable convolution kernel ω and g a hindrance function. This model is in part motivated by a model of layered sedimentation observable in a batch process in a closed column and is a simplified version of models proposed in [13, 50]. The layered sedimentation phenomenon occurs because homogeneous suspensions of small solid particles dispersed in a viscous fluid do not always sediment in a smooth continuous fashion as described, for instance,

in the well-known model of sedimentation arising from Kynch theory [65]; instead, layers of different concentrations (staircasing) are often observed after settling has proceeded after a finite time. This effect is particularly well documented in the paper by Siano [78].

The aim of Chapter 2 is to propose an approach for a rigorous treatment of boundary conditions in the case of spatially one-dimensional nonlocal problems, through the development of new numerical schemes that are more accurate and less diffusive than, for instance, Lax-Friedrichs type-schemes. For this purpose, we adapt a numerical scheme, which is based on one given in [15, 55] but including a nonlocal term which is assumed to be aware the boundary conditions, following [36, 50]. Observe that in the proposed model we take the average of velocities instead of average of concentration. The proposed numerical method and the way of computing the convolutions are the main novelties of Chapter 2. In order to study well-posedness of model, we first give a definition of entropy weak solution and impose an appropriate Courant-Levy-Friedrichs (CFL) condition, then we prove maximum principle and Bounded Variations (\mathbf{BV}) bounds in space and time, which allows us to apply the Helly's Compactness Theorem in order to prove convergence and existence of solutions to model. We also prove uniqueness of entropy weak solution through Lipschitz continuous dependence on initial and boundary data of solutions, which is obtained from results for a local IBVP.

The contents of this chapter gave rise to the following submitted preprint [19]:

• R. Bürger, H. D. Contreras and L. M. Villada. A Hilliges-Weidlich-type scheme for a one-dimensional scalar conservation law with nonlocal flux.

The second problem, which motivates Chapter 3, is related to a nonlocal conservation law with discontinuous flux which reads

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho + \partial_x f(t, x, \rho) = 0, \quad (t, x) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}, \\ \rho(0, x) = \rho_0(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, \end{cases}$$

with

$$f(t, x, \rho) = H(-x) \rho g(\rho) v_l(\omega_\eta * \rho) + H(x) \rho g(\rho) v_r(\omega_\eta * \rho),$$

where H(x) is the Heaviside function and the flux $f(t, x, \rho)$ has a discontinuity at x = 0 if the velocity functions $v_l(\rho)$ and $v_r(\rho)$ are different. The hindrance function g is assumed nonnegative and such that $g'(\rho) \leq 0$ and $g(\rho_{\max}) = 0$ and the convolution term is defined as

$$(\omega_{\eta} * \rho)(t, x) = \int_{x}^{x+\eta} \rho(t, y) \omega_{\eta}(y - x) \mathrm{d}y, \quad \eta > 0.$$

In the vehicular traffic context this model describes traffic flow on a road with rough conditions, and ρ represents the density of vehicles on the road, ω_{η} is a non-increasing kernel function whose support η is proportional to the look-ahead distance of drivers, that are supposed to adapt their velocity with respect to the mean downstream traffic density. Although there are many works on conservation laws with discontinuous flux, see e.g. [9, 15, 16, 17, 58, 76, 83], due to the lack of works on conservation laws with nonlocal and discontinuous flux, the main novelty of proposed model is precisely the inclusion of the nonlocal term in this type of problems. The purpose of this chapter is to establish the well-posedness of the proposed model. First, we propose to use a suitable notion of entropy solution for this problem and then existence of a entropy solution is established by proving convergence of a HW-type numerical scheme based on the proposed one in Chapter 2. Afterwards, we prove uniqueness (\mathbf{L}^1 stability) of the entropy solution and finally, the performance of scheme is demonstrated by numerical examples. The contents of this chapter gave rise to the following submitted preprint [22]:

• F. A. Chiarello, H. D. Contreras and L. M. Villada. Existence of entropy weak solutions for 1D nonlocal traffic models with space-discontinuous flux.

Chapter 4 deals with the nonlocal balance law,

$$\rho_t + (\rho v(\rho * \omega_\eta))_x = S_{\text{on}}(t, x, \rho, \rho * \omega_{\eta,\delta}) - S_{\text{off}}(t, x, \rho), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}$$

which models vehicular traffic flow on a road with presence of on- and off-ramps and where the non-negative functions $S_{on}(t, x, \rho, \rho * \omega_{\eta,\delta})$ and $S_{off}(t, x, \rho)$ are the source terms that describe the inflow and output flow on a main road, via on- and off-ramps, respectively. The algebraic expressions of these terms will be specified in the development of chapter. The main novelty of this model is the presence of a nonlocal source in the right hand side, that describes the fact that drivers on the on-ramp can see what happens behind and in front of them on the main road. The purpose of this chapter is to study the well-posedness of proposed model, i.e., to establish existence and uniqueness of entropy weak solution. Keeping this in mind, we first introduce the definition of weak and entropy weak solution, then the existence of a weak entropy solution is proved by constructing a converging sequence of finite volume approximate solutions, defined using the HW-type numerical scheme along with an operator splitting to account the reaction term. We derive the L¹ Lipschitz continuous dependence of solution of the proposed model on the initial data and on parameters of the source terms.

The contents of this chapter corresponds to the following paper [23]:

• F. A. Chiarello, H. D. Contreras and L. M. Villada. Nonlocal reaction traffic flow model with on-off ramps. Networks and Heterogeneous Media, volume 17, number 2, 2022.

Introduction

In Chapter 5 we study the dependence of solutions to the model introduced in Chapter 4, on the convolution kernel given in the source term S_{on} . We get an estimate of the dependence of the solution with respect to the initial datum, the on-ramp rate, the off-ramp rate and the kernel function $\omega_{\eta,\delta}$ through doubling of variable technique. Then, we study numerically an optimization problem for traffic flow in which we want to identify optimal values for η and δ such that less congestion is generated when vehicles enter the main road through the on-ramp. The contents of this chapter corresponds to the following preprint [24], which was submitted to the HYP 2022 Proceedings,

• F. A. Chiarello, H. D. Contreras and L. M. Villada. Stability estimates for nonlocal balance laws arising in traffic modelling.

In Chapter 6 the following system of balance laws is introduced

$$\begin{split} \partial_t \rho_1 + \partial_x (\rho_1 v_1(\rho_1 + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_1)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{\rho}_2 * \omega_{\eta}))) &= -S_{\mathcal{O}}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) + S_{\mathcal{R}}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2), \\ \partial_t \rho_2 + \partial_x (\rho_2 v_2(\rho_2 + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_2)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{\rho}_1 * \omega_{\eta}))) &= S_{\mathcal{O}}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) - S_{\mathcal{R}}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2), \\ \partial_t \tilde{\rho}_1 - \partial_x (\tilde{\rho}_1 v_1(\tilde{\rho}_1 + (\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_1)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\rho_2 * \hat{\omega}_{\eta}))) &= -\tilde{S}_{\mathcal{O}}(\tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2, \rho_1, \rho_2) + \tilde{S}_{\mathcal{R}}(\tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2, \rho_1, \rho_2), \\ \partial_t \tilde{\rho}_2 - \partial_x (\tilde{\rho}_2 v_2(\tilde{\rho}_2 + (\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_2)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\rho_1 * \hat{\omega}_{\eta}))) &= \tilde{S}_{\mathcal{O}}(\tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2, \rho_1, \rho_2) - \tilde{S}_{\mathcal{R}}(\tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2, \rho_1, \rho_2). \end{split}$$

This system models vehicular traffic flow on a two lane (labeled lane 1 and lane 2) and two way road where drivers have a preferred lane, the lane on their right, and the left one is used only for overtaking slower vehicles. We denote by ρ_1 and ρ_2 the density of classes of cars traveling from the left to right on lane 1 and lane 2, respectively; by $\tilde{\rho}_1$ and $\tilde{\rho}_2$ the density of classes of cars traveling from the right to left on lane 2 and lane 1, respectively. In each equation, the convective part describes the intralane dynamics, while the right hand side models the interplay between Lane 1 and Lane 2. The main novelties of model lie on the one hand, in that to our knowledge, this is the first nonlocal macroscopic traffic model for describing the dynamics of this type of road which are common in many Latin American cities, and on the other hand in the way in which the velocity function is written that depends on densities of vehicles traveling in opposite directions on a same lane as well as the criteria that allows overtaking and returning. The goal of Chapter 5 consists in establishing existence of weak solutions on the proposed nonlocal balance law system. To carry out this purpose, like in Chapter 4, we introduce the definition of weak solution, then by constructing a converging sequence of finite volume approximate solutions, defined using the HW-type numerical scheme along with an operator splitting to account the reaction term, we prove compactness estimates in order to apply Helly's Theorem, this latter allows us to get convergence and thus existence of weak solutions. The contents of this chapter corresponds to the following submitted preprint [37]:

• H.D. Contreras, P. Goatin and L.M. Villada. Two way nonlocal traffic model.

Meetings, Conferences and Research stays

During my studies in doctoral program, the following meetings and conferences have been attended,

- XLVIII Semana de la Matemática. Departament of Mathematics, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Valparaíso. Valparaíso (Chile), October 11-14, 2022. Tittle of talk: Well-posedness of nonlocal conservation laws with continuous and discontinuous fluxes.
- XXX Congreso de Matemática Capricornio COMCA 2022 (Online).
 Departament of Mathematics, Arturo Prat University, Iquique (Chile), August 3-5, 2022.

Tittle of talk: Existence of entropy weak solutions for 1D nonlocal traffic models with space-discontinuous flux.

- HYP 2022 XVIII International Conference On Hyperbolic Problems: Theory, Numerics, Applications.
 Málaga (Spain). June 20-24, 2022.
 Tittle of talk: Nonlocal reaction traffic flow model with on-off ramps.
- XVII Encuentro Internacional de Matemáticas (EIMAT) 2021. Departament of Mathematics, Universidad del Atlántico, Barranquilla (Colombia). November 16-19, 2021. Tittle of talk: Nonlocal reaction traffic flow.
- XXXIII Jornada Matemática de la Zona Sur 2021 (Online). Universidad de la Frontera, Temuco (Chile). April 20-24, 2021. Talk's title: A Hilliges-Weidlich type scheme for a 1D scalar conservation law IBVP with nonlocal flux.

Poster presentations

• A numerical scheme for a nonlocal conservation law modelling sedimentation. COMCA 2019 XXVIII Congreso de Matemáticas Capricornio. Universidad de la Serena, La serena (Chile). July 31 – August 2, 2019.

During my studies in doctoral program I did the following research stays

Research stays

• Institut National de Recherche en Informatique et en Automatique (INRIA) October 21th 2021 - January 5th 2022. Supervisor researcher: Paola Goatin.

Introduction

• Institut National de Recherche en Informatique et en Automatique (INRIA) June 28th 2022 - July 12th 2022. Supervisor researcher: Paola Goatin

Chapter 2

A Hilliges-Weidlich-type scheme for a one-dimensional scalar conservation law with nonlocal flux

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Scope

The aim of this chapter is to propose an approach for a rigorous treatment of boundary conditions in the case of a spatially one-dimensional nonlocal problems, through development of new numerical schemes that are more accurate and less diffusive in comparison, for instance that Lax-Friedrichs-type numerical schemes. The strategies that we employ are inspired by the results obtained in [13, 15, 50]. Particularly, we propose to study a simplification of the problem studied in [13], we adopt the treatment of the boundary conditions proposed in [50] and we present a numerical scheme based on local one studied in [15, 55]. Our proposed scheme takes advantage of the form in which the flow is written, namely density ρ times a local decreasing factor $g(\rho)$ times a nonlocal convolution term $V(x,t) = (\omega * v(\rho))$, where v is a given velocity function and ω is a convolution kernel such that the governing conservation law becomes

$$\partial_t \rho + \partial_x \big(\rho g(\rho) V(x,t) \big) = 0. \tag{2.1.1}$$

In the case of a standard (local) conservation law, captured by setting V = const., the above-mentioned approach results in a monotone scheme [15], so it is possible to invoke standard arguments to prove its convergence to an entropy solution. This idea is extended herein to the nonlocal equation (2.1.1), although we emphasize that the resulting scheme is *not* monotone.

2.1.2 Related work.

There are many works about existence and uniqueness results for nonlocal equations, see e.g. [6, 39, 42, 50] for the scalar case in one space dimension. In these papers a firstorder Lax-Friedrichs (LxF)-type numerical scheme is used to approximate the problem and to prove the existence of solutions and the nonlocal term is considered as a convolution between a kernel function and the unknown (mean downstream density approach). LxF-type schemes are the most common approach used to solve nonlocal conservation laws because they are easy to implement and due to their monotonicity, they make it possible to numerically analyze nonlocal flux problems. Their well-known main disadvantage is, however, their large amount of numerical diffusion that smears out sharp features of the exact solution. To reduce this phenomenon, Friedrich et al. [44] proposed a Godunov-type numerical scheme where the nonlocal term is considered as a convolution between a kernel function and the velocity of unknown (mean downstream velocity approach). We adopt this idea about the convolution to propose and develop our model and computations. A well-known early analysis of initial-boundary value problems (IBVP) for conservation laws is due to Bardos et al. [10], existence, uniqueness and continuous dependence of the solution on initial data in the case of zero boundary data are prove. These results were extended to more general but smooth boundary data by Colombo and Rossi [35]. Rossi [75] studied an IBVP for a general scalar balance law in one space dimension. Under rather general assumptions on the flux and source functions, the author proves the well-posedness of the problem and stability of its solutions with respect to variations in the flux and the source terms. For both results, the initial and boundary data are required to be bounded functions with bounded total variation. In [39] a global well-posedness result for a class of weak entropy solutions of bounded variations of scalar conservation laws with nonlocal flux on bounded domains is established under suitable regularity assumptions on the flux function. The nonlocal operator is the standard convolution product. The existence of solutions is obtained by proving the convergence of an adapted LxF algorithm. Lipschitz continuous dependence from initial and boundary data is derived applying Kružkov's doubling of variables technique. In [50] Goatin and Rossi study the same problem as Filippis and Goatin [39], but with a different approach, namely following the treatment of the boundary conditions proposed by Colombo and Rossi in [36] where a particular multi-dimensional system of conservation laws in bounded domains with zero boundary conditions was considered. More specifically, the nonlocal operator in the flux function is not a mere convolution product, but it is assumed to be 'aware' of boundaries and by introducing an adapted LxF algorithm, various estimates on the approximate solutions that allow to prove the existence of solutions to the original IBVP are introduced. Uniqueness was derived from the Lipschitz continuous dependence on initial and boundary data, which is proved exploiting results available for the local problem.

2.1.3 Outline of Chapter 2.

This chapter is organized as follows: In Section 2.2 we present the considered class of nonlocal conservation laws and the assumptions needed on studied problem as well as the main result of this chapter, whose proof is postponed to end of Section 2.3. Lipschitz continuous dependence of solutions to the studied problem on initial and boundary data is proved in Section 2.3. Afterwards, in Section 2.4 we introduce the numerical scheme and derive some of its important properties such as the maximum principle, **BV**, and L^1 Lipschitz continuity in time estimates. These imply convergence of the scheme proposed, which in turn covers the existence part of the well-posedness of the governing model. Throughout the chapter we address the new scheme as a "HW scheme" according to the proponent of the original idea (Hilliges and Weidlich [55]), and in Section 2.5 we provide a second-order version of a HW-type numerical scheme. Finally, In Section 2.6 we present some numerical examples, analysing the L^1 -error of the approximate solutions of studied problem computed with different schemes. Appendix A collects some estimates necessary throughout the chapter.

2.2 Initial-boundary value problem

We consider a particular initial-boundary value problem which is a version of a nonlocal model of sedimentation proposed in [13]. Our model has the following structure:

$$\partial_t \rho + \partial_x (f(\rho)V(x,t)) = 0, \quad (x,t) \in]a, b[\times \mathbb{R}^+,$$

$$\rho(x,0) = \rho_0(x), \quad x \in]a, b[,$$

$$\rho(a,t) = \rho_a(t), \quad \rho(b,t) = \rho_b(t), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}^+,$$

(2.2.1)

where

$$f(\rho) := \rho g(\rho), \tag{2.2.2}$$

$$V(x,t) := (\omega * v(\rho))(x,t) = \frac{1}{W(x)} \int_{a}^{b} v(\rho(y,t))\omega(y-x) \,\mathrm{d}y$$
(2.2.3)

with $W(x) := \int_a^b \omega(y-x) \, \mathrm{d}y$ for a suitable convolution kernel ω .

Remark 2.1. The particular combination of local and nonlocal evaluations of ρ present in (2.2.2), (2.2.3) can be motivated by following the discussion of [13, Sect. 1.2] for a model of sedimentation. Namely, if we assume that the nonlocal model describes the volume fraction of solids $\rho \in [0, 1]$ within a solid-fluid two-phase flow system, then the solid and fluid conservation equations in differential form are $\partial_t \rho + \partial_x (\rho v_s) = 0$ and $\partial_t (1-\rho) + \partial_x ((1-\rho)v_f) = 0$, where v_s and v_f are the solid and fluid phase velocities and x is the vertical spatial coordinate. One then defines the volume average velocity of the mixture $q := \rho v_s + (1-\rho)v_f$ and the solid-fluid relative velocity $v_r = v_s - v_f$. Now for the particular case of batch settling in a closed column, we have q = 0 for all x and t, and then $\rho v_s = \rho(1-\rho)v_r$, so that the unique PDE to be solved is

$$\partial_t \rho + \partial_x \left(\rho (1 - \rho) v_{\rm r} \right) = 0, \qquad (2.2.4)$$

where v_r is specified by some constitutive function. This scenario corresponds to (2.2.1)–(2.2.3) if we choose $g(\rho) = 1 - \rho$ and assume that v_r is given through the nonlocal convolution

$$v_{\rm r} = v_{\rm r}(x,t) = (\omega * v(\rho))(x,t),$$
 (2.2.5)

where $\rho \mapsto v(\rho)$ is a given, in general nonlinear function. In other words, the local and nonlocal evaluations of ρ in (2.2.1) arise from the combination of properly defined volume fractions in mixture theory with the constitutive assumption (2.2.5). The standard local evaluation $v_{\rm r}(x,t) = v(\rho(x,t))$ corresponds to the well-known kinematic sedimentation model, while utilizing $v(\omega * \rho)(x,t)$ instead of $(\omega * v(\rho))(x,t)$ is the model alternative explored in [13].

Assumptions 2.2.1. The initial-boundary value problem (2.2.1) is studied under the following assumptions:

- (i) The initial datum satisfies $\rho_0 \in BV(I; \mathbb{R}^+)$, where $I :=]a, b] \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$.
- (ii) The function g satisfies

$$g \in C^2([0,1]; \mathbb{R}^+_0), \ g'(\rho) \le 0 \ for \ \rho \in [0,1], and \ g(1) = 0.$$

(iii) The function v satisfies

$$v \in C^2([0,1]; \mathbb{R}^+), v'(\rho) \le 0 \text{ for } \rho \in [0,1], \text{ and } 0 = v(1) \le v(\rho) \le v(0) = 1.$$

(iv) The convolution kernel ω satisfies

$$\omega \in (C^2 \cap W^{2,1} \cap W^{2,\infty})(\mathbb{R};\mathbb{R}) \text{ such that } \int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega(y) \, \mathrm{d}y = 1$$

and there exists $K_{\omega} > 0$ such that for all $x \in I$, $W(x) = \int_{a}^{b} \omega(y - x) dy \ge K_{\omega}$.

In what follows in this chapter, we denote $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1])} := \|\cdot\|_{\infty}$. The weak entropy solution of problem (2.2.1) is defined, as in [39, 50], in the following sense:

Definition 2.2. A function $\rho \in (L^1 \cap L^\infty \cap BV)(]a, b[\times \mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{R})$ is an entropy weak solution to problem (2.2.1) if for all $\varphi \in C^1_c(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathbb{R}^+)$ and $k \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\int_0^\infty \int_a^b \left(|\rho - k| \varphi_t + \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - k) \left(f(\rho) - f(k) \right) V \varphi_x - \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - k) f(k) V_x \varphi \right) dx dt + \int_a^b |\rho_0(x) - k| \varphi(x, 0) dx + \int_0^\infty \operatorname{sgn}(\rho_a - \kappa) \left(f(\rho(a+, t)) - f(\kappa) \right) V(a, t) \varphi(a, t) dt - \int_0^\infty \operatorname{sgn}(\rho_b - \kappa) \left(f(\kappa) - f(\rho(b-, t)) \right) V(b, t) \varphi(b, t) dt \ge 0.$$

Definition 2.3. A function $\rho \in L^{\infty}(]a, b[\times \mathbb{R}^+; [0, 1])$ is an entropy weak solution to problem (2.2.1) if, for all $\varphi \in C^1_c(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^+)$ and $k \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\int_0^\infty \int_a^b \left((\rho - k)^{\pm} \partial_t \varphi(x, t) + \operatorname{sgn}^{\pm} (\rho - k) \left(f(\rho) - f(k) \right) V(x, t) \partial_x \varphi(x, t) \right. \\ \left. - \operatorname{sgn}^{\pm} (\rho - k) f(k) \varphi(x, t) \partial_x V(x, t) \right) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_a^b \left(\rho_0(x) - k \right)^{\pm} \varphi(x, 0) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ \left. + L \left(\int_0^\infty \left(\rho_a(t) - k \right)^{\pm} \varphi(a, t) \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_0^\infty \left(\rho_b(t) - k \right)^{\pm} \varphi(b, t) \, \mathrm{d}t \right) \ge 0,$$

where

$$L := \|v\|_{\infty} (\|g\|_{\infty} + \|g'\|_{\infty}).$$
(2.2.6)

Here we have used the notation $s^+ := \max\{s, 0\}, s^- := \max\{-s, 0\}$, and

$$\operatorname{sgn}^+(s) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } s > 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } s \le 0, \end{cases} \quad \operatorname{sgn}^-(s) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } s \ge 0, \\ -1 & \text{if } s < 0. \end{cases}$$

Definition 2.2 will be useful in the existence proof, while Definition 2.3 will be used in the uniqueness proof. We need to remark that in the frame of functions in L^{∞} , Definition 2.3 implies Definition 2.2, for more details see [74]. In the rest of chapter, we will denote $\mathcal{I}(r,s) = [\min\{r,s\}, \max\{r,s\}]$, for any $r, s \in \mathbb{R}$.

Our main result concerning the new model is given by the following theorem, which states the well-posedness of the problem.

Theorem 2.4 (Well-posedness). Let $\rho_0 \in BV(I; \mathbb{R}^+)$, $\rho_a, \rho_b \in BV(\mathbb{R}^+; [0, 1])$ and Assumptions 2.2.1 be in effect. Then, for all T > 0, the Cauchy problem (2.2.1) admits a unique entropy weak solution $\rho \in (L^1 \cap L^\infty \cap BV)(I \times [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^+)$ in the sense of the Definitions 2.2 and 2.3. Moreover, the following estimates hold: for any $t \in [0, T]$,

$$0 \le \rho(x,t) \le 1 \quad \text{for all } x \in I, \tag{2.2.7}$$

$$\left\|\rho(\cdot,t)\right\|_{L^1(I)} \le \mathcal{R}_1,\tag{2.2.8}$$

$$\operatorname{TV}(\rho(\cdot, t); I) \leq e^{t\mathcal{T}_{1}} \Big(\operatorname{TV}(\rho_{0}; I) + \operatorname{TV}(\rho_{a};]0, T[) + |\rho_{0}(a+) - \rho_{a}(0+)| \\ + \operatorname{TV}(\rho_{b};]0, T[) + |\rho_{0}(b-) - \rho_{b}(0+)| \Big) + \frac{\mathcal{T}_{2}(t)}{\mathcal{T}_{1}(t)} (e^{t\mathcal{T}_{1}} - 1),$$

$$(2.2.9)$$

and for $\tau > 0$,

$$\left\|\rho(\cdot,t)-\rho(\cdot,t-\tau)\right\|_{L^{1}(I)} \leq \tau \left(\mathcal{C}_{t}(t)+L\left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{a};]t-\tau,t[)+\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{a};]t-\tau,t[)\right)\right)$$

where L is defined by (2.2.6) and

$$\mathcal{R}_1(t) := c \|\rho_0\|_{L^1(I)} + L\big(\|\rho_a\|_{L^1([0,t])} + \|\rho_b\|_{L^1([0,t])}\big),$$

2.3. Uniqueness of entropy solutions

$$\mathcal{T}_{1} := \mathcal{L}(\|g\|_{\infty} + \|g'\|_{\infty}), \mathcal{L} := 2K_{\omega}^{-1} \|v\|_{\infty} \|\omega'\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R})},$$
(2.2.10)

$$\mathcal{T}_2 := (\mathcal{WR}_1(t) + 2\mathcal{L}) \|g\|_{\infty},$$

$$\mathcal{W} := 2K_{\omega}^{-1} \|v\|_{\infty} \|\omega''\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + 4K_{\omega}^{-2} \|\omega'\|_{L^{1}(I)}^{2} \|v\|_{\infty}, \qquad (2.2.11)$$
$$\mathcal{C}_{t}(t) := \|v\|_{\infty} (\|g'\|_{\infty} + \|g\|_{\infty}) \mathcal{C}_{x}(t) + \|g\|_{\infty} \mathcal{LR}_{1}(t).$$

The proof consists of two parts: existence and uniqueness of entropy solutions. While uniqueness follows from the Lipschitz continuous dependence of weak entropy solutions on initial and boundary data, existence is based on a construction of a converging sequence of approximate solutions defined by a numerical scheme.

2.3 Uniqueness of entropy solutions

One part of the proof of Theorem 2.4 is to show uniqueness of weak entropy solutions for the model (2.2.1). Therefore, we prove the Lipschitz continuous dependence of weak entropy solutions with respect to initial and boundary data. Here, we follow [50]. We define V(x,t) by (2.2.3) and analogously U(x,t) by replacing ρ in (2.2.3) by another function σ . Furthermore, we let r(x,t,u) := ug(u)V(x,t) and h(x,t,u) := ug(u)U(x,t). Observe that by the definition of V and U,

$$V(x,t) \le \|v\|_{\infty}, \quad U(x,t) \le \|v\|_{\infty},$$

furthermore, we have the following estimates derived in Appendix A:

$$\left|\partial_x V(x,t)\right| \le 2K_{\omega}^{-1} \|v\|_{\infty} \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)} =: \mathcal{P}_1,$$
(2.3.1)

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\partial_{xx}^{2}V\right| &\leq K_{\omega}^{-2} \|v\|_{\infty} \|\omega''\|_{L^{1}(I)} \|\omega\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \mathcal{P}_{1}K_{\omega}^{-2} \|\omega\|_{L^{1}(I)} \\ &+ \mathcal{P}_{1}K_{\omega}^{-1} + K_{\omega}^{-1} \|v\|_{\infty} \|\omega''\|_{L^{1}(I)} =: \mathcal{P}_{2}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.2)$$

$$|V(x,t) - U(x,t)| \le \mathcal{P}_3 \int_a^b |\rho(y,t) - \sigma(y,t)| \,\mathrm{d}y, \quad \mathcal{P}_3 := K_\omega^{-1} ||\omega||_{L^\infty(\mathbb{R})} ||v'||_\infty,$$
(2.3.3)

$$\left|\partial_{x}V(x,t) - \partial_{x}U(x,t)\right| \leq \mathcal{M} \int_{a}^{b} \left|\rho(y,t) - \sigma(y,t)\right| \mathrm{d}y, \qquad (2.3.4)$$
$$\mathcal{M} := K_{\omega}^{-2} \|\omega'\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \|v'\|_{\infty} \|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})} + K_{\omega}^{-1} \|v'\|_{\infty} \|\omega'\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})}.$$

In order to obtain the desired estimate, we first consider the local initial-boundary value problem

$$\partial_t \phi + \partial_x r(x, t, \phi) = 0, \quad (x, t) \in I \times]0, T[, \phi(x, 0) = \sigma_0(x), \quad x \in I; \quad \phi(a, t) = \sigma_a(t), \quad \phi(b, t) = \sigma_b(t), \quad t \in]0, T[.$$
 (2.3.5)

By Assumptions 2.2.1, $r \in C^2(I \times [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R})$ and $\partial_{\phi} r \in L^{\infty}(I \times [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R})$ and by estimation (2.3.1), $\partial_{x\phi}^2 r(x, t, \phi) < \infty$. Thus, we may apply Theorem 2.4 of [75] to deduce

that problem (2.3.5) admits a unique solution in $(L^{\infty} \cap BV)(I \times]0, T[;\mathbb{R})$ which satisfies, for all $t \in [0, T[, 0 \le \phi(x, t) \le 1 \text{ for all } x \in I \text{ and}$

$$\operatorname{TV}(\phi(t)) \leq e^{t\mathcal{C}_{2}(t)} (\operatorname{TV}(\sigma_{0}) + \operatorname{TV}(\sigma_{a};]0, t[) + |\sigma_{0}(a+) - \sigma_{a}(0+)| + \operatorname{TV}(\sigma_{b};]0, t[) + |\sigma_{0}(b-) - \sigma_{b}(0+)| + \mathcal{K}t),$$

$$(2.3.6)$$

where

$$\mathcal{C}_{2}(t) := \mathcal{P}_{1}(\|g\|_{\infty} + \|g'\|_{\infty}), \quad \mathcal{K} := 2((\mathcal{P}_{1} + \mathcal{P}_{2})\|g\|_{\infty} + \mathcal{P}_{1}\|g'\|_{\infty}).$$

Assume that ρ is a solution to the IBVP

$$\begin{split} &\partial_t \rho + \partial_x r(x,t,\rho) = 0, \quad (x,t) \in I \times]0, T[, \\ &\rho(x,0) = \rho_0(x), \quad x \in I; \quad \rho(a,t) = \rho_a(t), \quad \rho(b,t) = \rho_b(t), \quad t \in]0, T[\end{split}$$

and that σ is a solution to the analogous IBVP

$$\begin{array}{ll} \partial_t \sigma + \partial_x h(x,t,\sigma) = 0, \quad (x,t) \in I \times]0, T[,\\ \sigma(x,0) = \sigma_0(x), \quad x \in I; \quad \sigma(a,t) = \sigma_a(t), \quad \sigma(b,t) = \sigma_b(t), \quad t \in]0, T[. \end{array}$$

Therefore, for t > 0 we compute

$$\|\rho(\cdot,t) - \sigma(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{1}(I)} \le \|\rho(\cdot,t) - \phi(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \|\phi(\cdot,t) - \sigma(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{1}(I)}, \qquad (2.3.7)$$

where the first term on the right-hand side of (2.3.7) evaluates the distance between solutions to IBVPs with the same flux function, but different initial and boundary data. Then, we can apply Proposition 3.7 of [75] to get

$$\begin{aligned} &\|\rho(\cdot,t) - \phi(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{1}(I)} \\ &\leq \|\rho_{0} - \sigma_{0}\|_{L^{1}(I)} + L\big(\|\rho_{a} - \sigma_{a}\|_{L^{1}([0,t])} + \|\rho_{b} - \sigma_{b}\|_{L^{1}([0,t])}\big) =: A(t). \end{aligned}$$

Now, the second term on the right-hand side of (2.3.7) evaluates the distance between solutions to IBVPs with different flux functions, but same initial and boundary data. Therefore, we apply Theorem 2.6 of [75] to obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\phi(\cdot,t) - \sigma(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{1}(I)} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{t} \int_{a}^{b} \left\|\partial_{x}(r-h)(x,s,\cdot)\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{U})} \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} \left\|\partial_{u}(r-h)(\cdot,s,\cdot)\right\|_{L^{\infty}(I\times\mathcal{U})} \min\left\{\mathrm{TV}(\sigma(\cdot,s)),\mathrm{TV}(\phi(\cdot,s))\right\} \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ 2\int_{0}^{t} \left\|(r-h)(a,s,\cdot)\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{U})} \,\mathrm{d}s + 2\int_{0}^{t} \left\|(r-h)(b,s,\cdot)\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{U})} \,\mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$
(2.3.8)

where

$$\mathcal{U} := [-\max\{\|\pi(s)\|_{L^{\infty}(I)}, \|\sigma(s)\|_{L^{\infty}(I)}\}, \max\{\|\pi(s)\|_{L^{\infty}(I)}, \|\sigma(s)\|_{L^{\infty}(I)}\}]$$

= [-1, 1].

Next, we estimate all terms appearing in (2.3.8). First of all, by Theorem 2.4,

$$\operatorname{TV}(\sigma(\cdot, t)) \leq e^{t\mathcal{T}_{1}(t)} \Big(\operatorname{TV}(\sigma_{0}; I) + \operatorname{TV}(\sigma_{a}; (0, t)) + |\sigma_{0}(a+) - \sigma_{a}(0+)| \\ + \operatorname{TV}(\sigma_{b}; (0, t)) + |\sigma_{0}(b-) - \sigma_{b}(0+)| \Big) + \frac{\mathcal{T}_{2}(t)}{\mathcal{T}_{1}(t)} (e^{t\mathcal{T}_{1}(t)} - 1)$$

$$(2.3.9)$$

with

$$\mathcal{T}_{1}(t) := \mathcal{L}(\|g\|_{\infty} + \|g'\|_{\infty}), \quad \mathcal{T}_{2}(t) := (\mathcal{WS}_{1}(t) + 2\mathcal{L})\|g\|_{\infty}, \\ \mathcal{S}_{1}(t) := \|\sigma_{0}\|_{L^{1}(I)} + L(\|\sigma_{a}\|_{L^{1}([0,t])} + \|\sigma_{b}\|_{L^{1}([0,t])}).$$

Thus, by (2.3.6) and (2.3.9), we get

$$\min\{ \operatorname{TV}(\sigma(\cdot, s)), \operatorname{TV}(\phi(\cdot, s)) \}$$

$$\leq e^{t\mathcal{T}_{3}(t)} \left(\operatorname{TV}(\sigma_{0}; I) + \operatorname{TV}(\sigma_{a}; (0, t)) + |\sigma_{0}(a+) - \sigma_{a}(0+)| \right)$$

$$+ \operatorname{TV}(\sigma_{b}; (0, t)) + |\sigma_{0}(b-) - \sigma_{b}(0+)|)$$

$$+ \min\{ \mathcal{K}te^{\mathcal{C}_{2}(t)t}, (\mathcal{T}_{2}(t)/\mathcal{T}_{1}(t))(e^{t\mathcal{T}_{1}} - 1) \} =: \mathcal{T}_{4}(t).$$

$$(2.3.10)$$

To handle the first term on the right-hand side of (2.3.8), we use the estimate

$$\left|\partial_x(r-h)(x,t,u)\right| = \left|ug(u)\partial_x(V-U)\right| \le C|u|\mathcal{M}\int_a^b \left|\rho(y,t) - \sigma(y,t)\right| \mathrm{d}y,$$

which implies

$$\left\|\partial_x(r-h)(x,s,\cdot)\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{U})} \le C\mathcal{M}\int_a^b \left|\rho(y,t) - \sigma(y,t)\right| \,\mathrm{d}y.$$
(2.3.11)

Next, in view of $\partial_u(r-h)(x,t,u) = \partial_u(ug(u))(V-U)$ we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \partial_{u}(r-h)(\cdot,s,\cdot) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(I\times\mathcal{U})} &\leq \left\| \partial_{u}(ug(u)) \right\|_{\infty} \mathcal{P}_{3} \int_{a}^{b} \left| \rho(y,s) - \sigma(y,s) \right| \mathrm{d}y \\ &\leq \left(\|g\|_{\infty} + \|g'\|_{\infty} \right) \mathcal{P}_{3} \int_{a}^{b} \left| \rho(y,s) - \sigma(y,s) \right| \mathrm{d}y. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.12)$$

The third integral on the right-hand side of (2.3.8) is estimated by considering that

$$\left| (r-h)(a,t,u) \right| = \left| ug(u)(V-U) \right| \le C |u| \mathcal{P}_3 \int_a^b \left| \rho(y,t) - \sigma(y,t) \right| \mathrm{d}y,$$

hence

$$\left\| (r-h)(a,s,\cdot) \right\|_{L^{\infty}([-1,1])} \le C\mathcal{P}_3 \int_a^b \left| \rho(y,t) - \sigma(y,t) \right| \mathrm{d}y;$$
 (2.3.13)

the fourth integral is treated similarly. Finally, combining (2.3.10) to (2.3.13) we get

$$\|\phi(\cdot,t) - \sigma(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{1}(I)} \le B(t) \int_{0}^{t} \int_{a}^{b} |\rho(y,t) - \sigma(y,t)| \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}s,$$
(2.3.14)

where we define

$$B(t) = C\mathcal{M} + \mathcal{P}_3\Big(\big(\|g\|_{\infty} + \|g'\|_{\infty}\big)\mathcal{T}_4(t) + 4C\Big).$$
(2.3.15)

Inserting A(t) and (2.3.14) into (2.3.7) yields

$$\|\rho(\cdot,t) - \sigma(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{1}(I)} \le A(t) + B(t) \int_{0}^{t} \|\rho(\cdot,s) - \sigma(\cdot,s)\|_{L^{1}(I)} \mathrm{d}s,$$

so by an application of Gronwall's lemma we arrive at the estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \rho(\cdot,t) - \sigma(\cdot,t) \right\|_{L^1(I)} &\leq A(t) + \int_0^t A(s)B(s) \exp\left(\int_s^t B(\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau\right) \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq A(t) + B(t) \int_0^t A(s) \mathrm{e}^{B(t)(t-s)} \,\mathrm{d}s \leq A(t) \left(1 + B(t)t\mathrm{e}^{B(t)t}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Consequently, we have proven the following lemma.

Lemma 2.5 (Lipschitz continuous dependence on initial and boundary data). If Assumptions (2.2.1) are in effect and ρ and σ are two entropy solutions to (2.2.1) with initial data ρ_0 , $\sigma_0 \in \mathbf{BV}(I; \mathbb{R}^+)$ and $\rho_a, \rho_b, \sigma_a, \sigma_b \in \mathbf{BV}(]0, T[; [0, 1])$, then the estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho(\cdot,T) - \sigma(\cdot,T)\|_{L^{1}(I)} \\ &\leq \left(\|\rho_{0} - \sigma_{0}\| + L(\|\rho_{a} - \sigma_{a}\|_{L^{1}([0,T])} + \|\rho_{b} - \sigma_{b}\|_{L^{1}([0,T])})\right) \\ &\times \left(1 + B(T)Te^{B(T)T}\right) \end{aligned}$$
(2.3.16)

holds for any T > 0, where B(T) is defined in (2.3.15).

2.4 Existence of solutions

The proof of existence of solutions consists of several steps that are developed in this section. We construct a sequence of approximate solutions to (2.2.1) and derive the compactness estimates necessary to prove its convergence by Helly's theorem. We then show that the limit function is a weak entropy solution to the IBVP (2.2.1).

2.4.1 Numerical scheme

Fix T > 0, we take a space step $\Delta x = (b-a)/M$ with $M \in \mathbb{N}$ and a time step Δt that is subject to a CFL condition specified later, and we set $\lambda = \Delta t/\Delta x$. We denote the center of the cells by $x_j := a + (j-1/2)\Delta x$ for $j = 1, \ldots, M$, and $x_{j+1/2} = a + j\Delta x$, $j = 0, \ldots, M$ are the cells interfaces. Moreover, we set $N_T = \lfloor T\Delta t \rfloor$ and, for $n = 0, \ldots, N_T$ let $t^n = n\Delta t$ be the time mesh. The initial datum and the boundary data are approximated as

$$\rho_j^0 := \frac{1}{\Delta x} \int_{x_{j-1/2}}^{x_{j+1/2}} \rho_0(x) \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad j = 1, \dots, M;$$

$$\rho_a^n := \frac{1}{\Delta t} \int_{t^n}^{t^{n+1}} \rho_a(t) \, \mathrm{d}t, \quad \rho_b^n := \frac{1}{\Delta t} \int_{t^n}^{t^{n+1}} \rho_b(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \quad n = 0, \dots, N_T - 1,$$

furthermore, we set $\rho_0^n := \rho_a^n$ and $\rho_{M+1}^n := \rho_b^n$. For $n = 0, \ldots, N_T - 1$, we set $\omega^k := \omega((k-1/2)\Delta x)$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and define

$$W_{j+1/2} := \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^{M} \omega^{k-j}, \quad V_{j+1/2}^n := \frac{\Delta x}{W_{j+1/2}} \sum_{k=1}^{M} \omega^{k-j} v(\rho_k^n) \quad \text{for } j = 0, \dots, M.$$

We define a piecewise constant approximate solution $\rho_{\Delta}(x,t)$ to (2.2.1) as

$$\rho_{\Delta}(x,t) = \rho_j^n \quad \text{for } t \in [t^n, t^{n+1}[, x \in [x_{j-1/2}, x_{j+1/2}[, (2.4.1)]]$$

where $n = 0, ..., N_T - 1, j = 1, ..., M$, through the numerical scheme

$$\rho_j^{n+1} = \rho_j^n - \lambda \left(F_{j+1/2}^n(\rho_j^n, \rho_{j+1}^n) - F_{j-1/2}^n(\rho_{j-1}^n, \rho_j^n) \right), \quad j = 1, \dots, M,$$
(2.4.2)

where a nonlocal version of the monotone numerical flux proposed in [55] and also used in [15] is employed, namely

$$F_{j+1/2}^n(u,w) = ug(w)V_{j+1/2}^n.$$
(2.4.3)

Next, we study the properties of the numerical scheme (2.4.2)-(2.4.3). Particularly, we going to prove that the sequence of approximate solutions $\rho_{\Delta}(x,t)$ satisfies the assumptions of Helly's compactness theorem.

2.4.2 Uniform bounds of numerical solutions

Lemma 2.6 (Maximum principle). If Assumptions 2.2.1 and the CFL condition

$$\lambda \|v\|_{\infty} (\|g\|_{\infty} + \|g'\|_{\infty}) \le 1$$
(2.4.4)

hold, then if $\rho_0(x) \in [0,1]$ for $x \in I$, the approximate solution satisfies

 $0 \le \rho_j^n \le 1$ for all j = 1, ..., M and $n = 1, ..., N_T$.

Proof. We assume that $0 \le \rho_j^n \le 1$ for $j = 1, \ldots, M$. From (2.4.2) we have

$$\rho_j^{n+1} = \rho_j^n - \lambda \left(\rho_j^n g(\rho_{j+1}^n) V_{j+1/2}^n - \rho_{j-1}^n g(\rho_j^n) V_{j-1/2}^n \right)$$
$$\leq \rho_j^n + \lambda \rho_{j-1}^n g(\rho_j^n) V_{j-1/2}^n \leq \rho_j^n + \lambda g(\rho_j^n) V_{j-1/2}^n =: G(\rho_j^n).$$

In view of $G'(\rho) = 1 + \lambda g'(\rho) V_{j-1/2}^n$, under the CFL condition (2.4.4), G is a nondecreasing function of ρ . Thus

$$\max_{\rho_j^n \in [0,1]} G(\rho_j^n) = G(1) = 1$$

which implies that $\rho_i^{n+1} \leq 1$. Returning to (2.4.2), we obtain that

$$\rho_j^{n+1} \ge \rho_j^n - \lambda \rho_j^n g(\rho_{j+1}^n) V_{j+1/2}^n = \left(1 - \lambda g(\rho_{j+1}^n) V_{j+1/2}^n\right) \rho_j^n, \quad j = 1, \dots, M.$$

Consequently, if (2.4.4) is in effect, then $\rho_i^{n+1} \ge 0$.

Lemma 2.7 (L^1 bound). Let Assumptions 2.2.1 and the CFL condition (2.4.4) hold. If $\rho_0 \in L^{\infty}(I; [0, 1])$ and $\rho_a, \rho_b \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; [0, 1])$, then, for all t > 0, ρ_Δ satisfies

$$\left\|\rho_{\Delta}(\cdot,t)\right\|_{L^{1}(I)} \leq \|\rho_{0}\|_{L^{1}(I)} + L\left(\|\rho_{a}\|_{L^{1}([0,t])} + \|\rho_{b}\|_{L^{1}([0,t])}\right) =: \mathcal{C}_{1}(t), \qquad (2.4.5)$$

where L is defined in (2.2.6).

Proof. Lemma 2.6 (for n = 0, ..., N) and the assumption g(1) = 0 imply

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \rho_{\Delta}(\cdot, t^{n+1}) \right\|_{L^{1}(I)} \\ &= \Delta x \left(\rho_{1}^{n} + \dots + \rho_{M}^{n} \right) + \Delta t \left(\rho_{a}^{n} g(\rho_{1}^{n}) V_{1/2} - \rho_{M}^{n} g(\rho_{b}^{n}) V_{M+1/2}^{n} \right) \\ &= \| \rho_{\Delta}(\cdot, t^{n}) \|_{L^{1}(I)} + \Delta t \left(\rho_{a}^{n} g(\rho_{1}^{n}) V_{1/2}^{n} + \rho_{M}^{n} (g(1) - g(\rho_{b}^{n})) V_{M+1/2}^{n} \right) \\ &= \| \rho_{\Delta}(\cdot, t^{n}) \|_{L^{1}(I)} + \Delta t \rho_{a}^{n} g(\rho_{1}^{n}) V_{1/2}^{n} + \Delta t \rho_{M}^{n} g'(\zeta_{j}^{n}) (1 - \rho_{b}^{n}) V_{M+1/2}^{n}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\zeta_j^n \in \mathcal{I}(\rho_b^n, 1)$. Now, using item (ii) of Assumptions 2.2.1 and the nonnegativity of ρ_a^n and ρ_b^n we have

$$\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1}\|_{L^{1}(I)} \leq \|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n}\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \Delta t \|v\|_{\infty} (\|g\|_{\infty} + \|g'\|) (\rho_{a}^{n} + \rho_{b}^{n}).$$

An iterative argument yields the desired estimate (2.4.5).

Lemma 2.8 (**BV** estimate in space). Let Assumptions 2.2.1 hold, $\rho_0 \in BV(I; \mathbb{R}^+)$, $\rho_a, \rho_b \in BV(\mathbb{R}^+, [0, 1])$ and let ρ_Δ be given by (2.4.2). If the CFL condition (2.4.4) holds, then for all $n = 1, \ldots, N_T$ the discrete space BV estimate

$$\sum_{j=0}^{M} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| \le \mathcal{C}_{x}(t^{n})$$
(2.4.6)

is satisfied, where we define the time-dependent bound

$$\mathcal{C}_{x}(t^{n}) := e^{\mathcal{K}_{1}t^{n}} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{M} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{0} - \rho_{j}^{0} \right| + \sum_{m=1}^{n} \left| \rho_{a}^{m} - \rho_{a}^{m-1} \right| + \sum_{m=1}^{n} \left| \rho_{b}^{m} - \rho_{b}^{m-1} \right| \right) + \mathcal{K}_{1}^{-1} \mathcal{K}_{2} (e^{\mathcal{K}_{1}t^{n}} - 1)$$

$$(2.4.7)$$

and \mathcal{K}_1 and \mathcal{K}_2 are defined as

$$\mathcal{K}_1 := \mathcal{L}(\|g'\|_{\infty} + \|g\|_{\infty}), \quad \mathcal{K}_2 := (\mathcal{WC}_1(t) + 2\mathcal{L})\|g\|_{\infty}.$$
 (2.4.8)

Proof. Subtracting two versions of (2.4.2) from each other, we obtain

$$\rho_{j+1}^{n+1} - \rho_j^{n+1} = \mathcal{A}_j^n - \lambda \mathcal{B}_j^n,$$

where

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}_{j}^{n} &:= \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} - \lambda \left(\rho_{j+1}^{n} g(\rho_{j+2}^{n}) V_{j+3/2}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) V_{j+1/2}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) V_{j+3/2}^{n} \right. \\ &+ \rho_{j-1}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) V_{j+1/2}^{n} \right), \\ \mathcal{B}_{j}^{n} &:= \rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) V_{j+3/2}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) V_{j+1/2}^{n} + \rho_{j-1}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) V_{j-1/2}^{n} - \rho_{j-1}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) V_{j+1/2}^{n} \end{split}$$

A straightforward computation reveals that \mathcal{A}_j^n can be written in the form

$$\mathcal{A}_{j}^{n} = \left(1 - \lambda \left(g(\rho_{j+1}^{n})V_{j+3/2}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n})V_{j+1/2}^{n}\right)\right)(\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}) - \lambda \rho_{j+1}^{n}g'(\xi_{j+3/2}^{n})V_{j+3/2}^{n}(\rho_{j+2}^{n} - \rho_{j+1}^{n}) + \lambda g(\rho_{j}^{n})V_{j+1/2}^{n}(\rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j-1}^{n}),$$

$$(2.4.9)$$

where $\xi_{j+3/2}^n \in \mathcal{I}(\rho_{j+1}^n, \rho_{j+2}^n)$. By the CFL condition (2.4.4), the first term in the righthand side of (2.4.9) is positive, thus summing over $j \in \{1, \ldots, M-1\}$ yields

$$\sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left| \mathcal{A}_{j}^{n} \right| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| + \lambda g(\rho_{1}^{n}) V_{3/2}^{n} |\rho_{1}^{n} - \rho_{a}^{n}| - \lambda g(\rho_{M}^{n}) V_{M+1/2}^{n} |\rho_{M}^{n} - \rho_{M-1}^{n}| - \lambda \rho_{M}^{n} g'(\xi_{M+1/2}^{n}) V_{M+1/2}^{n} |\rho_{b}^{n} - \rho_{M}^{n}| + \lambda \rho_{1}^{n} g'(\xi_{3/2}^{n}) V_{3/2}^{n} |\rho_{2}^{n} - \rho_{1}^{n}|.$$

$$(2.4.10)$$

On the other hand,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{B}_{j}^{n} &= -\rho_{j}^{n} \big(V_{j+1/2}^{n} - V_{j+3/2}^{n} \big) g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n}) (\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}) \\ &+ g(\rho_{j}^{n}) \big(V_{j+1/2}^{n} - V_{j-1/2}^{n} \big) (\rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j-1}^{n}) + \rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) \big(V_{j+3/2}^{n} - 2V_{j+1/2}^{n} + V_{j-1/2}^{n} \big). \end{split}$$

Taking absolute values and summing over $j \in \{1, \ldots, M-1\}$ we have

$$\begin{split} \lambda \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left| \mathcal{B}_{j}^{n} \right| &\leq -\lambda \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \rho_{j}^{n} g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n}) \left| V_{j+3/2}^{n} - V_{j+1/2}^{n} \right| \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| \\ &+ \lambda \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) \left| V_{j-1/2}^{n} - V_{j+1/2}^{n} \right| \left| \rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j-1}^{n} \right| \\ &+ \lambda \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) \left| V_{j+3/2}^{n} - 2V_{j+1/2}^{n} + V_{j-1/2}^{n} \right| \\ &= -\lambda \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left(\rho_{j}^{n} g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n}) - g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) \right) \left| V_{j+3/2}^{n} - V_{j+1/2}^{n} \right| \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| \\ &+ \lambda \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) \left| V_{j+3/2}^{n} - 2V_{j+1/2}^{n} + V_{j-1/2}^{n} \right| \end{split}$$

$$+ \lambda g(\rho_1^n) |V_{3/2}^n - V_{1/2}^n| |\rho_1^n - \rho_a^n| - \lambda g(\rho_M^n) |V_{M+1/2}^n - V_{M-1/2}^n| |\rho_M^n - \rho_{M-1}^n|.$$

By using the following estimations (which are proved in Appendix A)

$$\left|V_{j+3/2}^{n} - V_{j+1/2}^{n}\right| \le \mathcal{L}\Delta x, \quad \left|V_{j+3/2}^{n} - 2V_{j+1/2}^{n} + V_{j-1/2}^{n}\right| \le \Delta x^{2}\mathcal{W},$$
(2.4.11)

we obtain

$$\begin{split} \lambda \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left| \mathcal{B}_{j}^{n} \right| &\leq -\lambda \mathcal{L} \Delta x \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left(\rho_{j}^{n} g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n}) - g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) \right) \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| \\ &+ \lambda \Delta x^{2} \mathcal{W} \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) + \lambda g(\rho_{1}^{n}) |V_{3/2}^{n} - V_{1/2}^{n}| |\rho_{1}^{n} - \rho_{a}^{n}| \\ &- \lambda g(\rho_{M}^{n}) |V_{M+1/2}^{n} - V_{M-1/2}^{n}| |\rho_{M}^{n} - \rho_{M-1}^{n}| \\ &\leq -\mathcal{L} \Delta t \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left(\rho_{j}^{n} g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n}) - g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) \right) \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \mathcal{W} \|g\|_{\infty} \|\rho\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \mathcal{L} \Delta t g(\rho_{1}^{n}) |\rho_{1}^{n} - \rho_{a}^{n}|. \end{split}$$

$$(2.4.12)$$

We now deal with the boundary terms, first for the left boundary term. By the definition of the scheme (2.4.2),

$$\begin{split} \rho_1^{n+1} - \rho_a^{n+1} &= \rho_1^n - \rho_a^n + \rho_a^n - \rho_a^{n+1} - \lambda \Big(\Big(\rho_1^n g(\rho_2^n) - \rho_1^n g(\rho_1^n) \Big) V_{3/2}^n \\ &+ \Big(\rho_1^n g(\rho_1^n) - \rho_a^n g(\rho_1^n) \Big) V_{3/2}^n + \rho_a^n g(\rho_1^n) (V_{3/2}^n - V_{1/2}^n) \Big) \\ &= \rho_1^n - \rho_a^n + \rho_a^n - \rho_a^{n+1} - \lambda \Big(\rho_1^n g'(\xi_{3/2}^n) V_{3/2}^n (\rho_2^n - \rho_1^n) \\ &+ (\rho_1^n - \rho_a^n) g(\rho_1^n) V_{3/2}^n + \rho_a^n g(\rho_1^n) (V_{3/2}^n - V_{1/2}^n) \Big) \\ &= \rho_a^n - \rho_a^{n+1} + \Big(1 - \lambda g(\rho_1^n) V_{3/2}^n \Big) \big(\rho_1^n - \rho_a^n) - \lambda \rho_1^n g'(\xi_{3/2}^n) (\rho_2^n - \rho_1^n) \\ &- \lambda \rho_a^n g(\rho_1^n) \big(V_{3/2}^n - V_{1/2}^n \big) \Big). \end{split}$$

Taking absolute values, invoking (2.4.4) and using (2.4.11) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\rho_{1}^{n+1} - \rho_{a}^{n+1}\right| &\leq \left|\rho_{a}^{n} - \rho_{a}^{n+1}\right| + \left(1 - \lambda g(\rho_{1}^{n})V_{3/2}^{n}\right)\left|\rho_{1}^{n} - \rho_{a}^{n}\right| \\ &- \lambda \rho_{1}^{n}g'(\xi_{3/2}^{n})V_{3/2}^{n}\left|\rho_{2}^{n} - \rho_{1}^{n}\right| + \mathcal{L}\Delta t\rho_{a}^{n}g(\rho_{1}^{n}). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.4.13)$$

An analogous discussion of the other boundary term yields

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\rho_{b}^{n+1} - \rho_{M}^{n+1}\right| &\leq \left|\rho_{b}^{n} - \rho_{b}^{n+1}\right| + (1 + \lambda \rho_{M}^{n} g'(\xi_{M+1/2}^{n}) V_{M+1/2}^{n}) \left|\rho_{M}^{n} - \rho_{b}^{n}\right| \\ &+ \lambda g(\rho_{M}^{n}) V_{M+1/2}^{n} \left|\rho_{M}^{n} - \rho_{M-1}^{n}\right| + \Delta t \rho_{M-1}^{n} g(\rho_{M}^{n}) \mathcal{L}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.4.14)$$

Finally, collecting the estimates (2.4.10), (2.4.12), (2.4.13) and (2.4.14) we arrive at

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j=0}^{M} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n+1} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \rho_{a}^{n} - \rho_{a}^{n+1} \right| + \sum_{j=0}^{M} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| - \mathcal{L}\Delta t \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left(\rho_{j}^{n} g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n}) - g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) \right) \right| \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \mathcal{W} \| g \|_{\infty} \| \rho \|_{L^{1}(I)} + \Delta t \mathcal{L} g(\rho_{1}^{n}) |\rho_{1}^{n} - \rho_{a}^{n}| + |\rho_{b}^{n} - \rho_{b}^{n+1}| \\ &+ \Delta t \mathcal{L} (\rho_{a}^{n} g(\rho_{1}^{n}) + \rho_{M-1}^{n} g(\rho_{M}^{n})) \\ &\leq \left| \rho_{a}^{n} - \rho_{a}^{n+1} \right| + \left(1 + \Delta t \mathcal{L} (\| g' \|_{\infty} + \| g \|_{\infty}) \right) \sum_{j=0}^{M} |\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}| \\ &+ \Delta t \mathcal{W} \| g \|_{\infty} \| \rho \|_{L^{1}(I)} + |\rho_{b}^{n} - \rho_{b}^{n+1}| + 2\Delta t \mathcal{L} \| g \|_{\infty} \\ &= \left| \rho_{a}^{n} - \rho_{a}^{n+1} \right| + \left(1 + \Delta t \mathcal{K}_{1} \right) \sum_{j=0}^{M} |\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}| + |\rho_{b}^{n} - \rho_{b}^{n+1}| + \Delta t \mathcal{K}_{2}, \end{split}$$

with $\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{W}, \mathcal{K}_1$ and \mathcal{K}_2 defined as in (2.2.10), (2.2.11), and (2.4.8). The previous estimate implies (2.4.6)-(2.4.7) by standard arguments.

Lemma 2.9 (BV estimate in space and time). Let $\rho_0 \in BV(I; \mathbb{R}^+)$ and $\rho_a, \rho_b \in BV(\mathbb{R}^+; [0, 1])$. If Assumptions 2.2.1 and the CFL condition (2.4.4) hold, then for all $n = 0, \ldots, N_T$, the estimate

$$\sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \sum_{j=0}^{M} \Delta t \left| \rho_{j+1}^m - \rho_j^m \right| + \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \sum_{j=0}^{M+1} \Delta x \left| \rho_j^{m+1} - \rho_j^m \right| \le \mathcal{C}_{xt}(t^n)$$
(2.4.15)

holds, where

$$\mathcal{C}_{xt}(t^n) = t^n \mathcal{C}_x(t^n) + \mathcal{C}_t(t^n) + \Delta x \big(\operatorname{TV}(\rho_a; [0, T]) + \operatorname{TV}(\rho_b; [0, T]) \big).$$

Proof. By Lemma 2.8 we have

$$\sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \sum_{j=0}^{M} \Delta t \left| \rho_{j+1}^m - \rho_j^m \right| \leq n \Delta t \mathcal{C}_x(n \Delta t).$$
(2.4.16)

By the definition of numerical scheme (2.4.2), for $m \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$ and $j \in \{1, ..., M\}$ we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \rho_{j}^{m+1} - \rho_{j}^{m} \right| &= \left| \lambda \rho_{j}^{m} g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{m}) V_{j+1/2}^{m}(\rho_{j+1}^{m} - \rho_{j}^{m}) + \lambda \rho_{j}^{m} g(\rho_{j}^{m}) (V_{j+1/2}^{m} - V_{j-1/2}^{m}) \\ &+ \lambda g(\rho_{j}^{m}) V_{j-1/2}^{m}(\rho_{j}^{m} - \rho_{j}^{m}) \right| \\ &\leq \lambda \|g'\|_{\infty} \|v\|_{\infty} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{m} - \rho_{j}^{m} \right| + \lambda \|g\|_{\infty} \mathcal{L}\Delta x \rho_{j}^{m} \end{aligned}$$

$$+\lambda \|g\|_{\infty}\|v\|_{\infty}|\rho_{j}^{m}-\rho_{j-1}^{m}|.$$

Multiplying the last inequality by Δx and summing for j from 1 to M we get

$$\sum_{j=1}^{M} \Delta x \left| \rho_{j}^{m+1} - \rho_{j}^{m} \right|$$

$$\leq \Delta t \|v\|_{\infty} \left(\|g'\|_{\infty} + \|g\|_{\infty} \right) \sum_{j=0}^{M} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{m} - \rho_{j}^{m} \right| + \Delta t \|g\|_{\infty} \mathcal{L} \|\rho^{m}\|_{L^{1}(I)}$$

Lemmas 2.7 and 2.8 now imply that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{M} \Delta x \left| \rho_{j}^{m+1} - \rho_{j}^{m} \right| \leq \Delta t \|v\|_{\infty} (\|g'\|_{\infty} + \|g\|_{\infty}) \mathcal{C}_{x}(m\Delta t)$$
$$+ \Delta t \|g\|_{\infty} \mathcal{L} \mathcal{C}_{1}(m\Delta t) = \Delta t \mathcal{C}_{t}(m\Delta t),$$

where we define

$$\mathcal{C}_t(\tau) := \|v\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1])} \big(\|g'\|_{\infty} + \|g\|_{\infty} \big) \mathcal{C}_x(\tau) + \|g\|_{\infty} \mathcal{LC}_1(\tau).$$

In particular,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{M+1} \Delta x \left| \rho_j^{m+1} - \rho_j^m \right| = \Delta x \left| \rho_a^{m+1} - \rho_a^m \right| + \Delta x \left| \rho_b^{m+1} - \rho_b^m \right| + \sum_{j=1}^M \Delta x \left| \rho_j^{m+1} - \rho_j^m \right|$$

$$\leq \Delta x \left| \rho_a^{m+1} - \rho_a^m \right| + \Delta x \left| \rho_b^{m+1} - \rho_b^m \right| + \Delta t \mathcal{C}_t(m\Delta t),$$
(2.4.17)

which, summed over $m = 0, \ldots, n - 1$, yields

$$\sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \sum_{j=0}^{M+1} \Delta x \left| \rho_j^{m+1} - \rho_j^m \right| \le \Delta x \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \left(\left| \rho_a^{m+1} - \rho_a^m \right| + \left| \rho_b^{m+1} - \rho_b^m \right| \right) + n \Delta t \mathcal{C}_t(n\Delta t).$$
(2.4.18)

Summing (2.4.16) and (2.4.18) we get the desired estimate (2.4.15).

2.4.3 Convergence analysis

Lemmas 2.6 and 2.9 allow us to apply Helly's compactness theorem that ensures the existence of a subsequence of ρ_{Δ} , still denoted by ρ_{Δ} , that converges in L^1 to a function $\rho \in L^{\infty}(I \times [0, T])$, for all T > 0. Now we need to prove that this limit function is indeed an entropy weak solution to (2.2.1) in the sense of Definition 2.3. First we will show that the approximate solutions obtained by the scheme (2.4.2) satisfy a discrete entropy inequality. To this end, for $j = 1, \ldots, M$, $n = 0, \ldots, N_T - 1$, and $k \in \mathbb{R}$, we define

$$H_{j}^{n}(u,w,z) := w - \lambda \big(F_{j+1/2}^{n}(w,z) - F_{j-1/2}^{n}(u,w) \big),$$

2.4. Existence of solutions

$$\begin{split} G^{n,k}_{j+1/2}(u,w) &:= F^n_{j+1/2}(u \lor k, w \lor k) - F^n_{j+1/2}(k,k), \\ L^{n,k}_{j+1/2}(u,w) &:= F^n_{j+1/2}(k,k) - F^n_{j+1/2}(u \land k, w \land k), \end{split}$$

where $w \wedge z := \min\{w, z\}$, $w \vee z := \max\{w, z\}$, and $F_{j+1/2}^n(u, w)$ is defined as in (2.4.3). Observe that, due to the definition of the scheme,

$$\rho_j^{n+1} = H_j^n \left(\rho_{j-1}^n, \rho_j^n, \rho_{j+1}^n \right)$$

and we also recall the equivalence $(s-k)^+ = s \vee k - k$ and $(s-k)^- = k - s \wedge k$.

Lemma 2.10 (Discrete entropy inequalities). If Assumptions 2.2.1 and the CFL condition (2.4.4) are in effect, then the approximate solution ρ_{Δ} in (2.4.1) satisfies the discrete entropy inequalities

$$(\rho_{j}^{n+1}-k)^{+} - (\rho_{j}^{n}-k)^{+} + \lambda (G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j}^{n},\rho_{j+1}^{n}) - G_{j-1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j-1}^{n},\rho_{j}^{n})) + \lambda \operatorname{sgn}^{+} (\rho_{j}^{n+1}-k) f(k) (V_{j+1/2}^{n} - V_{j-1/2}^{n}) \le 0 \quad \text{and}$$

$$(2.4.19) (\rho_{j}^{n+1}-k)^{-} - (\rho_{j}^{n}-k)^{-} + \lambda (L_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j}^{n},\rho_{j+1}^{n}) - L_{j-1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j-1}^{n},\rho_{j}^{n}))$$

$$+ \lambda \operatorname{sgn}^{-}(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - k)f(k) \left(V_{j+1/2}^{n} - V_{j-1/2}^{n} \right) \le 0$$
(2.4.20)

for j = 1, ..., M, $n = 0, ..., N_T - 1$ and $k \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof. By the CFL condition (2.4.4), the map $(u, w, z) \mapsto H_j^n(u, w, z)$ satisfies

$$\partial_u H_j^n(u, w, z) = \lambda g(w) V_{j-1/2}^n \ge 0,$$

$$\partial_w H_j^n(u, w, z) = 1 - \lambda \left(g(z) V_{j+1/2}^n - ug'(w) V_{j-1/2}^n \right) \ge 0,$$

$$\partial_z H_j^n(u, w, z) = -\lambda w g'(z) V_{j+1/2}^n \ge 0.$$
(2.4.21)

Notice that

$$H_{j}^{n}(k,k,k) = k - \lambda f(k) \left(V_{j+1/2}^{n} - V_{j-1/2}^{n} \right).$$

The monotonicity properties (2.4.21) imply that

$$\begin{split} H_{j}^{n}(\rho_{j-1}^{n} \lor k, \rho_{j}^{n} \lor k, \rho_{j+1}^{n} \lor k) &- H_{j}^{n}(k, k, k) \\ \geq H_{j}^{n}(\rho_{j-1}^{n}, \rho_{j}^{n}, \rho_{j+1}^{n}) \lor H_{j}^{n}(k, k, k) - H_{j}^{n}(k, k, k) \\ &= \left(H_{j}^{n}(\rho_{j-1}^{n}, \rho_{j}^{n}, \rho_{j+1}^{n}) - H_{j}^{n}(k, k, k)\right)^{+} = \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - k + \lambda f(k) \left(V_{j+1/2}^{n} - V_{j-1/2}^{n}\right)\right)^{+}, \end{split}$$

moreover, we also have

$$\begin{aligned} H_{j}^{n} \left(\rho_{j-1}^{n} \lor k, \rho_{j}^{n} \lor k, \rho_{j+1}^{n} \lor k\right) &- H_{j}^{n}(k, k, k) \\ &= \left(\rho_{j}^{n} \lor k\right) - \lambda \left(F_{j+1/2}^{n} \left(\rho_{j}^{n} \lor k, \rho_{j+1}^{n} \lor k\right) - F_{j-1/2}^{n} \left(\rho_{j-1}^{n} \lor k, \rho_{j}^{n} \lor k\right)\right) \right) \\ &- \left(k - \lambda \left(F_{j+1/2}^{n}(k, k) - F_{j-1/2}^{n}(k, k)\right)\right) \end{aligned}$$

$$= \left(\rho_{j}^{n} \vee k\right) - k - \lambda \left(F_{j+1/2}^{n} \left(\rho_{j}^{n} \vee k, \rho_{j+1}^{n} \vee k\right) - F_{j-1/2}^{n} \left(\rho_{j-1}^{n} \vee k, \rho_{j}^{n} \vee k\right) - F_{j+1/2}^{n} \left(k, k\right) + F_{j-1/2}^{n} \left(k, k\right)\right)$$

$$= \left(\rho_{j}^{n} - k\right)^{+} - \lambda \left(G_{j+1/2}^{n,k} \left(\rho_{j}^{n}, \rho_{j+1}^{n}\right) - G_{j-1/2}^{n,k} \left(\rho_{j-1}^{n}, \rho_{j}^{n}\right)\right),$$

hence

$$\begin{split} & \left(\rho_{j}^{n}-k\right)^{+}-\lambda\left(G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}\left(\rho_{j}^{n},\rho_{j+1}^{n}\right)-G_{j-1/2}^{n,k}\left(\rho_{j-1}^{n},\rho_{j}^{n}\right)\right)\\ & \geq\left(\rho_{j}^{n+1}-k+\lambda f(k)\left(V_{j+1/2}^{n}-V_{j-1/2}^{n}\right)\right)^{+}\\ & =\mathrm{sgn}^{+}\left(\rho_{j}^{n+1}-k+\lambda f(k)\left(V_{j+1/2}^{n}-V_{j-1/2}^{n}\right)\right)\left(\rho_{j}^{n+1}-k+\lambda f(k)\left(V_{j+1/2}^{n}-V_{j-1/2}^{n}\right)\right)\\ & \geq\left(\rho_{j}^{n+1}-k\right)+\lambda\,\mathrm{sgn}^{+}\left(\rho_{j}^{n+1}-k\right)f(k)\left(V_{j+1/2}^{n}-V_{j-1/2}^{n}\right), \end{split}$$

which proves (2.4.19), while (2.4.20) is proven in an entirely analogous way.

Remark 2.11. Lemma 2.10 and its proof mimic standard arguments known for monotone schemes of local conservation laws [38], although the scheme is not monotone in the proper sense since the argument (2.4.21) suppresses the presence of ρ_{j-1}^n , ρ_j^n and ρ_{j+1}^n within $V_{j-1/2}^n$ and $V_{j+1/2}^n$.

Lemma 2.12. Let $\rho_0 \in BV(]a, b[; \mathbb{R}^+)$, $\rho_a, \rho_b \in BV(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{R}^+)$, and Assumptions 2.2.1 and the CFL condition (2.4.4) be in effect. Then the piecewise constant approximate solutions ρ_{Δ} in (2.4.1) resulting from the HW scheme (2.4.2) converge, as $\Delta x \to 0$, towards an entropy weak solution of initial boundary value problem (2.2.1).

Proof. Adding and subtracting $\lambda G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n,\rho_j^n)$ we may rewrite (2.4.19) as

$$0 \ge \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - k\right)^{+} - \left(\rho_{j}^{n} - k\right)^{+} + \lambda \left(G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j}^{n}, \rho_{j+1}^{n}) - G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j}^{n}, \rho_{j}^{n})\right) \\ + \lambda \left(G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j}^{n}, \rho_{j}^{n}) - G_{j-1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j-1}^{n}, \rho_{j}^{n})\right) \\ + \lambda \operatorname{sgn}^{+} \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - k\right) f(k) \left(V_{j+1/2}^{n} - V_{j-1/2}^{n}\right).$$

Let $\varphi \in C_c^1([0,T] \times I; \mathbb{R}^+)$ for some T > 0. Multiplying the inequality above by $\Delta x \varphi(x_j, t^n)$ and summing over $j = 1, \ldots, M$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ yields

$$0 \ge T_1 + T_2 + T_3 + T_4,$$

where we define the terms

$$\begin{split} T_1 &:= \Delta x \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M} \left((\rho_j^{n+1} - k)^+ - (\rho_j^n - k)^+ \right) \varphi(x_j, t^n), \\ T_2 &:= \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M} \left(G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n, \rho_{j+1}^n) - G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n, \rho_j^n) \right) \varphi(x_j, t^n), \\ T_3 &:= -\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M} \left(G_{j-1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j-1}^n, \rho_j^n) - G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n, \rho_j^n) \right) \varphi(x_j, t^n), \end{split}$$

2.4. Existence of solutions

$$T_4 := \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M} \operatorname{sgn}^+ \left(\rho_j^{n+1} - k \right) f(k) \left(V_{j+1/2}^n - V_{j-1/2}^n \right) \varphi(x_j, t^n).$$

Summing by parts, we obtain

$$T_{1} = \Delta x \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M} (\rho_{j}^{n} - k)^{+} \varphi(x_{j}, t^{n-1}) - \Delta x \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M} (\rho_{j}^{n} - k)^{+} \varphi(x_{j}, t^{n})$$
$$= -\Delta x \sum_{j=1}^{M} (\rho_{j}^{0} - k)^{+} \varphi(x_{j}, 0) - \Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M} (\rho_{j}^{n} - k)^{+} \frac{\varphi(x_{j}, t^{n}) - \varphi(x_{j}, t^{n-1})}{\Delta t},$$

and by the dominated convergence theorem,

$$T_1 \xrightarrow{\Delta x \to 0^+} -\int_a^b (\rho_0(x) - k)^+ \varphi(x_j, 0) \,\mathrm{d}x - \int_0^\infty \int_a^b (\rho(x, t) - k)^+ \partial_t \varphi(x, t) \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t.$$

Again by the dominated convergence theorem,

$$T_{4} = \Delta t \Delta x \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M} \operatorname{sgn}^{+} \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - k\right) f(k) \frac{V_{j+1/2}^{n} - V_{j-1/2}^{n}}{\Delta x} \varphi(x_{j}, t^{n})$$
$$\xrightarrow{\Delta x \to 0^{+}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{a}^{b} \operatorname{sgn}^{+} \left(\rho(x, t) - k\right) f(k) (\partial_{x} V) \varphi(x, t) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

Concerning T_2 and T_3 , we get

$$T_{2} + T_{3} = \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M} \left(G_{j+1/2}^{n,k} (\rho_{j}^{n}, \rho_{j+1}^{n}) - G_{j+1/2}^{n,k} (\rho_{j}^{n}, \rho_{j}^{n}) \right) \varphi(x_{j}, t^{n})$$
$$- \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} \left(G_{j+1/2}^{n,k} (\rho_{j}^{n}, \rho_{j+1}^{n}) - G_{j+3/2}^{n,k} (\rho_{j+1}^{n}, \rho_{j+1}^{n}) \right) \varphi(x_{j+1}, t^{n})$$
$$= T_{20} + T_{30} = T_{23},$$

where we define

$$T_{20} := \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left(\left(G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j}^{n},\rho_{j+1}^{n}) - G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j}^{n},\rho_{j}^{n}) \right) \varphi(x_{j},t^{n}) - \left(G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j}^{n},\rho_{j+1}^{n}) - G_{j+3/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j+1}^{n},\rho_{j+1}^{n}) \right) \varphi(x_{j+1},t^{n}) \right),$$

$$T_{30} := \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\left(G_{M+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{M}^{n},\rho_{b}^{n}) - G_{M+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{M}^{n},\rho_{M}^{n}) \right) \varphi(x_{M},t^{n}) - \left(G_{1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{a}^{n},\rho_{1}^{n}) - G_{3/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{1}^{n},\rho_{1}^{n}) \right) \varphi(x_{1},t^{n}) \right).$$

Now we define

$$S := -\Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M} G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n, \rho_j^n) \frac{\varphi(x_{j+1}, t^n) - \varphi(x_j, t^n)}{\Delta x}$$

$$- L\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \left((\rho_a^n - k)^+ \varphi(a, t^n) + (\rho_b^n - k)^+ \varphi(b, t^n) \right).$$
(2.4.22)

Since

$$\begin{aligned} G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n,\rho_j^n) &= F_{j+1/2}^n(\rho_j^n \lor k,\rho_j^n \lor k) - F_{j+1/2}^n(k,k) \\ &= \left(f(\rho_j^n \lor k) - f(k)\right)V_{j+1/2}^n = \operatorname{sgn}^+(\rho_j^n - k)\left(f(\rho_j^n) - f(k)\right)V_{j+1/2}^n, \end{aligned}$$

it follows that

$$S \xrightarrow{\Delta x \to 0^+} -\int_0^{+\infty} \int_a^b \operatorname{sgn}^+(\rho(x,t)-k) \big(f(\rho_j^n) - f(k)\big) V \partial_x \varphi(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t - L \Big(\int_0^{+\infty} (\rho_a(t)-k)^+ \varphi(a,t) \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_0^{+\infty} (\rho_b(t)-k)^+ \varphi(b,t) \, \mathrm{d}t\Big).$$

Let us rewrite S (2.4.22) as follows

$$\begin{split} S &= -\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M} G_{j+1/2}^{n,k} (\rho_{j}^{n},\rho_{j}^{n}) \big(\varphi(x_{j+1},t^{n}) - \varphi(x_{j},t^{n}) \big) \\ &- L\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \big((\rho_{a}^{n}-k)^{+} \varphi(a,t^{n}) + (\rho_{b}^{n}-k)^{+} \varphi(b,t^{n}) \big) \\ &= -\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{M} G_{j+1/2}^{n,k} (\rho_{j}^{n},\rho_{j}^{n}) \varphi(x_{j+1},t^{n}) \right) \\ &- \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} G_{j+3/2}^{n,k} (\rho_{j+1}^{n},\rho_{j+1}^{n}) \varphi(x_{j+1},t^{n}) \Big) \\ &- L\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \big((\rho_{a}^{n}-k)^{+} \varphi(a,t^{n}) + (\rho_{b}^{n}-k)^{+} \varphi(b,t^{n}) \big) = S_{20} + S_{30}, \end{split}$$

where we define

$$S_{20} := -\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left\{ G_{j+1/2}^{n,k} (\rho_j^n, \rho_j^n) - G_{j+3/2}^{n,k} (\rho_{j+1}^n, \rho_{j+1}^n) \right\} \varphi(x_{j+1}, t^n),$$

$$S_{30} := -\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \left(G_{M+1/2}^{n,k} (\rho_M^n, \rho_M^n) \varphi(x_{M+1}, t^n) - G_{3/2}^{n,k} (\rho_1^n, \rho_1^n) \varphi(x_1, t^n) \right)$$

.

$$-L\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \left((\rho_a^n - k)^+ \varphi(a, t^n) + (\rho_b^n - k)^+ \varphi(b, t^n) \right).$$

Adding and subtracting $G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n,\rho_j^n)$, we may rewrite S_{20} as

$$S_{20} = -\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left(G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n, \rho_{j+1}^n) - G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n, \rho_j^n) \right) \varphi(x_{j+1}, t^n) - \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} \left(G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n, \rho_{j+1}^n) - G_{j+3/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j+1}^n, \rho_{j+1}^n) \right) \varphi(x_{j+1}, t^n)$$

We evaluate now the distance between T_{20} and S_{20} :

$$|T_{20} - S_{20}| \le \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} |G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n, \rho_{j+1}^n) - G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_j^n, \rho_j^n)| |\varphi(x_{j+1}, t^n) - \varphi(x_j, t^n)|.$$

Since

$$\begin{split} & \left| G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j}^{n},\rho_{j+1}^{n}) - G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{j}^{n},\rho_{j}^{n}) \right| \\ &= \left| F_{j+1/2}^{n}(\rho_{j}^{n} \lor k,\rho_{j+1}^{n} \lor k) - F_{j+1/2}^{n}(\rho_{j}^{n} \lor k,\rho_{j}^{n} \lor k) \right| \\ &= \left| (\rho_{j}^{n} \lor k) \left(g(\rho_{j+1}^{n} \lor k) - g(\rho_{j}^{n} \lor k) \right) V_{j+1/2}^{n} \right| \\ &= \left| (\rho_{j}^{n} \lor k) g'(\eta_{j+1/2}^{n}) \left((\rho_{j+1}^{n} \lor k) - (\rho_{j}^{n} \lor k) \right) V_{j+1/2}^{n} \right| \\ &\leq \|v\|_{\infty} \|g'\|_{\infty} |(\rho_{j}^{n} \lor k) \left((\rho_{j+1}^{n} \lor k) - (\rho_{j}^{n} \lor k) \right) | \\ &\leq \|v\|_{\infty} \|g'\|_{\infty} |\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}| \leq L |\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}|, \end{split}$$

in light of the uniform BV estimate (2.4.6) we deduce that

$$|T_{20} - S_{20}| \leq L\Delta x \Delta t ||\partial_x \varphi||_{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} |\rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n|$$

$$\leq L\Delta x T ||\partial_x \varphi||_{\infty} \max_{0 \leq n \leq T/\Delta t} \operatorname{TV}(\rho_\Delta(\cdot, t^n)) = \mathcal{O}(\Delta x).$$
(2.4.23)

Furthermore, we obtain

$$S_{30} - T_{30} = -\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(G_{M+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{M}^{n},\rho_{M}^{n})\varphi(x_{M+1},t^{n}) - G_{3/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{1}^{n},\rho_{1}^{n})\varphi(x_{1},t^{n}) \right) - L\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left((\rho_{a}^{n}-k)^{+}\varphi(a,t^{n}) + (\rho_{b}^{n}-k)^{+}\varphi(b,t^{n}) \right) - \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\left(G_{M+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{M}^{n},\rho_{b}^{n}) - G_{M+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{M}^{n},\rho_{M}^{n}) \right) \varphi(x_{M},t^{n}) \right)$$

$$-\left(G_{1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_a^n,\rho_1^n)-G_{3/2}^{n,k}(\rho_1^n,\rho_1^n)\right)\varphi(x_1,t^n)\right),$$

which we can write as $S_{30} - T_{30} = R_1 + R_2 + R_3$ with

$$R_{1} := \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(G_{1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{a}^{n},\rho_{1}^{n})\varphi(x_{1},t^{n}) - L(\rho_{a}^{n}-k)^{+}\varphi(a,t^{n}) \right),$$

$$R_{2} := -\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(L(\rho_{b}^{n}-k)^{+}\varphi(b,t^{n}) + G_{M+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{M}^{n},\rho_{b}^{n})\varphi(x_{M},t^{n}) \right),$$

$$R_{3} := -\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} G_{M+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{M}^{n},\rho_{M}^{n}) \left(\varphi(x_{M+1},t^{n}) - \varphi(x_{M},t^{n}) \right).$$

Observe that

$$\partial_u F_{j+1/2}^n(u,z) = \partial_u \left(ug(z)V_{j+1/2}^n \right) = g(z)V_{j+1/2}^n \ge 0,$$

$$\partial_z F_{j+1/2}^n(u,z) = \partial_z \left(ug(z)V_{j+1/2}^n \right) = ug'(z)V_{j+1/2}^n \le 0,$$

meaning that the numerical flux is increasing with respect to the first variable and the decreasing with respect to the second one. Consequently,

$$\begin{split} G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(u,z) &= F_{j+1/2}^n(u \lor k, z \lor k) - F_{j+1/2}^n(k,k) \\ &\geq F_{j+1/2}^n(k,z \lor k) - F_{j+1/2}^n(k,k) = (kg(z \lor k) - kg(k))V_{j+1/2}^n \\ &= kg'(\nu_{j+1/2}^n)((z \lor k) - k)V_{j+1/2}^n \geq - \|v\|_{\infty}\|g'\|_{\infty}(z-k)^+ \\ &\geq -L(z-k)^+, \\ G_{j+1/2}^{n,k}(u,z) &= F_{j+1/2}^n(u \lor k, z \lor k) - F_{j+1/2}^n(k,k) \\ &\leq F_{j+1/2}^n(u \lor k,k) - F_{j+1/2}^n(k,k) = (u \lor k)g(k)V_{j+1/2}^n - kg(k)V_{j+1/2}^n \\ &= ((u \lor k) - k)g(k)V_{j+1/2}^n \leq \|v\|_{\infty}\|g\|_{\infty}(u-k)^+ \leq L(u-k)^+, \end{split}$$

hence

$$\begin{aligned} R_{1} &= \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} G_{1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{a}^{n},\rho_{1}^{n}) \big(\varphi(x_{1},t^{n}) - \varphi(a,t^{n})\big) \\ &+ \Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \big(G_{1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{a}^{n},\rho_{1}^{n}) - L(\rho_{a}^{n}-k)^{+}\big)\varphi(a,t^{n}) \\ &\leq LT\Delta x \|\partial_{x}\varphi\|_{\infty} \sup_{0 \leq n \leq T/\Delta t} (\rho_{a}^{n}-k)^{+} + L\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \big((\rho_{a}^{n}-k)^{+} - (\rho_{a}^{n}-k)^{+}\big)\varphi(a,t^{n}) \\ &\leq T\Delta x \|\partial_{x}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\rho_{a}\|_{L^{\infty}([0,t])} = \mathcal{O}(\Delta x), \\ R_{2} &= -\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \big(L(\rho_{b}^{n}-k)^{+} + G_{M+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_{M}^{n},\rho_{b}^{n})\big)\varphi(b,t^{n}) \end{aligned}$$

$$-\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} G_{M+1/2}^{n,k} (\rho_M^n, \rho_b^n) (\varphi(x_M, t^n) - \varphi(b, t^n))$$

$$\leq -L\Delta t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left((\rho_b^n - k)^+ - (\rho_b^n - k)^+ \right) \varphi(b, t^n)$$

$$+ LT\Delta x \|\partial_x \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \sup_{0 \leq n \leq T/\Delta t} (\rho_b^n - k)^+$$

$$\leq LT\Delta x \|\partial_x \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\rho_b\|_{L^{\infty}([0,t])} = \mathcal{O}(\Delta x),$$

$$R_3 \leq \Delta t \left| \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} G_{M+1/2}^{n,k} (\rho_M^n, \rho_M^n) (\varphi(x_{M+1}, t^n) - \varphi(x_M, t^n)) \right|$$

$$\leq \Delta t\Delta x \|\partial_x \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} |G_{M+1/2}^{n,k} (\rho_M^n, \rho_M^n)|.$$

Taking into account that

$$\begin{split} G_{M+1/2}^{n,k}(\rho_M^n,\rho_M^n) &= F_{M+1/2}^n(\rho_M^n \lor k,\rho_M^n \lor k) - F_{M+1/2}^n(k,k) \\ &= (\rho_M^n \lor k)g(\rho_M^n \lor k)V_{M+1/2}^n - kg(k)V_{M+1/2}^n \\ &= \left((\rho_M^n \lor k)(g(\rho_M^n \lor k) - g(k)) + (\rho_M^n \lor k - k)g(k)\right)V_{M+1/2}^n \\ &= \left((\rho_M^n \lor k)g'(\eta_{j+1/2}^n)(\rho_M^n \lor k - k) + (\rho_M^n \lor k - k)g(k)\right)V_{M+1/2}^n \\ &= \left((\rho_M^n \lor k)g'(\eta_{j+1/2}^n) + g(k)\right)(\rho_M^n \lor k - k)V_{M+1/2}^n, \end{split}$$

we get

$$R_{3} = \Delta t \Delta x \|\partial_{x}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \left| \left((\rho_{M}^{n} \vee k)g'(\eta_{j+1/2}^{n}) + g(k) \right) (\rho_{M}^{n} \vee k - k)V_{M+1/2}^{n} \right|$$

$$\leq \Delta t \Delta x \|\partial_{x}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \left| \left(g'(\eta_{j+1/2}^{n}) + g(k) \right) (\rho_{M}^{n} \vee k - k)V_{M+1/2}^{n} \right|$$

$$\leq L\Delta t \Delta x \|\partial_{x}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|v\|_{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left| \rho_{M}^{n} \vee k - k \right|$$

$$= L\Delta t \Delta x \|\partial_{x}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|v\|_{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (\rho_{M}^{n} - k)^{+}$$

$$\leq LT\Delta x \|\partial_{x}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|v\|_{\infty} \sup_{0 \leq n \leq T/\Delta t} \|\rho^{n}\|_{\infty} \leq LT\Delta x \|\partial_{x}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|v\|_{\infty} = \mathcal{O}(\Delta x),$$

thanks to the maximum principle estimate. Hence, $S_{30} - T_{30} \leq \mathcal{O}(\Delta x)$, so that we finally get

$$0 \ge T_1 + T_2 + T_3 + T_4 = T_1 + T_4 + T_{23} \pm S = T_1 + T_4 + S - \mathcal{O}(\Delta x).$$

This concludes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 2.4. The existence of solutions to problem (2.2.1) follows from the results of Section 2.4. The uniqueness is ensured by the Lipschitz continuous dependence of solutions to (2.2.1) on initial and boundary data, see Section 2.3. The estimates on the solution to (2.2.1) are obtained from the corresponding discrete estimates passing to the limit. In particular, the L^1 bound follows from (2.7), the Maximum principle from (2.6), the total variation bound from (2.8) and the Lipschitz continuity in time from (2.4.17), since $\Delta x = \Delta t/\lambda$ and taking $\lambda = 1/L$.

2.5 A second-order scheme

The scheme (2.4.2), (2.4.3) is only first-order accurate. We propose here a secondorder accuracy scheme, constructed using MUSCL-type variable extrapolation and Runge-Kutta temporal differencing. To implement it, we approximate $\rho(x, t^n)$ by a piecewise linear functions in each cell, i.e. $\hat{\rho}_j(x, t^n) = \rho_j^n + \sigma_j^n(x - x_j)$, where the slopes σ_j^n are calculated via the generalized minmod limiter, i.e.

$$\sigma_j^n = \frac{1}{\Delta x} \operatorname{minmod} \left(\vartheta(\rho_j^n - \rho_{j-1}^n), \frac{1}{2}(\rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_{j-1}^n), \vartheta(\rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n) \right),$$

where $\vartheta \in [1, 2]$ and

$$\operatorname{minmod}(a, b, c) := \begin{cases} \operatorname{sgn}(a) \min\{|a|, |b|, |c|\} & \text{if } \operatorname{sgn}(c) = \operatorname{sgn}(b) = \operatorname{sgn}(a), \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

This extrapolation enables one to define left and right values at the cell interfaces respectively by

$$\rho_{j+1/2}^{\mathrm{L}} := \hat{\rho}_j \left(x_j + \frac{\Delta x}{2}, t^n \right) = \rho_j^n + \sigma_j^n \frac{\Delta x}{2},$$
$$\rho_{j-1/2}^{\mathrm{R}} := \hat{\rho}_j \left(x_j - \frac{\Delta x}{2}, t^n \right) = \rho_j^n - \sigma_j^n \frac{\Delta x}{2}.$$

and

$$\begin{split} \hat{V}_{j+1/2}^{n} &= \frac{1}{\hat{W}_{j+1/2}} \int_{a}^{b} v(\hat{\rho}(y,t)) \omega(y - x_{j+1/2}) \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= \frac{1}{\hat{W}_{j+1/2}} \sum_{k=1}^{M} \int_{x_{k-1/2}}^{x_{k+1/2}} v(\hat{\rho}_{k}(y,t)) \omega(y - x_{j+1/2}) \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= \frac{\Delta x}{2\hat{W}_{j+1/2}} \sum_{k=1}^{M} \int_{-1}^{1} v\left(\hat{\rho}_{k}(\frac{\Delta x}{2}y + x_{k},t^{n})\right) \omega\left(\frac{\Delta x}{2}y + (k - j + 1/2)\Delta x\right) \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= \frac{\Delta x}{2\hat{W}_{j+1/2}} \sum_{k=1}^{M} \sum_{e=1}^{N_{G}} p_{e} v\left(\hat{\rho}_{k}(\frac{\Delta x}{2}y_{e} + x_{k},t^{n})\right) \omega\left(\frac{\Delta x}{2}y_{e} + (k - j + 1/2)\Delta x\right) \end{split}$$

2.6. Numerical examples

$$= \frac{\Delta x}{2\hat{W}_{j+1/2}} \sum_{k=1}^{M} \sum_{e=1}^{N_G} p_e v \left(\rho_k^n + \frac{\Delta x}{2} y_e \sigma_k^n\right) \omega \left(\frac{\Delta x}{2} y_e + (k-j+1/2)\Delta x\right)$$

where $\hat{W}_{j+1/2} = \int_a^b \omega(y - x_{j+1/2}) dy$ is computed in exact form, and y_e are the Gauss-Lobatto-Quadrature points. The MUSCL version of the numerical flux reads

$$F_{j+1/2}^n := \rho_{j+1/2}^{\mathrm{L}} g(\rho_{j+1/2}^{\mathrm{R}}) \hat{V}_{j+1/2}^n.$$

To achieve formal second-order accuracy also in time, we use second-order Runge-Kutta (RK) time stepping. More precisely, if we write our scheme with first-order Euler time differences and second-order spatial differences formally as

$$\rho_j^{n+1} = \rho_j^n - \lambda L_j(\rho^n) := \rho_j^n - \lambda \big(F_{j+1/2}^n - F_{j-1/2}^n \big), \tag{2.5.1}$$

then the RK version takes the two-step form

$$\rho_j^1 = \rho_j^n - \lambda L_j(\rho^n); \quad \rho_j^{n+1} = \frac{1}{2}(\rho_j^n + \rho_j^1) - \frac{\lambda}{2}L_j(\rho_j^1).$$
(2.5.2)

2.6 Numerical examples

In this section we solve (2.2.1) by using the numerical scheme (2.4.2) on the x-interval I = [0, 1] with suitable boundary conditions and $t \in [0, T]$, with T specified later. In the numerical examples we consider the equation (2.2.1) with $g(\rho) = 1-\rho$ and $v(\rho) = (1-\rho)^4$, where we recall that $f(\rho) = \rho g(\rho)$ and $V(x,t) = (\omega * v(\rho))(x,t)$, where the kernel function $\omega(x)$ is specified later in each case. For numerical experiments the interval I is subdivided into M subintervals of length $\Delta x = 1/M$, and the time step is computed taking account the CFL condition (2.4.4), and for each numerical experiment, we specify the initial and boundary conditions.

2.6.1 Example 1

In this example we compare numerical approximations obtained by scheme (2.4.2) with those generated by an adapted LxF-type scheme proposed by Goatin and Rossi in [50], starting from the initial and boundary conditions

$$\rho_0(x) = 0.2 \quad \text{for } x \in I; \quad \rho_a(t) = 0.1, \quad \rho_b(t) = 0.5 \quad \text{for } t > 0.$$

Here we employ the symmetric kernel function

$$\omega(y) = \omega_1(y) := \frac{3}{4\eta} \left(1 - \frac{y^2}{\eta^2} \right) \chi_{[-\eta,\eta]}(y)$$
(2.6.1)

with $\eta = 0.05$. In Figure 2.6.1 we display the numerical approximations for M = 800 at simulated times T = 2 and T = 8 and compare them with the reference solution

which is computed with the LxF scheme with $M_{\text{ref}} = 12800$. We observe better accuracy for the proposed scheme. This property also becomes apparent in Table 2.6.1 where we show the corresponding approximate L^1 errors for discretizations $M = 100 \times 2^l$, $l = 0, 1, \ldots, 4$ and respective experimental orders of convergence (E.O.C.). We observe that the approximate L^1 errors decrease as the grid is refined and E.O.C. assumes values close to one, in agreement with the formal first order of accuracy of the scheme.



Figure 2.6.1: Example 1: numerical approximations obtained with HW and LxF numerical flux with M = 800 and symmetric kernel $\omega_1(y)$ with $\eta = 0.05$ at simulated times (a) T = 2, (b) T = 8.

Table 2.6.1: Example 1: approximate L^1 -error $e_M(u)$ and E.O.C. for the LxF and HW numerical fluxes with $\Delta x = 1/M$ and symmetric kernel (2.6.1) with $\eta = 0.05$ at simulated times T = 2 and T = 8.

		= 2	T = 8					
	LxF		HW		LxF		HW	
M	$e_M(ho_\Delta)$	E.O.C.	$e_M(ho_\Delta)$	E.O.C.				
100	1.71e-01		1.02e-01		6.34e-01		5.28e-01	
200	1.11e-01	0.63	5.42 e- 02	0.92	5.96e-01	0.89	5.80e-01	-0.14
400	4.64e-02	1.25	2.74e-02	0.98	4.89e-01	0.28	3.69e-01	0.65
800	2.02e-02	1.20	1.39e-02	0.98	2.86e-01	0.78	1.19e-01	1.63
1600	9.58e-03	1.07	6.84e-03	1.03	1.11e-01	1.37	4.18e-02	1.51

2.6.2 Example 2



Figure 2.6.2: Example 2: kernel functions $\omega(x) = \omega_i(x)$, $i = 1, \ldots, 4$, given by (2.6.1), (2.6.2) and (2.6.3) with $\eta = 0.2$.

We now compare the dynamics in the solution of model (2.2.1) by using various kernel functions. We consider the symmetric kernel ω_1 (2.6.1) as in Example 1 along with a non-symmetric kernel

$$\omega_2(y) := \frac{20}{\eta} \left(\frac{5y}{\eta} + \frac{1}{2}\right) \exp\left(-\frac{10y}{\eta} - 1\right) \chi_{\left[-\frac{\eta}{10},\eta\right]}(y)$$
(2.6.2)

and the anisotropic discontinuous kernels

$$\omega_3(y) := \frac{1}{\eta} \chi_{[0,\eta]}(y), \quad \omega_4(y) := \frac{3}{\eta^3} (\eta - y)^2 \chi_{[0,\eta]}(y), \tag{2.6.3}$$

where in all cases we choose $\eta = 0.2$. In Figure 2.6.2 we display the different kernel functions. The initial and boundary conditions are given by

$$\rho_0(x) = 0.1$$
 for $x \in I$; $\rho_a(t) = 0.1$, $\rho_b(t) = 1$ for $t > 0$.

In Figure 2.6.3 we display numerical approximations with $\Delta x = 1/400$ at times T = 10 and T = 100. We can evidence that the dynamics of the solution is different for each kernel functions; by using ω_1 we observe that numerical solution goes faster to a stationary state solution than for other kernel functions, in which this stationary state is not observed for enough large simulation time. Regarding the kernel ω_2 we can see the formation of some oscillations. Now, for the kernel ω_3 we can see the formation of some layers on the numerical solution and that the period of these layers are proportional to η . Finally, for ω_4 we can observe a numerical solution more smooth than in the previous solutions.



Figure 2.6.3: Example 2: dynamics of the model (2.2.1) for various kernel functions $(\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3 \text{ or } \omega_4)$. Numerical solutions with M = 800 at simulated times T = 10 and T = 100.

2.6.3Example 3

The aim of the present example is to investigate the behavior of numerical solutions considering the kernel functions ω_1 , ω_2 , and ω_3 as well as for two different values of the parameter η , namely $\eta = 0.1$ and $\eta = 0.025$. The initial and boundary conditions are

$$\rho_0(x) = 0.5 \quad \text{for } x \in I; \quad \rho_a(t) = 0, \quad \rho_b(t) = 1 \quad \text{for } t > 0,$$

which leaves zero flow conditions at boundary, i.e. $f_{1/2} = f_{M+1/2} = 0$. Numerical approximations are computed at simulated times T = 2, T = 7 and T = 15 with discretization M = 400. In Figure 2.6.4, first we observe that numerical solutions for the nonlocal problem (2.2.1) get closer to the solution of the local problem as η takes a smaller value, but ω_1 and ω_2 make it slower due to the presence of the oscillations that the numerical solutions present when we use these functions.

2.6.4Example 4: Error test for second order scheme

We consider the problem (2.2.1), with a smooth initial datum

$$\rho_0(x) = 0.9 \exp\left(-70(x - 0.4)^2\right) \quad \text{for } x \in [0, 1], \tag{2.6.4}$$

with boundary conditions $\rho_a = \rho_b = 0$, and with the symmetric kernel function ω_1 with $\eta = 0.2$. In Fig. 2.6.5 we display the numerical approximations obtained with the second order scheme (2.5.1)-(2.5.2), computed with M = 100 at T = 0.1. The reference solution is computed with M = 6400. As expected, the numerical solutions obtained with second order version of the HW scheme capture the reference solution better than the first order one. In Table 2.6.2 we compute the L^1 -error and E.O.C. We recover the correct order of accuracy for the second order HW scheme. Instead, we obtain just first order accuracy for HW scheme (2.4.2). We also can observe for scheme (2.4.2) that the L^1 -error for each level of refinement is bigger than the error of the second order version scheme.

		= 0.1			
	HW first-o	order version	HW second-order version		
M	$e_M(\rho_\Delta)$	E.O.C.	$e_M(\rho_\Delta)$	E.O.C.	
100	8.71e-03	-	3.20e-04		
200	4.60e-03	9.19e-01	8.63e-05	1.89	
400	2.38e-03	9.54 e- 01	2.24e-05	1.95	
800	1.21e-03	9.77e-01	5.53e-06	2.02	

Table 2.6.2: Example 4: approximate L^1 errors $e_M(\rho)$ and E.O.C for the first and second order version of the HW scheme with $\Delta x = 1/M$, at T = 0.1.

2.7 Conclusions of Chapter 2

In this chapter we extend to its nonlocal version a numerical scheme presented in [15, 55] where we take advantages of the form in which the flow is written, $\rho v(\rho)V(x,t)$, where $v(\rho)$ is a positive and non-increasing function, and V(x,t) is a positive function containing the nonlocal terms. We have proved a maximum principle, L^1 -bound, and **BV** estimations, also, a discrete entropy inequality in order to prove the well-posedness of an 1-D and nonlocal IBVP. Likewise, using kernel functions of different shapes (symmetric, non-symmetric, isotropic) we have conducted numerical experiments aiming at assessing whether (2.2.1) can possibly explain the phenomenon of layering in sedimentation. In Figures 2.6.3 and 2.6.4 we can observe some fluctuations of the concentration ρ like staircasing.



Figure 2.6.4: Example 3: numerical solutions of (2.2.1) for M = 400 at indicated simulated times with (left) $\eta = 0.1$ and (right) $\eta = 0.025$.



Figure 2.6.5: Example 4: comparison of the numerical solutions at T = 0.1 corresponding to initial condition (2.6.4), computed with $1/\Delta x = 100$ and kernel function ω_1 .

Chapter 3

Existence of entropy weak solutions for 1D non-local traffic models with space-discontinuous flux

3.1 Introduction

We are interested in the analysis of the well-posedness and the numerical approximation of solutions of non-local conservation laws with a single spatial discontinuity in the flux

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho + \partial_x f(t, x, \rho) = 0, & (t, x) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}, \\ \rho(0, x) = \rho_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}, \end{cases}$$
(3.1.1)

with

$$f(t, x, \rho) = H(-x) \ \rho g(\rho) v_l(\omega_\eta * \rho) + H(x) \ \rho g(\rho) v_r(\omega_\eta * \rho),$$

where H(x) is the Heaviside function, and the flux $f(t, x, \rho)$ has a discontinuity at x = 0if the velocity functions $v_l(\rho)$ and $v_r(\rho)$ are different. The function g is assumed to be nonnegative and such that $g'(\rho) \leq 0$ and $g(\rho_{\max}) = 0$. We assume that the convolution term and the kernel function ω_{η} satisfy

$$(\omega_{\eta} * \rho)(t, x) = \int_{x}^{x+\eta} \rho(t, y) \omega_{\eta}(y - x) \mathrm{d}y, \quad \eta > 0$$
(3.1.2)

$$\omega_{\eta} \in \mathbf{C}^{2}([0,\eta], \mathbb{R}^{+}), \quad \omega_{\eta}' \leq 0, \quad \omega_{\eta}(\eta) = 0,$$
(3.1.3)

and the following hypothesis hold on the velocity functions

$$v_s(\rho) = k_s \psi(\rho), \quad s = l, r, \quad \psi \in \mathbf{C}^2(\mathbb{R}), \text{ s.t. } \psi' \le 0.$$
 (3.1.4)

In the vehicular traffic context ρ represents the density of vehicles on the roads, ω_{η} is a non-increasing kernel function whose support η is proportional to the look-ahead

distance of drivers, that are supposed to adapt their velocity with respect to the mean downstream traffic density. The equation in (3.1.1) is a non-local version of a generalized Lighthill-Whitham-Richards traffic model [66, 72, 46] with a discontinuous velocity field [31, 62].

Models of conservation laws with non-local flux describe several phenomena such as slow erosion of granular flow [4, 77], synchronization [3], sedimentation [13], crowd dynamics [34], navigation processes [5] and traffic flow [14, 61, 20, 42, 29]. In particular, non-local traffic models describe the behaviour of drivers that adapt their velocity with respect to what happens to the cars in front of them. See [20] for an overview about non-local traffic models and [25] for a continuous non-local model describing the behavior of drivers on two stretches of a road with different velocities and capacities. There are many results relating to existence, uniqueness, stability and numerical approximation of weak entropy solutions of *local* conservation laws with a spatially discontinuous flux [31, 62, 1, 8, 15, 18, 45, 47, 48, 58, 59, 60]. Conversely, in the nonlocal case, traveling wave for a traffic flow model with rough road conditions were studied in [73], with the following velocity functions:

$$v_s(\rho) = k_s(1-\rho), \quad s = l, r \quad g(\rho) = 1.$$

But it is worth pointing out that in the latter case with $k_l > k_r$ and $g(\rho) = 1$, the nonlocal model does not satisfy the maximum principle, as it is showed in [21, 30]. On the contrary, model (3.1.1) satisfies the maximum principle and this makes it more realistic in the sense of traffic flow dynamics.

In this sense, the aim of this chapter is twofold:

- we prove the well-posedness of the non-local space-discontinuous traffic model (3.1.1) for a general non-increasing speed function ψ , approximating the problem through a monotone numerical scheme and proving standard compactness estimates;
- we numerically study the limit model as the support of the kernel function tends to 0^+ .

Following [59], we recall the following definitions of solution.

Definition 3.1. We say that a function $\rho \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{L}^\infty)([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$ is a weak solution of the initial value problem (3.1.1) if for any test function $\varphi \in \mathbf{C}^1_c([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R})$,

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\rho \partial_t \varphi + f(t, x, \rho) \partial_x \varphi(t, x) \right) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho_0(x) \varphi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x = 0.$$

Definition 3.2. A function $\rho \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{L}^\infty)([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$ is an entropy weak solution of (3.1.1) if for all $c \in [0, \rho_{\max}]$, and any test function $\varphi \in \mathbf{C}^1_c([0,T[\times\mathbb{R};\mathbb{R}^+),$

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho - c| \varphi_t + \operatorname{sgn} (\rho - c) (f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, c)) \varphi_x \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t$$
$$- \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^*} \operatorname{sgn} (\rho - c) f(t, x, c)_x \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho_0(x) - c| \varphi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+\int_0^T |(k_r - k_l)c g(c) \psi(\rho * \omega_\eta)| \varphi(t, 0) \mathrm{d}t \ge 0.$$

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 3.2, we introduce the numerical scheme that we use to discretize our problem. After that, in Section 3.3 we prove the existence and uniqueness of weak entropy solutions with \mathbf{L}^{∞} and \mathbf{BV} bounds. Finally, in Section 3.4, we show some numerical tests illustrating the behaviour of solutions and investigating the limit model as the support of the kernel $\eta \to 0^+$.

3.2 Numerical scheme

We introduce a uniform space mesh of width Δx and a time step Δt , subject to a CFL condition, to be detailed later on. The spatial domain is discretized into uniform cells $I_j = [x_{j-1/2}, x_{j+1/2}]$, where $x_{j+1/2} = x_j + \Delta x/2$ are the cell interfaces, and $x_j = j\Delta x$ the cell centers, in particular x = 0 where the flux function changes, falls at the midpoint of the cell $I_0 = [x_{-1/2}, x_{1/2}]$. We take Δx such that $\eta = N\Delta x$ for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $t^n = n\Delta t$ be the time mesh and $\lambda = \Delta t/\Delta x$. We aim to construct a finite volume approximate solution ρ_{Δ} such that $\rho_{\Delta}(t, x) = \rho_j^n$ for $(t, x) \in [t^n, t^{n+1}[\times [x_{j-1/2}, x_{j+1/2}])$. To this end, we approximate the initial datum ρ_0 with the cell averages

$$\rho_j^0 = \frac{1}{\Delta x} \int_{x_{j-1/2}}^{x_{j+1/2}} \rho_0(x) \mathrm{d}x,$$

we denote $\omega_k := \frac{1}{\Delta x} \int_{k\Delta x}^{(k+1)\Delta x} \omega(y) dy$ for $k = 0, \dots, N-1$ and set the convolution term

$$R(x_{j+1/2}, t^n) = (\omega_\eta * \rho_\Delta)(x_{j+1/2}, t^n) \approx \Delta x \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_k \rho_{j+k+1}^n$$

In this way we can define the following finite volume scheme $\forall j \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$\rho_j^{n+1} = \rho_j^n - \lambda \left(F(x_{j+1/2}, \rho_j^n, \rho_{j+1}^n, R_{j+1/2}^n) - F(x_{j-1/2}, \rho_{j-1}^n, \rho_j^n, R_{j-1/2}^n) \right), \quad (3.2.1)$$

where F is defined by

$$F(x_{j+1/2}, \rho_j, \rho_{j+1}, R_{j+1/2}) = \begin{cases} \rho_j g(\rho_{j+1}) \, v_l(R_{j+1/2}) \text{ if } x_{j+1/2} < 0, \\ \rho_j g(\rho_{j+1}) \, v_r(R_{j+1/2}) \text{ if } x_{j+1/2} > 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.2.2)

This proposed scheme is a non-local version of one which was proposed in [15] and it takes advantage of the form in which the flow is written, namely density ρ times a local decreasing factor $g(\rho)$ times $v(\omega * \rho)$, where v is a given velocity function and ω is a convolution kernel.

3.3 Well-posedness of (3.1.1)

In this Section, we prove some properties of the finite volume scheme (3.2.1)-(3.2.2). **Lemma 3.3.** Let hypotheses (3.1.4) hold. Given an initial datum such that $0 \le \rho_j^0 \le \rho_{\max}$ for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, the finite volume scheme (3.2.1)-(3.2.2) is such that

$$0 \le \rho_j^{n+1} \le \rho_{\max}, \qquad j \in \mathbb{Z},$$

under the CFL condition

$$\Delta t \le \min_{s=l,r} \left\{ \frac{\Delta x}{\rho_{\max} k_s \|g'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\psi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}}, \frac{\Delta x}{k_s \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\psi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}} \right\}.$$
(3.3.1)

Proof. By induction, assume that $0 \le \rho_j^n \le \rho_{\max}$ for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Let us consider $j \ne 0$ and set $v(\rho) := k_s \psi(\rho)$ for s = l, r. In this case, we can observe that

$$\rho_{j}^{n+1} = \rho_{j}^{n} - \lambda \left(\rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) v(R_{j+1/2}^{n}) - \rho_{j-1}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) v(R_{j-1/2}^{n}) \right)$$

$$\leq \rho_{j}^{n} + \lambda \rho_{\max} \left\| g' \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} k_{s} \left\| \psi \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{j}^{n}).$$

Under the CFL condition (3.3.1), we conclude that $\rho_j^{n+1} \leq \rho_{\max}$ for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}^*$. For j = 0, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \rho_0^{n+1} &= \rho_0^n - \lambda \left(\rho_0^n g(\rho_1^n) v_r(R_{1/2}^n) - \rho_{-1}^n g(\rho_0^n) v_l(R_{-1/2}^n) \right) \\ &\leq \rho_0^n + \lambda \left(\rho_{\max} g(\rho_0^n) v_l(R_{-1/2}^n) \right) \\ &\leq \rho_0^n + \lambda k_l \rho_{\max} \left\| g' \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\psi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left(\rho_{\max} - \rho_0^n \right) \leq \rho_{\max}. \end{split}$$

To prove the positivity $\rho_j^{n+1} \ge 0$, we observe that

$$\begin{split} \rho_{j}^{n+1} &= \rho_{j}^{n} - \lambda \left(\rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) v(R_{j+1/2}^{n}) - \rho_{j-1}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) v(R_{j-1/2}^{n}) \right) \\ &\geq \rho_{j}^{n} \left(1 - \lambda g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) v(R_{j+1/2}^{n}) \right) \\ &\geq 0. \end{split}$$

This concludes the proof.

Lemma 3.4 (\mathbf{L}^1 norm). Let hypotheses (3.1.4) hold. If $\rho_0 \in \mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}^+)$ then under the CFL condition (3.3.1), the approximate solution ρ_{Δ} constructed through the finite volume scheme (3.2.1)-(3.2.2) satisfies

$$\|\rho_{\Delta}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} = \|\rho_{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} \quad for \ all \ t > 0.$$
(3.3.2)

Proof. By induction, suppose that (3.3.2) holds for $t^n = n\Delta t$. Thanks to the positivity and the conservative form of the numerical scheme (3.2.1) we have

$$\|\rho^{n+1}\|_{\mathbf{L}^1} = \Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \rho_j^{n+1} = \|\rho^n\|_{\mathbf{L}^1}.$$

We now prove the L^1 -continuity in time by following the idea introduced in [58]. For the sake of simplicity we use the following notation throughout the proof, let us define

$$v_{j+1/2}^n := \begin{cases} v_l(R_{j+1/2}^n), & \text{if } j < 0, \\ v_r(R_{j+1/2}^n), & \text{if } j \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

Lemma 3.5. Set $N_T = \lfloor T/\Delta t \rfloor$. Let $\rho_0 \in \mathbf{BV}(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$ with $\|\rho_0\|_{\mathbf{L}^1} < +\infty$. Assume that the following CFL condition holds

$$\Delta t \leq \min_{s=l,r} \left\{ \frac{\Delta x}{\rho_{\max}k_s \|\psi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left(\|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + \|g'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right) + \Delta x \rho_{\max}\omega_{\eta}(0)k_s \|\psi'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}} \right\},\tag{3.3.3}$$

then, for $n = 0, ..., N_T - 1$

$$\Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\rho_j^{n+1} - \rho_j^n| \le C(T), \tag{3.3.4}$$

where

$$C(T) = e^{(2T\rho_{\max}\|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}\|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}})} \Delta t \left(3 \max_{s=l,r} \left\{ \left(\|\psi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + \rho_{\max} \|\psi'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\omega\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + \rho_{\max} \|\psi\|_{\infty} \|g'\| \right) k_{s} \right\} TV(\rho_{0}) + \Delta t \rho_{\max} |k_{r} - k_{l}| \|\psi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right).$$

Proof. First, we fix $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, by (3.2.1) we have

$$\begin{split} \rho_{j}^{n+1} &- \rho_{j}^{n} &= \rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n-1} - \lambda \bigg(\rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) v_{j+1/2}^{n} \pm \rho_{j}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n-1}) v_{j+1/2}^{n} \\ &- \rho_{j}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n-1}) v_{j+1/2}^{n-1} - \rho_{j-1}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) v_{j-1/2}^{n} \pm \rho_{j-1}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j}^{n-1}) v_{j-1/2}^{n} \\ &+ \rho_{j-1}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j}^{n-1}) v_{j-1/2}^{n-1} \bigg) \\ &= \rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n-1} - \lambda \left((\rho_{j}^{n} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n}) - \rho_{j}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n-1})) v_{j+1/2}^{n} \\ &+ \rho_{j}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n-1}) (v_{j+1/2}^{n} - v_{j+1/2}^{n-1}) - (\rho_{j-1}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n}) - \rho_{j-1}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j}^{n-1})) v_{j-1/2}^{n} \\ &- \rho_{j-1}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j}^{n-1}) (v_{j-1/2}^{n} - v_{j-1/2}^{n-1}) \bigg) \,, \end{split}$$

and using the mean-value theorem, we take $R_{j+1/2}^{n-1/2}\in (R_{j+1/2}^n,R_{j+1/2}^{n-1})$ such that

$$v_{j+1/2}^{n} - v_{j+1/2}^{n-1} = v'(R_{j+1/2}^{n-1/2})(R_{j+1/2}^{n} - R_{j+1/2}^{n-1})$$

= $v'(R_{j+1/2}^{n-1/2})\Delta x \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_k(\rho_{j+k+1}^n - \rho_{j+k+1}^{n-1}).$

Next, we can write

$$\begin{split} \rho_{j}^{n+1} &- \rho_{j}^{n} \\ &= \left(1 - \lambda \left(v_{j+1/2}^{n} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n-1}) - \rho_{j-1}^{n} g'(\xi_{j-1/2}^{n-1/2}) v_{j-1/2}^{n} - \Delta x \omega_{0} \rho_{j-1}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j}^{n-1}) v'(R_{j-1/2}^{n-1/2})\right)\right) \\ &\times (\rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n-1}) \\ &- \lambda \left(\rho_{j}^{n} g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n-1/2}) v_{j+1/2}^{n} - v'\left(R_{j+1/2}^{n-1/2}\right) \rho_{j}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n-1}) \Delta x \omega_{0}\right) (\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j+1}^{n-1}) \\ &- \lambda v'(R_{j+1/2}^{n-1/2}) \rho_{j}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n-1}) \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \omega_{k} (\rho_{j+k}^{n} - \rho_{j+k}^{n-1}) + \lambda v_{j-1/2}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n-1}) (\rho_{j-1}^{n} - \rho_{j-1}^{n-1}) \\ &+ \lambda \rho_{j-1}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j}^{n-1}) v'(R_{j-1/2}^{n-1/2}) \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \omega_{k} (\rho_{j+k}^{n} - \rho_{j+k}^{n-1}), \end{split}$$

and thanks to the CFL condition (3.3.3), we have

$$1 - \lambda \left(v_{j+1/2}^n g(\rho_{j+1}^{n-1}) - \rho_{j-1}^n g'(\xi_{j-1/2}^{n-1/2}) v_{j-1/2}^n - \Delta x \omega_0 \rho_{j-1}^{n-1} g(\rho_j^{n-1}) v'(R_{j-1/2}^{n-1/2}) \right) \ge 0.$$

Then, taking the absolute value we obtain

$$\begin{split} |\rho_{j}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n}| \\ &\leq \left(1 - \lambda \left(v_{j+1/2}^{n} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n-1}) - \rho_{j-1}^{n} g'(\xi_{j-1/2}^{n-1/2}) v_{j-1/2}^{n} - \Delta x \omega_{0} \rho_{j-1}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j}^{n-1}) v'(R_{j-1/2}^{n-1/2})\right)\right) \\ &\times |\rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n-1}| \\ &+ \lambda \left(-\rho_{j}^{n} g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n-1/2}) v_{j+1/2}^{n} - v'\left(R_{j+1/2}^{n-1/2}\right) \rho_{j}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n-1}) \Delta x \omega_{0}\right) |\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j+1}^{n-1}| \\ &- \lambda v'(R_{j+1/2}^{n-1/2}) \rho_{j}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j+1}^{n-1}) \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \omega_{k} |\rho_{j+k}^{n} - \rho_{j+k}^{n-1}| + \lambda v_{j-1/2}^{n} g(\rho_{j}^{n-1}) |\rho_{j-1}^{n} - \rho_{j-1}^{n-1}| \\ &- \lambda \rho_{j-1}^{n-1} g(\rho_{j}^{n-1}) v'(R_{j-1/2}^{n-1/2}) \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \omega_{k} |\rho_{j+k}^{n} - \rho_{j+k}^{n-1}|. \end{split}$$

Now, multiplying by Δx and summing over j, we get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \Delta x |\rho_j^{n+1} - \rho_j^n| &\leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \Delta x |\rho_j^n - \rho_j^{n-1}| \\ &- 2\lambda \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \Delta x \rho_{j-1}^{n-1} g(\rho_j^{n-1}) v'(R_{j-1/2}^{n-1/2}) \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \omega_k |\rho_{j+k}^n - \rho_{j+k}^{n-1}| \\ &\leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \Delta x |\rho_j^n - \rho_j^{n-1}| \\ &+ 2\Delta t \rho_{\max} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \omega_k \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \Delta x |\rho_{j+k}^n - \rho_{j+k}^{n-1}| \end{split}$$

$$\leq \left(1+2\Delta t\rho_{\max}\|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}\|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}\sum_{k=0}^{N-1}\omega_k\right)\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\Delta x|\rho_j^n-\rho_j^{n-1}|.$$

Thus,

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\Delta x|\rho_j^{n+1}-\rho_j^n| \le e^{(2n\Delta t\rho_{\max}\|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}\|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}})} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\Delta x|\rho_j^1-\rho_j^0|.$$

On the other hand,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \Delta x |\rho_j^1 - \rho_j^0| &\leq \Delta t \sum_{j<0} \left| \rho_j^0 g(\rho_{j+1}^0) v_l(R_{j+1/2}^0) - \rho_{j-1}^0 g(\rho_j^0) v_l(R_{j-1/2}^0) \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \left| \rho_{-1}^0 g(\rho_0^0) v_l(R_{-1/2}^0) - \rho_0^0 g(\rho_1^0) v_r(R_{1/2}^0) \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \sum_{j>0} \left| \rho_j^0 g(\rho_{j+1}^0) v_r(R_{j+1/2}^0) - \rho_{j-1}^0 g(\rho_j^0) v_r(R_{j-1/2}^0) \right|. \end{split}$$

The first term of the right-hand side can be estimated as

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j<0} |\rho_{j}^{0}g(\rho_{j+1}^{0})v_{l}(R_{j+1/2}^{0}) - \rho_{j-1}^{0}g(\rho_{j}^{0})v_{l}(R_{j-1/2}^{0})| \\ &\leq \|v_{l}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \sum_{j<0} |\rho_{j}^{0} - \rho_{j-1}^{0}| + \rho_{\max} \|g'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v_{l}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \sum_{j<0} |\rho_{j+1}^{0} - \rho_{j}^{0}| \\ &+ \rho_{\max} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v_{l}'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \sum_{j<0} \left|R_{j+1/2}^{n} - R_{j-1/2}^{n}\right| \\ &\leq \|v_{l}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \sum_{j<0} |\rho_{j}^{0} - \rho_{j-1}^{0}| + \rho_{\max} \|g'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v_{l}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \sum_{j<0} |\rho_{j+1}^{0} - \rho_{j}^{0}| \\ &+ \rho_{\max} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v_{l}'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \sum_{j<0} \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \Delta x \omega_{k} |\rho_{j+k+1}^{0} - \rho_{j+k}^{0}| \\ &\leq \left(\|v_{l}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + \rho_{\max} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v_{l}'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\omega\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} + \rho_{\max} \|g'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v_{l}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right) \operatorname{TV}(\rho_{0}). \end{split}$$

Analogously,

$$\sum_{j>0} |\rho_j^0 g(\rho_{j+1}^0) v_r(R_{j+1/2}^0) - \rho_{j-1}^0 g(\rho_j^0) v_r(R_{j-1/2}^0)| \\ \leq (\|v_r\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + \rho_{\max} \|v_r'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\omega\|_{\mathbf{L}^1} + \rho_{\max} \|g'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v_r\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}) \mathrm{TV}(\rho_0),$$

and by hypothesis (3.1.4)

$$\begin{split} & |\rho_{-1}^{0}g(\rho_{0}^{0})v_{l}(R_{-1/2}^{0}) - \rho_{0}^{0}g(\rho_{1}^{0})v_{r}(R_{1/2}^{0})| \\ & \leq |\rho_{-1}^{0}g(\rho_{0}^{0})v_{l}(R_{-1/2}^{0}) \pm \rho_{-1}^{0}g(\rho_{0}^{0})v_{r}(R_{1/2}^{0}) - \rho_{0}^{0}g(\rho_{1}^{0})v_{r}(R_{1/2}^{0})| \\ & \leq \rho_{\max} \left\|g\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left|v_{l}(R_{-1/2}^{0}) - v_{r}(R_{1/2}^{0})\right| + v_{r}(R_{1/2}^{0})\left|\rho_{-1}^{0}g(\rho_{0}^{0}) - \rho_{0}^{0}g(\rho_{1}^{0})\right| \\ & \leq \rho_{\max} \left\|g\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left|v_{l}(R_{-1/2}^{0}) \pm v_{r}(R_{-1/2}^{0}) - v_{r}(R_{1/2}^{0})\right| \\ \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} &+ v_r(R_{1/2}^0) \left| \rho_{-1}^0 g(\rho_0^0) - \rho_0^0 g(\rho_1^0) \right| \\ &\leq \rho_{\max} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\psi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|k_l - k_r\| + \rho_{\max} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left\|v'_r\right\| \|\omega\|_{\mathbf{L}^1} \operatorname{TV}(\rho_0) \\ &+ \left(\|v_r\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + \rho_{\max} \|v_r\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left\|g'\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right) \operatorname{TV}(\rho_0). \end{aligned}$$

Finally,

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \Delta x |\rho_j^1 - \rho_j^0| \leq 3\Delta t \max_{s=l,r} \left\{ \left(\|\psi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + \rho_{\max} \|\psi'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\omega\|_{\mathbf{L}^1} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + \rho_{\max} \|\psi\|_{\infty} \|g'\| \right) k_s \right\} \operatorname{TV}(\rho_0) + \Delta t \rho_{\max} |k_r - k_l| \|\psi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}.$$

This completes the proof.

3.3.1 Spatial BV estimates.

Lemma 3.6. Let $\rho_0 \in \mathbf{L}^{\infty} \cap \mathbf{BV}(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$. Assume that the CFL condition (3.3.1) holds. For any interval $[a, b] \subset \mathbb{R}$ such that $0 \notin [a, b]$, fix q > 0 such that $2q < \min\{|a|, |b|\}$ and $q > \Delta x$. Then, for any $n = 1, ..., N_T - 1$ the following estimate holds:

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbf{J}_a^b} \left| \rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n \right| \le e^{2\mathcal{K}T} \left(TV(\rho_0) + 2\frac{C(T)}{q} + \mathcal{K}_2T \right),$$

with $\mathbf{J}_a^b = \{ j \in \mathbb{Z} : a \le x_j \le b \}.$

Proof. Let

$$\mathcal{M}_{\Delta} = \left\{ j \in \mathbb{Z} : x_{j-1/2} \in [a-q-\Delta x, a] \right\}, \, \mathcal{N}_{\Delta} = \left\{ j \in \mathbb{Z} : x_{j+1/2} \in [b, b+q+\Delta x] \right\}.$$

By the assumptions on q, observe that there are at least 2 elements in each of the sets above, i.e. $|\mathcal{M}_{\Delta}|, |\mathcal{N}_{\Delta}| \geq 2$. Moreover, $|\mathcal{M}_{\Delta}|\Delta x \geq q$ and $|\mathcal{N}_{\Delta}|\Delta x \geq q$. By Lemma 3.5 there exists a constant C(T) such that

$$\Delta x \sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\rho_j^{n+1} - \rho_j^n| \le TC(T), \qquad (3.3.5)$$

with C(T) as in Lemma 3.5, then when restricting the sum over j in the set \mathcal{M}_{Δ} , respectively \mathcal{N}_{Δ} , it follows that

$$\Delta x \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \sum_{j \in \mathcal{M}_\Delta} |\rho_j^{n+1} - \rho_j^n| \le TC(T) \quad \text{and} \quad \Delta x \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \sum_{j \in \mathcal{N}_\Delta} |\rho_j^{n+1} - \rho_j^n| \le TC(T).$$
(3.3.6)

Let us choose $j_a \in \mathcal{M}_{\Delta}$ and j_b with $j_b + 1 \in \mathcal{N}_{\Delta}$ such that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} |\rho_{j_a}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_a}^n| = \min_{j \in \mathcal{M}_\Delta} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} |\rho_j^{n+1} - \rho_j^n|,$$

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} |\rho_{j_{b+1}}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_{b+1}}^n| = \min_{j \in \mathcal{N}_\Delta} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} |\rho_j^{n+1} - \rho_j^n|,$$

thus,

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} |\rho_{j_a}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_a}^n| \leq \frac{C}{|\mathcal{M}_\Delta|\Delta x} \leq \frac{TC(T)}{q},$$
$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} |\rho_{j_{b+1}}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_{b+1}}^n| \leq \frac{C}{|\mathcal{N}_\Delta|\Delta x} \leq \frac{TC(T)}{q}.$$

Moreover, observe that

$$\sum_{j=j_a}^{j_b} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1} - \rho_j^{n+1} \right| = \left| \rho_{j_a+1}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_a}^{n+1} \right| + \sum_{j=j_a+1}^{j_b-1} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1} - \rho_j^{n+1} \right| + \left| \rho_{j_b+1}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_b}^{n+1} \right|.$$
(3.3.7)

Now, let us focus on the central sum on the right-hand side of (3.3.7). We write

$$\rho_{j+1}^{n+1} - \rho_j^{n+1} = \mathcal{A}_j^n - \lambda \mathcal{B}_j^n$$

with

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}_{j}^{n} &:= & (1-\lambda v_{j+3/2}^{n}g(\rho_{j+2}^{n}) + \lambda \rho_{j-1}^{n}g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n})v_{j+1/2}^{n})(\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}) \\ & + \lambda v_{j+1/2}^{n}g(\rho_{j+1}^{n})(\rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j-1}^{n}) - \lambda \rho_{j+1}^{n}g'(\xi_{j+3/2}^{n})v_{j+3/2}^{n}(\rho_{j+2}^{n} - \rho_{j+1}^{n}), \\ \mathcal{B}_{j}^{n} &:= & \rho_{j}^{n}g(\rho_{j+1}^{n})(v_{j+3/2}^{n} - v_{j+1/2}^{n}) - \rho_{j-1}^{n}g(\rho_{j}^{n})(v_{j+1/2}^{n} - v_{j-1/2}^{n}). \end{split}$$

Taking the absolute value and summing,

$$\sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1} |\mathcal{A}_{j}^{n}| \leq \sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1} |\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}| + \lambda v_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{a}+2}^{n}) |\rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n} - \rho_{j_{a}}^{n}| \\ -\lambda v_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n}) |\rho_{j_{b}}^{n} - \rho_{j_{b}-1}^{n}| + \lambda g'(\xi_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n}) \rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n} v_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n} |\rho_{j_{a}+2}^{n} - \rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n}| \\ -\lambda g'(\xi_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n}) \rho_{j_{b}-1}^{n} v_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n} |\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n} - \rho_{j_{b}}^{n}|.$$

On the other hand,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{B}_{j}^{n} &= \rho_{j}^{n}g(\rho_{j+1}^{n})(v_{j+3/2}^{n} - v_{j+1/2}^{n}) - \rho_{j-1}^{n}g(\rho_{j}^{n})(v_{j+1/2}^{n} - v_{j-1/2}^{n}) \\ &= \rho_{j}^{n}g(\rho_{j+1}^{n})v'(\tilde{R}_{j+1}^{n})\left(R_{j+3/2}^{n} - R_{j+1/2}^{n}\right) - \rho_{j-1}^{n}g(\rho_{j}^{n})v'(\tilde{R}_{j}^{n})\left(R_{j+1/2}^{n} - R_{j-1/2}^{n}\right) \\ &= \rho_{j}^{n}g(\rho_{j+1}^{n})v'(\tilde{R}_{j+1}^{n})\left(R_{j+3/2}^{n} - R_{j+1/2}^{n}\right) \pm \rho_{j-1}^{n}g(\rho_{j}^{n})v'(\tilde{R}_{j+1}^{n})\left(R_{j+3/2}^{n} - R_{j+1/2}^{n}\right) \\ &- \rho_{j-1}^{n}g(\rho_{j}^{n})v'(\tilde{R}_{j}^{n})\left(R_{j+1/2}^{n} - R_{j-1/2}^{n}\right) \\ &= \rho_{j}^{n}g'(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n})(\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n})v'(\tilde{R}_{j+1}^{n})\left(R_{j+3/2}^{n} - R_{j+1/2}^{n}\right) \end{split}$$

3.3. Well-posedness of (3.1.1)

$$\begin{split} +g(\rho_{j}^{n})(\rho_{j}^{n}-\rho_{j-1}^{n})v'(\tilde{R}_{j+1}^{n})\left(R_{j+3/2}^{n}-R_{j+1/2}^{n}\right) \\ +\rho_{j-1}^{n}g(\rho_{j}^{n})v'(\tilde{R}_{j+1}^{n})\left(R_{j+3/2}^{n}-2R_{j+1/2}^{n}+R_{j-1/2}^{n}\right) \\ +\rho_{j-1}^{n}g(\rho_{j}^{n})v''(\bar{R}_{j+1/2}^{n})\left(R_{j+1/2}^{n}-R_{j-1/2}^{n}\right)\left(\tilde{R}_{j+1}^{n}-\tilde{R}_{j}^{n}\right), \end{split}$$

where $\tilde{R}_{j}^{n} \in \mathcal{I}(R_{j-1/2}^{n}, R_{j+1/2}^{n})$ and $\bar{R}_{j+1/2}^{n} \in \mathcal{I}(\tilde{R}_{j}^{n}, \tilde{R}_{j+1}^{n})$. Now, by the assumptions (3.1.4) on the kernel function and defining $\omega_{N} := 0$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left| R_{j+1/2}^{n} - R_{j-1/2}^{n} \right| &= \left| \Delta x \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{k} (\rho_{j+k+1}^{n} - \rho_{j+k}^{n}) \right| \\ &= \Delta x \left| -\omega_{0} \rho_{j}^{n} + \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} (\omega_{k-1} - \omega_{k}) \rho_{j+k}^{n} + \omega_{N-1} \rho_{j+N}^{n} \right| \\ &\leq \Delta x \left(2\omega_{\eta}(0) \rho_{\max} + \left\| \omega' \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} \right) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \left| R_{j+3/2}^{n} - 2R_{j+1/2}^{n} + R_{j-1/2}^{n} \right| \\ &= \left| \Delta x \left(\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{k} \rho_{j+k+2}^{n} - 2 \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{k} \rho_{j+k+1}^{n} + \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{k} \rho_{j+k}^{n} \right) \right| \\ &= \left| \Delta x \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N-1} (\omega_{k-1} - 2\omega_{k} + \omega_{k+1}) \rho_{j+k+1}^{n} + \Delta x \rho_{j+1}^{n} \frac{\omega_{1} - \omega_{0}}{\Delta x} + \frac{1}{\Delta x} (\omega_{N-1} \underbrace{-\omega_{N}}_{:=0}) \rho_{j+N+1}^{n} \Delta x + \omega_{0} (\rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j+1}^{n}) \right) \right| \\ &\leq (\Delta x)^{2} \left\| \omega'' \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} + 2(\Delta x)^{2} \rho_{\max} \left\| \omega' \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \\ &+ \Delta x \omega_{0} |\rho_{j} - \rho_{j+1}|. \end{aligned}$$

Now, we compute

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \tilde{R}_{j+1}^{n} - \tilde{R}_{j}^{n} \right| &= \left| \theta R_{j+3/2}^{n} + (1-\theta) R_{j+1/2}^{n} - \mu R_{j+1/2}^{n} - (1-\mu) R_{j-1/2}^{n} \right| \\ &\leq 3\Delta x \left(2\omega_{\eta}(0)\rho_{\max} + \|\omega'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} \right), \end{aligned}$$

for some $\theta,\mu\in[0,1].$ We end up with

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathcal{B}_{j}^{n} \right| &\leq \Delta x (2\omega_{\eta}(0)\rho_{\max} + \|\omega'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}}) \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} |\rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j-1}^{n}| \\ &+ (\Delta x)^{2} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left(\|\omega''\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + 2\rho_{\max} \|\omega'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right) |\rho_{j-1}^{n}| \\ &+ \Delta x \rho_{\max} \bigg(\omega_{\eta}(0) \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \\ &+ \|g'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} (2\omega_{\eta}(0)\rho_{\max} + \|\omega_{\eta}'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}}) \bigg) |\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}| \end{aligned}$$

+3(
$$\Delta x$$
)² ($\|\omega'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} + 2\omega_{\eta}(0)\rho_{\max}$)² $\|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v''\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} |\rho_{j-1}^{n}|.$

Summing,

$$\lambda \sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1} |\mathcal{B}_{j}^{n}| \leq \Delta t \mathcal{K} \sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1} |\rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j-1}^{n}| + \Delta t \Delta x \mathcal{K}_{1} \sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1} |\rho_{j-1}^{n}| + \Delta t \mathcal{K}_{2} \sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1} |\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}|,$$

where

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{K} &= (2\omega_{\eta}(0)\rho_{\max} + \|\omega'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}}) \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \\ \mathcal{K}_{1} &= \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left(\|\omega''\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + 2\rho_{\max} \|\omega'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right) \\ &\quad + 3 \left(\|\omega'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} + 2\omega_{\eta}(0)\rho_{\max} \right)^{2} \|v''\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \\ \mathcal{K}_{2} &= \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \rho_{\max} \left(\omega_{\eta}(0) \|g\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + \|g'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} (2\omega_{\eta}(0)\rho_{\max} + \|\omega_{\eta}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}}) \right). \end{split}$$

We are left with the boundary terms in (3.3.7), for $j = j_a$, we have

$$\begin{split} \rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_{a}}^{n+1} &= \rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n} - \lambda \left(\rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{a}+2}^{n}) v_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n} - \rho_{j_{a}}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n}) v_{j_{a}+1/2}^{n} \right) - \rho_{j_{a}}^{n+1} \pm \rho_{j_{a}}^{n} \\ &= (1 - \lambda v_{j+3/2}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n})) (\rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n} - \rho_{j_{a}}^{n}) - \lambda \rho_{j_{a}}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n}) (v_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n} - v_{j_{a}+1/2}^{n}) \\ &- \lambda v_{j_{a}+3/2} \rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n} g'(\xi_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n}) \left(\rho_{j_{a}+2}^{n} - \rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n} \right) + \rho_{j_{a}}^{n} - \rho_{j_{a}}^{n+1}. \end{split}$$

and similarly for $j = j_b$

$$\begin{split} \rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_{b}}^{n+1} &= \rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_{b}}^{n} + \lambda \left(\rho_{j_{b}}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n}) v_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n} - \rho_{j_{b}-1}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{b}}^{n}) v_{j_{b}-1/2}^{n} \right) \pm \rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n} \\ &= \rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n} + (\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n} - \rho_{j_{b}}^{n}) (1 + \lambda v_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n} \rho_{j_{b}-1}^{n} g'(\xi_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n})) \\ &+ \lambda v_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n}) (\rho_{j_{b}}^{n} - \rho_{j_{b}-1}^{n}) + \lambda \rho_{j_{b}-1}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{b}}^{n}) (v_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n} - v_{j_{b}-1/2}^{n}). \end{split}$$

Next, collecting the terms, taking the absolute value and summing over \boldsymbol{j}

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j=j_{a}}^{j_{b}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n+1} \right| \\ \leq & \left| \rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_{a}}^{n+1} \right| + \sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1} (|\mathcal{A}_{j}^{n}| + \lambda |\mathcal{B}_{j}^{n}|) + \left| \rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n+1} - \rho_{j_{b}}^{n+1} \right| \\ \leq & \left(1 - \lambda v_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{a}+2}^{n}) \right) \left| \rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n} - \rho_{j_{a}}^{n} \right| + \lambda \rho_{j_{a}}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n}) \left| v_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n} - v_{j_{a}+1/2}^{n} \right| \\ & + \left| \rho_{j_{a}}^{n} - \rho_{j_{a}}^{n+1} \right| - \lambda v_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n} \rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n} g'(\xi_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n}) \left| \rho_{j_{a}+2}^{n} - \rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n} \right| + \sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| \\ & + \lambda v_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{a}+2}^{n}) \left| \rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n} - \rho_{j_{a}}^{n} \right| - \lambda v_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n} g(\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n}) \left| \rho_{j_{b}}^{n} - \rho_{j_{b}-1}^{n} \right| \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+\lambda g'(\xi_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n})\rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n}v_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n}\left|\rho_{j_{a}+2}^{n}-\rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n}\right|-\lambda g'(\xi_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n})\rho_{j_{b}-1}^{n}v_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n}\left|\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n}-\rho_{j_{b}}^{n}\right|\\ &+\Delta t\mathcal{K}\sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1}\left|\rho_{j}^{n}-\rho_{j-1}^{n}\right|+\Delta t\Delta x\mathcal{K}_{1}\sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1}\left|\rho_{j-1}^{n}\right|+\Delta t\mathcal{K}_{2}\sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1}\left|\rho_{j+1}^{n}-\rho_{j}^{n}\right|\\ &+\left|\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n+1}-\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n}\right|+\left|\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n}-\rho_{j_{b}}^{n}\right|(1+\lambda v_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n}\rho_{j_{b}-1}^{n}g'(\xi_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n}))\\ &+\lambda v_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n}g(\rho_{j_{b}}^{n})\right|\rho_{j_{b}}^{n}-\rho_{j_{b}-1}^{n}\right|+\lambda \rho_{j_{a}}^{n}g(\rho_{j_{a}+1}^{n})\left|v_{j_{a}+3/2}^{n}-v_{j_{a}+1/2}^{n}\right|+\left|\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n+1}-\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n}\right|\\ &+\Delta t\mathcal{K}\sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1}\left|\rho_{j}^{n}-\rho_{j-1}^{n}\right|+\Delta t\Delta x\mathcal{K}_{1}\sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1}\left|\rho_{j-1}^{n}\right|+\Delta t\mathcal{K}_{2}\sum_{j=j_{a}+1}^{j_{b}-1}\left|\rho_{j+1}^{n}-\rho_{j}^{n}\right|\\ &+\lambda \rho_{j_{b}-1}^{n}g(\rho_{j_{b}}^{n})\left|v_{j_{b}+1/2}^{n}-v_{j_{b}-1/2}^{n}\right|\\ &\leq \left|\rho_{j_{a}}^{n}-\rho_{j_{a}}^{n+1}\right|+(1+2\Delta t\mathcal{K})\sum_{j=j_{a}}^{j_{b}}\left|\rho_{j+1}^{n}-\rho_{j}^{n}\right|+\left|\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n+1}-\rho_{j_{b}+1}^{n}\right|+\Delta t\mathcal{K}_{3}, \end{split}$$

where $\mathcal{K}_3 = 2\rho_{\max}\mathcal{K} + \|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^1}\mathcal{K}_1$. By a standard iterative procedure we can deduce, for $1 \leq n < N_T - 1$,

$$\sum_{j=j_a}^{j_b} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1} - \rho_j^{n+1} \right| \le e^{2\mathcal{K}T} \left(\sum_{j=j_a}^{j_b} |\rho_{j+1}^0 - \rho_j^0| + 2\frac{C(T)}{q} + \mathcal{K}_3T \right).$$

This concludes the proof because $[a, b] \subseteq [x_{j_a}, x_{j_b+1}]$.

3.3.2 Discrete entropy inequality.

Next we show that the approximate solution obtained by the scheme (3.2.1) satisfies a discrete entropy inequality. Let us define

$$G_{j+1/2}(u) = ug(u)v_{j+1/2}^n, \qquad \mathcal{F}_{j+1/2}^c(u) := G_{j+1/2}(u \lor c) - G_{j+1/2}(u \land c)$$

with $a \lor b = \max\{a, b\}$ and $a \land b = \min\{a, b\}$.

Lemma 3.7. Let ρ_j^n for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ given by (3.2.1), and let the CFL condition (3.3.1) and the hypothesis (3.1.4) hold. Then we have

$$\left| \rho_{j}^{n+1} - c \right| - \left| \rho_{j}^{n} - c \right| + \lambda (\mathcal{F}_{j+1/2}^{c}(\rho_{j}^{n}) - \mathcal{F}_{j-1/2}^{c}(\rho_{j-1}^{n})) + \lambda \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - c \right) cg(c) (v_{j+1/2}^{n} - v_{j-1/2}^{n}) \le 0,$$
(3.3.8)

for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $c \in [0, \rho_{\max}]$.

Proof. For a complete proof see [44, Section 3.4].

3.3.3 Convergence to an entropy solution.

Theorem 3.8. Let $\rho_0 \in \mathbf{BV} \cap \mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, [0, \rho_{\max}])$. Let $\Delta x \to 0$ with $\lambda = \frac{\Delta t}{\Delta x}$ constant and satisfying the CFL condition (3.3.1). The sequence of approximate solution ρ_{Δ} constructed through finite volume scheme (3.2.1)-(3.2.2) converges in $\mathbf{L}^1_{\text{loc}}$ to a function in $\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$ such that $\|\rho\|_{\mathbf{L}^1} = \|\rho_0\|_{\mathbf{L}^1}$.

Proof. Lemma 3.3 ensures that the sequence of approximate solutions ρ_{Δ} is bounded in \mathbf{L}^{∞} . Lemma 3.5 proves the \mathbf{L}^1 -continuity in time of the sequence ρ_{Δ} , while Lemma 3.6 guarantees a bound on the spatial total variation in any interval [a, b] not containing x = 0. Applying standard compactness results we have that for any interval [a, b] not containing x = 0, there exists a subsequence, still denoted by ρ_{Δ} converging in $\mathbf{L}^1([0, T] \times [a, b]; [0, \rho_{\max}])$. Let us take a countable set of intervals $[a_i, b_i]$ such that $\cup_i [a_i, b_i] = \mathbb{R}^*$, using a standard diagonal process, we can extract a subsequence, still denoted by ρ_{Δ} , converging in $\mathbf{L}^1_{\text{loc}}([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$ and almost everywhere in $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}$, to a function $\rho \in \mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$.

Lemma 3.9. Let $\rho(t, x)$ be a weak solution constructed as the limit of approximations ρ_{Δ} generated by the scheme (3.2.1) and let $c \in [0, \rho_{\max}]$. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^* \times [0, T))$. Then the following entropy inequality is satisfied:

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} (|\rho - c|\varphi_t \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{sgn}(\rho - c)(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, c))\varphi_x \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t - \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{sgn}(\rho - c)\partial_x f(t, x, c)\varphi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_{-\infty}^\infty |\rho_0(x) - c|\varphi(0, x)\mathrm{d}x \ge 0.$$
(3.3.9)

Proof. Let φ be a test function of the type described in the statement of the lemma and set $\varphi_j^n = \varphi(t^n, x_j)$, let us denote $\Delta_- p_j = p_j - p_{j-1}$, we multiply the cell entropy inequality (3.3.8) by $\varphi_j^n \Delta x$, and then sum by parts to get

$$S_{1} + S_{2} + S_{3} = \Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1} - c \right| (\varphi_{j}^{n+1} - \varphi_{j}^{n}) / \Delta t + \Delta x \sum_{j} \left| \rho_{j}^{0} - c \right| \varphi_{j}^{0} + \Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{F}_{j-1/2}^{c} \Delta_{-} \varphi_{j}^{n} / \Delta x - \Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - c \right) c g(c) \Delta_{-} v_{j+1/2} \varphi_{j}^{n} / \Delta x \ge 0.$$

By Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem as $\Delta := (\Delta x, \Delta t) \to 0$,

$$S_1 \to \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho - c|\varphi_t \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_{-\infty}^\infty |\rho_0(x) - c|\varphi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x,$$

and

$$S_2 \to \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho - c\right) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, c)\right) \varphi_x \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t.$$

3.3. Well-posedness of (3.1.1)

Now let us study the sum S_3 and we have

$$S_{3} = -\Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n \geq 0} \sum_{\substack{j \in \mathbb{Z} \\ j \leq -1}} \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - c \right) cg(c) \Delta_{-} v_{j+1/2} \varphi_{j}^{n} / \Delta x$$
$$-\Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n \geq 0} \sum_{\substack{j \in \mathbb{Z} \\ j \geq 1}} \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - c \right) cg(c) \Delta_{-} v_{j+1/2} \varphi_{j}^{n} / \Delta x$$
$$-\Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n \geq 0} \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho_{0}^{n+1} - c \right) cg(c) \Delta_{-} v_{1/2} \varphi_{0}^{n} / \Delta x,$$
$$= S_{31} + S_{32} + S_{33}.$$

Observe that the support of the test function φ does not include the discontinuity flux point 0, for this reason we consider $\varphi_0 = 0$ according to our discretization, then the sum S_{33} is equal to zero because $\varphi_0 = 0$. Finally,

$$S_{31} + S_{32} \longrightarrow -\int_0^T \int_{-\infty}^0 \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - c) \,\partial_x f(t, x, c) \varphi \,\mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t -\int_0^T \int_0^\infty \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - c) \,\partial_x f(t, x, c) \varphi \,\mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t.$$

Lemma 3.10. Let $\rho(t, x)$ be a weak solution constructed as the limit of approximations ρ_{Δ} generated by the scheme (3.2.1) and let $c \in [0, \rho_{\max}]$. Let $\varphi \in \mathbf{C}_c^1(\mathbb{R} \times [0, T))$. Then the following entropy inequality is satisfied:

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho - c| \varphi_t + \operatorname{sgn} (\rho - c) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, c) \right) \partial_x \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}_*} |\partial_x f(t, x, c)| \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho_0(x) - c| \varphi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^T |(k_r - k_l) c g(c) \psi(\rho * \omega_\eta)| \varphi(t, 0) \mathrm{d}t \ge 0.$$

Proof. Let φ be a test function of the type described in the statement of the lemma and set $\varphi_j^n = \varphi(t^n, x_j)$. There exist T > 0 and R > 0 such that $\varphi(t, x) = 0$ for t > T and |x| > R. Our starting point is the following cell entropy inequality which is a consequence of (3.3.8).

$$\left|\rho_{j}^{n+1} - c\right| \le \left|\rho_{j}^{n} - c\right| - \lambda \Delta_{-} \mathcal{F}_{j+1/2}^{c} + \lambda \left|cg(c)\Delta_{-}v_{j+1/2}^{n}\right|$$
(3.3.10)

We multiply (3.3.10) by $\varphi_j^n \Delta x$, and then sum by parts to get

$$S_4 + S_5 + S_6 = \Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_j^{n+1} - c \right| (\varphi_j^{n+1} - \varphi_j^n) / \Delta t + \Delta x \sum_j \left| \rho_j^0 - c \right| \varphi_j^0$$
$$\begin{split} +\Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{F}_{j-1/2}^{c} (\Delta_{-}\varphi_{j}^{n}/\Delta x) \\ +\Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| cg(c) \Delta_{-} v_{j+1/2}^{n} \right| \varphi_{j}^{n}/\Delta x \geq 0. \end{split}$$

By Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem as $\Delta := (\Delta x, \Delta t) \rightarrow 0$,

$$S_4 \to \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho - c|\varphi_t \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_{-\infty}^\infty |\rho_0(x) - c|\varphi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x.$$

Following the same standard arguments as in Lemma (3.9),

$$S_5 \to \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho - c\right) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, c)\right) \partial_x \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

Now we can rewrite the sum S_6

$$S_{6} = \Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n \geq 0} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}, j \leq -1} \left| cg(c) \Delta_{-} v_{j+1/2}^{n} \right| \varphi_{j}^{n} / \Delta x$$
$$+ \Delta x \Delta t \sum_{n \geq 0} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}, j \geq 1} \left| cg(c) \Delta_{-} v_{j+1/2}^{n} \right| \varphi_{j}^{n} / \Delta x$$
$$+ \Delta t \sum_{n \geq 0} \left| cg(c) \Delta_{-} v_{1/2}^{n} \right| \varphi_{0}^{n}$$
$$= S_{61} + S_{62} + S_{63}.$$

At this point, we can observe that as $\Delta := (\Delta x, \Delta t) \to 0$

$$S_{61} + S_{62} \to \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}} |f(t, x, c)_x| \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t,$$
$$S_{63} \to \int_0^T |(k_r - k_l) c \, g(c) \, \psi(\rho * \omega_\eta)| \, \varphi(t, 0) \mathrm{d}t.$$

Theorem 3.11. Let $\rho(t, x)$ be the limit of approximations ρ_{Δ} generated by the scheme (3.2.1) and let $c \in [0, \rho_{\max}]$. Then $\rho(t, x)$ is an entropy solution satisfying Definition 3.2.

Proof. Let $0 \leq \varphi \in \mathbf{C}^1_c([0,T) \times \mathbb{R})$. We set $\varphi_j^n = \varphi(t^n, x_j)$. For $\varepsilon > 0$, define the set

$$\sigma_0^{\varepsilon} = \{(t, x) \in [0, T) \times \mathbb{R} | x \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon), \, t \in [0, T) \}.$$

For each sufficiently small $\varepsilon > 0$ we can write the test function φ as a sum of two test functions, one having support away from 0 and the other with support in σ_0^{ε} . We take test functions ψ^{ε} , $\alpha^{\varepsilon} \in \mathbf{C}_c^1([0,T) \times \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\varphi(t,x) = \psi^{\varepsilon}(t,x) + \alpha^{\varepsilon}(t,x), \quad 0 \le \psi^{\varepsilon}(t,x) \le \varphi(t,x), \quad 0 \le \alpha^{\varepsilon}(t,x) \le \varphi(t,x),$$

where ψ^{ε} has support located around the jump in 0

$$\operatorname{supp}(\psi^{\varepsilon}) \subseteq \sigma_0^{\varepsilon}, \qquad \psi^{\varepsilon}(t,0) = \varphi(t,0).$$

and α^{ε} vanishes around the jump, i.e.

$$\operatorname{supp}(\alpha^{\varepsilon}) \subseteq [0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^*.$$

We can take this decomposition in such way that

$$\alpha^{\varepsilon} \to \varphi \quad \text{in } \mathbf{L}^{1}([0,T) \times \mathbb{R}), \quad \psi^{\varepsilon} \to 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbf{L}^{1}([0,T) \times \mathbb{R})$$
(3.3.11)

as $\varepsilon \to 0$. By applying Lemma 3.9 with the test function α^{ε} and Lemma 3.10 with ψ^{ε} , and summing the two entropy inequalities, using $\varphi = \psi^{\varepsilon} + \alpha^{\varepsilon}$ along with $\psi^{\varepsilon}(0,t) = \varphi(0,t)$ to get

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} (|\rho - c|\varphi_t dx dt + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{sgn} (\rho - c) (f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, c))\varphi_x dx dt$$
$$- \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{sgn} (\rho - c) f(t, x, c)_x \alpha^{\varepsilon} dx dt + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^*} |f(t, x, c)|_x |\psi^{\varepsilon} dx dt$$
$$+ \int_0^T |(k_r - k_l) c g(c) \psi(\rho * \omega_\eta)| \varphi(t, 0) dt + \int_{-\infty}^\infty |\rho_0(x) - c| \phi(0, x) dx \ge 0.$$

Thanks to (3.3.11), we can complete the proof by sending $\varepsilon \to 0$.

3.3.4 L¹-Stability and uniqueness.

Theorem 3.12. Assume the hypothesis (3.1.4). If ρ and $\tilde{\rho}$ are two entropy solutions of (3.1.1) in the sense of Definition (3.2), the following inequality holds

$$\|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \le e^{K(T)t} \|\rho(0,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(0,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}, \qquad (3.3.12)$$

for almost every 0 < t < T and some suitable constant K(T) > 0.

Proof. Following [58, Theorem 2.1], for any two entropy solutions u and v we can derive the L^1 contraction property through the doubling of variables technique:

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R}} \left(\left| \rho - \tilde{\rho} \right| \phi_{t} + \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, \tilde{\rho}) \right) \phi_{x} \right) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t$$

$$\leq K \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R}} \left| \rho - \tilde{\rho} \right| \phi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t, \qquad (3.3.13)$$

where K = K(T), for any $0 \le \phi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^*)$. We remove the assumption in (3.3.13) that ϕ vanishes near 0, by introducing the following Lipschitz function for h > 0

$$\mu_h(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{h}(x+2h), & x \in [-2h, -h], \\ 1, & x \in [-h, h], \\ \frac{1}{h}(2h-x), & x \in [h, 2h], \\ 0, & |x| \ge 2h. \end{cases}$$

Now we can define $\Psi_h(x) = 1 - \mu_h(x)$, noticing that $\Psi_h \to 1$ in L^1 as $h \to 0$. Moreover, Ψ_h vanishes in a neighborhood of 0. For any $0 \le \Phi \in \mathbf{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R})$, we can check that $\phi = \Phi \Psi_h$ is an admissible test function for (3.3.13). Using ϕ in (3.3.13) and integrating by parts we get

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R}} \left(\left| \rho - \tilde{\rho} \right| \Phi_{t} \Psi_{h} + \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, \tilde{\rho}) \right) \Phi_{x} \Psi_{h} \right) dx dt \\
- \underbrace{\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, \tilde{\rho}) \right) \Phi(t, x) \Psi_{h}'(x) dx dt}_{J(h)} \\
\leq K \underbrace{\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R}} \left| \rho - \tilde{\rho} \right| \Phi \Psi_{h} dx dt.}$$

Sending $h \to 0$ we end up with

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}} \left(|\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \Phi_t + \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, \tilde{\rho})\right) \Phi_x \right) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t$$
$$\leq K \iint_{\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}} |\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \Phi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \lim_{h \to 0} J(h).$$

We can write

$$\begin{split} \lim_{h \to 0} J(h) &= \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h} \int_0^T \int_h^{2h} \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, \tilde{\rho})\right) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &- \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h} \int_0^T \int_{-2h}^{-h} \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, \tilde{\rho})\right) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_0^T \left[\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, \tilde{\rho})\right)\right]_{x=0^-}^{x=0^+} \Phi(t, 0) \mathrm{d}t, \end{split}$$

where we indicate the limits from the right and left at x = 0. The aim is to prove that the limit $\lim_{h\to 0} J(h) \leq 0$. This is equivalent to proving

$$S := [\operatorname{sgn}(\rho - \tilde{\rho}) (f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, \tilde{\rho}))]_{x=0^{-}}^{x=0^{+}} \le 0.$$

A simple application of the Rankine-Hugoniot condition yields $S \leq 0$, see the proof of [58, Theorem 2.1], where we notice that in this setting there is no flux crossing. Therefore we conclude that $S \leq 0$. In this way we know that (3.3.13) holds for any $0 \leq \phi \in \mathbf{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R})$. For r > 1, let $\gamma_r : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a C^{∞} function which takes values in [0, 1] and satisfies

$$\gamma_r(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & |x| \le r, \\ 0, & |x| \ge r+1 \end{cases}$$

Fix s_0 and s such that $0 < s_0 < s < T$. For any $\tau > 0$ and k > 0 with $0 < s_0 + \tau < s + k < T$, let $\beta_{\tau,k} : [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a Lipschitz function that is linear on $[s_0, s_0 + \tau[\cup[s, s + k]]$ and

satisfies

$$\beta_{\tau,k}(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & t \in [0, s_0] \cup [s+k, T], \\ 1, & t \in [s_0 + \tau, s]. \end{cases}$$

We can take the admissible test function via a standard regularization argument $\phi = \gamma_r(x)\beta_{\tau,k}(t)$. Using this test function in (3.3.13) we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{k} \int_{s}^{s+k} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho(t,x) - \tilde{\rho}(t,x)| \gamma_{r}(x) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t - \frac{1}{\tau} \int_{s_{0}}^{s_{0}+k} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho(t,x) - \tilde{\rho}(t,x)| \gamma_{r}(x) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq K \int_{s_{0}}^{s_{0}+k} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \gamma_{r}(x) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \left\| \gamma_{r}' \right\|_{\infty} \int_{s_{0}}^{s+k} \int_{r \leq |x| \leq r+1} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\rho - \tilde{\rho} \right) \left(f(t,x,\rho) - f(t,x,\tilde{\rho}) \right) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

Sending $s_0 \to 0$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{k} \int_{s}^{s+k} \int_{-r}^{r} |\rho(t,x) - \tilde{\rho}(t,x)| \gamma_{r}(x) \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t &\leq \int_{-r}^{r} |\rho_{0}(x) - \tilde{\rho}_{0}(x)| \mathrm{d}x \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\tau} \int_{0}^{\tau} \int_{-r}^{r} |\tilde{\rho}(t,x) - \tilde{\rho}_{0}(x)| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\tau} \int_{0}^{\tau} \int_{-r}^{r} |\rho(t,x) - \rho_{0}(x)| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &\quad + K \int_{0}^{t+\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \gamma_{r}(x) \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + o\left(\frac{1}{r}\right) .\end{aligned}$$

Observe that the second and the third terms on the right-hand side of the inequality tends to zero as $\tau \to 0$ following the same argument in [58, Lemma B.1], because our initial condition is satisfied in the "weak" sense of the definition of our entropy condition. Sending $\tau \to 0$ and $r \to \infty$, we have

$$\frac{1}{k} \int_{s}^{s+k} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho(t,x) - \tilde{\rho}(t,x)| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho_{0}(x) - \tilde{\rho}_{0}(x)| \mathrm{d}x + K \int_{0}^{s+k} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho(t,x) - \tilde{\rho}(t,x)| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

Sending $k \to 0$ and an application of Gronwall's inequality give us the statement. \Box

Lemma 3.13 (A Kružkov-type integral inequality). For any two entropy solutions $\rho = \rho(t, x)$ and $\tilde{\rho} = \tilde{\rho}(t, x)$ the integral inequality (3.3.13) holds for any $0 \le \phi \in \mathbf{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\})$.

Proof. Let $0 \leq \phi \in \mathbf{C}_c^{\infty}((\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\})^2)$, $\phi = \phi(t, x, s, y)$, $\rho = \rho(t, x)$ and $\tilde{\rho} = \tilde{\rho}(s, y)$. From the definition of entropy solution for $\rho = \rho(t, x)$ with $\kappa = \tilde{\rho}(s, y)$ we get

$$-\iint_{\mathbb{R}^+\times\mathbb{R}} \left(|\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \phi_t + \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, \tilde{\rho}) \right) \phi_x \right) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+\iint_{\mathbb{R}^+\times\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\}}\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right)f(t,x,\tilde{\rho})_x\phi\,\mathrm{d}t\,\mathrm{d}x\leq 0.$$

Integrating over $(s, y) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}$, we find

$$-\iiint_{(\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R})^{2}} (|\rho - \tilde{\rho}|\phi_{t} + \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - \tilde{\rho}) (f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, \tilde{\rho})) \phi_{x}) dt dx ds dy$$
$$+\iiint_{(\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\})^{2}} \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - \tilde{\rho}) f(t, x, \tilde{\rho})_{x} \phi dt dx ds dy \leq 0.$$
(3.3.14)

Similarly, for the entropy solution $\tilde{\rho}=\tilde{\rho}(s,y)$ with $\alpha(y)=\rho(t,x)$

$$-\iiint \left(|\tilde{\rho} - \rho| \phi_s + \operatorname{sgn} \left(\tilde{\rho} - \rho \right) \left(f(s, y, \tilde{\rho}) - f(s, y, \rho) \right) \phi_x \right) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}y \\ + \iiint \left(\operatorname{R}^+ \times \operatorname{R}^-\{0\} \right)^2 \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho - \tilde{\rho} \right) f(t, x, \tilde{\rho})_x \phi \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}y \le 0.$$

$$(3.3.15)$$

Note that we can write, for each $(t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$,

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right)\left(f(t,x,\rho)-f(t,x,\tilde{\rho})\right)\phi_{x}-\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right)f(t,x,\tilde{\rho})_{x}\phi \\ & =\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right)\left(f(t,x,\rho)-f(s,y,\tilde{\rho})\right)\phi_{x}-\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right)\left[\left(f(t,x,\tilde{\rho})-f(s,y,\tilde{\rho})\right)\phi\right]_{x}, \end{split}$$

so that

$$\begin{split} &-\iiint _{(\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R})^{2}}\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right)\left(f(t,x,\rho)-f(t,x,\tilde{\rho})\right)\phi_{x}\,\mathrm{d}t\,\mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}y\\ &+\iiint _{(\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\})^{2}}\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right)f(t,x,\tilde{\rho})_{x}\phi\,\mathrm{d}t\,\mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}y\\ &=-\iiint _{(\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R})^{2}}\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right)\left(f(t,x,\rho)-f(s,y,\tilde{\rho})\right)\phi_{x}\,\mathrm{d}t\,\mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}y\\ &+\iiint _{(\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\})^{2}}\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right)\left[\left(f(t,x,\tilde{\rho})-f(s,y,\tilde{\rho})\right)\phi\right]_{x}\,\mathrm{d}t\,\mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}s\,\mathrm{d}y. \end{split}$$

Similarly, writing, for each $(y,s) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{sgn}\left(\tilde{\rho}-\rho\right)\left(f(s,y,\tilde{\rho})-f(s,y,\rho)\right)\phi_{y}-\operatorname{sgn}\left(\tilde{\rho}-\rho\right)f(s,y,\rho)_{y}\phi \\ & =\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right)\left(f(s,y,\tilde{\rho})-f(s,y,\rho)\right)\phi_{y}-\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right)\left[\left(f(t,x,\rho)-f(s,y,\rho)\right)\phi\right]_{x}, \end{split}$$

so that

$$-\iiint _{(\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R})^{2}} \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(f(s, y, \tilde{\rho}) - f(s, y, \rho)\right) \phi_{y} \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}y$$
$$+\iiint _{(\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\})^{2}} \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) f(s, y, \rho)_{y} \phi \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}y$$
$$= -\iiint _{(\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R})^{2}} \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(f(t, x, \tilde{\rho}) - f(s, y, \rho)\right) \phi_{x} \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}y$$

$$+\iiint_{(\mathbb{R}^+\times\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\})^2} \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho-\tilde{\rho}\right) \left[\left(f(t,x,\rho)-f(s,y,\rho)\right)\phi\right]_y \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}y$$

Let us introduce the notations

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \partial_{t+s} &=& \partial_t + \partial_s, \quad \partial_{x+y} = \partial_x + \partial_y, \\ \partial_{x+y}^2 &=& (\partial_x + \partial_y)^2 = \partial_x^2 + 2\partial_x \partial_y + \partial_y^2 \end{array}$$

Adding (3.3.14) and (3.3.15) we obtain

$$-\iiint \left(|\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \partial_{t+s} \phi \right)^{2} \left(|\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \partial_{t+s} \phi + \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(s, y, \tilde{\rho}) \right) \partial_{x+y} \phi \right) dt \, dx \, ds \, dy \\ + \iiint \left[\iiint _{\mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}} \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right) \left(\partial_{x} \left[\left(f(t, x, \tilde{\rho}) - f(s, y, \tilde{\rho}) \right) \phi \right] \right. \\ \left. + \partial_{y} \left[\left(f(t, x, \rho) - f(s, y, \rho) \right) \phi \right] \right) \, dt \, dx \, ds \, dy \leq 0.$$

$$(3.3.16)$$

We introduce a non-negative function $\delta \in \mathbf{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, satisfying $\delta(\sigma) = \delta(-\sigma)$, $\delta(\sigma) = 0$ for $|\sigma| \geq 1$, and $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \delta(\sigma) d\sigma = 1$. For u > 0 and $z \in \mathbb{R}$, let $\delta_p(z) = \frac{1}{p} \delta(\frac{z}{p})$. We take our test function $\phi = \phi(t, x, s, y)$ to be of the form

$$\Phi(t, x, s, y) = \phi\left(\frac{t+s}{2}, \frac{x+y}{2}\right) \delta_p\left(\frac{x-y}{2}\right) \delta_p\left(\frac{t-s}{2}\right),$$

where $0 \leq \phi \in \mathbf{C}_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R} \setminus 0)$ satisfies

$$\phi(t,x) = 0, \quad \forall (t,x) \in [-h,h] \times [0,T],$$

for small h > 0. By making sure that p < h, one can check that Φ belongs to $\mathbf{C}_{c}^{\infty}\left(\left(\mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}\right)^{2}\right)$. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{t+s}\Phi(t,x,s,y) &= \partial_{t+s}\phi\left(\frac{t+s}{2},\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\delta_p\left(\frac{x-y}{2}\right)\delta_p\left(\frac{t-s}{2}\right),\\ \partial_{x+y}\Phi(t,x,s,y) &= \partial_{x+y}\phi\left(\frac{t+s}{2},\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\delta_p\left(\frac{x-y}{2}\right)\delta_p\left(\frac{t-s}{2}\right),\end{aligned}$$

and using Φ as test function in (3.3.16)

$$-\iiint \int_{(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R})^2} \left(I_1(t, x, s, y) + I_2(t, x, s, y) \right) \delta_p\left(\frac{x - y}{2}\right) \delta_p\left(\frac{t - s}{2}\right) dt \, dx \, ds \, dy$$
$$\leq \iiint \int_{(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\})^2} \left(I_3(t, x, s, y) + I_4(t, x, s, y) + I_5(t, x, s, y) \right) dt \, dx \, ds \, dy,$$

where

$$I_1 = |\rho(t,x) - \tilde{\rho}(s,y)| \partial_{t+s} \phi\left(\frac{t+s}{2}, \frac{x+y}{2}\right),$$

$$\begin{split} I_2 &= \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho(t,x) - \tilde{\rho}(s,y)\right) \left(f(t,x,\rho) - f(s,y,\tilde{\rho})\right) \partial_{x+y} \phi\left(\frac{t+s}{2}, \frac{x+y}{2}\right), \\ I_3 &= -\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho(t,x) - \tilde{\rho}(s,y)\right) \left(\partial_x f(t,x,\tilde{\rho}) - \partial_y f(s,y,\rho)\right) \phi\left(\frac{t+s}{2}, \frac{x+y}{2},\right) \\ &\times \delta_p\left(\frac{x-y}{2}\right) \delta_p\left(\frac{t-s}{2}\right), \\ I_4 &= -\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho(t,x) - \tilde{\rho}(s,y)\right) \delta_p\left(\frac{x-y}{2}\right) \delta_p\left(\frac{t-s}{2}\right) \\ &\times \left[\partial_x \phi\left(\frac{t+s}{2}, \frac{x+y}{2},\right) \left(f(t,x,\tilde{\rho}) - f(s,y,\tilde{\rho})\right) \right) \\ &\times \partial_y \phi\left(\frac{t+s}{2}, \frac{x+y}{2}\right) \left(f(t,x,\rho) - f(s,y,\rho)\right)\right], \\ I_5 &= \left(F(x,\rho(t,x),\tilde{\rho}(s,y)) - F(y,\rho(t,x),\tilde{\rho}(s,y))\right) \phi\left(\frac{t+s}{2}, \frac{x+y}{2}\right) \\ &\times \partial_x \delta_p\left(\frac{x-y}{2}\right) \delta_p\left(\frac{t-s}{2}\right), \end{split}$$

where $F(x,\rho,c):={\rm sgn}\left((\rho-c)\right)\left(f(t,x,\rho)-f(t,x,c)\right).$ We now use the change of variables

$$\tilde{x} = \frac{x+y}{2}, \quad \tilde{t} = \frac{t+s}{2}, \quad z = \frac{x-y}{2}, \quad \tau = \frac{t-s}{2},$$

which maps $(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R})^2$ in $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^4$ and $(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\})^2$ in $\Omega_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^4$, where

$$\Omega = \{ (\tilde{x}, \tilde{t}, z, \tau) \in \mathbb{R}^4 : 0 < \tilde{t} \pm \tau < T \}, \qquad \Omega_0 = \{ (\tilde{x}, \tilde{t}, z, \tau) \in \Omega : \tilde{x} \pm z \neq 0 \},$$

respectively. With this changes of variables we can rewrite

$$\partial_{t+s}\phi\left(\frac{t+s}{2},\frac{x+y}{2}\right) = \partial_{\tilde{t}}\phi(\tilde{t},\tilde{x}), \qquad \partial_{x+y}\phi\left(\frac{t+s}{2},\frac{x+y}{2}\right) = \partial_{\tilde{x}}\phi(\tilde{t},\tilde{x}).$$

Now we can write

where

$$\begin{split} I_{1}(\tilde{t},\tilde{x},\tau,z) &= \left| \rho(\tilde{t}+\tau,\tilde{x}+z) - \tilde{\rho}(\tilde{t}-\tau,\tilde{x}-z) \right| \partial_{\tilde{t}} \phi\left(\tilde{t},\tilde{x}\right), \\ I_{2}(\tilde{t},\tilde{x},\tau,z) &= \operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho(\tilde{t}+\tau,\tilde{x}+z) - \tilde{\rho}(\tilde{t}-\tau,\tilde{x}-z)\right) \\ &\times (f(\tilde{t}+\tau,\tilde{x}+z,\rho) - f(\tilde{t}-\tau,\tilde{x}-z,\tilde{\rho})) \partial_{\tilde{x}} \phi\left(\tilde{t},\tilde{x}\right), \\ I_{3}(\tilde{t},\tilde{x},\tau,z) &= -\operatorname{sgn}\left(\rho(\tilde{t}+\tau,\tilde{x}+z) - \tilde{\rho}(\tilde{t}-\tau,\tilde{x}-z)\right) \\ &\times \left(\partial_{\tilde{x}+z}f(\tilde{t}+\tau,\tilde{x}+z,\tilde{\rho}) - \partial_{\tilde{x}-z}f(\tilde{t}-\tau,\tilde{x}-z,\rho)\right) \phi\left(\tilde{t},\tilde{x}\right) \delta_{p}\left(z\right) \delta_{p}\left(\tau\right), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} I_4(\tilde{t}, \tilde{x}, \tau, z) &= -\mathrm{sgn} \left(\rho(\tilde{t} + \tau, \tilde{x} + z) - \tilde{\rho}(\tilde{t} - \tau, \tilde{x} - z) \right) \\ &\times \partial_{\tilde{x}} \phi\left(\tilde{t}, \tilde{x}\right) \delta_p\left(z\right) \delta_p\left(\tau\right) \left[\left(f(\tilde{t} + \tau, \tilde{x} + z, \tilde{\rho}) - f(\tilde{t} - \tau, \tilde{x} - z, \tilde{\rho})\right) \\ &+ \left(f(\tilde{t} + \tau, \tilde{x} + z, \rho) - f(\tilde{t} - \tau, \tilde{x} - z, \rho)\right) \right], \end{split}$$
$$I_5(\tilde{t}, \tilde{x}, \tau, z) &= \left(F(\tilde{x} + z, \rho(\tilde{t} + \tau, \tilde{x} + z), \tilde{\rho}(\tilde{t} - \tau, \tilde{x} - z)) \\ &- F(\tilde{x} - z, \rho(\tilde{t} + \tau, \tilde{x} + z), \tilde{\rho}(\tilde{t} - \tau, \tilde{x} - z)) \right) \phi\left(\tilde{t}, \tilde{x}\right) \partial_z \delta_p\left(z\right) \delta_p\left(\tau\right). \end{split}$$

Employing Lebesgue's differentiation theorem, to obtain the following limits

$$\begin{split} \lim_{p \to 0} \iiint \int_{\Omega} I_1(\tilde{t}, \tilde{x}, \tau, z) \delta_p(z) \delta_p(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{t} \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}z \\ &= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}} |\rho(t, x) - \tilde{\rho}(t, x)| \partial_t \phi(t, x) \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}x, \\ \lim_{p \to 0} \iiint \int_{\Omega} I_2(\tilde{t}, \tilde{x}, \tau, z) \delta_p(z) \delta_p(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{t} \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}z \\ &= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\rho(t, x) - \tilde{\rho}(t, x) \right) (f(t, x, \rho) - f(t, x, \tilde{\rho})) \, \partial_x \phi(t, x) \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

Let us consider the term I_3 . Note that $I_3(\tilde{t}, \tilde{x}, \tau, z) = 0$, if $\tilde{x} \in [-h, h]$, since then $\phi(\tilde{t}, \tilde{x}) = 0$ for any \tilde{t} , or if $|z| \ge p$. On the other hand, if $\tilde{x} \notin [-h, h]$, then $\tilde{x} \pm z < 0$ or $\tilde{x} \pm z > 0$, at least when |z| < p and p < h. Defining $U(t, x) = 1 - \omega_\eta * \rho$ and $V(t, x) = 1 - \omega_\eta * \tilde{\rho}$, and sending $p \to 0$:

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{p \to 0} \iiint \int_{\Omega_0} I_3(\tilde{t}, \tilde{x}, \tau, z) \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{t} \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}z \\ &= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}} \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho(t, x) - \tilde{\rho}(t, x) \right) \mathfrak{v}(x) \left(\tilde{\rho}g(\tilde{\rho})\partial_x V - \rho g(\rho)\partial_x U \right) \phi(t, x) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq k_r \|\partial_x V\| \left\| g' \right\| \iint_{\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}} |\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \phi(t, x) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\quad + k_r \iint_{\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}} |\rho g(\rho)| |\partial_x V - \partial_x U| \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq K_1 \iint_{\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}} |\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \phi(t, x) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x, \end{split}$$

where

$$\mathfrak{v}(x) = \begin{cases} k_l, & \text{if } x < 0, \\ k_r, & \text{if } x > 0. \end{cases}$$

In fact,

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_x V - \partial_x U| &\leq \left\| \omega_\eta' \right\| \left\| u(t, \cdot) - v(t, \cdot) \right\|_{L^1} \\ &+ \omega_\eta(0) \left(|u - v|(t, x + \eta) + |u - v|(t, x) \right). \end{aligned}$$

80

The term I_4 converges to zero as $p \to 0$. Finally, the term I_5

$$\lim_{p \to 0} \iiint_{\Omega_0} I_5(\tilde{t}, \tilde{x}, \tau, z) \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{t} \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{x} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}z \le K_2 \iint_{\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}} |\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \phi(t, x) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
(3.3.17)

3.4 Numerical examples

In this section, we propose some numerical tests in order to illustrate the dynamics of the non-local model (3.1.1) with flux function discontinuous at x = 0 and compare it with the local case. We solve the equation (3.1.1) in an interval containing x = 0 using the numerical scheme described in subsection (3.2) for different values of Δx . For each integration, we set Δt such that it satisfies the CFL condition (3.3.1), and for all tests we choose $\omega(x) = \frac{2(x-\eta)}{\eta^2}$ for $0 \le x \le \eta$ and absorbing boundary conditions. The reference solution is computed with $\Delta x = 1/1280$.

3.4.1 Example 5.

We consider the initial condition

$$\rho_0(x) = \begin{cases} 0.9 & x \in [-0.5, 1.5] \\ 0.1 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

 $\psi(\rho) = 1 - \rho$, which satisfies the hypothesis (3.1.4) and $\eta = 0.4$. In **Case I** we take $k_l = 3$ and $k_r = 1$, i.e. $v_l(\rho) > v_r(\rho)$. In Fig 3.4.1(Left) we display the approximated solution for $\Delta x = 1/320$ at different final times T = 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0. We can observe the formation of a stationary shock wave at x = 0 and a queue travelling backward. We observe that the solution satisfies the maximum principle according with Lemma 3.3. In **Case II** we take $k_l = 1$ and $k_r = 3$, i.e. $v_l(\rho) < v_r(\rho)$. In Fig 3.4.1(Right) we display the numerical solution for $\Delta x = 1/320$ at different final times T = 1.0, 2.0. We can observe the formation of a rarefaction wave at the right of x = 0 and the density diminishes at the left of x = 0. The **L**¹-error for different Δx at T = 2 are computed in Table 3.4.1.

3.4.2 Example 6: Limit $\eta \to 0^+$.

In this example, we investigate the numerical convergence of the approximate solution computed with the numerical scheme (3.2.1)-(3.2.2) to the solution of the local conservation law with discontinuous flux under hypothesis (3.1.4), as the support of the kernel function ω_{η} tends to 0⁺. In particular, we show numerical solutions at final time T = 2, with $\Delta x = 1/1600$ and $\eta = \{0.1, 0.02, 0.005\}$. To evaluate the convergence, we compute the L¹ distance between the approximate solution of the non-local problem with



Figure 3.4.1: Example 5: Dynamics of model (3.1.1) (Left) Case $v_l(\rho) > v_r(\rho)$, (Right) Case $v_l(\rho) < v_r(\rho)$

	Case	es I	Cases II				
Δx	\mathbf{L}^{1} -error	E.O.A.	\mathbf{L}^{1} -error	E.O.A.			
$\frac{1}{40}$	$5.7e^{-2}$	—	$9.8e^{-2}$	_			
$\frac{1}{80}$	$2.8e^{-2}$	1.0	$5.0e^{-2}$	1.0			
$\frac{1}{160}$	$1.4e^{-2}$	1.0	$2.3e^{-2}$	1.1			
$\frac{1}{320}$	$6.5e^{-3}$	1.1	$1.1e^{-2}$	1.1			

Table 3.4.1: Example 5. L^1 -error and Experimental Order of Accuracy at time T = 2.

a given η and the results of the classical Godunov scheme for the corresponding local problem. In Table 3.4.2, we can observe than the \mathbf{L}^1 distance goes to zero when $\eta \to 0^+$. The results are illustrated in Fig 3.4.2.

	\mathbf{L}^1 distance									
η	0.1	0.02	0.005							
Case I	7.4e-2	2.2e-2	6.3e-3							
Case II	8.4e-2	2.8e-2	7.8e-3							

Table 3.4.2: Example 6. \mathbf{L}^1 distance between the approximate solutions to the non-local problem and the local problem for different values of η at T = 2 with $\Delta x = 1/1600$.



Figure 3.4.2: Example 6. Limit $\eta \to 0^+$, numerical approximations at final time T = 0.7 with $\Delta x = 1/3200$. (Left) Case I, (Right) Case II.

3.5 Conclusions of Chapter 3

In this chapter, we have studied a non-local conservation law whose flux function is of the form $H(-x)\rho g(\rho)v_l(\omega_\eta * \rho) + H(x)\rho g(\rho)v_r(\omega_\eta * \rho)$, with a single spatial discontinuity at x = 0 and the velocity functions satisfy the hypothesis (3.1.4). We have approximated the problem through a numerical scheme which takes advantage of the form in which the flow is written, and we have provided \mathbf{L}^{∞} and \mathbf{BV} estimates for the approximate solutions. Thanks to these estimates, we have proved the well-posedness, i.e., existence and uniqueness of a weak entropy solutions. Numerical simulations illustrate the dynamics of the studied model and corroborate the convergence of the numerical scheme. The limit model as the kernel support tends to zero is numerically investigated.

Chapter 4

Nonlocal reaction traffic flow model with on-off ramps

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 Scope

Models of conservation laws with nonlocal flux have been used to describe traffic flow dynamics in which drivers adapt their velocity with respect to what happens in front of them [14, 42, 51, 44, 79]. In this type of models, the flux depends on a downstream convolution term between the density or the velocity of vehicles and a kernel function with support on the negative axis. On the other hand, ramps are an important element of traffic systems and develops some complex traffic phenomena, see [53, 57, 67, 80, 81, 82, 84], therefore is important to study the behaviour of traffic on roads with ramps. In this chapter, we propose a new nonlocal traffic model which includes the effects of the inflow and output flow over the on- and off- ramps respectively. We start by considering a modified local reaction traffic model proposed in [67],

$$\rho_t + (\rho v(\rho))_x = S_{\text{on}} - S_{\text{off}},$$
(4.1.1)

where the non-negative functions S_{on} and S_{off} are the source and sink term, respectively, defined by

$$S_{\rm on}(t,x,\rho) = \mathbf{1}_{\rm on}(x)q_{\rm on}(t)\left(1-\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\rm max}}\right), \qquad (4.1.2)$$

$$S_{\text{off}}(t, x, \rho) = \mathbf{1}_{\text{off}}(x)q_{\text{off}}(t)\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\text{max}}}, \qquad (4.1.3)$$

where $q_{\text{on}} \in \mathbb{R}^+$, and $q_{\text{off}} \in \mathbb{R}^+$ the rate (number of vehicles per unit time per unit length) of the on- and off-ramp respectively, as in [81, 82]

$$q_{\rm on}(t) = \frac{q_{\rm on}^{\rm ramp}(t)}{L_{\rm on}}, \quad q_{\rm off}(t) = \frac{q_{\rm off}^{\rm ramp}(t)}{L_{\rm off}},$$

with $q_{\text{on}}^{\text{ramp}}(t)$ the expected inflow flow of the on-ramp and $q_{\text{off}}^{\text{ramp}}(t)$ the expected output flow of the off-ramp, L_{on} and L_{off} are the lengths of the on- and off-ramps respectively, whose spatial position are described by the indicator functions $\mathbf{1}_{\text{on}}(x)$ and $\mathbf{1}_{\text{off}}(x)$, defined as

$$\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}}(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & x \in \Omega_{\mathrm{on}} := [\underline{x}_{\mathrm{on}}, \overline{x}_{\mathrm{on}}], \\ 0 & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases} \quad \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off}}(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & x \in \Omega_{\mathrm{off}} := [\underline{x}_{\mathrm{off}}, \overline{x}_{\mathrm{off}}], \\ 0 & \text{otherwise}. \end{cases}$$

For simplicity we consider $L_{\text{on}} = L_{\text{off}} = L$ in the whole paper.

In order to obtain a nonlocal version of the model (4.1.1), we first rewrite the flux function $f(\rho) = \rho v(\rho)$ in its non-local version, where drivers react adapting their velocity with respect to what happens in front of them, see [6, 14, 42, 51],

$$f(\rho) = \rho v(\rho * \omega_{\eta}), \text{ with } (\rho * \omega_{\eta})(t, x) = \int_{x}^{x+\eta} \rho(t, y) \omega_{\eta}(y - x) dy.$$

On the on-ramp the idea is that at position x the flow merging in the traffic way is inversely proportional to the average density around position $x + \delta$, see Fig. 4.1.1, i.e, we write

$$S_{\rm on}(t, x, \rho, \rho * \omega_{\eta, \delta}) = \mathbf{1}_{\rm on}(x)q_{\rm on}(t) \left(1 - \frac{\rho * \omega_{\eta, \delta}}{\rho_{\rm max}}\right),\tag{4.1.4}$$

where

$$(\rho * \omega_{\eta,\delta})(t,x) = \int_{x-\eta+\delta}^{x+\eta+\delta} \rho(t,y)\omega_{\eta,\delta}(y-x)\mathrm{d}y,$$

with $\eta \in [0, 1]$ and $\delta \in [-\eta, \eta]$. Similarly to [42], here the parameter η represents the radius of the support of the kernel function $\omega_{\eta,\delta}$, while δ is the point at which the maximum is attained. This choice of the kernel models the fact that drivers on the onramp can see what happens on the backward and forward on the main road. However, in the numerical test section we will see that the choice of the non-local term (4.1.4) does not guarantee that the proposed model satisfies a Maximum Principle, see Example 3. In order to overcome this difficulty, we consider a first variant of (4.1.4) taking

$$S_{\rm on}(t,x,\rho,\rho*\omega_{\eta,\delta}) = \mathbf{1}_{\rm on}(x)q_{\rm on}(t)\left(1-\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\rm max}}\right)\left(1-\frac{\rho*\omega_{\eta,\delta}}{\rho_{\rm max}}\right).$$
(4.1.5)

Note that this term contains a product which differentiates it from the original model, this choice is also assumed in the multilane model studied in [43]. An alternative to avoid the double product in the previous equation (4.1.5) is the following

$$S_{\rm on}(t,x,\rho,\rho*\omega_{\eta,\delta}) = \mathbf{1}_{\rm on}(x)q_{\rm on}(t) \left(1 - \max\left\{\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\rm max}};\frac{\rho*\omega_{\eta,\delta}}{\rho_{\rm max}}\right\}\right).$$
(4.1.6)

In both models with (4.1.5) and (4.1.6), if the main road is crowded only few vehicles can enter to the main road.

The purpose of this work is the study of the well-posedness of a nonlocal reaction traffic flow model with source term given by (4.1.5) and (4.1.6).



Figure 4.1.1: Illustration of the model setting. Vehicles on the on ramp are located at point $x + \delta$, and by means of the kernel function $\omega_{\eta,\delta}$ they can see to right and left on the main road.

4.1.2 Related work

In [11, 14, 21, 42, 26, 51, 44] the authors studied a nonlocal conservation law to model vehicular traffic flow in the case $S_{on} = S_{off} = 0$, i.e., without on- and off-ramps. The need to design more realistic models has led to the development of multi-lane vehicular traffic models among which we can highlight the following. In [56] is introduced a new local model for multilane dense vehicular traffic by means of a system of a weakly coupled scalar conservation laws. In [49], the authors consider the model proposed in [56] but with a more general source terms and they allow for the presence of space discontinuities both in the speed law and in the number of lanes; in these two local models the source term accounts for the lane change rate and the key assumption is that the drivers prefer to drive faster, and that the tendency of a vehicle to change the lanes is proportional to the difference in velocity between neighboring lanes. In [43] the authors introduce a multilane model with local and non-local flux combined with a source term that also incorporates a nonlocality; here, the non-local source term describes the lane changing rate depending on a (nonlinear) evaluation of the velocity. In particular, the lane changing rate is proportional to the difference in the velocity between two adjacent lanes, but the velocities are evaluated in a neighbourhood of the current position, moreover, this rate is proportional also to the density in the receiving lane, meaning that if that lane is crowded only a few vehicles can actually change lane.

Regarding to vehicular traffic flow models taking into account the presence of ramps we can mention [67], where the authors study the (local) first order nonlinear conservation law (4.1.1). In [82] a (local) second order model is proposed to study the effects of onand off-ramps on a main road traffic during two rush periods. Likewise, other works about the study of effects of ramps in vehicular traffic flow models are referenced in [82]. In particular, in [40] the authors consider a Lighthill-Whitham-Richards (LWR) traffic flow model on a junction composed by one mainline, an on-ramp and an off-ramp, which are connected by a node. Moreover, in [54] a non-local gas-kinetic traffic model including ramps is proposed, the model allows to simulate synchronized congested traffic and reproduces realistic phenomena of vehicular traffic by variations of the on-ramp flow. In [68] a new modeling methodology for merging and diverging flows is studied, the methodology includes coupling effects between main and ramps flows and a new formulation for the modeling of traffic friction is also introduced.

4.1.3 Outline of the chapter

This work is organized as follows: In Section 4.2 we present the proposed mathematical model with all the considered assumptions on it. Afterwards, we introduce an upwind-type scheme with two different source terms and derive important properties such as maximum principle, \mathbf{L}^{1} — bound and \mathbf{BV} estimates. Furthermore, we derive the \mathbf{L}^{1} —Lipschitz continuous dependence of solutions to (4.2.1) on the initial data and the terms q_{on} and q_{off} in Section 4.3. In Section 4.4, we present numerical examples illustrating the behavior of the solutions of our model.

4.2 Mathematical model

The main goal of this work is to study the well-posedness of the non-local reaction traffic model

$$\rho_t + (\rho v(\rho * \omega_\eta))_x = S_{\text{on}}(\cdot, \cdot, \rho, \rho * \omega_{\eta,\delta}) - S_{\text{off}}(\cdot, \cdot, \rho), \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$
(4.2.1)

where $S_{\text{on}}(\cdot, \cdot, \rho, \rho * \omega_{\eta,\delta})$ defined in (4.1.5) or (4.1.6), S_{off} defined by (4.1.3) and initial condition

$$\rho(x,0) = \rho_0(x) \in \left(\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV}\right) (\mathbb{R}, [0, \rho_{\max}]). \tag{4.2.2}$$

From now on we call Model 0 the equations (4.2.1)-(4.1.4)-(4.2.2), Model 1 the equations (4.2.1)-(4.1.5)-(4.2.2), and Model 2 (4.2.1)-(4.1.6)-(4.2.2). Let us assume the following assumptions.

Assumptions 4.2.1. We assume

(i)
$$q_{\text{on}}^{\text{ramp}} \in \mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{R}^+), \ q_{\text{off}}^{\text{ramp}} \in \mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{R}^+).$$

(*ii*)
$$v \in \mathbf{C}^2([0, \rho_{\max}]; \mathbb{R}^+), v'(\rho) \le 0, \rho \in [0, \rho_{\max}].$$

- (*iii*) $\omega_{\eta} \in \mathbf{C}^{1}([0,\eta]; \mathbb{R}^{+})$ with $\omega'_{\eta}(x) \leq 0, \ \int_{0}^{\eta} \omega_{\eta}(x) \mathrm{d}x = 1, \ \forall \eta > 0.$
- (*iv*) $\omega_{\eta,\delta} \in (\mathbf{C}^1 \cap \mathbf{L}^1)([\delta \eta, \delta + \eta]; \mathbb{R}^+)$ with $\omega'(x)_{\eta,\delta} \ge 0$ for $x \in [\delta \eta, 0], \ \omega'(x)_{\eta,\delta} \le 0$ for $x \in [0, \delta + \eta], \ and \ \int_{\delta \eta}^{\delta + \eta} \omega_{\eta,\delta}(x) \mathrm{d}x = 1, \ \forall \eta > 0.$

We recall the definition of weak entropy solution for (4.2.1).

Definition 4.1. Let $\rho_0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$. We say that

 $\rho \in \mathbf{C}([0,T]; \mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])), \text{ with } \rho(t, \cdot) \in \mathbf{BV}(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}]) \text{ for } t \in [0,T], \text{ is a weak solution to (4.2.1) with initial datum } \rho_0 \text{ if for any } \varphi \in \mathbf{C}^1_c([0,T[\times\mathbb{R};\mathbb{R})])$

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\rho \varphi_t + \rho V \varphi_x) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\mathrm{on}}} S_{\mathrm{on}} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \\ - \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\mathrm{off}}} S_{\mathrm{off}} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho_0(x) \varphi(0, x) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0,$$

where $V(t, x) = v((\rho * \omega)(t, x))$ and S_{on} is as in (4.1.5) or (4.1.6).

Definition 4.2. Let $\rho_0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$. We say that $\rho \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}]))$, with $\rho(t, \cdot) \in \mathbf{BV}(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$ for $t \in [0, T]$, is a entropy weak solution to (4.2.1) with initial datum ρ_0 if for any $\varphi \in \mathbf{C}_c^1([0, T[\times \mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R})])$ and for all $k \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\left| \rho - k \right| \varphi_{t} + \left| \rho - k \right| V \varphi_{x} - \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - k) k V_{x} \varphi \right) \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - k) S_{\text{on}} \varphi \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{off}}} \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - k) S_{\text{off}} \varphi \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \rho_{0} - k \right| \varphi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x \ge 0.$$

Our main result is given by the following theorem, which states the well-posedness of problem (4.2.1) to (4.2.2) with source term given by (4.1.5) or (4.1.6). In order to simplify the computations we consider $\rho_{\text{max}} = 1$ from now on.

Theorem 4.3. Let $\rho_0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})$ (\mathbb{R} ; [0,1]). Let Assumptions 4.2.1 hold. Then, for all T > 0, the problem (4.2.1) has a unique solution $\rho \in \mathbf{C}^0([0,T]; \mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; [0,1]))$ in the sense of Definition 4.2. Moreover, the following estimates hold: for any $t \in [0,T]$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho(t)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} &\leq \mathcal{R}_{1}(t), \\ 0 &\leq \rho(t, x) \leq 1, \\ TV(\rho(t)) &\leq e^{t\mathcal{H}} \left(TV(\rho_{0}) + t\mathcal{Q}_{T} \right), \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\mathcal{R}_{1} = \|\rho_{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \|q_{\mathrm{on}}^{\mathrm{ramp}}(\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])} - \min_{x \in \Omega_{\mathrm{on}}} \|q_{\mathrm{on}}^{\mathrm{ramp}}(\cdot)\rho(\cdot,x)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])} - \min_{x \in \Omega_{\mathrm{off}}} \|q_{\mathrm{off}}^{\mathrm{ramp}}(\cdot)\rho(\cdot,x)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])},$$

$$(4.2.3)$$

$$Q_T = 2 \left(\|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \|q_{\text{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \right), \qquad (4.2.4)$$

$$\mathcal{H} = 2 \|q_{\rm on}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \|q_{\rm off}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \omega_{\eta}(0)\mathcal{L}, \qquad (4.2.5)$$

$$\mathcal{L} = \left(\|v\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} + \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} \right).$$
(4.2.6)

4.3 Existence of an entropy solution

4.3.1 Numerical discretization

We take a space step Δx such that $\eta = N\Delta x$, for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$, and a time step Δt subject to a CFL condition which will be specified later. For any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, let $x_{j-1/2} = j\Delta x$ be a cells interfaces, $x_j = (j + \frac{1}{2})\Delta x$ the cells centers. We consider ramps with length Land take $L = \ell\Delta x$, for some $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ such that $\underline{x}_{\text{on}} = x_{\underline{k}_{\text{on}}+1/2}$, $\overline{x}_{\text{on}} = x_{\underline{k}_{\text{on}}+1/2+\ell}$, $\underline{x}_{\text{off}} = x_{\underline{k}_{\text{off}}+1/2+\ell}$, for some $\underline{k}_{\text{on}}, \underline{k}_{\text{off}} \in \mathbb{Z}$. With this notation, we define the subdomains $\Omega_{\text{on}} = [\underline{x}_{\text{on}}, \overline{x}_{\text{on}}]$, $\Omega_{\text{off}} = [\underline{x}_{\text{off}}, \overline{x}_{\text{off}}]$, and we put $\Omega_{\text{on}}^k = [\underline{k}_{\text{on}} + 1, \underline{k}_{\text{on}} + \ell]$ and $\Omega_{\text{off}}^k = [\underline{k}_{\text{off}} + 1, \underline{k}_{\text{off}} + \ell]$. We fix T > 0, and set $N_T \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $N_T \Delta t \leq T < (N_T + 1) \Delta t$ and define the time

We fix T > 0, and set $N_T \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $N_T \Delta t \leq T < (N_T + 1) \Delta t$ and define the time mesh as $t^n = n\Delta t$ for $n = 0, \dots, N_T$. Set $\lambda = \Delta t / \Delta x$. The initial data is approximated for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, as follows:

$$\rho_j^0 = \frac{1}{\Delta x} \int_{x_{j-1/2}}^{x_{j+1/2}} \rho_0(x) \mathrm{d}x.$$

We define a piecewise constant approximate solution $\rho_{\Delta}(t, x)$ to (4.2.1) as

$$\rho_{\Delta}(t,x) = \rho_j^n, \quad \text{for } \begin{cases} t \in [t^n, t^{n+1}[\\ x \in]x_{j-1/2}, x_{j+1/2}], \\ \end{cases} \text{ where } \begin{array}{l} n = 0, \dots, N_T - 1, \\ j \in \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$
(4.3.1)

The $S_{\rm on}$ terms (4.1.5) and (4.1.6) are discretized via

$$S_{\rm on}\left(t^{n+1/2}, x_j, \rho_j^{n+1/2}, R_{{\rm on},j}^{n+1/2}\right) = \mathbf{1}_{{\rm on},j} q_{\rm on}^{n+1/2} (1 - \rho_j^{n+1/2}) (1 - R_{{\rm on},j}^{n+1/2}), \quad (4.3.2)$$

$$S_{\rm on}\left(t^{n+1/2}, x_j, \rho_j^{n+1/2}, R_{{\rm on},j}^{n+1/2}\right) = \mathbf{1}_{{\rm on},j} q_{{\rm on}}^{n+1/2} \left(1 - \max\left\{\rho_j^{n+1/2}, R_{{\rm on},j}^{n+1/2}\right\}\right). \quad (4.3.3)$$

The S_{off} term is discretizated via

$$S_{\text{off}}\left(t^{n+1/2}, x_j, \rho_j^{n+1/2}\right) = \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \rho_j^{n+1/2}, \qquad (4.3.4)$$

where we denote

$$\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on},j} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Delta x} \int_{x_{j-1/2}}^{x_{j+1/2}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}}(x) \mathrm{d}x, & \underline{x}_{\mathrm{on}} \leq x_j \leq \overline{x}_{\mathrm{on}} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

$$\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off},j} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Delta x} \int_{x_{j-1/2}}^{x_{j+1/2}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off}}(x) \mathrm{d}x, & \underline{x}_{\mathrm{off}} \leq x_j \leq \overline{x}_{\mathrm{off}} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

$$q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} = \frac{1}{\Delta t} \int_{t^n}^{t^{n+1}} q_{\text{on}}(t) dt, \qquad q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} = \frac{1}{\Delta t} \int_{t^n}^{t^{n+1}} q_{\text{off}}(t) dt,$$

The approximate solution ρ_{Δ} is obtained via an upwind-type scheme together with operator splitting to account for the reaction term, see **Algorithm 4.3.1** Algorithm 4.3.1 (Upwind scheme).

Input: approximate solution vector $\{\rho_i^n\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ for $t = t^n$

do $j \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$\rho_j^{n+1/2} \leftarrow \rho_j^n - \lambda \left(\rho_j^n v(R_{j+1/2}^n) - \rho_{j-1}^n v(R_{j-1/2}^n) \right)$$
(4.3.5)

enddo

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{do} \ j \in \mathbb{Z} \\ S_{\mathrm{on},j}^{n+1/2} &\leftarrow S_{\mathrm{on}} \left(t^{n+1/2}, x_j, \rho_j^{n+1/2}, R_{\mathrm{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right), \text{ using } (4.3.2) \text{ or } (4.3.3), \\ S_{\mathrm{off},j}^{n+1/2} &\leftarrow S_{\mathrm{off}} \left(t^{n+1/2}, x_j, \rho_j^{n+1/2} \right), \text{ using } (4.3.4), \\ \rho_j^{n+1} &\leftarrow \rho_j^{n+1/2} + \Delta t S_{\mathrm{on},j}^{n+1/2} - \Delta t S_{\mathrm{off},j}^{n+1/2} \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.3.6)$$

enddo

Output: approximate solution vector $\{\rho_j^{n+1}\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ for $t = t^{n+1} = t^n + \Delta t$.

The terms $R_{j+1/2}^n$, $R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2}$ for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $n = 0, \ldots, N_T - 1$ denote the discrete convolution operators in the velocity and source term and they are defined, respectively, by

$$\begin{split} R_{j+1/2}^n &= \sum_{p=0}^{\lfloor \eta/\Delta x \rfloor - 1} \gamma_p \rho_{j+p+1}^n, \\ R_{\mathrm{on},j}^{n+1/2} &= \sum_{h=\lfloor \frac{\delta-\eta}{\Delta x} \rfloor}^{\lfloor \frac{\delta+\eta}{\Delta x} \rfloor - 1} \hat{\gamma}_h \rho_{j+h}^{n+1/2}. \end{split}$$

Here we denote $\gamma_p = \int_{x_{p-1/2}}^{x_{p+1/2}} \omega_\eta(y-x) \mathrm{d}y$, for $p \in [0, \lfloor \eta/\Delta x \rfloor - 1]$ and $\hat{\gamma}_h = \int_{x_{h-1/2}}^{x_{h+1/2}} \omega_{\eta,\delta}(y-x) \mathrm{d}y$, for $h \in [\lfloor (\delta - \eta)/\Delta x \rfloor, \lfloor (\delta + \eta)/\Delta x \rfloor - 1]$.

Remark 4.4. If $0 \le \rho_j^{n+1/2} \le 1$ for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, then for all $n \in \{0, \ldots, N_T - 1\}$, $\left\| R_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\text{on}}^k)} \le 1$. Indeed, we have that

$$\left| R_{\mathrm{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right| \leq \sum_{h=\lfloor \frac{\delta-\eta}{\Delta x} \rfloor}^{\lfloor \frac{\delta+\eta}{\Delta x} \rfloor - 1} \hat{\gamma}_h \left| \rho_{j+h+1}^{n+1/2} \right| \leq \sum_{h=\lfloor \frac{\delta-\eta}{\Delta x} \rfloor}^{\lfloor \frac{\delta+\eta}{\Delta x} \rfloor - 1} \hat{\gamma}_h = 1.$$

4.3. Existence of an entropy solution

Remark 4.5. The discrete convolution operator $R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2}$ satisfies

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| R_{\mathrm{on},j+1}^{n+1/2} - R_{\mathrm{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right| \le \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right|.$$

The proof of this property can be seen in [43, Lemma 3.2.]

4.3.2 Existence of solution Model 1

In order to prove the existence of a solution of the model (4.2.1)-(4.1.5), in the next lemmas we will show some properties of the approximate solutions constructed by the **Algorithm 4.3.1**.

Lemma 4.6 (Maximum principle). Let $\rho_0 \in \mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}; [0, 1])$. Let Assumptions 4.2.1 and the following Courant-Friedrichs-Levy (CFL) condition hold

$$\Delta t \le \min\left\{\frac{\Delta x}{\left(\gamma_0 \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} + \|v\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])}\right)}, \frac{1}{\mathcal{Q}_T}\right\}$$
(4.3.7)

with Q_T defined in (4.2.4) then for all t > 0 and $x \in \mathbb{R}$ the piece-wise constant approximate solution ρ_{Δ} constructed through **Algorithm 4.3.1** is such that

$$0 \le \rho_{\Delta}(t, x) \le 1.$$

Proof. The proof is made by induction. Let us assume that $0 \le \rho_j^n \le 1$ for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Consider the convective step (4.3.5) of **Algorithm 4.3.1**, by CFL condition (4.3.7) we have $0 \le \rho_j^{n+1/2} \le 1$ for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ (see [44, Theorem 3.3]).

Now focus on the remaining step, involving the source term.

$$\rho_{j}^{n+1} = \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \left(\mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(1 - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right) \left(1 - R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right) - \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right) \\
\leq \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(1 - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right) - \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \\
= \left(1 - \Delta t \left(\mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} + \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \right) \right) \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2}.$$

Because of CFL condition (4.3.7), the last right-hand side is a convex combination of $\rho_j^{n+1/2}$ and one. Then $\rho_j^{n+1} \in \left[\rho_j^{n+1/2}, 1\right]$ and since $\rho_j^{n+1/2} \in [0, 1]$, we therefore conclude that $0 \leq \rho_j^{n+1} \leq 1$, for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Lemma 4.7 ($\mathbf{L}^1 - Bound$). Let $\rho_0 \in \mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R}, [0, 1])$. Let (4.2.1) and the CFL condition (4.3.7) hold. Then, the piece-wise constant approximate solution ρ_{Δ} constructed through **Algorithm 4.3.1** satisfies, for all T > 0,

$$\|\rho_{\Delta}(T,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \leq \mathcal{C}_{1}(T),$$

with

$$\mathcal{C}_{1}(t) = \|\rho_{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \|q_{\text{on}}^{\text{ramp}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])} - \min_{x \in \Omega_{\text{on}}} \|q_{\text{on}}^{\text{ramp}}(\cdot)\rho_{\Delta}(\cdot,x)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])} - \min_{x \in \Omega_{\text{off}}} \|q_{\text{off}}^{\text{ramp}}(\cdot)\rho_{\Delta}(\cdot,x)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])}.$$
(4.3.8)

Proof. For the conservative form of the scheme (4.3.5), it is satisfied

$$\left\|\rho^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} = \left\|\rho^{n}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}.$$

Now, we going to work L^1 norm for relaxation step (4.3.6). By Remark 4.4 and CFL condition (4.3.7) we have

$$\left|\rho_{j}^{n+1}\right| \leq \left|\rho_{j}^{n+1/2}\right| + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(1 - \left|\rho_{j}^{n+1/2}\right|\right) - \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \left|\rho_{j}^{n+1/2}\right|, \quad (4.3.9)$$

multiplying this inequality by Δx and summing over all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\rho^{n+1}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} &\leq \|\rho^{n+1/2}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \Delta t q_{\mathrm{on}}^{n+1/2} \Delta x \left(\sum_{j \in \Omega_{\mathrm{on}}^{k}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on},j} - \sum_{j \in \Omega_{\mathrm{on}}^{k}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on},j} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \right) \\ &\quad -\Delta t q_{\mathrm{off}}^{n+1/2} \Delta x \sum_{j \in \Omega_{\mathrm{off}}^{k}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off},j} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &\leq \|\rho^{n}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \Delta t L q_{\mathrm{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(1 - \min_{j \in \Omega_{\mathrm{on}}^{k}} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right) \\ &\quad -\Delta t L q_{\mathrm{off}}^{n+1/2} \min_{j \in \Omega_{\mathrm{off}}^{k}} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \\ &= \|\rho^{n}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \Delta t L q_{\mathrm{on}}^{n+1/2} - \Delta t \min_{j \in \Omega_{\mathrm{on}}^{k}} L q_{\mathrm{on}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \\ &\quad -\Delta t \min_{j \in \Omega_{\mathrm{off}}^{k}} L q_{\mathrm{off}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2}. \end{split}$$

Thus, by a standard iterative procedure we can deduce

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho^n\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{1}}(\mathbb{R})} &\leq \|\rho_0\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{1}}(\mathbb{R})} + \|q_{\mathrm{on}}^{\mathrm{ramp}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{1}}([0,T])} - \min_{x \in \Omega_{\mathrm{on}}} \|q_{\mathrm{on}}^{\mathrm{ramp}}(\cdot)\rho_{\Delta}(\cdot,x)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{1}}([0,T])} \\ &- \min_{x \in \Omega_{\mathrm{off}}} \|q_{\mathrm{off}}^{\mathrm{ramp}}(\cdot)\rho_{\Delta}(\cdot,x)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{1}}([0,T])} \,. \end{aligned}$$

4.3.3 BV estimates

We first prove the Lipschitz continuity of the source terms (4.3.2) in its second, third and fourth argument and (4.3.4) in its second and third argument.

Lemma 4.8. The map S_{on} defined in (4.3.2) is Lipschitz continuous in second, third and fourth argument with Lipschitz constant $\|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])}$, and the map S_{off} defined in (4.3.4) is Lipschitz continuous in second and third argument with Lipschitz constant $\|q_{\text{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])}$.

Proof. Let us start with term (4.3.2). We denote $S_{on} = S_{on}(t, x, \rho, R_{on}) - S_{on}(t, \tilde{x}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{on})$, then

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{S}_{\mathrm{on}}| &\leq |S_{\mathrm{on}}(t, x, \rho, R_{\mathrm{on}}) - S_{\mathrm{on}}(t, x, \tilde{\rho}, R_{\mathrm{on}})| \\ &+ \left|S_{\mathrm{on}}(t, x, \tilde{\rho}, R_{\mathrm{on}}) - S_{\mathrm{on}}(t, x, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}})\right| \\ &+ \left|S_{\mathrm{on}}(t, x, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}) - S_{\mathrm{on}}(t, \tilde{x}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}})\right| \\ &= \left|\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}}q_{\mathrm{on}}\left(1 - R_{\mathrm{on}}\right)(\tilde{\rho} - \rho)\right| + \left|\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}}q_{\mathrm{on}}\left(1 - \tilde{\rho}\right)\left(\tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} - R_{\mathrm{on}}\right)\right| \\ &+ \left|\left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}} - \tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\mathrm{on}}\right)q_{\mathrm{on}}\left(1 - \tilde{\rho}\right)\left(1 - \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right)\right| \\ &\leq \left\|q_{\mathrm{on}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])}\left|\tilde{\rho} - \rho\right| + \left\|q_{\mathrm{on}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])}\left|\tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} - R_{\mathrm{on}}\right| \\ &+ \left\|q_{\mathrm{on}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])}\left|\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}} - \tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\mathrm{on}}\right| \\ &\leq \left\|q_{\mathrm{on}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])}\left(\left|\tilde{\rho} - \rho\right| + \left|\tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} - R_{\mathrm{on}}\right| + \left|\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}} - \tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\mathrm{on}}\right|\right). \end{aligned}$$

Now, we prove the Lipschitz continuity of S_{off} term (4.3.4). Denoting $S_{\text{off}} = S_{\text{off}}(t, x, \rho) - S_{\text{off}}(t, \tilde{x}, q_{\text{off}}, \tilde{\rho})$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{S}_{\text{off}}| &\leq |S_{\text{off}}(t, x, \rho) - S_{\text{off}}(t, \tilde{x}, \rho,)| + |S_{\text{off}}(t, \tilde{x}, \rho) - S_{\text{off}}(t, \tilde{x}, \tilde{\rho})| \\ &= |\mathbf{1}_{\text{off}} q_{\text{off}} \rho - \tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\text{off}} q_{\text{off}} \rho| + |\tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\text{off}} q_{\text{off}} \rho - \tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\text{off}} q_{\text{off}} \tilde{\rho}| \\ &\leq ||q_{\text{off}}||_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left(\left| \mathbf{1}_{\text{off}} - \tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\text{off}} \right| + |\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \right), \end{aligned}$$

Thus, we have completed the proof.

The Lipschitz continuity of the source term proved in Lemma 4.8 is one of the key ingredients in order to prove the following total variation bound on the numerical approximation.

Proposition 4.8.1 (**BV** estimate in space). Let $\rho_0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV}) (\mathbb{R}; [0, 1])$. Let the Assumptions 4.2.1 and CFL condition (4.3.7) hold. Then, for $n = 0, \ldots, N_T - 1$ the following estimate holds

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n \right| \leq e^{T\mathcal{H}} \left(TV(\rho_0) + T\mathcal{Q}_T \right),$$

with Q_T as in (4.2.4) and \mathcal{H} as in (4.2.5).

Proof. Let us compute

$$\begin{split} \rho_{j+1}^{n+1} - \rho_j^{n+1} &= \rho_{j+1}^{n+1/2} - \rho_j^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \left[S_{\mathrm{on},j+1}^{n+1/2} - S_{\mathrm{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right] \\ &- \Delta t \left[S_{\mathrm{off},j+1}^{n+1/2} - S_{\mathrm{off},j}^{n+1/2} \right]. \end{split}$$

By the Lipschitz continuity of the source term proved in Lemma 4.8 and the property of the discrete convolution operator given in Remark 4.5, we get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n+1} \right| &\leq \left(1 + \Delta t \, \|q_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \right) \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \, \|q_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \sum_{j\in\Omega_{\mathrm{on}}^{k}} \left| \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on},j+1} - \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on},j} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \, \|q_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| R_{\mathrm{on},j+1}^{n+1/2} - R_{\mathrm{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \, \|q_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \, \|q_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \sum_{j\in\Omega_{\mathrm{off}}} \left| \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off},j+1} - \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off},j} \right| \\ &\leq \left(1 + \Delta t \left(2 \, \|q_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \|q_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \right) \right) \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \, \|q_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \sum_{j\in\Omega_{\mathrm{on}}^{k}} \left| \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off},j+1} - \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off},j} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \, \|q_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \sum_{j\in\Omega_{\mathrm{off}}} \left| \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off},j+1} - \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off},j} \right| \\ &\leq \left(1 + \Delta t \left(2 \, \|q_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \|q_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \right) \right) \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \, \|q_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \sum_{j\in\Omega_{\mathrm{off}}} \left| \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off},j+1} - \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off},j} \right| \\ &\leq \left(1 + \Delta t \left(2 \, \|q_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \|q_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \right) \right) \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \mathcal{Q}_{T}. \end{aligned}$$

Now, for convective part (4.3.5) we follow [44] and get

$$\left|\rho_{j+1}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2}\right| \leq (1 + \Delta t \omega_{\eta}(0) \mathcal{L}) \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left|\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}\right|,$$

with $\mathcal{L} = (\|v\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} + \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])})$. Substituting the inequality above in (4.3.10) we obtain

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n+1} - \rho_j^{n+1} \right| \leq \left(1 + \Delta t \left(2 \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \|q_{\text{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \right) \right)$$
$$\times \left(1 + \Delta t \omega_{\eta}(0) \mathcal{L} \right) \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| + \Delta t \mathcal{Q}_{T},$$

which, applied recursively, yields

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n \right| \le e^{T\mathcal{H}} \left(TV(\rho_0) + T\mathcal{Q}_T \right), \tag{4.3.11}$$

with $\mathcal{H} = 2 \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \|q_{\text{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \omega_{\eta}(0)\mathcal{L}$.

Proposition 4.8.2 (BV estimate in space and time). Let Assumptions 4.2.1 hold, $\rho_0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})$ (\mathbb{R} ; [0,1]). If the CFL condition (4.3.7) holds, then, for every T > 0 the following discrete space and time total variation estimate is satisfied:

$$TV(\rho_{\Delta}; [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}) \leq T\mathcal{C}_{xt}(T),$$

with

$$\mathcal{C}_{xt}(T) = e^{T\mathcal{H}} \left((1+2\mathcal{L}) \left(TV(\rho_0) + T\mathcal{Q}_T \right) \right) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{Q}_T \mathcal{C}_1(T) + \|q_{\text{on}}^{\text{ramp}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \,. \tag{4.3.12}$$

Proof.

$$TV(\rho_{\Delta}; [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}) = \sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \Delta t \left| \rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n \right| + (T - N_T \Delta t) \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{N_T} - \rho_j^{N_T} \right| \\ + \sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \Delta x \left| \rho_j^{n+1} - \rho_j^n \right|.$$

By \mathbf{BV} estimate in space (4.3.11), we have

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \Delta t \left| \rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n \right| + (T - N_T \Delta t) \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{N_T} - \rho_j^{N_T} \right|$$

$$\leq T e^{T\mathcal{H}} \left(TV(\rho_0) + T\mathcal{Q}_T \right).$$
(4.3.13)

On the other hand, observe that

$$\left|\rho_{j}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n}\right| \le \left|\rho_{j}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2}\right| + \left|\rho_{j}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{j}^{n}\right|.$$
(4.3.14)

We then estimate separately each term on the right hand side of the inequality (4.3.14). By the definition of the relaxation step (4.3.6), for the first term on right hand side of (4.3.14) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| &\leq \Delta t \left| S_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} - S_{\text{off},j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &\leq \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(1 - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right) \left(1 - R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right) + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq \Delta t q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(\mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} + \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} \left| \rho_j^{n+1/2} \right| \right) \\ + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \left| \rho_j^{n+1/2} \right|, \qquad (4.3.15)$$

then multiplying by Δx and summing over all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| &\leq \Delta t q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(\Delta x \sum_{j \in \Omega_{\text{on}}^{k}} \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} + \Delta x \sum_{j \in \Omega_{\text{on}}^{k}} \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \right) \\ &+ \Delta t q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \Delta x \sum_{j \in \Omega_{\text{off}}^{k}} \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &\leq \Delta t q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(L + \left\| \rho^{n+1/2} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \right) \\ &+ \Delta t q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \left\| \rho^{n+1/2} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \\ &= \Delta t q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(L + \left\| \rho^{n} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \right) \\ &+ \Delta t \left\| q_{\text{off}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left\| \rho^{n} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \Delta t \mathcal{Q}_{T} \| \rho^{n} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \Delta t \| q_{\text{on}}^{\text{ramp}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])}. \end{aligned}$$
(4.3.16)

Now we analyze the second term of the right hand side (4.3.14). Since the numerical flux defined in (4.3.5) is Lipschitz continuous in both arguments with Lipschitz constant \mathcal{L}_2 , defined by (4.2.6), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| &= \lambda \left| F_{j+1/2}(\rho_{j}^{n}, R_{j+1/2}^{n}) - F_{j-1/2}(\rho_{j-1}^{n}, R_{j-1/2}^{n}) \right| \\ &\leq \lambda \mathcal{L} \left(\left| \rho_{j}^{n} - \rho_{j-1}^{n} \right| + \left| R_{j+1/2}^{n} - R_{j-1/2}^{n} \right| \right), \end{aligned}$$

multiplying by Δx , summing over all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and by Remark 4.5 we get

$$\Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_j^{n+1/2} - \rho_j^n \right| \leq 2\mathcal{L} \Delta t \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n \right|$$
(4.3.17)

Collecting together (4.3.16) and (4.3.17), and by using Lemma 4.7 and Proposition 4.8.1 we have,

$$\Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_j^{n+1} - \rho_j^n \right| \leq \frac{1}{2} \Delta t \mathcal{Q}_T \| \rho^n \|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} \\ + \Delta t \| q_{\text{on}}^{\text{ramp}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^\infty([0,T])} + 2\mathcal{L}\Delta t \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n \right| \\ \leq \frac{1}{2} \Delta t \mathcal{Q}_T \mathcal{C}_1(T) + \Delta t \| q_{\text{on}}^{\text{ramp}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^\infty([0,T])} \\ + 2\mathcal{L}\Delta t e^{T\mathcal{H}} \left(TV(\rho_0) + T\mathcal{Q}_T \right).$$

$$(4.3.18)$$

Then, collecting together (4.3.13) and (4.3.18) we get

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \Delta t \left| \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| + (T - N_{T}\Delta t) \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^{N_{T}} - \rho_{j}^{N_{T}} \right| \\ + \sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \Delta x \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n} \right| \\ \leq T e^{T\mathcal{H}} \left((1 + 2\mathcal{L}) \left(TV(\rho_{0}) + T\mathcal{Q}_{T} \right) \right) + \frac{1}{2} T \mathcal{Q}_{T} \mathcal{C}_{1}(T) + T \left\| q_{\text{on}}^{\text{ramp}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])}.$$

4.3.4 **Discrete Entropy Inequality**

In order to define an entropy inequality we define, for $\kappa \in [0, 1]$, and the numerical fluxes

$$G_{j+1/2}(u) = uv(R_{j+1/2}), \quad \mathcal{F}_{j+1/2}^{\kappa}(u) = G_{j+1/2}(u \vee \kappa) - G_{j+1/2}(u \wedge \kappa),$$

with $a \lor b = \max\{a, b\}$, and $a \land b = \min\{a, b\}$.

Lemma 4.9. Let $\rho_0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})$ (\mathbb{R} ; [0,1]). Let the Assumptions 4.2.1 and CFL condition (4.3.7) hold. Then, the approximate solution ρ_{Δ} constructed by Algorithm 4.3.1 satisfies the following discrete entropy inequality: for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, for $n = 0, ..., N_T - 1$ and for any $\kappa \in [0, 1]$,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1} - \kappa \right| &- \left| \rho_{j}^{n} - \kappa \right| + \lambda \left(\mathcal{F}_{j+1/2}^{k} \left(\rho_{j}^{n} \right) - \mathcal{F}_{j+1/2}^{k} \left(\rho_{j-1}^{n} \right) \right) \\ &- \Delta t \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - \kappa \right) \left(S_{\operatorname{on}} \left(t^{n+1/2}, x_{j}, \rho_{j}^{n+1/2}, R_{\operatorname{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right) - S_{\operatorname{off}} \left(t^{n+1/2}, x_{j}, \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right) \right) \\ &+ \lambda \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - \kappa \right) \kappa \left(v \left(R_{j+1/2}^{n} \right) - v \left(R_{j-1/2}^{n} \right) \right) \leq 0. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. We set

$$\mathcal{G}_{j}(u,w) = w - \lambda \left(G_{j+1/2}(w) - G_{j-1/2}(u) \right) = w - \lambda \left(wv(R_{j+1/2}) - uv(R_{j-1/2}) \right).$$

Clearly $\rho_j^{n+1/2} = \mathcal{G}_j(\rho_{j-1}^n, \rho_j^n)$. The map \mathcal{G}_j is a monotone non-decreasing function with respect to each variable under the CFL condition (4.3.7) since we have

$$\frac{\partial \mathfrak{G}}{\partial w} = 1 - \lambda v(R_{j+1/2}) \ge 0, \qquad \frac{\partial \mathfrak{G}}{\partial u} = \lambda v(R_{j-1/2}).$$

Moreover, we have the following identity

$$\mathfrak{G}_{j}(\rho_{j-1}^{n}\vee\kappa,\rho_{j}^{n}\vee\kappa)-\mathfrak{G}_{j}(\rho_{j-1}^{n}\wedge\kappa,\rho_{j}^{n}\wedge\kappa)=\left|\rho_{j}^{n}-\kappa\right|-\lambda\left(\mathfrak{F}_{j+1/2}^{k}\left(\rho_{j}^{n}\right)-\mathfrak{F}_{j-1/2}^{k}\left(\rho_{j-1}^{n}\right)\right).$$

Then, by monotonicity, the definition of scheme (4.3.5) and by using $|a + b| \ge |a| + \operatorname{sgn}(a)b$, we get

$$\begin{split} & \mathcal{G}_{j}(\rho_{j-1}^{n} \lor \kappa, \rho_{j}^{n} \lor \kappa) - \mathcal{G}_{j}(\rho_{j-1}^{n} \land \kappa, \rho_{j}^{n} \land \kappa) \\ & \geq \ \mathcal{G}_{j}(\rho_{j-1}^{n}, \rho_{j}^{n}) \lor \mathcal{G}_{j}(\kappa, \kappa) - \mathcal{G}_{j}(\rho_{j-1}^{n}, \rho_{j}^{n}) \land \mathcal{G}_{j}(\kappa, \kappa) \\ & = \ \left| \mathcal{G}_{j}(\rho_{j-1}^{n}, \rho_{j}^{n}) - \mathcal{G}_{j}(\kappa, \kappa) \right| \\ & = \ \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} - \mathcal{G}_{j}(\kappa, \kappa) \right| \\ & = \ \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1} - \kappa + \lambda \kappa \left(v(R_{j+1/2}^{n}) - v(R_{j-1/2}^{n}) \right) \right. \\ & \left. - \Delta t \left(S_{\text{on}} \left(t^{n+1/2}, x_{j}, \rho_{j}^{n+1/2}, R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right) - S_{\text{off}} \left(t^{n+1/2}, x_{j}, \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right) \right) \right| \\ & \geq \ \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1} - \kappa \right| + \lambda \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - \kappa \right) \kappa \left(v(R_{j+1/2}^{n}) - v(R_{j-1/2}^{n}) \right) \\ & - \Delta t \operatorname{sgn} \left(\rho_{j}^{n+1} - \kappa \right) \left(S_{\text{on}} \left(t^{n+1/2}, x_{j}, \rho_{j}^{n+1/2}, R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right) - S_{\text{off}} \left(t^{n+1/2}, x_{j}, \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right) \right) . \\ & \Box \end{split}$$

The following Theorem states the \mathbf{L}^1 -Lipschitz continuous dependence of solution to (4.2.1) on both the initial datum and the q_{on} and q_{off} functions.

Theorem 4.10 (Uniqueness). Let ρ and $\tilde{\rho}$ be two solutions to problem (4.2.1) in the sense of Definition 4.2, with initial data ρ_0 , $\tilde{\rho}_0 \in \mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV}(\mathbb{R}; [0, 1])$, with on-ramp rate q_{on} , \tilde{q}_{on} and off-ramp rate q_{off} , \tilde{q}_{off} , respectively. Assume $v \in \mathbf{C}^2([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^+)$. Then, for a.e. $t \in [0, T]$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho(t) - \tilde{\rho}(t)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \\ &\leq \mathrm{e}^{\mathcal{C}T} \left(\|\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + L \left(\|q_{\mathrm{on}} - \tilde{q}_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])} + \|q_{\mathrm{off}} - \tilde{q}_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,T])} \right) \right). \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The proof follows closely Theorem 5.6 of [43].

By using Kružkov's doubling of variables technique we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho(T,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(T,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} &\leq \|\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\mathrm{on}}} \left|\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}\right| \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\mathrm{off}}} \left|\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{off}}\right| \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathcal{V}| \left|\partial_{x}\rho(t,x)\right| \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathcal{V}_{x}| \left|\rho(t,x)\right| \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}} &= S_{\text{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\text{on}}, \rho, R_{\text{on}}\right) - S_{\text{on}}\left(t, x, \tilde{q}_{\text{on}}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\text{on}}\right) \\ \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{off}} &= S_{\text{off}}\left(t, x, q_{\text{on}}, \rho\right) - S_{\text{off}}\left(t, x, \tilde{q}_{\text{on}}, \tilde{\rho}\right), \\ \mathcal{V} &= v(R) - v(P), \end{split}$$

4.3. Existence of an entropy solution

$$\mathcal{V}_x = \partial_x v(R) - \partial_x v(P).$$

Let us now estimate all the terms appearing in the right hand side of the above inequality. We start bounding \tilde{S}_{on} and \tilde{S}_{off} terms:

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}} \right| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t &= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| S_{\text{on}} \left(t, x, q_{\text{on}}, \rho, R_{\text{on}} \right) - S_{\text{on}} \left(t, x, \tilde{q}_{\text{on}}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\text{on}} \right) \right| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left(\left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^{1} \right| + \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^{2} \right| + \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^{3} \right| \right) \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}tt, \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}^{1} &= S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{on}}, \rho, R_{\mathrm{on}}\right) - S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{on}}, \rho, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right), \\ \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}^{2} &= S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{on}}, \rho, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right) - S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{on}}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right), \\ \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}^{3} &= S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{on}}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right) - S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, \tilde{q}_{\mathrm{on}}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right). \end{split}$$

First we are going to bound $\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}^1$ term ,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}^{1} \right| &= \left| \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}} q_{\mathrm{on}} \left(1 - \rho \right) \left(\left(1 - R_{\mathrm{on}} \right) - \left(1 - \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} \right) \right) \right| \\ &\leq \left\| q_{\mathrm{on}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} - R_{\mathrm{on}} \right|, \end{aligned}$$

thus

$$\begin{aligned} \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\rm on}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\rm on}^1 \right| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t &\leq \|q_{\rm on}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\rm on}} \left| \tilde{R}_{\rm on} - R_{\rm on} \right| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \|q_{\rm on}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \left\| \tilde{R}_{\rm on} - R_{\rm on} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\Omega_{\rm on})} \mathrm{d}t. \end{aligned}$$

Observe that

$$\left\| R_{\rm on} - \tilde{R}_{\rm on} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\Omega_{\rm on})} \leq \left\| \rho(t, \cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\Omega_{\rm on})},$$

since $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega_{\eta}(x) dx = 1$. Then,

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^1 \right| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t &\leq \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\Omega_{\text{on}})} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

Now we are going to bound $\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{on}^2$.

$$\left|\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}^{2}\right| = \left|\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}}q_{\mathrm{on}}\left(1-\tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right)\left(1-\rho\right)\left(\tilde{\rho}-\rho\right)\right|$$

100

$$\leq \|q_{\rm on}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\right|.$$

Integrating in time and space we have

$$\begin{aligned} \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^2 \right| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t &\leq \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\Omega_{\text{on}})} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t. \end{aligned}$$

Bounding $\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^3$,

$$\begin{aligned} \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^{3} \middle| &= \left| \mathbf{1}_{\text{on}} \left(1 - \tilde{\rho} \right) \left(1 - \tilde{R}_{\text{on}} \right) \left(q_{\text{on}} - \tilde{q}_{\text{on}} \right) \right| \\ &\leq |q_{\text{on}} - \tilde{q}_{\text{on}}|, \end{aligned}$$

 ${\rm thus}$

$$\int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\rm on}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\rm on}^3 \right| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \leq \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\rm on}} |q_{\rm on} - \tilde{q}_{\rm on}| \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t$$
$$\leq L \| q_{\rm on} - \tilde{q}_{\rm on} \|_{\mathbf{L}^1([0,T])}.$$

Therefore, we get the following estimate

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}} \right| \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \\
\leq 2 \| q_{\text{on}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_{0}^{T} \| \rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot) \|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t + L \, \| q_{\text{on}} - \tilde{q}_{\text{on}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,T])} \, . \tag{4.3.19}$$

Regarding $\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{off}}$ term, we proceed in a similar way like above and we get

$$egin{array}{rcl} \left| egin{array}{cc} \mathcal{ ilde{S}}_{\mathrm{off}}
ight| &= & \left| \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off}} q_{\mathrm{off}}
ho - \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{off}} ilde{q}_{\mathrm{off}} ilde{
ho}
ight| \ &\leq & \left| egin{array}{cc} \mathcal{ ilde{S}}_{\mathrm{off}}^1
ight| + \left| egin{array}{cc} \mathcal{ ilde{S}}_{\mathrm{off}}^2
ight|, \end{array}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{off}}^{1} &= S_{\mathrm{off}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{off}}, \rho\right) - S_{\mathrm{off}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{off}}, \tilde{\rho}\right), \\ \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{off}}^{2} &= S_{\mathrm{off}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{off}}, \tilde{\rho}\right) - S_{\mathrm{off}}\left(t, x, \tilde{q}_{\mathrm{off}}, \tilde{\rho}\right). \end{split}$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\text{off}}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{off}}^1 \right| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t &\leq \| q_{\text{off}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \| \rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot) \|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\Omega_{\text{off}})} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \| q_{\text{off}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \| \rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot) \|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t, \end{split}$$

and

$$\int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\text{off}}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{off}}^2 \right| \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \le L \, \|q_{\text{off}} - \tilde{q}_{\text{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^1([0,T])} \, .$$

Thus, we get

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{off}}} |\mathcal{S}_{\text{off}}| \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t
\leq \|q_{\text{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_{0}^{T} \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t + L \, \|q_{\text{off}} - \tilde{q}_{\text{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,T])} \,. \quad (4.3.20)$$

Next, focus on \mathcal{V} , by using the following estimate

$$|\mathcal{V}| \le \omega_{\eta}(0) \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})},$$

we obtain

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathcal{V}| \left| \partial_x \rho(t, x) \right| dx dt$$

$$\leq \omega_\eta(0) \left\| v' \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^\infty([0,1])} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left\| \rho(t, \cdot) \right\|_{\mathbf{TV}(\mathbb{R})} \int_0^T \left\| \rho(t, \cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} dt. (4.3.21)$$

Next, we pass to \mathcal{V}_x . Following [43] we compute

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{V}_{x}| &\leq \left(2 \left(\omega_{\eta}(0) \right)^{2} \|v''\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} + \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} \left\| \omega_{\eta}' \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,\eta])} \right) \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \\ &+ \omega_{\eta}(0) \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} \left(|\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \left(t, x + \eta \right) + |\rho - \tilde{\rho}| \left(t, x \right) \right), \end{aligned}$$

thus

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathcal{V}_x| \left| \rho(t, x) \right| \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \le \mathcal{W} \int_0^T \|\rho(t, \cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t, \cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t, \quad (4.3.22)$$

where

$$\mathcal{W} = \left(2 \left(\omega_{\eta}(0) \right)^{2} \| v'' \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} + \| v' \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} \| \omega_{\eta}' \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,\eta])} \right) \mathcal{C}_{1}(t)$$

+2\omega_{\eta}(0) \| v' \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])}.

Collecting together (4.3.19), (4.3.20), (4.3.21) and (4.3.22) we get

$$\|\rho(T,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(T,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \leq \|\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}$$

102

103

$$+L\left(\|q_{\text{on}} - \tilde{q}_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])} + \|q_{\text{off}} - \tilde{q}_{\text{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])}\right) \\ + \mathcal{C}\int_{0}^{T} \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \,\mathrm{d}t, \qquad (4.3.23)$$

where

$$\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{H} + \omega_{\eta}(0) \left\| v' \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left\| \rho(t, \cdot) \right\|_{\mathbf{TV}(\mathbb{R})} + \mathcal{W}.$$

$$(4.3.24)$$

An application of Gronwall Lemma to (4.3.23) completes the proof.

4.3.5 Proof of Theorem 4.3

The convergence of the approximate solutions constructed by **Algorithm 4.3.1** towards the unique weak entropy solution can be proven by applying Helly's compactness theorem. The latter can be applied due to Lemma 4.6 and Proposition 4.8.2 and states that there exists a sub-sequence of approximate solution ρ_{Δ} that converges in \mathbf{L}^1 to a function $\rho \in \mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}; [0,1])$. Following a Lax-Wendroff type argument, we can show that the limit function ρ is a weak entropy solution of (4.2.1) in the sense of Definition 4.2. Together with the uniqueness result in Theorem 4.10. this concludes the proof of Theorem 4.3.

4.3.6 Existence for Model 2

In this section we consider the problem (4.2.1) with S_{on} (4.1.6). In Algorithm 4.3.1 we substitute the term S_{on} in the reaction step (4.3.6) by (4.3.3), thus now the term (4.3.6) is given by

$$\rho_{j}^{n+1} = \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} +$$

$$\Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(1 - \max\left\{ \rho_{j}^{n+1/2}, R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right\} \right) - \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2}.$$
(4.3.25)

Lemma 4.11 (Maximum Principle). Let $\rho_0 \in \mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}; [0, 1])$. Let the Assumptions 4.2.1 and CFL condition (4.3.7) hold, then for all t > 0 and $x \in \mathbb{R}$ the piece-wise constant approximate solution ρ_{Δ} constructed through **Algorithm 4.3.1** is such that

$$0 \le \rho_{\Delta}(t, x) \le 1.$$

Proof. The proof is made by induction. We assume that $0 \le \rho_j^n \le 1$ for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Consider the step (4.3.5) of **Algorithm 4.3.1**, by CFL condition (4.3.7) we have $0 \le \rho_j^{n+1/2} \le 1$ for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Now focus on the remaining step, involving the source term.

$$\rho_j^{n+1} = \rho_j^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(1 - \max\left\{ \rho_j^{n+1/2}, R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right\} \right) - \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \rho_j^{n+1/2}$$

$$= \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(1 - \frac{\rho_{j}^{n+1/2} + R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} + \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} - R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right| \right) \\ -\Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \\ = \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} - \frac{\Delta t}{2} \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} - \frac{\Delta t}{2} \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \\ - \frac{\Delta t}{2} \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} - R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right| - \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \\ \leq \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} - \frac{\Delta t}{2} \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} - \frac{\Delta t}{2} \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \\ + \frac{\Delta t}{2} \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left| \overline{R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2}} \right| - \frac{\Delta t}{2} \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} - \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \\ = \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} - \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} - \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \\ = \left(1 - \Delta t \left(\mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} + \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \right) \right) \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} ,$$

now we can proceed as in Lemma 4.6.

Lemma 4.12. Let $\rho_0 \in \mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R}, [0, 1])$. Let the Assumptions (4.2.1) and the CFL condition (4.3.7) hold. Then, the piece-wise constant approximate solution ρ_{Δ} constructed through **Algorithm 4.3.1** satisfies,

$$\|\rho_{\Delta}(t)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \leq \mathcal{C}_{1}(t),$$

where C_1 like in (4.3.8).

Proof. By (4.3.26) and CFL condition (4.3.7) we have

$$\left|\rho_{j}^{n+1}\right| \leq \left|\rho_{j}^{n+1/2}\right| + \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}}^{n+1/2} \left(1 - \left|\rho_{j}^{n+1/2}\right|\right) - \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}}^{n+1/2} \left|\rho_{j}^{n+1/2}\right|,$$

this cases reduce to (4.3.9) and we can proceed as in Lemma 4.7.

4.3.7 BV estimates

Lemma 4.13. The map S_{on} given in (4.3.25) is Lipschitz continuous in second, third and fourth argument with Lipschitz constant $||q_{\text{on}}||_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])}$.

Proof.

$$\left|S_{\rm on}(t,x,\rho,R_{\rm on}) - S_{\rm on}(t,\tilde{x},\tilde{\rho},\tilde{R}_{\rm on})\right| \leq S_1 + S_2 + S_3,$$

where

$$S_1 = |S_{\text{on}}(t, x, \rho, R_{\text{on}}) - S_{\text{on}}(t, x, \tilde{\rho}, R_{\text{on}})|$$

$$S_2 = |S_{\text{on}}(t, x, \tilde{\rho}, R_{\text{on}}) - S_{\text{on}}(t, x, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\text{on}})|$$

104

$$S_3 = \left| S_{\text{on}}(t, x, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\text{on}}) - S_{\text{on}}(t, \tilde{x}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\text{on}}) \right|.$$

by the definition of S_{on} term and by using the estimation $|\max(a_1, b) - \max(a_2, b)| \le |a_1 - a_2|$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{S}_{1} &\leq \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| 1 - \max\{\rho, R_{\text{on}}\} - (1 - \max\{\tilde{\rho}, R_{\text{on}}\}) \right| \\ &= \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| \max\{\tilde{\rho}, R_{\text{on}}\} - \max\{\rho, R_{\text{on}}\} \right| \\ &\leq \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left|\tilde{\rho} - \rho\right|. \end{aligned}$$

Pass now to S_2 :

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{S}_2 &\leq & \|q_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| \max\left\{ \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} \right\} - \max\left\{ \tilde{\rho}, R_{\mathrm{on}} \right\} \right| \\ &\leq & \|q_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| R_{\mathrm{on}} - \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Next, we analyze the \mathcal{S}_3 term:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{S}_{3} &= \left| \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}} q_{\mathrm{on}} \left(1 - \max\left\{ \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} \right\} \right) - \tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\mathrm{on}} q_{\mathrm{on}} \left(1 - \max\left\{ \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} \right\} \right) \right| \\ &\leq \left\| q_{\mathrm{on}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}} - \tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\mathrm{on}} \right| \left| 1 - \max\left\{ \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} \right\} \right| \\ &\leq \left\| q_{\mathrm{on}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}} - \tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{\mathrm{on}} \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Proposition 4.13.1 (**BV** estimate in space). Let $\rho_0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})$ (\mathbb{R} ; [0,1]). Let the Assumptions 4.2.1 and CFL condition (4.3.7) hold. Then, for $n = 0, \ldots, N_T - 1$ the following estimate holds

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n \right| \le e^{T\mathcal{H}} \left(TV(\rho^0) + T\mathcal{Q}_T \right),$$

with \mathcal{H} like in (4.2.5).

Proof. Due to the results obtained in Lemma 4.13, the proof is analogous to that one of Proposition 4.8.1. $\hfill \Box$

Proposition 4.13.2 (**BV** estimate in space and time). Let the Assumptions 4.2.1 hold, $\rho_0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})$ (\mathbb{R} ; [0,1]). If the CFL condition (4.3.7) holds, then, for every T > 0 the following discrete space and time total variation estimate is satisfied:

$$TV(\rho_{\Delta}; [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}) \leq T\mathcal{C}_{xt}(T),$$

with $C_{xt}(T)$ defined in (4.3.12).

Proof. For this proof we need to compute the following estimate,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| &\leq \Delta t \left| S_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} - S_{\text{off},j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &= \Delta t \left| \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} q_{\text{on}} \left(1 - \max\left\{ \rho_{j}^{n+1/2}, R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right\} \right) - \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} q_{\text{off}} \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &\leq \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} \left\| q_{\text{on}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| 1 - \max\left\{ \rho_{j}^{n+1/2}, R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right\} \right) \\ &+ \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} \left\| q_{\text{off}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \end{aligned}$$

Here we need to consider two cases, which are described below:

Case 1: $\max\left\{\rho_j^{n+1/2}, R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2}\right\} = \rho_j^{n+1/2}$. In this case we get the following estimate

$$\begin{split} \rho_{j}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \Big| &\leq \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} \left\| q_{\text{on}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| 1 - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} \left\| q_{\text{off}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &\leq \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} \left\| q_{\text{on}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left(1 + \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \right) \\ &+ \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} \left\| q_{\text{off}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &\leq \Delta t \| q_{\text{on}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left(\mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} + \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \right) \\ &+ \Delta t \left\| q_{\text{off}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| . \end{split}$$

Case 2: $\max\left\{\rho_j^{n+1/2}, R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2}\right\} = R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2}$. Observe that since $R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \le 1$, this implies that $0 \le \left|1 - R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2}\right| \le 1 \le 1 + \left|\rho_j^{n+1/2}\right|$, from what we get the following estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1} - \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| &\leq \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} \left\| q_{\text{on}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| 1 - R_{\text{on},j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &+ \Delta t \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} \left\| q_{\text{off}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \\ &\leq \Delta t \| q_{\text{on}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left(\mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} + \mathbf{1}_{\text{on},j} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right| \right) \\ &+ \Delta t \left\| q_{\text{off}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \mathbf{1}_{\text{off},j} \left| \rho_{j}^{n+1/2} \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Note that both cases reduces to (4.3.15) and therefore the rest of the proof is analogous to Proposition 4.8.2.

4.4 Numerical experiments

In this section we present some numerical examples to describe the effects that the ramps have on a road. We solve Model 1 and Model 2 by means **Algorithm 4.3.1** with

the term S_{on} computed as (4.3.2) and (4.3.3), respectively. In all numerical examples below, we consider one on-ramp and one off-ramp, both ramps with length L = 0.1, the on-ramp is located from x = 1.0 until x = 1.1, the off-ramp is located from x = 3 until x = 3.1 and we consider the following kernel functions

$$\begin{split} \omega_{\eta}(x) &:= 2 \frac{\eta - x}{\eta^2} \chi_{[0,\eta]}(x), \\ \omega_{\eta,\delta}(x) &:= \frac{1}{\eta^6} \frac{16}{5\pi} \left(\eta^2 - (x - \delta)^2 \right)^{5/2} \chi_{[-\eta + \delta, \eta + \delta]}(x), \end{split}$$

for convective and reactive terms respectively, with $\eta \in [0, 1]$ and $\delta \in [-\eta, \eta]$.

4.4.1 Example 7. Dynamic of Model 1 vs. Model 2

In this example we show numerically the behavior of the density of vehicles in a main road with the presence of one on-ramp and one off-ramp. We solve (4.2.1) numerically in the interval [-1,9] in simulated times T = 0.5, T = 2, T = 5, T = 7. We consider $\Delta x = 1/1000$, $\eta = 0.05$, $\delta = -0.01$, a constant initial condition $\rho_0(x) = 0.3$, and the rate of the on- and off-ramp are given by $q_{\rm on}(t) = 1.2$, $q_{\rm off}(t) = 0.8$, respectively.

In Fig.4.4.1 we can see that when vehicles enter the ramp, the density of vehicles on the main road increases and a shock wave with negative speed is formed, after that, a rarefaction wave appears and when some vehicles leave the main road through off-ramp a shock wave with positive speed is formed. In particular we can observe a difference between the maximum density that is reached in each model, which may be due to the presence of the term $1 - \rho$ in the Model 1.

4.4.2 Example 8. Limit $\eta \to 0$ in Model 2

In this example we take a look at the limit case $\eta \to 0$ and investigate the convergence of the Model 2 to the solution of the local problem (4.1.1)-(4.1.3). In particular, we consider the initial condition $\rho_0(x) = 0.3$ for $x \in [0, 1]$, $q_{on}(t) = 1.2$, $q_{off}(t) = 0.8$ at T = 5 with fixed $\Delta x = 1/1000$ and $\eta \in \{0.1, 0.05, 0.01, 0.004\}$, and $\delta = 0$. To evaluate the convergence, we compute the \mathbf{L}^1 distance between the approximate solution obtained for the proposed upwind-type scheme by means **Algorithm 4.3.1** with a given η and the result of a classical Godunov scheme for the corresponding local problem. In Table 4.4.1, we can observe that the \mathbf{L}^1 distance goes to zero when $\eta \to 0$. The results are illustrated in Fig.4.4.2.

η	0.1	0.05	0.01	0.004		
$\mathbf{L^{1}}$ distance	2.8e-1	1.6e-1	3.6e-2	1.1e-2		

Table 4.	4.1:]	Exam	ple 8	$B. L^1$	dis	tance	bety	weer	n the	app	roxim	late	solu	tion	ls t	o the
non-loca	l prol	olem	and	the lo	ocal	probl	em f	for o	differe	nt v	values	of	η at	<i>T</i> =	= 5	with
$\Delta x = 1/$	1000.															



Figure 4.4.1: Example 7. Numerical approximations of the problem (4.2.1). Dynamic of Model 1 vs. Model 2 at (a)T = 0.5, (b)T = 2, (c)T = 5, (d)T = 7.



Figure 4.4.2: Example 8. Numerical approximations of the problem (4.2.1) at T = 5. Comparison of local and non-local versions of the model (4.2.1) with $\delta = 0$ and different values for η .
4.4.3 Example 9. Maximum principle

In this example we verify that the **Algorithm 4.3.1** with the terms $S_{\rm on}$ (4.3.2) and (4.3.3) satisfy the maximum principle, i.e., we verify numerically that Lemmas 4.6 and 4.11 respectively, are fulfilled. On the other hand, we also verify that the **Algorithm 4.3.1** with a discretization of the term $S_{\rm on}$ (4.1.4), which we called Model 0, does not satisfy a maximum principle. For this purpose we consider the initial condition given by

$$\rho_0(x) = \begin{cases} 0.1 & \text{if } x \le 1.1 \\ 1.0 & \text{if } x > 1.1, \end{cases}$$

 $q_{\rm on}(t) = 1$, $q_{\rm off}(t) = 0.2$ at T = 0.3, with $\Delta x = 1/100$, $\eta = 0.05$, and $\delta = -0.01$. We can see in Fig.4.4.3 (a) that the Model 0 does not satisfy a maximum principle unlike Model 1 and Model 2. The Fig 4.4.3 (b) is a zoom of (a) in which we can appreciate in a better form that Model 0 does not satisfy a maximum principle.



Figure 4.4.3: Example 9. Numerical approximation at time T = 0.3. (a) Model 1, Model 2 satisfying a maximum principle and Model 0 not satisfying a maximum principle. (b) Zoom of a part of (a).

4.4.4 Example 10. Free main road

In this example we consider a free main road, i.e, we consider a initial condition $\rho_0 = 0$, boundary conditions $\rho_0(t) = 0.4$ for all t > 0 and absorbing conditions at x = 5. We also consider the rate of the on-ramp $q_{\rm on}(t) = \frac{1}{2}(\sin(\pi t) + 1)$ and the rate of the off-ramp $q_{\rm off}(t) = 0.2$. We solve (4.2.1) numerically in the interval [-1, 5] in different times, namely T = 1, T = 2, T = 5, T = 7 and consider $\Delta x = 1/1000$, $\eta = 0.1$, $\delta = -0.02$. In Fig.4.4.4 we can see the dynamic of the model 4.2.1 approximated by means of Model 1 and Model 2.



Figure 4.4.4: Example 10. Dynamic of the model (4.2.1). Behavior of the numerical solution computed with **Algorithm 4.3.1** by means of Model 1 and Model 2 at time (a)T = 1, (b)T = 2, (c)T = 5, (d)T = 7.

4.5 Conclusion of Chapter 4

In this chapter we introduced a nonlocal balance law to model vehicular traffic flow including on- and off-ramps. We presented three different models called Model 0, Model 1 and Model 2 and we proved existence and uniqueness of solutions for Model 1 and Model 2. We approximated the problem through a upwind-type numerical scheme, providing a Maximum principle, \mathbf{L}^1 and \mathbf{BV} estimates for approximate solutions. Numerical simulations illustrate the dynamics of the studied models and show that Model 0 does not satisfy a maximum principle. A limit model as the kernel support tends to zero is numerically investigated.

Chapter 5

Stability estimates for nonlocal balance laws arising in traffic modelling

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 Scope

In traffic flow modeling, nonlocal conservation laws are intended to describe the behaviour of drivers that adapt their velocity with respect to what happens in front of them, see [14, 21, 26, 43, 44]; this type of situation, the classical LWR (Lighthill-Whitham [66] and Richards [72]) is not able to model. In the same way, in order to extend the LWR model to more real situations, in [23] is introduced a nonlocal balance law which is intended to model vehicular traffic flow on a main road with on- and off-ramps and is given by

$$\rho_t + (\rho v(\rho * \omega_\eta))_x = S_{\text{on}}(\cdot, \cdot, \rho, \rho * \omega_{\eta,\delta}) - S_{\text{off}}(\cdot, \cdot, \rho), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}$$
(5.1.1)

where S_{on} and S_{off} describe traffic flow entering and exiting through an on- and off-ramp, respectively, and the convolution term in S_{on} is defined as follows,

$$(\rho * \omega_{\eta,\delta})(t,x) = \int_{x-\eta+\delta}^{x+\eta+\delta} \rho(t,y)\omega_{\eta,\delta}(y-x)\mathrm{d}y,$$

with $\eta \in [0, 1]$ and $\delta \in [-\eta, \eta]$, here the parameter η represents the radius of the support of the kernel function $\omega_{\eta,\delta}$, while δ is the point at which the maximum is attained. This choice of the kernel models the fact that drivers on the on-ramp can see what happens on the backward and forward on the main road.

It is well known that on-ramp merging has a great impact on traffic efficiency, if one concentrates on highway networks the reduction of the capacity is often due to on- and off-ramps, for this reason in this chapter we are interested in to study the dependence of solutions to (5.1.1) on the convolution kernel given in the source term $S_{\rm on}$. The strategies that we employ are inspired by the results obtained in [23, 28]. Particularly, we adopt the results about existence and uniqueness to (5.1.1) presented in [23] and we propose to study the dependence of solution to (5.1.1) varying the kernel function on the source term.

5.1.2 Outline of this chapter.

This chapter is organized as follows: In Section 4.2 we recall the mathematical model in which we will focus our study as well as the definitions of weak and entropy weak solution. In section 5.3 we present the main result of this chapter, which deals with \mathbf{L}^1 -Lipschitz continuous dependence of solutions to (5.1.1) on to the initial datum, the onramp rate, the off-ramp rate and the kernel function in source term. Finally, in Section 5.4 we present a numerical example in order to illustrate the behaviour of solutions to model when the kernel function in source term vary.

5.2 Mathematical model

We will consider the equation (5.1.1) with terms S_{on} and S_{off} defined as

$$S_{\rm on}(t,x,\rho,\rho*\omega_{\eta,\delta}) = \mathbf{1}_{\rm on}(x)q_{\rm on}(t)\left(1-\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\rm max}}\right)\left(1-\frac{\rho*\omega_{\eta,\delta}}{\rho_{\rm max}}\right), \quad (5.2.1)$$

$$S_{\text{off}}(t, x, \rho) = \mathbf{1}_{\text{off}}(x)q_{\text{off}}(t)\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\text{max}}},$$
(5.2.2)

with $\rho_{\text{max}} = 1$ for the sake of simplicity, and we also endow to nonlocal traffic reaction model (5.1.1) with a initial condition, as follows,

$$\rho(x,0) = \rho_0(x) \in \left(\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV}\right) (\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}]).$$
(5.2.3)

In order to get our main goal, let us assume the following assumptions on the parameters of model (5.1.1).

Assumptions 5.2.1. We assume

(i) $q_{\text{on}}^{\text{ramp}} \in \mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{R}^+), q_{\text{off}}^{\text{ramp}} \in \mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{R}^+).$

(*ii*)
$$v \in \mathbf{C}^2([0, \rho_{\max}]; \mathbb{R}^+), v'(\rho) \le 0, \rho \in [0, \rho_{\max}].$$

(*iii*)
$$\omega_{\eta} \in \mathbf{C}^{1}([0,\eta]; \mathbb{R}^{+})$$
 with $\omega'_{\eta}(x) \leq 0$, $\int_{0}^{\eta} \omega_{\eta}(x) dx = 1$, $\forall \eta > 0$.

(*iv*) $\omega_{\eta,\delta} \in (\mathbf{C}^1 \cap \mathbf{L}^1)([\delta - \eta, \delta + \eta]; \mathbb{R}^+)$ with $\omega'(x)_{\eta,\delta} \ge 0$ for $x \in [\delta - \eta, 0], \ \omega'(x)_{\eta,\delta} \le 0$ for $x \in [0, \delta + \eta], \ and \ \int_{\delta - \eta}^{\delta + \eta} \omega_{\eta,\delta}(x) \mathrm{d}x = 1, \ \forall \eta > 0.$

We will consider solutions in a weak sense, as follows,

Definition 5.1. Let $\rho_0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$. We say that $\rho \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}]))$, with $\rho(t, \cdot) \in \mathbf{BV}(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$ for $t \in [0, T]$, is a weak solution to (5.1.1)-(4.2.2) if for any $\varphi \in \mathbf{C}_c^1([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R})$

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\rho \varphi_t + \rho V \varphi_x \right) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\mathrm{on}}} S_{\mathrm{on}} \varphi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ - \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\mathrm{off}}} S_{\mathrm{off}} \varphi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho_0(x) \varphi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x = 0,$$

where $V(t, x) = v((\rho * \omega)(t, x)).$

Also, we will consider entropy weak solution in Kružkov sense, as follows,

Definition 5.2. Let $\rho_0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$. We say that $\rho \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}]))$, with $\rho(t, \cdot) \in \mathbf{BV}(\mathbb{R}; [0, \rho_{\max}])$ for $t \in [0, T]$, is a entropy weak solution to (5.1.1) with initial datum ρ_0 if for any $\varphi \in \mathbf{C}_c^1([0, T[\times \mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R})]$ and for all $k \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(|\rho - k| \varphi_{t} + |\rho - k| V \varphi_{x} - \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - k) k V_{x} \varphi \right) dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - k) S_{\text{on}} \varphi dx dt - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{off}}} \operatorname{sgn}(\rho - k) S_{\text{off}} \varphi dx dt + \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\rho_{0} - k| \varphi(0, x) dx \ge 0,$$

where Ω_{on} and Ω_{off} are the spatial position of on-ramp and off-ramp on the main road, respectively.

5.3 Main Result

Before giving the main result of this chapter, we first recall the main theorem in [23, Theorem 2.1]

Theorem 5.3. Let $\rho_0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})(\mathbb{R}; [0, 1])$. Let the Assumptions 5.2.1 hold. Then, for all T > 0, the problem (5.1.1) has a unique solution $\rho \in \mathbf{C}^0([0, T]; \mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; [0, 1]))$ in the sense of Definition 4.2. Moreover, the following estimates hold: for any $t \in [0, T]$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho(t)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} &\leq \mathcal{R}_{1}(t), \\ 0 &\leq \rho(t, x) \leq 1, \\ TV(\rho(t)) &\leq e^{t\mathcal{H}} \left(TV(\rho_{0}) + t\mathcal{Q}_{T} \right), \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\mathcal{R}_{1} = \|\rho_{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \|q_{\mathrm{on}}^{\mathrm{ramp}}(\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])} - \min_{x \in \Omega_{\mathrm{on}}} \|q_{\mathrm{on}}^{\mathrm{ramp}}(\cdot)\rho(\cdot,x)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])} - \min_{x \in \Omega_{\mathrm{off}}} \|q_{\mathrm{off}}^{\mathrm{ramp}}(\cdot)\rho(\cdot,x)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])},$$
(5.3.1)

$$Q_T = 2 \left(\|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \|q_{\text{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \right),$$
(5.3.2)

$$\mathcal{H} = 2 \|q_{\rm on}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \|q_{\rm off}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} + \omega_{\eta}(0)\mathcal{L}, \qquad (5.3.3)$$

$$\mathcal{L} = \left(\|v\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} + \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} \right).$$
(5.3.4)

The following theorem is the main result of this chapter and it states the L^1 -Lipschitz continuous dependence of solutions to (5.1.1) on to the initial datum, the on-ramp rate, the off-ramp rate and the kernel function.

Theorem 5.4. Let ρ and $\tilde{\rho}$ be two solutions to problem (5.1.1) in the sense of Definition 4.2, with initial data ρ_0 , $\tilde{\rho}_0 \in \mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV}(\mathbb{R}; [0, 1])$, with on-ramp rates q_{on} , \tilde{q}_{on} , off-ramp rates q_{off} , \tilde{q}_{off} and kernel functions $\omega_{\eta,\delta}$, $\tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta}$, respectively. Assume $v \in \mathbf{C}^2([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^+)$. Then, for a.e. $t \in [0, T]$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho(t) - \tilde{\rho}(t)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} &\leq e^{\mathcal{C}T} \bigg(\|\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \\ &+ L \left(\|q_{\mathrm{on}} - \tilde{q}_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])} + \|q_{\mathrm{off}} - \tilde{q}_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,T])} \right) \\ &+ r(T) \|\omega_{\eta,\delta} - \tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \bigg), \end{aligned}$$

where r(T) depends on L^1 -norms of initial conditions, expected inflow flow of the onramp and expected output flow of the off-ramp and C is defined as in [23, (3.24)].

Proof. Since ρ and $\tilde{\rho}$ are entropy weak solutions to (5.1.1) then

$$\begin{cases} \rho_t + (\rho V(t, x))_x = S_{\text{on}}(t, x, q_{\text{on}}, \rho, R_{\text{on}}) - S_{\text{off}}(t, x, q_{\text{off}}, \rho)\\ \rho(0, x) = \rho_0(x), \end{cases}$$
$$\begin{cases} \tilde{\rho}_t + (\tilde{\rho}\tilde{V}(t, x))_x = S_{\text{on}}\left(t, x, \tilde{q}_{\text{on}}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\text{on}}\right) - S_{\text{off}}(t, x, \tilde{q}_{\text{off}}, \tilde{\rho})\\ \tilde{\rho}(0, x) = \tilde{\rho}_0(x), \end{cases}$$

in a distributional sense, where $V(t, x) = v((\rho * \omega_{\eta})(t, x))$, $R_{\text{on}} = (\rho * \omega_{\eta,\delta})(t, x)$, $\tilde{V}(t, x) = v((\tilde{\rho} * \omega_{\eta})(t, x))$, $\tilde{R}_{\text{on}} = (\tilde{\rho} * \tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta})(t, x)$. Following the argument in [23] and using Kružkov's doubling of variables technique we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho(T,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(T,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \\ &\leq \|\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left|\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}\right| \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{off}}} \left|\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{off}}\right| \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathcal{V}| \left|\rho_{x}(t,x)\right| \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathcal{V}_{x}| \left|\rho(t,x)\right| \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t, \end{aligned} \tag{5.3.5}$$

where

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}} = S_{\text{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\text{on}}, \rho, R_{\text{on}}\right) - S_{\text{on}}\left(t, x, \tilde{q}_{\text{on}}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\text{on}}\right),$$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{off}} &= S_{\text{off}}\left(t, x, q_{\text{on}}, \rho\right) - S_{\text{off}}\left(t, x, \tilde{q}_{\text{on}}, \tilde{\rho}\right), \\ \mathcal{V} &= v(R) - v(P), \\ \mathcal{V}_{x} &= v_{x}(R) - v_{x}(P). \end{split}$$

Except for the second term, all terms appearing at the right-hand side of (5.3.5) are computed as in [23, Theorem 3.1],

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{off}}} |\mathcal{S}_{\text{off}}| \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \|q_{\text{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_{0}^{T} \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t + L \, \|q_{\text{off}} - \tilde{q}_{\text{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,T])} \, , \\ &\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathcal{V}| \, |\rho_{x}(t,x)| \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \omega_{\eta}(0) \, \|v'\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} TV(\rho(t,\cdot)) \int_{0}^{T} \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t, \\ &\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathcal{V}_{x}| \, |\rho(t,x)| \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \quad \leq \quad \mathcal{W} \int_{0}^{T} \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

Regarding the second term in (5.3.5), we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}} \right| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t &= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| S_{\text{on}} \left(t, x, q_{\text{on}}, \rho, R_{\text{on}} \right) - S_{\text{on}} \left(t, x, \tilde{q}_{\text{on}}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\text{on}} \right) \right| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left(\left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^{1} \right| + \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^{2} \right| + \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^{3} \right| \right) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t, \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}^{1} &= S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{on}}, \rho, R_{\mathrm{on}}\right) - S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{on}}, \rho, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right), \\ \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}^{2} &= S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{on}}, \rho, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right) - S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{on}}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right), \\ \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}^{3} &= S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, q_{\mathrm{on}}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right) - S_{\mathrm{on}}\left(t, x, \tilde{q}_{\mathrm{on}}, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}}\right). \end{split}$$

We bound $\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^2$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^3$ writing

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^2 \right| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t &\leq \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t, \\ &\int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^3 \right| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t &\leq \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} |q_{\text{on}} - \tilde{q}_{\text{on}}| \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \end{split}$$

$$\leq L \|q_{\text{on}} - \tilde{q}_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,T])}$$

Next, we are going to bound $\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}^1$ term,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathrm{on}}^{1} \right| &= \left| \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{on}} q_{\mathrm{on}} \left(1 - \rho \right) \left(\left(1 - R_{\mathrm{on}} \right) - \left(1 - \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} \right) \right) \right| \\ &\leq \left\| q_{\mathrm{on}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \left| \tilde{R}_{\mathrm{on}} - R_{\mathrm{on}} \right|, \end{aligned}$$

thus

$$\int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\rm on}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\rm on}^1 \right| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t \le \|q_{\rm on}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\rm on}} \left| \tilde{R}_{\rm on} - R_{\rm on} \right| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t,$$

and observe that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| R_{\text{on}} - \tilde{R}_{\text{on}} \right| \mathrm{d}x &= \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \omega_{\eta,\delta} * \rho - \tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta} * \tilde{\rho} \right| \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \omega_{\eta,\delta} * \rho - \omega_{\eta,\delta} * \tilde{\rho} + \omega_{\eta,\delta} * \tilde{\rho} - \tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta} * \tilde{\rho} \right| \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \omega_{\eta,\delta} * \rho - \omega_{\eta,\delta} * \tilde{\rho} \right| + \left| \omega_{\eta,\delta} * \tilde{\rho} - \tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta} * \tilde{\rho} \right| \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \omega_{\eta,\delta} * (\rho - \tilde{\rho}) \right| + \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| (\omega_{\eta,\delta} - \tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta}) * \tilde{\rho} \right| \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \left\| \omega_{\eta,\delta} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\Omega_{\text{on}})} \left\| \rho - \tilde{\rho} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\Omega_{\text{on}})} + \left\| \omega_{\eta,\delta} - \tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\Omega_{\text{on}})} \left\| \tilde{\rho} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\Omega_{\text{on}})} \\ &\leq \left\| \omega_{\eta,\delta} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \left\| \rho - \tilde{\rho} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \left\| \omega_{\eta,\delta} - \tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \left\| \tilde{\rho} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \\ &\leq \left\| \rho - \tilde{\rho} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \left\| \omega_{\eta,\delta} - \tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \left\| \tilde{\rho} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \end{split}$$

since $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega_{\eta,\delta}(x) dx = 1$. Here \mathcal{R}_1 is defined as in (4.2.3). Then,

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \int_{\Omega_{\text{on}}} \left| \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\text{on}}^1 \right| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t &\leq \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_0^T \|\omega_{\eta,\delta} - \tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta}\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathcal{R}_1(t) \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \|q_{\text{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,T])} \int_0^T \|\rho(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \|\omega_{\eta,\delta} - \tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta}\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} \int_0^T \mathcal{R}_1(t) \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

Therefore, the inequality (5.3.5) is equivalent to following inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho(T,\cdot) - \tilde{\rho}(T,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \\ &\leq \|\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + L\left(\|q_{\mathrm{on}} - \tilde{q}_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])} + \|q_{\mathrm{off}} - \tilde{q}_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])}\right) \end{aligned}$$

$$+\mathcal{C}\int_{0}^{T} \|\rho(t,\cdot)-\tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \,\mathrm{d}t + \|\omega_{\eta,\delta}-\tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{R}_{1}(t) \,\mathrm{d}t$$
$$= \|\rho_{0}-\tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + L\left(\|q_{\mathrm{on}}-\tilde{q}_{\mathrm{on}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])} + \|q_{\mathrm{off}}-\tilde{q}_{\mathrm{off}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}([0,t])}\right)$$
$$+\mathcal{C}\int_{0}^{T} \|\rho(t,\cdot)-\tilde{\rho}(t,\cdot)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \,\mathrm{d}t + r(T) \|\omega_{\eta,\delta}-\tilde{\omega}_{\eta,\delta}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \,.$$

An application of Gronwall's Lemma to the above quantity completes the proof. \Box

5.4 Numerical examples

In this section we use [23, Algorithm 3.1] in order to compute approximate solutions to (5.1.1)-(4.2.2) with the source term (5.2.1).

5.4.1 Example 11

We simulate an optimization problem in traffic merging, which consist in to investigate what is the optimal value to δ keeping fixed η in the kernel function $\omega_{\eta,\delta}$, it means, according to the meaning of that kernel function, where a driver should look, located on the on-ramp, in order to avoid creating more congestion on the main road. For this end, we consider one on-ramp with length L = 0.1, located from x = 1.0 until x = 1.1, and we consider the following kernel functions

$$\begin{aligned}
\omega_{\eta}(x) &:= 2 \frac{\eta - x}{\eta^2} \chi_{[0,\eta]}(x), \\
\omega_{\eta,\delta}(x) &:= \frac{1}{\eta^6} \frac{16}{5\pi} \left(\eta^2 - (x - \delta)^2 \right)^{5/2} \chi_{[-\eta + \delta, \eta + \delta]}(x),
\end{aligned}$$

for convective and reactive terms, respectively, with $\eta = 0.5$ and $\delta \in [-\eta, \eta]$, for $x \in [-1, 4]$ at simulated time T = 6 and velocity function given by $v(\rho) = 1 - \rho$. We also consider $\Delta x = 1/200$, a constant initial condition $\rho_0(x) = 0.3$, and the rate of the on-ramp is given by $q_{\rm on}(t) = 1.2$. Following [28], as a metric of traffic congestion we consider the two following functionals

$$J(T) = \int_0^T \mathrm{d} |\rho_x(t, \cdot)| \mathrm{d}t,$$

$$\Psi(T; a, b) = \int_0^T \int_a^b \varphi(\rho(t, x)) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t$$

where

$$\varphi(r) = \begin{cases} 0, & r < 0.75, \\ 10r - 7.5, & 0.75 \le r \le 0.85, \\ 1, & 0.85 < r \le 1. \end{cases}$$

The functional J defined measures the integral with respect to time of the spatial total variation of the traffic density while the functional Ψ measures the queue of the solution in the interval [a, b] = [-1, 4].

Figure 5.4.1 shows the values of the functionals J and Ψ when we vary the value of δ and keeping fixed η . We can observe that the minimum value of J and Ψ is given when $\delta = 0.1$. In Figure 5.4.2 we are comparing the solutions of (5.1.1)-(4.2.2) for different values of δ , keeping fixed η , namely, we consider $\delta \in \{-0.5, 0.1, 0.5\}$ and $\eta = 0.5$. We can see that the solution for $\delta = 0.1$ (optimal δ to Ψ) produces a smaller queue and therefore less increase in density on the main road when vehicles enter through the on-ramp than the other values considered for δ .



Figure 5.4.1: Left: Functional J with $\eta = 0.5$ and $\delta \in [-\eta, \eta]$. Right: Functional Ψ with $\eta = 0.5$ and $\delta \in [-\eta, \eta]$

5.5 Conclusions of Chapter 5

In this chapter we proved the stability of entropy weak solutions of a scalar nonlocal balance law with nonlocal source term arising in traffic modelling with a on-ramp introduced in [23]. We got an estimate of the dependence of the solution with respect to the kernel function in the source term, the on-ramp rate, the off-ramp rate and the initial datum. Stability was obtained from the entropy condition through doubling of variable technique. Finally, following [28], we shown a numerical simulation illustrating the dependencies above for two cost functionals derived from traffic flow applications.



Figure 5.4.2: Solution of (5.1.1)-(4.2.2) for $\eta=0.5$ and varying $\delta\in\{-0.5,0.1,0.5\}$

Chapter 6

Two-way nonlocal traffic model

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 Motivation

Our main objective is to model vehicular traffic flow on a two-lane and two-way road where drivers have a preferred lane, the lane on their right, and the left one is used only for overtaking slower vehicles, see Figure 6.1.1. Lanes are labeled lane 1 and lane 2 and we denote by ρ_1 and ρ_2 the density of cars traveling from the left to right on the lane 1 and lane 2, respectively; by $\tilde{\rho}_1$ and $\tilde{\rho}_2$ the density of cars traveling from the right to left on the lane 2 and lane 1, respectively. In order to extend the classical LWR (Lighthill - Whitham [66] and Richards [72]) traffic model to a two-lane two-way road where overtaking of cars is allowed, we should consider that the velocity in each lane depends not only on the density of the preferred class, but also on the density of the other class that comes in the opposite direction making overtake, which leaves the following model

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho_1 + \partial_x (\rho_1 v_1(\rho_1 + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_1)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{\rho}_2 * \omega_\eta))) &= 0, \\ \partial_t \rho_2 + \partial_x (\rho_2 v_2(\rho_2 + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_2)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{\rho}_1 * \omega_\eta))) &= 0, \\ \partial_t \tilde{\rho}_1 - \partial_x (\tilde{\rho}_1 v_1(\tilde{\rho}_1 + (\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_1)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\rho_2 * \hat{\omega}_\eta))) &= 0, \\ \partial_t \tilde{\rho}_2 - \partial_x (\tilde{\rho}_2 v_2(\tilde{\rho}_2 + (\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_2)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\rho_1 * \hat{\omega}_\eta))) &= 0, \end{cases}$$

$$(6.1.1)$$

where $\chi_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)$ is a regularization of the indicator function, this term models the fact that the vehicles must slow down in the presence of vehicles downstream in the same lane but traveling in opposite direction. Regularizing the indicator function in the flux functions of this model becomes necessary since if we consider the indicator function without regularization, the velocity functions of (6.1.1) become discontinuous, e.g. if $v(\rho_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) := v_1(\rho_1 + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_1)\chi(\tilde{\rho}_2 * \omega_\eta)))$, then we have $v(\rho_1, 0) = v_1(\rho_1) > 0$ and $v(\rho_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) = v_1(\rho_{\max}) = 0$ for $\tilde{\rho}_2 > 0$.

Now, in order to model overtaking and returning maneuvers we endow (6.1.1) with source terms which are defined following some rules explain now. We impose the following rules in order to vehicles can overtake, i.e., at the position x, a vehicle can overtake if and only if the following condition are fulfilled,

- 1. the particular velocity $v_i(\rho_i)$ is greater than the velocity of the average of cars in front of it;
- 2. there are no vehicles traveling in opposite direction on the other lane and neither on the same lane (overtaking from the other lane),

which is expressed mathematically as follows,

$$S_{\rm O}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho_1}, \tilde{\rho_2}) = \begin{cases} K_1(\rho_{\rm max} - \rho_2)\rho_1, & \text{if } v_1(\omega_\eta^1 * \rho_1) < v_1(\rho_1), & \omega_\delta^2 * \tilde{\rho}_1 = 0\\ & \text{and } \omega_\delta^2 * \tilde{\rho}_2 = 0, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
(6.1.2)

here we have used the notation in [43, 56] in order to describe the lane change, where $K_1 > 0$ is a constant. At position x, the nonlocal terms $\omega_{\eta}^1 * \rho_1$ and $\omega_{\delta}^2 * \tilde{\rho}_i$, i = 1, 2, describe the average of cars traveling in the same direction, in front of the drivers on the lane 1, and average of cars traveling in opposite direction, respectively; we also assume that $\delta > \eta$. In addition, we enforce the following rule for overtaking vehicles can return to the preferred lane,

(3) the particular velocity $v_i(\rho_i)$ is less than the velocity of the average of cars in front of them,

this condition is imposed in the sense that vehicles returning to the preferred lane do not instantly overtake again. This condition can be formulated as

$$S_{\rm R}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho_1}, \tilde{\rho_2}) = \begin{cases} K_2(\rho_{\rm max} - \rho_1)\rho_2, & \text{if } v_1(\omega_{\eta}^1 * \rho_1) > v_1(\rho_1), & \text{or } \omega_{\delta}^2 * \tilde{\rho}_1 > 0 \\ & \text{or } \omega_{\delta}^2 * \tilde{\rho}_2 > 0, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
(6.1.3)

where $K_2 > 0$ is a constant. Likewise, we define the terms $\tilde{S}_{O}(\tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2, \rho_1, \rho_2)$ and $\tilde{S}_{R}(\tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2, \rho_1, \rho_2)$ as follows

$$\tilde{S}_{O}(\tilde{\rho_{1}}, \tilde{\rho_{2}}, \rho_{1}, \rho_{2}) = \begin{cases} K_{1}(\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_{2})\tilde{\rho}_{1}, & \text{if } v_{2}(\hat{\omega}_{\eta}^{1} * \tilde{\rho}_{1}) < v_{2}(\tilde{\rho}_{1}), & \hat{\omega}_{\delta}^{2} * \rho_{1} = 0\\ & \text{and } \hat{\omega}_{\delta}^{2} * \rho_{2} = 0, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
(6.1.4)

$$\tilde{S}_{\rm R}(\tilde{\rho_1}, \tilde{\rho_2}, \rho_1, \rho_2) = \begin{cases} K_2(\rho_{\rm max} - \tilde{\rho}_1)\tilde{\rho}_2, & \text{if } v_2(\hat{\omega}^1_\eta * \tilde{\rho}_1) > v_2(\tilde{\rho}_1), & \text{or } \hat{\omega}^2_\delta * \rho_1 > 0 \\ & \text{or } \hat{\omega}^2_\delta * \rho_2 > 0, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
(6.1.5)

where $\hat{\omega}_{\eta}^{1}(x) := \omega_{\eta}^{1}(-x)$, for all $x \in \{-\eta, \ldots, 0\}$ and $\hat{\omega}_{\delta}^{2}(x) := \omega_{\delta}^{2}(-x)$ for all $x \in \{-\delta, \ldots, 0\}$. At position x, the nonlocal terms $\hat{\omega}_{\eta}^{1} * \tilde{\rho}_{1}$ and $\hat{\omega}_{\delta}^{2} * \rho_{i}$, i = 1, 2, describe the average of cars, in the same direction, in front of the drivers on the lane 2, and average of cars traveling in opposite direction, respectively.



Figure 6.1.1: Illustration of the model setting. The red car overtakes a slower vehicle, the bus, using the lane 2 and then return to their preferred lane, the lane 1.

6.1.2 Related Work

Macroscopic models of vehicular traffic flow with nonlocal fluxes have been extensively studied recently [12, 14, 20, 23, 21, 26, 51]. In this kind of models, the velocity function depends on a weighted mean of the downstream traffic density and their importance lies in the fact that it allows describe traffic flow dynamics in which drivers adapt their velocity with respect to what happens to the cars in front of them. Most of work mentioned above consider a one-directional road with a class of vehicles, but since it is necessary to model more realistic situations, the study on nonlocal models has been extended to multi-class and multilane settings; for example, in [26] is studied a system of nonlocal conservation laws that model multi-class traffic flow for which the authors proved the existence of weak solutions for small times, this solutions are approximate by means of a Godunov type scheme. Holden and Risebro [56] proposed a (local) weakly coupled system of hyperbolic conservation laws with a source term in order to model the vehicular traffic flow on a road with multiple lanes where the velocity depends only on the density in the same lane. In that model it is assumed that the tendency of drivers to change to a neighboring lane is proportional to the difference in velocity between lanes; the authors proved some bounds for the solutions of the model and show the convergence to a weak solution. In [43] the authors proposed and studied a multilane traffic model based on nonlocal balance laws where the nonlocal source term was used to describe the lane change rate. In that paper also was proposed a Godunov type scheme in order to approximate the solutions of the model and was proved compactness estimates in order to show the well posedness of model. More recently, in [27] it has been proposed a system of conservation laws with nonlocal fluxes, coupled in the velocity functions, in which is described two populations moving in opposite directions and the authors proved existence of weak solutions for sufficiently small times.

We remark that this model differs from the nonlocal multilane model presented in [43] in several aspects, namely, in [43] the authors consider a one-way multilane model only, thus the velocity on a lane depends only on density of vehicles in the same lane traveling in the same direction, while we consider a two-way model in which is allowed to overtake, that leads to a velocity function that depends not only on the preferred class but also of the classes traveling in opposite direction on the same lane. Likewise, in [43] the source terms take into account a nonlocal evaluation of the velocity influencing the lane changing rate; in our proposed model, instead, in the source term the criteria of overtaking and returning are defined in a nonlocal form, only.

6.1.3 Outline of the chapter

This chapter is organized as follows: In Section 6.2 we present the proposed mathematical model with all the considered assumptions on it. Afterwards, in Section 6.3 we introduce a HW-type numerical scheme and derive important properties such as positivity of approximate solutions, \mathbf{L}^{∞} – bound, \mathbf{L}^{1} – bound and **BV** estimates in order to show the convergence of approximate solutions to a weak solution of the proposed model. In the Section 6.4, we present numerical examples illustrating the behavior of the solutions of our model.

6.2 Mathematical model

The main goal of this chapter is to study the well-posedness of the nonlocal system of equations

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{t}\rho_{1} + \partial_{x}(\rho_{1}v_{1}(\rho_{1} + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{1})\chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{\rho}_{2} * \omega_{\eta}))) = -S_{O}(\rho_{1}, \rho_{2}, \tilde{\rho}_{1}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}) + S_{R}(\rho_{1}, \rho_{2}, \tilde{\rho}_{1}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}) \\ \partial_{t}\rho_{2} + \partial_{x}(\rho_{2}v_{2}(\rho_{2} + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{2})\chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{\rho}_{1} * \omega_{\eta}))) = S_{O}(\rho_{1}, \rho_{2}, \tilde{\rho}_{1}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}) - S_{R}(\rho_{1}, \rho_{2}, \tilde{\rho}_{1}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}) \\ \partial_{t}\tilde{\rho}_{1} - \partial_{x}(\tilde{\rho}_{1}v_{1}(\tilde{\rho}_{1} + (\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_{1})\chi_{\varepsilon}(\rho_{2} * \hat{\omega}_{\eta}))) = -\tilde{S}_{O}(\tilde{\rho}_{1}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}, \rho_{1}, \rho_{2}) + \tilde{S}_{R}(\tilde{\rho}_{1}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}, \rho_{1}, \rho_{2}) \\ \partial_{t}\tilde{\rho}_{2} - \partial_{x}(\tilde{\rho}_{2}v_{2}(\tilde{\rho}_{2} + (\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_{2})\chi_{\varepsilon}(\rho_{1} * \hat{\omega}_{\eta}))) = \tilde{S}_{O}(\tilde{\rho}_{1}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}, \rho_{1}, \rho_{2}) - \tilde{S}_{R}(\tilde{\rho}_{1}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}, \rho_{1}, \rho_{2}), \end{cases}$$

$$(6.2.1)$$

where $\boldsymbol{\rho}_i = (\rho_i, \rho_{[i]})$ and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}_i = (\tilde{\rho}_i, \tilde{\rho}_{[i]})$, for i = 1, 2, take values in the set

$$\Omega = \{ \boldsymbol{\rho}_{\boldsymbol{i}}, \, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}_{\boldsymbol{i}} \in \mathbb{R}^2 : (0,0) \le \boldsymbol{\rho}_{\boldsymbol{i}}, \, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}_{\boldsymbol{i}} \le (\rho_{\max}, \rho_{\max}), \text{ for } \boldsymbol{i} = 1,2 \},\$$

and the notation $[\cdot]$, means [1] = 2 and [2] = 1. Next, the convolution terms in fluxes are defined as follows for i = 1, 2,

$$\tilde{\rho}_i * \omega_\eta := \int_x^{x+\eta} \omega_\eta (y-x) \tilde{\rho}_i(t,y) \mathrm{d}y,$$

$$\rho_i * \hat{\omega}_\eta := \int_{x-\eta}^x \hat{\omega}_\eta (y-x) \rho_i(t,y) \mathrm{d}y,$$

where $\hat{\omega}_{\eta}(x) = \omega_{\eta}(-x)$. The initial conditions satisfies

$$\rho_1(x,0) = \rho_1^0(x) \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})(\mathbb{R}; [0,\rho_{\max}]), \quad \rho_2(x,0) = 0,
\tilde{\rho}_1(x,0) = \tilde{\rho}_1^0(x) \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})(\mathbb{R}; [0,\rho_{\max}]), \quad \tilde{\rho}_2(x,0) = 0,$$
(6.2.2)

where $\rho_2(x,0) = \tilde{\rho}_2(x,0) = 0$ means that there is no overtake initially. In addition, we consider the following assumptions.

Assumptions 6.2.1. The nonlocal problem (6.2.1) is studied under the following assumptions:

(i) $v_1, v_2 \in \mathbf{C}^1([0,1]; \mathbb{R}^+)$, with $v_1'(\rho) \le 0, v_2'(\rho) \le 0, \rho \in [0,1]$.

(*ii*)
$$\omega_{\eta}^{1} \in \mathbf{C}_{c}^{1}([0,\eta]; \mathbb{R}^{+})$$
 with $(\omega^{1})_{\eta}'(x) \leq 0$, $\int_{0}^{\eta} \omega_{\eta}^{1}(x) dx = 1$, $\forall \eta > 0$.

(*iii*)
$$\omega_{\delta}^2 \in \mathbf{C}_c^1([0,\delta]; \mathbb{R}^+)$$
 with $(\omega^2)_{\delta}'(x) \le 0$, $\int_0^{\delta} \omega_{\delta}^2(x) \mathrm{d}x = 1$, $\forall \delta > 0$.

 $(iv) \operatorname{supp}(\omega_{\eta}^{1}) \subset \operatorname{supp}(\omega_{\delta}^{2}), \ i.e, \ \delta > \eta.$

$$\begin{aligned} (v) \ \hat{\omega}_{\eta}^{1} \in \mathbf{C}_{c}^{1}([0,\eta];\mathbb{R}^{+}) \text{ with } (\hat{\omega}^{1})_{\eta}'(x) \geq 0, \ \int_{-\eta}^{0} \hat{\omega}_{\eta}^{1}(x) \mathrm{d}x = 1, \ \forall \eta > 0. \\ (vi) \ \hat{\omega}_{\delta}^{2} \in \mathbf{C}_{c}^{1}([-\delta,0];\mathbb{R}^{+}) \text{ with } (\hat{\omega}^{2})_{\delta}'(x) \geq 0, \ \int_{-\delta}^{0} \hat{\omega}_{\delta}^{2}(x) \mathrm{d}x = 1, \ \forall \delta > 0. \end{aligned}$$

Solutions for (6.2.1)-(6.2.2) are intended in the following weak sense,

Definition 6.1 (Weak solution). Let $\rho_i^0, \tilde{\rho}_i^0 \in (\mathbf{L}^1 \cap \mathbf{BV})(\mathbb{R}; [0, 1])$, for i = 1, 2. We say that $\rho_i, \tilde{\rho}_i \in \mathbf{C}^0([0, T]; \mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; [0, 1]))$, with $\rho_i(t, \cdot) \in \mathbf{BV}(\mathbb{R}; [0, 1])$ for $t \in [0, T]$ and i = 1, 2, is a weak solution to (6.2.1) with initial data $\rho_i^0, \tilde{\rho}_i^0, i = 1, 2$, if for any $\varphi \in \mathbf{C}_c^1([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R})$

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \begin{pmatrix} \rho_{1} \\ \rho_{2} \end{pmatrix} \varphi_{t} \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \begin{pmatrix} \rho_{1} v_{1} (\rho_{1} + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{1}) \chi_{\varepsilon} (\tilde{\rho}_{2} * \omega_{\eta})) \\ \rho_{2} v_{2} (\rho_{2} + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{2}) \chi_{\varepsilon} (\tilde{\rho}_{1} * \omega_{\eta})) \end{pmatrix} \varphi_{x} \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \begin{pmatrix} -(S_{\mathrm{O}} - S_{\mathrm{R}}) \\ S_{\mathrm{O}} - S_{\mathrm{R}} \end{pmatrix} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi(0, x) \begin{pmatrix} \rho_{1}(0, x) \\ \rho_{2}(0, x) \end{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}x = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\rho}_1 \\ \tilde{\rho}_2 \end{array} \right) \varphi_t \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t - \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\begin{array}{c} \tilde{\rho}_1 v_2 (\tilde{\rho}_1 + (\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_1) \chi_{\varepsilon} (\rho_2 * \hat{\omega}_\eta)) \\ \tilde{\rho}_2 v_2 (\tilde{\rho}_2 + (\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_2) \chi_{\varepsilon} (\rho_1 * \hat{\omega}_\eta)) \end{array} \right) \varphi_x \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t$$

6.3. Numerical scheme

(6.3.1)

$$+\int_{0}^{T}\int_{\mathbb{R}}\left(\begin{array}{c}-\left(\tilde{S}_{O}-\tilde{S}_{R}\right)\\\tilde{S}_{O}-\tilde{S}_{R}\end{array}\right)\varphi\,\,\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}t+\int_{\mathbb{R}}\varphi(0,x)\left(\begin{array}{c}\tilde{\rho}_{1}(0,x)\\\tilde{\rho}_{2}(0,x)\end{array}\right)\mathrm{d}x=\left(\begin{array}{c}0\\0\end{array}\right)$$

Our main result is given by the following theorem, which states existence of solutions to problem (6.2.1) - (6.2.2).

Theorem 6.2. Let $\rho_i^0, \tilde{\rho}_i^0 \in (\mathbf{L}^{\infty} \cap \mathbf{BV})(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}^+)$ for i = 1, 2 and the Assumptions 6.2.1 hold. Then, for all T > 0, the problem (6.2.1) admits a weak solution on $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}$ in the sense of the Definition 6.1.

In order to prove the Theorem 6.2 we first propose a numerical scheme in the sense of finite volume method along with a operator splitting whereby we derive some important properties of model as well as compactness estimates that will allow us to use the Helly's Compactness Theorem.

6.3 Numerical scheme

6.3.1 Discretization of the model

We take a uniform space step Δx and a time step Δt subject to a Courant-Friedrichs-Levy (CFL) condition which will be specified later. For any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, let $x_{j+1/2} = (j + 1/2)\Delta x$ be a cells interfaces and $x_j = j\Delta x$ the cells centers. We fix T > 0, and set $N_T \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $N_T \Delta t \leq T < (N_T + 1)\Delta t$ and define the time mesh as $t^n = n\Delta t$, for $n = 0, \ldots, N_T$. The initial data are approximated, for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and i = 1, 2 as follows

$$\rho_{i,j}^{0} = \frac{1}{\Delta x} \int_{x_{j-1/2}}^{x_{j+1/2}} \rho_{i}^{0}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{\rho}_{i,j}^{0} = \frac{1}{\Delta x} \int_{x_{j-1/2}}^{x_{j+1/2}} \tilde{\rho}_{i}^{0}(x) \mathrm{d}x.$$

We denote

$$\omega_{\eta}^{k} := \int_{k\Delta x}^{(k+1)\Delta x} \omega_{\eta}(y) dy \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, N-1,$$
$$\hat{\omega}_{\eta}^{k} := \int_{(-k-1)\Delta x}^{-k\Delta x} \hat{\omega}_{\eta}(y) dy \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, N-1$$

and set the convolution term, for i = 1, 2

$$\tilde{R}_{[i]}(x_{j+1/2}, t^n) = (\omega_\eta * \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j})(x_{j+1/2}, t^n) \approx \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_\eta^k \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j+k+1}^n,$$
$$R_i(x_{j+1/2}, t^n) = (\hat{\omega}_\eta * \rho_{i,j})(x_{j+1/2}, t^n) \approx \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \hat{\omega}_\eta^k \rho_{i,j-k}^n.$$

Likewise, we define a piecewise constant approximate solution $\rho^{\Delta}(t,x) = (\rho_1^{\Delta}(t,x), \rho_2^{\Delta}(t,x)) \text{ and } \tilde{\rho}^{\Delta}(t,x) = (\tilde{\rho}_1^{\Delta}(t,x), \tilde{\rho}_2^{\Delta}(t,x)) \text{ as}$ $\rho_i^{\Delta}(t,x) = \rho_{i,j}^n \text{ and } \tilde{\rho}_i^{\Delta}(t,x) = \tilde{\rho}_{i,j}^n, \quad (t,x) \in [t^n, t^{n+1}[\times]x_{j-1/2}, x_{j+1/2}], \quad i = 1, 2.$

The convective terms in (6.2.1) are obtained via a finite volume Hilliges-Weidlich-type (HW) scheme [15, 55] defined by

$$F_{i,j+1/2} := \rho_{i,j}^n v_1(\rho_{i,j+1}^n + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{i,j+1}^n) \chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n)), \tag{6.3.2}$$

$$G_{[i],j+1/2} := \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j+1}^n v_2(\tilde{\rho}_{[i],j}^n + (\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j}^n) \chi_{\varepsilon}(R_{i,j+1/2}^n)), \qquad (6.3.3)$$

where $\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2} := \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{\eta}^{k} \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j+k+1}^{n}$ and $R_{i,j+1/2} := \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \hat{\omega}_{\eta}^{k} \rho_{i,j-k}^{n}$. Then, we put $F_{j+1/2}^{n} = [F_{1,j+1/2}^{n}, F_{2,j+1/2}^{n}]$ and $G_{j+1/2}^{n} = [G_{1,j+1/2}^{n}, G_{2,j+1/2}^{n}]$. In order to compute the source terms in (6.2.1), we first introduce the following notations

In order to compute the source terms in (6.2.1), we first introduce the following notations for the convolutions terms for kernel functions $\omega_{\eta}^{1} \in \mathbf{C}_{c}^{1}([0,\eta]), \hat{\omega}_{\eta}^{1} \in \mathbf{C}_{c}^{1}([-\eta,0])$ satisfying the Assumptions 6.2.1 for some $N_{1} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\eta = \Delta x N_{1}$ and any piecewise constant function u^{Δ}

$$R_1(u^{\Delta})_j^n := (\omega_{\eta}^1 * u^{\Delta})(x_j, t^n) = \int_{x_j}^{x_j + \eta} \omega_{\eta}^1(y - x_j) u^{\Delta}(t, y) \mathrm{d}y \approx \sum_{k=0}^{N_1} \gamma_k u_{j+k}^n,$$

with coefficients

$$\gamma_0 = \int_0^{\Delta x/2} \omega_\eta^1(y) dy, \qquad (6.3.4)$$

$$\gamma_k = \int_{(k-1/2)\Delta x}^{(k+1/2)\Delta x} \omega_\eta^1(y) dy, \text{ for } k = 1, \dots, N_1 - 1, \qquad (6.3.5)$$

$$\gamma_{N_1} = \int_{\eta - \Delta x/2}^{\eta} \omega_{\eta}^1(y) \mathrm{d}y, \qquad (6.3.6)$$

and we also define

$$\tilde{R}_{1}(u^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} := (\hat{\omega}_{\eta}^{1} * u^{\Delta})(x_{j}, t^{n}) = \int_{x_{j}-\eta}^{x_{j}} \hat{\omega}_{\eta}^{1}(x_{j} - y)u^{\Delta}(t, y) \mathrm{d}y \approx \sum_{k=0}^{N_{1}} \tilde{\gamma}_{k} u_{j+k}^{n},$$

with coefficients

$$\tilde{\gamma}_0 = \int_{-\Delta x/2}^0 \hat{\omega}^1_\eta(y) \mathrm{d}y, \qquad (6.3.7)$$

$$\tilde{\gamma}_i = \int_{-(k+1/2)\Delta x}^{-(k-1/2)\Delta x} \hat{\omega}^1_{\eta}(y) \mathrm{d}y, \text{ for } k = 1, \dots, N_1 - 1;$$
(6.3.8)

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{N_1} = \int_{-\eta}^{-(\eta - \Delta x/2)} \hat{\omega}_{\eta}^1(y) \mathrm{d}y.$$
(6.3.9)

Similarly, for $\omega_{\delta}^2 \in \mathbf{C}_c^1([0, \delta])$ and $\hat{\omega}_{\delta}^2 \in \mathbf{C}_c^1([-\delta, 0])$ satisfying the Assumptions 6.2.1 for some $N_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\delta = \Delta x N_2$

$$R_2(u^{\Delta})_j^n := (\omega_{\delta}^2 * u^{\Delta})(x_j, t^n) = \int_{x_j}^{x_j+\delta} \omega_{\delta}^2(y-x_j)u^{\Delta}(t, y) \mathrm{d}y \approx \sum_{k=0}^{N_2} \zeta_k u_{j+k}^n,$$

with coefficients ζ_k as in (6.3.4), (6.3.5), (6.3.6) and likewise we define

$$\tilde{R}_{2}(u^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} := (\hat{\omega}_{\delta}^{2} * u^{\Delta})(x_{j}, t^{n}) = \int_{x_{j}-\delta}^{x_{j}} \hat{\omega}_{\delta}^{2}(x_{j}-y)u^{\Delta}(t, y)\mathrm{d}y \approx \sum_{k=0}^{N_{2}} \tilde{\zeta}_{k} u_{j+k}^{n}, \quad (6.3.10)$$

with coefficients $\tilde{\zeta}_k$ as in (6.3.7), (6.3.8) and (6.3.9). Finally for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we can compute the source terms (6.1.2) and (6.1.3) as

$$S_{\rm O}(\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\Delta}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}^{\Delta})_{j} = \begin{cases} K_{1}(\rho_{\rm max} - \rho_{2,j}^{n})\rho_{1,j}^{n}, & \text{if, } v_{1}(R_{1}(\rho_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n}) < v_{1}(\rho_{1,j}^{n}), & R_{2}(\tilde{\rho}_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} = 0\\ & \text{and } R_{2}(\tilde{\rho}_{2}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} = 0, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

$$S_{\rm R}(\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\Delta}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}^{\Delta})_{j} = \begin{cases} K_{2}(\rho_{\rm max} - \rho_{1,j}^{n})\rho_{2,j}^{n}, & \text{if, } v_{1}(R_{1}(\rho_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n}) > v_{1}(\rho_{1,j}^{n}), \text{ or } R_{2}(\tilde{\rho}_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} > 0\\ & \text{or } R_{2}(\tilde{\rho}_{2}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} > 0, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

(6.3.12)

In the same way, we can compute the source terms (6.1.4) and (6.1.5) as follows

$$\tilde{S}_{O}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}^{\Delta}, \boldsymbol{\rho}^{\Delta})_{j} = \begin{cases} K_{1}(\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n})\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n}, & \text{if, } v_{2}(\tilde{R}_{1}(\tilde{\rho}_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n}) < v_{2}(\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n}), & \tilde{R}_{2}(\rho_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} = 0\\ & \text{and } \tilde{R}_{2}(\rho_{2}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} = 0, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

$$(6.3.13)$$

$$\tilde{S}_{\rm R}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}^{\Delta}, \boldsymbol{\rho}^{\Delta})_j = \begin{cases} K_2(\rho_{\rm max} - \tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^n) \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^n, & \text{if, } v_2(\tilde{R}_1(\tilde{\rho}_1^{\Delta})_j^n) > v_1(\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^n), \text{ or } \tilde{R}_2(\rho_1^{\Delta})_j^n > 0\\ & \text{ or } \tilde{R}_2(\rho_2^{\Delta})_j^n > 0,\\ 0 & \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

(6.3.14) The values $\boldsymbol{\rho}_{j}^{n} = (\rho_{1,j}^{n}, \rho_{2,j}^{n})$ and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}_{j}^{n} = (\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n}, \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n})$ are update by using Algorithm 6.3.1 composed of HW type scheme together with operator splitting, to account for the source terms.

 $Algorithm \ 6.3.1.$

Input: approximate solution vectors $\boldsymbol{\rho}_{j}^{n} = (\rho_{1,j}^{n}, \rho_{2,j}^{n})$ and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}_{j}^{n} = (\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n}, \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n})$ for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $t = t^{n}$

do $j \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\boldsymbol{\rho}_{j}^{n+1/2} \leftarrow \boldsymbol{\rho}_{j}^{n} - \lambda \big(\boldsymbol{F}_{j+1/2}^{n} - \boldsymbol{F}_{j-1/2}^{n} \big), \tag{6.3.15}$$

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}_{j}^{n+1/2} \leftarrow \tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}_{j}^{n} + \lambda \big(\boldsymbol{G}_{j+1/2}^{n} - \boldsymbol{G}_{j-1/2}^{n} \big), \tag{6.3.16}$$

enddo

do $j \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$S_{j}^{n+1/2} \leftarrow S_{\rm O} \left(\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1/2}, \, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}^{n+1/2} \right)_{j} - S_{\rm R} \left(\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1/2}, \, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}^{n+1/2} \right)_{j},$$
 (6.3.17)

$$\tilde{S}_{j}^{n+1/2} \leftarrow \tilde{S}_{O} \left(\tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}^{n+1/2}, \boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1/2} \right)_{j} - \tilde{S}_{R} \left(\tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}^{n+1/2}, \boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1/2} \right)_{j}, \qquad (6.3.18)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\rho}_{j}^{n+1} \leftarrow \boldsymbol{\rho}_{j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t [-S_{j}^{n+1/2}, S_{j}^{n+1/2}], \tag{6.3.19}$$

$$\tilde{\rho}_{j}^{n+1} \leftarrow \tilde{\rho}_{j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t [-\tilde{S}_{j}^{n+1/2}, \tilde{S}_{j}^{n+1/2}].$$
(6.3.20)

enddo

Output: approximate solution vectors $\boldsymbol{\rho}_{j}^{n+1} = (\rho_{1,j}^{n+1}, \rho_{2,j}^{n+1})$ and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}_{j}^{n+1} = (\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1}, \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1})$ for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $t = t^{n+1} = t^n + \Delta t$.

Notation: From now on, the conditions for overtaking or returning will be denoted as follows

- $S_{\rm O} > 0$ if $v_1(R_1(\rho_1^{\Delta})_j^n) < v_1(\rho_{1,j}^n)$, $R_2(\tilde{\rho}_1^{\Delta})_j^n = 0$ and $R_2(\tilde{\rho}_2^{\Delta})_j^n = 0$ and $S_{\rm R} > 0$ otherwise.
- $\tilde{S}_{\rm O} > 0$ if $v_2(\tilde{R}_1(\tilde{\rho}_1^{\Delta})_j^n) < v_2(\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^n)$, $\tilde{R}_2(\rho_1^{\Delta})_j^n = 0$ and $\tilde{R}_2(\rho_2^{\Delta})_j^n = 0$, and $\tilde{S}_{\rm R} > 0$ otherwise.

Next, in the following lemma we present some properties of the discrete source terms, which will be useful later.

Lemma 6.3. Let $u_{i,j}^n, \tilde{u}_{i,j}^n \in [0,1]$, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and i = 1, 2. Consider the terms $S_{\mathcal{O}}(\boldsymbol{u}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})_j^n, S_{\mathcal{R}}(\boldsymbol{u}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})_j^n, \tilde{S}_{\mathcal{O}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{u})_j^n$ and $\tilde{S}_{\mathcal{R}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{u})_j^n$, then,

- 1. If $S_{\mathcal{O}}(\boldsymbol{u}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})_j > 0$, then $\tilde{S}_{\mathcal{O}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{u})_j = 0$ and $\tilde{S}_{\mathcal{R}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{u})_j = 0$. Furthermore, $\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_j^{n+1} = 0$, for $\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_i^{n+1}$ given by (6.3.19) in Algorithm (4.3.1), for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and i = 1, 2.
- 2. If $\tilde{S}_{O,j}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{u})_j > 0$, then $S_O(\boldsymbol{u}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})_j^n = 0$ and $S_R(\boldsymbol{u}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})_j^n = 0$. Furthermore, $\boldsymbol{u}_j^{n+1} = 0$, for \boldsymbol{u}_j^{n+1} given by (6.3.20) in Algorithm (4.3.1), for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and i = 1, 2.
- Proof. 1. If $v_1(R_1(u_1^{\Delta})_j^n) < v_1(u_{1,j}^n)$, $R_2(\tilde{u}_1^{\Delta})_j^n = 0$ and $R_2(\tilde{u}_2^{\Delta})_j^n = 0$, then $\tilde{u}_{1,k}^n = 0$ and $\tilde{u}_{2,k}^n = 0$ for all $k \in \{j, \ldots, j + \delta\}$, so by definition of the source term $\tilde{S}_{\mathrm{O}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\Delta}, \boldsymbol{u}^{\Delta})_i^n$ (6.3.13) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \tilde{S}_{O}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\Delta}, \boldsymbol{u}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} &= \begin{cases} K_{1}(\rho_{\max} - \tilde{u}_{2,j})\tilde{u}_{1,j}, & \text{if, } v_{2}(\tilde{R}_{1}(\tilde{u}_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}) < v_{2}(\tilde{u}_{1,j}), \\ \tilde{R}_{2}(u_{1}^{\Delta})_{j} = 0 \text{ and } \tilde{R}_{2}(u_{2}^{\Delta})_{j} = 0 \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \\ &= \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if, } v_{2}(\tilde{R}_{1}(\tilde{u}_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}) < v_{2}(\tilde{u}_{1,j}), & \tilde{R}_{2}(u_{1}^{\Delta})_{j} = 0 \\ & \text{and } \tilde{R}_{2}(u_{2}^{\Delta})_{j} = 0 \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

and regarding to the term (6.3.14) we have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{S}_{\mathrm{R}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\Delta}, \boldsymbol{u}^{\Delta})_{j} &= \begin{cases} K_{2}(\rho_{\max} - \tilde{u}_{1,j})\tilde{u}_{2,j}, & \text{if, } v_{2}(\tilde{R}_{1}(\tilde{u}_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}) > v_{1}(\tilde{u}_{1,j}), \\ & \text{or } \tilde{R}_{2}(\rho_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} > 0 \text{ or } \tilde{R}_{2}(\rho_{2}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} > 0 \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \\ &= \begin{cases} K_{2}(\rho_{\max} - \tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n})\tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n}, & \text{if, } v_{2}(\tilde{R}_{1}(\tilde{\rho}_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n}) > v_{1}(\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n}), \\ & \text{or } \tilde{R}_{2}(\rho_{1}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} > 0 \text{ or } \tilde{R}_{2}(\rho_{2}^{\Delta})_{j}^{n} > 0 \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Thus, we have gotten $\tilde{S}_{\rm O}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{u})_j = 0$ and $\tilde{S}_{\rm R}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{u})_j = 0$, i.e., $\tilde{S}_j^{n+1/2} = 0$ and this implies that, for (6.3.20) in Algorithm (4.3.1) we obtain

$$\tilde{u}_{j}^{n+1} = \tilde{u}_{j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t[-\tilde{S}_{j}^{n+1/2}, \tilde{S}_{j}^{n+1/2}] = 0.$$

2. The proof of this property is similar to that of the previous item, but taking into account that in this case $u_{1,k} = 0$ and $u_{2,k} = 0$ for all $k \in \{j, \ldots, j+\delta\}$.

Remark 6.4. Properties proved in Lemma 6.3 tell us that in a same cell, overtaking of two different classes of vehicles traveling in opposite direction on a same lane is not allowed at the same time. Implicitly this means that two vehicles traveling in opposite direction on a same lane can not occupy the same cell.

In order to prove the existence of solutions of model (6.2.1), in the next lemmas we will show some properties of the approximate solutions computed by Algorithm 6.3.1. We start proved positivity of approximate solutions.

Lemma 6.5 (Positivity). Let Assumptions 6.2.1 hold. Then under following CFL condition

$$\Delta t \le \min\left\{\frac{\Delta x}{\mathcal{C}+\mathcal{D}}, \frac{1}{K\rho_{\max}}\right\},$$
(6.3.21)

the approximate solutions computed by means Algorithm (6.3.1) satisfies

$$0 \leq \boldsymbol{\rho}_j^{n+1}, \, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}}_j^{n+1} \leq \rho_{\max},$$

for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Here,

 $\mathcal{C} = \max\{\|v_1\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])}, \|v_2\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])}\},\$

$$\mathcal{D} = \max\{\rho_{\max} \| v_1' \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])}, \rho_{\max} \| v_2' \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0,1])} \},\$$

and $K = \max\{K_1, K_2\}.$

Proof. We assume that $0 \leq \rho_j^n, \tilde{\rho}_j^n \leq \rho_{\max}$ for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, then first for the convective part, for i = 1, 2, we have

$$\rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2} = \left(1 - \lambda v_1(\rho_{i,j+1}^n + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{i,j+1}^n) \chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n))\right) \rho_{i,j}^n \\
+ \rho_{i,j-1}^n v_1(\rho_{i,j-1}^n + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{i,j-1}^n) \chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^n)) \\
\geq 0,$$

and similarly we can obtain $\tilde{\rho}_{i,j}^{n+1/2} \geq 0$. Now, in order to simplify the notation we will denote $F(u, w, \tilde{R}) = uv_i(w + (\rho_{max} - w)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{R}))$, for i = 1, 2 and observe that $\partial_1 F = v_i(w + (\rho_{max} - w)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{R})) \geq 0$, $\partial_2 F = uv'_i(w + (\rho_{max} - w)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{R}))(1 - \chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{R})) \leq 0$ and $\partial_3 F = uv'_i(w + (\rho_{max} - w)\chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{R}))(\rho_{max} - w)\chi'_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{R}) \leq 0$. With this notation we can write $\rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2}$, i = 1, 2 in the scheme (6.3.15) as follows

$$\rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2} = \rho_{i,j}^n - \lambda \left[F(\rho_{i,j}^n, \rho_{i,j+1}^n, \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}) - F(\rho_{i,j-1}^n, \rho_{i,j}^n, \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}) \right], \quad (6.3.22)$$

now observe that by the CFL condition (6.3.21), we get

$$\rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2} \leq \rho_{i,j}^{n} + \lambda \left[F(\rho_{\max}, \rho_{i,j}^{n}, \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}) - F(\rho_{\max}, \rho_{\max}, \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}) \right] \\
= \rho_{i,j}^{n} + \lambda \left[-\partial_2 F(\nu_{j+1/2}^{n})(\rho_{\max} - \rho_{i,j}^{n}) \right] \\
= \left(1 - \lambda (-\partial_2 F(\nu_{j+1/2}^{n})) \right) \rho_{i,j}^{n} - \lambda \partial_2 F(\nu_{j+1/2}^{n}) \rho_{\max} \\
\leq \rho_{\max},$$

where $\nu_{j+1/2}^n \in (\rho_{i,j}^n, \rho_{\max})$. In the same way we can compute

$$\tilde{\rho}_{i,j}^{n+1/2} \leq \left(1 - \lambda(-\partial_2 F(\tilde{\nu}_{j+1/2}^n))\right) \tilde{\rho}_{i,j}^n - \lambda \partial_2 F(\tilde{\nu}_{j+1/2}^n) \rho_{\max}$$

$$\leq \rho_{\max}.$$

Now for reactive terms (6.3.19) we have the following estimates,

• If $S_{\rm O} > 0$,

$$\rho_{1,j}^{n+1} = \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} - \Delta t K_1 (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2}) \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} \\
= \left(1 - \Delta t K_1 (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2}) \right) \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} \\
\geq 0,$$

and also

$$\rho_{1,j}^{n+1} = \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} - \Delta t K_1 (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2}) \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}$$
$$= \left(1 - \Delta t K_1 (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2})\right) \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}$$

$$\leq \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} \\ \leq \rho_{\max}.$$

In the same way,

$$\rho_{2,j}^{n+1} = \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t K_1 (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2}) \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}
= \left(1 - \Delta t K_1 \rho_1^{n+1/2}\right) \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t K_1 \rho_{\max} \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}
\geq 0,$$

and

$$\rho_{2,j}^{n+1} = \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t K_1 (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2}) \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} \\
= \left(1 - \Delta t K_1 \rho_1^{n+1/2}\right) \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t K_1 \rho_{\max} \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} \\
\leq \left(1 - \Delta t K_1 \rho_1^{n+1/2}\right) \rho_{\max} + \Delta t K_1 \rho_{\max} \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} \\
\leq \rho_{\max}.$$

• If $S_{\rm R} > 0$,

$$\rho_{1,j}^{n+1} = \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t K_2 (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}) \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2}
= \left(1 - \Delta t K_2 \rho_2^{n+1/2}\right) \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t K_2 \rho_{\max} \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2}
\geq 0,$$

and also,

$$\rho_{1,j}^{n+1} = \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t K_2 (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}) \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \\
= \left(1 - \Delta t K_2 \rho_2^{n+1/2}\right) \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t K_2 \rho_{\max} \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \\
\leq \left(1 - \Delta t K_2 \rho_2^{n+1/2}\right) \rho_{\max} + \Delta t K_2 \rho_{\max} \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \\
\leq \rho_{\max}$$

In the same way,

$$\begin{aligned}
\rho_{2,j}^{n+1} &= \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} - \Delta t K_2 (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}) \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \\
&= \left(1 - \Delta t K_2 (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}) \right) \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \\
&\geq 0, \\
\rho_{2,j}^{n+1} &= \left(1 - \Delta t K_2 (\rho_{\max} - \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}) \right) \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \\
&\leq \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \\
&\leq \rho_{\max}.
\end{aligned}$$

Following a similar procedure we get $0 \leq \tilde{\rho}_j^{n+1} \leq \rho_{\max}$.

Lemma 6.6 (L¹-bounds). Let $\rho_i^0, \tilde{\rho}_i^0 \in \mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; [0, 1])$, for i = 1, 2 and let the Assumption (6.2.1) holds. Under CFL condition (6.3.21), the approximate solutions $\rho^{\Delta}, \tilde{\rho}^{\Delta}$ constructed by means algorithm (6.3.1) satisfies

$$\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{\Delta}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} := \|\rho_{1}^{\Delta}(t)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \|\rho_{2}^{\Delta}(t)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} = \|\rho_{1}^{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \|\rho_{2}^{0}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}.$$

Proof. The proof is done by induction. Observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \rho_1^{n+1/2} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} &= \| \rho_1^n \|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} = \left\| \rho_1^0 \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})}, \\ \left\| \rho_2^{n+1/2} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} &= \| \rho_2^n \|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} = \left\| \rho_2^0 \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})}, \end{aligned}$$

then, since $\rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} \ge 0$ and $\rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \ge 0$ we get

$$\left\|\rho_{1}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}+\left\|\rho_{2}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}=\left\|\rho_{1}^{0}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}+\left\|\rho_{2}^{0}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}.$$

Now, we consider the reactive terms (6.3.19). Note the fact that when we compute $\rho_{1,j}^{n+1} + \rho_{2,j}^{n+1}$ the source terms sum up to 0, for which we get

$$\left\|\rho_{1}^{n+1}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}+\left\|\rho_{2}^{n+1}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}=\left\|\rho_{1}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}+\left\|\rho_{2}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}=\left\|\rho_{1}^{0}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}+\left\|\rho_{2}^{0}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}.$$

In the same way we get

$$\left\|\tilde{\rho}_{1}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}+\left\|\tilde{\rho}_{2}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}=\|\tilde{\rho}_{1}^{n}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}+\|\tilde{\rho}_{2}^{n}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}=\left\|\tilde{\rho}_{1}^{0}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}+\left\|\tilde{\rho}_{2}^{0}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})},$$

and

$$\left\|\tilde{\rho}_{1}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}+\left\|\tilde{\rho}_{2}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}=\|\tilde{\rho}_{1}^{n}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}+\|\tilde{\rho}_{2}^{n}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}=\left\|\tilde{\rho}_{1}^{0}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})}+\left\|\tilde{\rho}_{2}^{0}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})},$$

Lemma 6.7 (\mathbf{L}^{∞} -bound). Let $\rho_{j}^{0}, \tilde{\rho}_{j}^{0} \in \mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^{+})$. Let the Assumptions 6.2.1 and the CFL condition (6.3.21) hold. Then, for all T > 0, there exist positive constants \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} such that $\rho^{\Delta}, \tilde{\rho}^{\Delta}$ constructed through Algorithm 6.3.1 satisfies

$$\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \leq \mathrm{e}^{T(\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{B})} \|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{0}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}},$$

Here we denote $\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n}}\| = \left\| (\rho_i^n, \tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^n) \right\| = \max_{i,j} \{ |\rho_{i,j}|, |\tilde{\rho}_{[i],j}| \}.$

Proof. In order to prove the estimate in the \mathbf{L}^{∞} norm we will work with the convective terms written like in (6.3.22) and we will follow closely [27]. First we add and subtract the term $\lambda F(\rho_{i,j}^n, \rho_{i,j}^n, \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2})$ in (6.3.22), considering

$$\xi_{j+1/2}^n = (u_{j+1/2}^n, w_{j+1/2}^n, \tilde{\sigma}_j^n) \in \mathcal{I}\left(\left(\rho_j^n, \rho_{j+1}^n, \tilde{R}_{[i], j+1/2}^n\right), \left(\rho_{j-1}^n, \rho_j^n, \tilde{R}_{[i], j-1/2}^n\right)\right),$$

and denoting $\hat{\rho} := \max\{\rho_{i,j-1}^n, \rho_{i,j}^n, \rho_{i,j+1}^n, \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j-1}^n, \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j}^n, \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j+1}^n\}$, we get

$$\rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2} = \left(1 + \lambda \left(\partial_2 F(\xi_{j+1/2}) - \partial_1 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n)\right)\right) \rho_{i,j}^n - \lambda \partial_2 F(\xi_{j+1/2}) \rho_{i,j+1}^n \\
+ \lambda \partial_1 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n) \rho_{i,j-1}^n - \partial_3 F(\xi_{j+1/2}) \left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2} - \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}\right) \\
\leq \hat{\rho} - \partial_3 F(\xi_{j+1/2}) \left|\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2} - \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}\right|$$
(6.3.23)

and likewise,

$$\tilde{\rho}_{[i],j}^{n+1/2} = \left(1 + \lambda \left(\partial_2 F(\tilde{\xi}_{j-1/2}) - \partial_1 F(\tilde{\xi}_{j+1/2}^n) \right) \right) \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j}^n + \lambda \partial_1 F(\tilde{\xi}_{j+1/2}) \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j+1}^n \\
- \lambda \partial_2 F(\tilde{\xi}_{j-1/2}^n) \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j-1}^n + \partial_3 F(\tilde{\xi}_{j-1/2}) \left(R_{i,j+1/2} - R_{i,j-1/2} \right) \\
\leq \hat{\rho} - \partial_3 F(\tilde{\xi}_{j-1/2}) \left| R_{i,j+1/2} - R_{i,j-1/2} \right|$$
(6.3.24)

The next step is to compute the differences of convolution terms in the last term in (6.3.23) and (6.3.24), we estimate it as follows

$$\begin{split} \left| \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n} - \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^{n} \right| &= \left| \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{\eta}^{k} \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j+k+1}^{n} - \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{\eta}^{k} \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j+k}^{n} \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\omega_{\eta}^{k-1} - \omega_{\eta}^{k} \right) \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j+k}^{n} - \omega_{\eta}^{0} \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j}^{n} \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\omega_{\eta}^{k-1} - \omega_{\eta}^{k} \right) \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j+k}^{n} + \omega_{\eta}^{0} \tilde{\rho}_{[i],j}^{n} \\ &\leq 2\omega_{\eta}^{0} \| \boldsymbol{\rho}^{n} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \tag{6.3.25} \\ &\leq 2\Delta x \omega_{\eta}(0) \| \boldsymbol{\rho}^{n} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \tag{6.3.26} \end{split}$$

because $\omega_{\eta}^{0} \leq \Delta x \omega_{\eta}(0)$. In the same way we can compute

$$\left| R_{i,j+1/2}^n - R_{i,j-1/2}^n \right| \leq 2\Delta x \hat{\omega}_\eta(0) \left\| \boldsymbol{\rho}^n \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^\infty}, \qquad (6.3.27)$$

then by replacing (6.3.25), (6.3.27) in (6.3.23) and (6.3.24) respectively we get the following estimate for L^{∞} -norm

$$\left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n+1/2}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \leq (1+\Delta t\mathcal{A}) \left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \qquad (6.3.28)$$

where $\mathcal{A} = 2 \|\partial_3 F\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} W_0$, and $W_0 = \omega_{\eta}(0) + \hat{\omega}_{\eta}(0)$. Next, we proceed to bound the solution at time n + 1. For this end, we need to consider the following cases:

Case 1: This case implies that $\rho_j^{n+1/2} = 0$ and then $\rho_j^{n+1} = 0$. In this case we have the following results:

$$\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1} = \tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1/2} - \Delta t \tilde{S}_{O} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2}, \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \right)$$

	$S_{\rm O}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) > 0$	$S_{\mathcal{O}}\left(\rho_{1},\rho_{2},\tilde{\rho}_{1},\tilde{\rho}_{2}\right)=0$
$\tilde{S}_{\mathcal{O}}\left(\tilde{\rho}_{1},\tilde{\rho}_{2},\rho_{1},\rho_{2}\right)>0$	Х	Case 1
$\tilde{S}_{\mathcal{O}}\left(\tilde{\rho}_{1},\tilde{\rho}_{2},\rho_{1},\rho_{2}\right)=0$	Case 2	Case 3

Table 6.3.1: Cases considered to prove \mathbf{L}^{∞} – bound of approximate solutions to problem (6.2.1) at time n + 1

$$\leq \quad \tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1/2},$$

thus,

$$\left\|
ho^{n+1}
ight\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \leq \left\|
ho^{n+1/2}
ight\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}.$$

Likewise,

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1} &= \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \tilde{S}_{O} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2}, \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \right) \\ &= \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \left(\tilde{S}_{O} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2}, \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \right) \right) \\ &- \tilde{S}_{O} \left(0, \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2}, \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \right) \right) \\ &= \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \partial_{1} \tilde{S}_{O} (\zeta_{2}) \tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \end{split}$$

then

$$\left\|\boldsymbol{\rho^{n+1}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \leq \left(1 + \Delta t \left\|\partial_1 \tilde{S}_{\mathcal{O}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}\right) \left\|\boldsymbol{\rho^{n+1/2}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}.$$

Case 2: This case implies that $S_{\rm R} = 0$ and by Lemma 6.3 $\tilde{\rho}_j^{n+1/2} = 0$ and therefore $\tilde{S}_{\rm R}$ $\tilde{\rho}_j^{n+1} = 0$. Then

$$\begin{split} \rho_{1,j}^{n+1} &= \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} - \Delta t S_{O} \left(\rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2}, \tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \right) \\ &\leq \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \end{split}$$

thus,

$$\left\|
ho^{n+1}
ight\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\infty}} \leq \left\|
ho^{n+1/2}
ight\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\infty}}.$$

Likewise, we have

$$\rho_{2,j}^{n+1} = \rho_{2,j}^{n+1} + \Delta t S_{O} \left(\rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2}, \tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \right) \\
= \rho_{2,j}^{n+1} + \Delta t \left(S_{O} \left(\rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2}, \tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1/2}, \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2} \right) \right)$$

$$-S_{\mathcal{O}}\left(0,\rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2},\tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1/2},\tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2}\right)\right)$$
$$= \rho_{2,j}^{n+1} + \Delta t \partial_1 S_{\mathcal{O}}(\zeta_1)\rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2},$$

so we have

$$\rho_{2,j}^{n+1} + \tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1} = \left(\rho_{2,j}^{n+1} + \tilde{\rho}_{1,j}^{n+1/2}\right) + \Delta t \partial_1 S_{\mathcal{O}}(\zeta_1) \left(\rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} + \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2}\right),$$

and it implies

$$\left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \leq \left(1 + \Delta t \|\partial_1 S_{\mathcal{O}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}\right) \left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}$$

Case 3: In this case we have the following estimates

$$\rho_{1,j}^{n+1} = \rho_{1,j}^{n+1/2} + \Delta t \partial_2 S_{\mathrm{R}}(\zeta_3) \rho_{2,j}^{n+1/2},$$

and

$$\tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1} \le \tilde{\rho}_{2,j}^{n+1/2},$$

then

$$\left\|\boldsymbol{\rho^{n+1}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \leq \left\|\boldsymbol{\rho^{n+1/2}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + \Delta t \left\|\partial_2 S_{\mathbf{R}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left\|\boldsymbol{\rho^{n+1/2}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}$$

Likewise for the other lane we have

$$\left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \leq \left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} + \Delta t \left\|\partial_{2}\tilde{S}_{\mathrm{R}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}$$

So we get

$$\left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \leq \left(1 + \Delta t \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{R}}\right) \left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}},$$

where $\mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{R}} = \max\left\{\left\|\partial_2 S_{\mathrm{R}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \left\|\partial_2 \tilde{S}_{\mathrm{R}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}\right\}.$

Now if we consider $\mathcal{B} = \max \left\{ \left\| \partial_1 \tilde{S}_O \right\|, \left\| \partial_1 S_O \right\|, \mathcal{B}_R \right\}$ we can bound the \mathbf{L}^{∞} - norm of the solution at time n + 1 in all the considered cases, as follow

$$\left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \le (1 + \Delta t \mathcal{B}) \left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{n+1/2}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}.$$
(6.3.29)

By replacing (6.3.28) in (6.3.29)

$$\left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n+1}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \leq e^{\Delta t(\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{B})} \left\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}$$

Then, applying an iterative procedure we finally get the desired result.

Remark 6.8. By virtue of Lemma 6.3 and Remark 6.4 it is not needed to consider the case marked with X in Table 6.3.1.

Next lemma is an important property that allows us to prove the **BV** estimates later.

Lemma 6.9 (Lipschitz continuity of the source terms). The maps $S_{\rm O}$, $S_{\rm R}$, $\tilde{S}_{\rm O}$ and $\tilde{S}_{\rm R}$ defined in (6.1.2), (6.1.3), (6.1.4) and (6.1.5), respectively, are Lipschitz continuous in first and second argument with Lipschitz constant $K = K_1 + K_2$.

Proof. In order to prove this lemma, we need to consider the following cases: **Case 4.** This case implies that $S_{\rm R}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) = 0$ and $S_{\rm R}(u_1, u_2, \tilde{u}_1, \tilde{u}_2) = 0$, then

	$S_{\rm O}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) > 0$	$S_{\mathcal{O}}\left(\rho_{1},\rho_{2},\tilde{\rho}_{1},\tilde{\rho}_{2}\right)=0$
$S_{O}(u_{1}, u_{2}, \tilde{u}_{1}, \tilde{u}_{2}) > 0$	Case 4	Case 5
$S_{O}\left(u_{1}, u_{2}, \tilde{u}_{1}, \tilde{u}_{2}\right) = 0$	Case 6	Case 7

Table 6.3.2: Cases considered to prove Lipschitz continuity of source terms

$$S_{O}(\rho_{1},\rho_{2},\tilde{\rho}_{1},\tilde{\rho}_{2}) - S_{O}(u_{1},u_{2},\tilde{u}_{1},\tilde{u}_{2})$$

= $K_{1}((\rho_{\max}-\rho_{2})\rho_{1} - (\rho_{\max}-u_{2})u_{1})$
= $K_{1}((\rho_{\max}-\rho_{2})\rho_{1} \pm (\rho_{\max}-\rho_{2})u_{1} - (\rho_{\max}-u_{2})u_{1})$
= $K_{1}((\rho_{\max}-\rho_{2})(\rho_{1}-u_{1}) + (u_{2}-\rho_{2})u_{1})$
 $\leq K_{1}((\rho_{1}-u_{1}) + (u_{2}-\rho_{2})),$

then, taking absolute value in the above equality, we get

$$|S_{\mathcal{O}}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) - S_{\mathcal{O}}(u_1, u_2, \tilde{u}_1, \tilde{u}_2)| \le K_1(|\rho_1 - u_1| + |\rho_2 - u_2|).$$

Next, we will turn to Case 6, the Case 5 is similar. **Case 6.** Regarding the Case 13, it implies $S_{\rm R}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) = 0$ and $S_{\rm R}(u_1, u_2, \tilde{u}_1, \tilde{u}_2) > 0$,

then we have the following estimates

$$\begin{split} &|S_{\mathcal{O}}\left(\rho_{1},\rho_{2},\tilde{\rho}_{1},\tilde{\rho}_{2}\right)-S_{\mathcal{R}}\left(u_{1},u_{2},\tilde{u}_{1},\tilde{u}_{2}\right)|\\ &|S_{\mathcal{O}}\left(\rho_{1},\rho_{2},\tilde{\rho}_{1},\tilde{\rho}_{2}\right)-S_{\mathcal{O}}\left(u_{1},u_{2},\tilde{u}_{1},\tilde{u}_{2}\right)+S_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\rho_{1},\rho_{2},\tilde{\rho}_{1},\tilde{\rho}_{2}\right)-S_{\mathcal{R}}\left(u_{1},u_{2},\tilde{u}_{1},\tilde{u}_{2}\right)|\\ &\leq|S_{\mathcal{O}}\left(\rho_{1},\rho_{2},\tilde{\rho}_{1},\tilde{\rho}_{2}\right)-S_{\mathcal{O}}\left(u_{1},u_{2},\tilde{u}_{1},\tilde{u}_{2}\right)|+|S_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\rho_{1},\rho_{2},\tilde{\rho}_{1},\tilde{\rho}_{2}\right)-S_{\mathcal{R}}\left(u_{1},u_{2},\tilde{u}_{1},\tilde{u}_{2}\right)|\\ &\leq K_{1}\left(|\rho_{1}-u_{1}|+|\rho_{2}-u_{2}|\right)+K_{2}\left(|\rho_{1}-u_{1}|+|\rho_{2}-u_{2}|\right)\\ &=K\left(|\rho_{1}-u_{1}|+|\rho_{2}-u_{2}|\right). \end{split}$$

Case 7. This case implies that $S_{\mathrm{R}}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) > 0$ and $S_{\mathrm{R}}(u_1, u_2, \tilde{u}_1, \tilde{u}_2) > 0$, then we get

$$S_{\rm R}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) - S_{\rm R}(u_1, u_2, \tilde{u}_1, \tilde{u}_2) = K_2((\rho_{\rm max} - \rho_1)\rho_2 - (\rho_{\rm max} - u_1)u_2)$$

6.3. Numerical scheme

$$= K_2 \left(\rho_2 (u_1 - \rho_1) + (\rho_2 - u_2) (\rho_{\max} - u_1) \right) \\ \leq K_2 \left((u_1 - \rho_1) + (\rho_2 - u_2) \right),$$

then,

$$|S_{\mathcal{R}}(\rho_1, \rho_2, \tilde{\rho}_1, \tilde{\rho}_2) - S_{\mathcal{R}}(u_1, u_2, \tilde{u}_1, \tilde{u}_2)| \le K_2(|\rho_1 - u_1| + |\rho_2 - u_2|)$$

Considering similar cases we can prove the Lipschitz continuity of $\tilde{S}_{\rm O}$ and $\tilde{S}_{\rm R}$.

6.3.2 BV estimates

Proposition 6.9.1 (**BV estimates in space**). Let $\rho_j^0, \tilde{\rho}_j^0 \in (\mathbf{L}^{\infty} \cap \mathbf{BV})(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}^+)$. Let the Assumptions 6.2.1 and CFL condition (6.3.21) hold. Then, for all T > 0 there exist a positive constant \mathcal{H} such that ρ^{Δ} , $\tilde{\rho}^{\Delta}$ constructed through Algorithm 6.3.1 satisfies the following estimate: for all $n = 0, \ldots, N_T$,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n}) \right) \leq e^{T(2K+\mathcal{H})} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{0}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{0}) \right) + 2T\mathcal{G} \right)$$
(6.3.30)

Proof. Taking into account (6.3.22) we can write

$$\rho_{i,j+1}^{n+1/2} = \rho_{i,j+1}^n - \lambda \left[F(\rho_{i,j+1}^n, \rho_{i,j+2}^n, \tilde{R}_{[i],j+3/2}) - F(\rho_{i,j}^n, \rho_{i,j+1}^n, \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}) \right].$$

Setting $\Delta_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1/2} = \rho_{i,j+1}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2}$, for all i = 1, 2 we compute the following estimates

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1/2} &= \left[1 - \lambda \left(\partial_1 F(\xi_{j+1/2}^n) - \partial_2 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n) \right) \right] \Delta_{j+1/2}^n \\ &- \lambda \partial_2 F(\xi_{j+1/2}^n) \Delta_{i,j+3/2}^n + \lambda \partial_1 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n) \Delta_{j-1/2}^n \\ &- \lambda \partial_3 F(\xi_{j+1/2}^n) \left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+3/2}^n - \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n \right) \\ &+ \lambda \partial_3 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n) \left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n - \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^n \right) \\ &= \left[1 - \lambda \left(\partial_1 F(\xi_{j+1/2}^n) - \partial_2 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n) \right) \right] \Delta_{j+1/2}^n \\ &- \lambda \partial_2 F(\xi_{j+1/2}^n) \Delta_{i,j+3/2}^n + \lambda \partial_1 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n) \Delta_{j-1/2}^n \\ &+ \lambda \partial_3 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n) \left[\left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n - \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^n \right) - \left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+3/2}^n - \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n \right) \right] \\ &+ \lambda \left[\partial_3 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n) - \partial_3 F(\xi_{j+1/2}^n) \right] \left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n - \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^n \right) \end{split}$$

where $\xi_{j+1/2}^n = \left(u_{j+1/2}^n, w_{j+1/2}^n, \tilde{\sigma}_{j+1/2}^n\right) \in \mathcal{I}\left((\rho_j^n, \rho_{j+1}^n, \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n), (\rho_{j-1}^n, \rho_j^n, \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^n)\right)$. Observe that the first term in the last equality is positive because of (CFL) condition (6.3.21), so taking absolute value in the above equality we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \Delta_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right| & (6.3.31) \\ &= \left[1 - \lambda \left(\partial_1 F(\xi_{j+1/2}^n) - \partial_2 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n) \right) \right] \left| \Delta_{j+1/2}^n \right| \\ &- \lambda \partial_2 F(\xi_{j+1/2}^n) \left| \Delta_{i,j+3/2}^n \right| + \lambda \partial_1 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n) \left| \Delta_{j-1/2}^n \right| \\ &+ \lambda \| \partial_3 F \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left| \left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+3/2}^n - \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n \right) - \left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n - \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^n \right) \right| & (6.3.32) \\ &+ \lambda \left| \partial_3 F(\xi_{j-1/2}^n) - \partial_3 F(\xi_{j+1/2}^n) \right| \left| \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n - \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^n \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Next, the term (6.3.32) can be estimated as follow

$$\begin{split} & \left| \left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+3/2}^{n} - \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n} \right) - \left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n} - \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^{n} \right) \right| \\ &= \left| \Delta x \left[\left(\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{\eta}^{k} \tilde{\rho}_{j+k+2}^{n} - \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{\eta}^{k} \tilde{\rho}_{j+k+1}^{n} \right) - \left(\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{\eta}^{k} \tilde{\rho}_{j+k+1}^{n} - \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{\eta}^{k} \tilde{\rho}_{j+k}^{n} \right) \right] \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{\eta}^{k} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{j+k+2}^{n} - \tilde{\rho}_{j+k+1}^{n} \right) - \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{\eta}^{k} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{j+k+1}^{n} - \tilde{\rho}_{j+k}^{n} \right) \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{k=1}^{N} \omega_{\eta}^{k-1} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{j+k+1}^{n} - \tilde{\rho}_{j+k}^{n} \right) - \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \omega_{\eta}^{k} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{j+k+1}^{n} - \tilde{\rho}_{j+k}^{n} \right) \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\omega_{\eta}^{k-1} - \omega_{\eta}^{k} \right) \left(\tilde{\rho}_{j+k+1}^{n} - \tilde{\rho}_{j+k}^{n} \right) - \omega_{\eta}^{0} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{j+1}^{n} - \tilde{\rho}_{j}^{n} \right) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\omega_{\eta}^{k-1} - \omega_{\eta}^{k} \right) \left| \tilde{\rho}_{j+k+1}^{n} - \tilde{\rho}_{j+k}^{n} \right| + \omega_{\eta}^{0} \left| \tilde{\rho}_{j+1}^{n} - \tilde{\rho}_{j}^{n} \right|, \end{split}$$

and summing over all $j\in\mathbb{Z}$ we get

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+3/2}^n - \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n \right) - \left(\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^n - \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^n \right) \right| \\ &\leq \Delta x \left[\sum_{k=1}^N \left(\omega_\eta^{k-1} - \omega_\eta^k \right) \mathrm{TV} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^n \right) + \omega_\eta^0 \mathrm{TV} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^n \right) \right] \\ &= 2\Delta x \omega_\eta(0) \mathrm{TV} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^n \right). \end{split}$$

Now, for (6.3.33) we have the following estimates

$$\left|\partial_{3}F(\xi_{j-1/2}^{n}) - \partial_{3}F(\xi_{j+1/2}^{n})\right| \leq \left\|\nabla\partial_{3}F\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left|\xi_{j+1/2}^{n} - \xi_{j-1/2}^{n}\right|,$$

and by the choice of $\xi_{j+1/2}^n$, the term $\left|\xi_{j+1/2}^n - \xi_{j-1/2}^n\right|$ can be decomposed as follows

$$\begin{vmatrix} \xi_{j+1/2}^n - \xi_{j-1/2}^n \\ = \left| \theta \rho_{j+1}^n + (1-\theta) \rho_j^n - \mu \rho_j^n + (1-\mu) \rho_{j-1}^n \right|$$
(6.3.34)

$$+ \left| \vartheta \rho_{j+2}^{n} + (1-\vartheta) \rho_{j+1}^{n} - \iota \rho_{j+1}^{n} + (1-\iota) \rho_{j}^{n} \right|$$
(6.3.35)

$$+ \left| \alpha \tilde{R}^{n}_{[i],j+3/2} + (1-\alpha) \tilde{R}^{n}_{[i],j+1/2} - \beta \tilde{R}^{n}_{[i],j+1/2} - (1-\beta) \tilde{R}^{n}_{[i],j-1/2} \right|, (6.3.36)$$

so, for (6.3.34) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \theta \rho_{j+1}^n + (1-\theta) \rho_j^n - \mu \rho_j^n + (1-\mu) \rho_{j-1}^n \right| &= \left| \theta (\rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n) + (1-\mu) (\rho_j^n - \rho_{j-1}^n) \right| \\ &\leq \left| \rho_{j+1}^n - \rho_j^n \right| + \left| \rho_j^n - \rho_{j-1}^n \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, for (6.3.35) we have

$$\left|\vartheta\rho_{j+2}^{n} + (1-\vartheta)\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \iota\rho_{j+1}^{n} + (1-\iota)\rho_{j}^{n}\right| \le \left|\rho_{j+2}^{n} - \rho_{j+1}^{n}\right| + \left|\rho_{j+1}^{n} - \rho_{j}^{n}\right|,$$

and finally, for (6.3.36) we get

$$\begin{split} & \left| \alpha \tilde{R}_{[i],j+3/2}^{n} + (1-\alpha) \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n} - \beta \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n} - (1-\beta) \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^{n} \right| \\ = & \left| \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left\{ \alpha \left(\omega_{\eta}^{k-1} - \omega_{\eta}^{k} \right) + (1-\beta) \left(\omega_{\eta}^{k} - \omega_{\eta}^{k+1} \right) \right\} \tilde{\rho}_{j+k+1}^{n} \\ & - \left(\alpha \omega_{\eta}^{0} + (1-\beta) \omega_{\eta}^{1} \right) \tilde{\rho}_{j+1}^{n} + (1-\beta) \omega_{\eta}^{0} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{j+1}^{n} - \tilde{\rho}_{j}^{n} \right) \right| \\ \leq & \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left\{ \alpha \left(\omega_{\eta}^{k-1} - \omega_{\eta}^{k} \right) + (1-\beta) \left(\omega_{\eta}^{k} - \omega_{\eta}^{k+1} \right) \right\} \tilde{\rho}_{j+k+1}^{n} \\ & + \left(\alpha \omega_{\eta}^{0} + (1-\beta) \omega_{\eta}^{1} \right) \tilde{\rho}_{j+1}^{n} + (1-\beta) \omega_{\eta}^{0} \left| \tilde{\rho}_{j+1}^{n} - \tilde{\rho}_{j}^{n} \right|, \end{split}$$

thus,

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \alpha \tilde{R}_{[i],j+3/2}^{n} + (1-\alpha) \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n} - \beta \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n} - (1-\beta) \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^{n} \right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \tilde{\rho}_{j}^{n} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\omega_{\eta}^{k-1} - \omega_{\eta}^{k+1} \right) \right) + 2\omega_{\eta}^{0} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \tilde{\rho}_{j}^{n} + \omega_{\eta}^{0} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \tilde{\rho}_{j+1}^{n} - \tilde{\rho}_{j}^{n} \right|$$

$$\leq 4\omega_{\eta}(0) \| \tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} + \Delta x \omega_{\eta}(0) \operatorname{TV} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n} \right).$$

Therefore, taking into account all the above estimates we get

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right| \leq (1 + \Delta t \mathcal{H}_1) \operatorname{TV}(\rho_i^n) + \Delta t \mathcal{H}_2 \operatorname{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^n) + \Delta t \mathcal{H}_3,$$

where

$$\mathcal{H}_{1} = 8\omega_{\eta}^{0} \|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\nabla \partial_{3}F\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}},$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{2} = 2 \left(\|\partial_{3}F\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \omega_{\eta}(0) + \Delta x (\omega_{\eta}(0))^{2} \|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\nabla \partial_{3}F\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right),$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{3} = 8 (\omega_{\eta}(0))^{2} \|\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{\boldsymbol{n}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}} \|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\nabla \partial_{3}F\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}.$$

Likewise, we can estimate

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \tilde{\Delta}_{[i], j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right| \leq \left(1 + \Delta t \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_1 \right) \operatorname{TV} \left(\rho_{[i]}^n \right) + \Delta t \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_2 \operatorname{TV}(\rho_i^n) + \Delta t \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_3,$$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_1 &= 8\hat{\omega}_{\eta}(0) \|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\nabla \partial_3 F\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \\ \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_2 &= 2 \left(\|\partial_3 F\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \hat{\omega}_{\eta}(0) + \Delta x (\hat{\omega}_{\eta}(0))^2 \|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\nabla \partial_3 F\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right), \\ \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_3 &= 8 (\hat{\omega}_{\eta}(0))^2 \|\boldsymbol{\rho}_i^{\boldsymbol{n}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^1} \|\boldsymbol{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{n}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \|\nabla \partial_3 F\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}. \end{split}$$

Thus we get, for i = 1, 2

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\left| \Delta_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right| + \left| \tilde{\Delta}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right| \right) \\ &= (1 + \Delta t \mathcal{H}_1) \operatorname{TV} \left(\rho_i^n \right) + \Delta t \mathcal{H}_2 \operatorname{TV} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^n \right) + \Delta t \mathcal{H}_3 \\ &+ \left(1 + \Delta t \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_1 \right) \operatorname{TV} \left(\rho_{[i]}^n \right) + \Delta t \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_2 \operatorname{TV} \left(\rho_i^n \right) + \Delta t \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_3 \\ &= \left(1 + \Delta t \left(\mathcal{H}_1 + \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_2 \right) \right) \operatorname{TV} \left(\rho_i^n \right) + \left(1 + \Delta t \left(\mathcal{H}_2 + \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_1 \right) \right) \operatorname{TV} \left(\rho_{[i]}^n \right) \\ &+ \Delta t \left(\mathcal{H}_3 + \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_3 \right) \\ &\leq (1 + \Delta t \mathcal{H}) \left(\operatorname{TV} \left(\rho_i^n \right) + \operatorname{TV} \left(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^n \right) \right) + \Delta t \mathcal{G}, \end{split}$$

where $\mathcal{H} = \max\{\mathcal{H}_1 + \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_2, \mathcal{H}_2 + \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_1\}$ and $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{H}_3 + \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_3$. If we sum the two lanes, we get

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\operatorname{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n+1/2}) + \operatorname{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n+1/2}) \right)$$

$$\leq (1 + \Delta t \mathcal{H}) \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\operatorname{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n}) + \operatorname{TV}\left(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n}\right) \right) + 2\Delta t \mathcal{G}$$
(6.3.37)

Let us compute now, for the reactive part (6.3.19)

$$\Delta_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1} = \Delta_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1/2} - \Delta t \left(S_{\mathrm{O},j+1} - S_{\mathrm{O},j} - \left(S_{\mathrm{R},j+1} - S_{\mathrm{R},j} \right) \right),$$

now applying absolute value and Lipschitz continuity of the source terms given in Lemma 6.9 and summing over all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ we get. for i = 1, 2

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1} \right| \leq (1+\Delta tK) \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right| + \Delta tK \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{[i],j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right|,$$

In a similar way for the other species we get,

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \tilde{\Delta}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n+1} \right| \leq (1+\Delta tK) \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \tilde{\Delta}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right| + \Delta tK \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \tilde{\Delta}_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right|,$$

then

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\left| \Delta_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1} \right| + \left| \tilde{\Delta}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n+1} \right| \right) &\leq (1 + \Delta tK) \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\left| \Delta_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right| + \left| \tilde{\Delta}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right| \right) \\ &+ \Delta tK \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\left| \Delta_{[i],j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right| + \left| \tilde{\Delta}_{i,j+1/2}^{n+1/2} \right| \right), \end{split}$$

summing the two lanes and by (6.3.37) we get

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n+1}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n+1}) \right) \\ &\leq (1 + 2\Delta tK) \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n+1/2}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n+1/2}) \right) \\ &\leq (1 + 2\Delta tK) \left((1 + \Delta tH) \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n}) \right) + 2\Delta t\mathcal{G} \right) \\ &= (1 + 2\Delta tK) (1 + \Delta tH) \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n}) \right) \\ &+ (1 + 2\Delta tK) 2\Delta t\mathcal{G} \\ &\leq e^{\Delta t(2K+\mathcal{H})} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n}) \right) + 2\Delta t\mathcal{G} \right), \end{split}$$

i.e.,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n+1}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n+1}) \right) \leq e^{\Delta t(2K+\mathcal{H})} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n}) \right) + 2\Delta t \mathcal{G} \right).$$

Then applying an iterative process we get

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n}) \right) \leq e^{T(2K+\mathcal{H})} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{0}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{0}) \right) + 2T\mathcal{G} \right).$$

Corollary 6.10 (BV estimate in space and time). Let $\rho_j^0, \tilde{\rho}_j^0 \in (\mathbf{L}^{\infty} \cap \mathbf{BV}) (\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}^+)$. Let the Assumption 6.2.1 and CFL condition (6.3.21) hold. Then, for all T > 0,
ρ^{Δ} , $\tilde{\rho}^{\Delta}$ constructed through Algorithm 6.3.1 satisfies the following estimate: for all $n = 1, \ldots, N_T$,

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \Delta t \left| \rho_{i,j+1}^{n} - \rho_{i,j}^{n} \right| + (T - N_{T} \Delta t) \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{i,j+1}^{N_{T}} - \rho_{i,j}^{N_{T}} \right| \\ &+ \sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \Delta x \left| \rho_{i,j}^{n+1} - \rho_{i,j}^{n} \right| \\ &\leq T e^{T(2K\mathcal{H})} \left(1 + 2\mathcal{L} \right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{0}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{0}) \right) + 2T\mathcal{G} \right) \\ &+ 2T \max \left\{ \| \partial_{1} S_{\mathrm{O}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \| \partial_{2} S_{\mathrm{R}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right\} \left(\| \rho_{i}^{0} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \left\| \rho_{[i]}^{0} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \right). \end{split}$$

Proof. By means \mathbf{BV} estimate in space (6.3.30), we have

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \Delta t \left| \rho_{i,j+1}^{n} - \rho_{i,j}^{n} \right| + (T - N_{T} \Delta t) \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{i,j+1}^{N_{T}} - \rho_{i,j}^{N_{T}} \right|$$

$$\leq e^{T(2K+\mathcal{H})} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{0}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{0}) \right) + 2T\mathcal{G} \right).$$
(6.3.38)

On the other hand, observe that

$$\left|\rho_{i,j}^{n+1} - \rho_{i,j}^{n}\right| \le \left|\rho_{i,j}^{n+1} - \rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2}\right| + \left|\rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{i,j}^{n}\right|.$$
(6.3.39)

Now we estimate every term on right hand side of the inequality (6.3.39). By (6.3.19) in **Algorithm 6.3.1** we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \rho_{i,j}^{n+1} - \rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2} \right| &\leq \Delta t |S_{\mathrm{O}}(\rho_{1}^{n}, \rho_{2}^{n}, \tilde{\rho}_{1}^{n}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}^{n}) - S_{\mathrm{R}}(\rho_{1}^{n}, \rho_{2}^{n}, \tilde{\rho}_{1}^{n}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}^{n})| \\ &\leq \Delta t |\partial_{1}S_{\mathrm{O}}(\rho_{1}^{n}, \rho_{2}^{n}, \tilde{\rho}_{1}^{n}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}^{n})\rho_{1}^{n} + \partial_{2}S_{\mathrm{R}}(\rho_{1}^{n}, \rho_{2}^{n}, \tilde{\rho}_{1}^{n}, \tilde{\rho}_{2}^{n})\rho_{2}^{n}| \\ &\leq \Delta t \max\left\{ \|\partial_{1}S_{\mathrm{O}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \|\partial_{2}S_{\mathrm{R}}\|\right\}_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left(\rho_{i,j}^{n} + \rho_{[i],j}^{n}\right), \end{aligned}$$

then, multiplying by Δx and summing over all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{i,j}^{n+1} - \rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2} \right|$$
(6.3.40)

$$\leq \Delta t \max\left\{ \left\| \partial_1 S_{\mathcal{O}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \left\| \partial_2 S_{\mathcal{R}} \right\| \right\}_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \left(\left\| \rho_i^n \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} + \left\| \rho_{[i]}^n \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^1(\mathbb{R})} \right). \quad (6.3.41)$$

Now we analyze the second term on the right hand side of (6.3.39). Since the numerical flux defined in (6.3.2) is Lipschitz continuous in all their arguments with Lipschitz constant $\mathcal{L} = \max\{\|\partial_1 F\|, \|\partial_2 F\|, \|\partial_3 F\|\}$, we get

$$\left|\rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{i,j}^{n}\right| = \left|\lambda\left(F(\rho_{j}^{n}), \rho_{j+1}^{n}, \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n}) - F(\rho_{j}^{n}), \rho_{j+1}^{n}, \tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n})\right)\right|$$

6.3. Numerical scheme

$$\leq \lambda \mathcal{L}\left(\left|\rho_{i,j}^{n} - \rho_{i,j-1}^{n}\right| + \left|\rho_{i,j+1}^{n} - \rho_{i,j}^{n}\right| + \left|\tilde{R}_{[i],j+1/2}^{n} - \tilde{R}_{[i],j-1/2}^{n}\right|\right).$$

then multiplying by Δx and summing over all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have

$$\begin{split} &\Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{i,j}^{n} \right| \\ &\leq \Delta t \mathcal{L} \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{i,j}^{n} - \rho_{i,j-1}^{n} \right| + \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{i,j+1}^{n} - \rho_{i,j}^{n} \right| + \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \tilde{R}_{i,j+1/2}^{n} - \tilde{R}_{i,j+1/2}^{n} \right| \right), \end{split}$$

and noticing that

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \tilde{R}_{i,j+1/2}^n - \tilde{R}_{i,j+1/2}^n \right| \le \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^n),$$

we get the following estimate

$$\Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{i,j}^{n+1/2} - \rho_{i,j}^{n} \right| \leq 2\Delta t \mathcal{L} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_i^n) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^n) \right).$$
(6.3.42)

Collecting together (6.3.40), (6.3.42) and summing for i = 1, 2 we obtain

$$\begin{split} \Delta x \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{i,j}^{n+1} - \rho_{i,j}^{n} \right| \\ &\leq 2\Delta t \max\left\{ \|\partial_{1} S_{\mathcal{O}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \|\partial_{2} S_{\mathcal{R}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right\} \left(\|\rho_{i}^{n}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \left\|\rho_{[i]}^{n}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \right) \\ &+ 2\Delta t \mathcal{L} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{n}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{n}) \right), \end{split}$$

by using Lemma 6.6 and Proposition 6.3.30 we get

$$\Delta x \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{i,j}^{n+1} - \rho_{i,j}^{n} \right|$$

$$\leq 2\Delta t \max \left\{ \|\partial_{1}S_{O}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \|\partial_{2}S_{R}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right\} \left(\left\| \rho_{i}^{0} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \left\| \rho_{[i]}^{0} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \right)$$

$$+ 2\Delta t \mathcal{L} e^{T(2K+\mathcal{H})} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\operatorname{TV}(\rho_{i}^{0}) + \operatorname{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{0}) \right) + 2T\mathcal{G} \right).$$

$$(6.3.43)$$

Finally, collecting together (4.3.13), (6.3.43) and summing for n from 0 until $N_T - 1$ we get the following **BV** bound in space and time

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \sum_{i=1}^2 \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \Delta t \left| \rho_{i,j+1}^n - \rho_{i,j}^n \right| + (T - N_T \Delta t) \sum_{i=1}^2 \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{i,j+1}^{N_T} - \rho_{i,j}^{N_T} \right|$$

146

$$+\Delta x \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \rho_{i,j}^{n+1} - \rho_{i,j}^{n} \right|$$

$$\leq T e^{T(2K\mathcal{H})} \left(1 + 2\mathcal{L} \right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\mathrm{TV}(\rho_{i}^{0}) + \mathrm{TV}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]}^{0}) \right) + 2T\mathcal{G} \right)$$

$$+ 2T \max \left\{ \|\partial_{1}S_{\mathrm{O}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}}, \|\partial_{2}S_{\mathrm{R}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}} \right\} \left(\left\| \rho_{i}^{0} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \left\| \rho_{[i]}^{0} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{1}(\mathbb{R})} \right). \quad (6.3.44)$$

The convergence of the approximate solutions constructed by Algorithm 6.3.1 towards the weak solution can be proven by applying Helly's compactness theorem. The latter can be applied due to Lemma 6.5, Lemma 6.7 and Corollary 6.10 and states that there exists sub-sequences of approximate solutions ρ^{Δ} and $\tilde{\rho}^{\Delta}$ that converge in \mathbf{L}^1 to functions $\rho, \tilde{\rho} \in \mathbf{L}^{\infty}([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}^+)$, respectively.

Now we need to prove that this limit function is indeed a weak solution to (6.2.1), in the sense of Definition 6.1.

Lemma 6.11. Let $\rho_j^0, \tilde{\rho}_j^0 \in BV(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}^+)$, and the Assumptions 6.2.1 and the CFL condition (6.3.21) be in effect. Then the piecewise constant approximate solutions $\rho^{\Delta}, \tilde{\rho}^{\Delta}$ resulting from the **Algorithm 6.3.1** converge, as $\Delta x \to 0$, towards an weak solution of (6.2.1).

Proof. Let $\varphi \in C_c^1([0,T]; \mathbb{R}^+)$ for some T > 0. Multiplying first (6.3.15) by $\Delta x \varphi(t^n, x_j)$ and summing over $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and over $n = 0, \ldots, N_T$ yields

$$\underbrace{\Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T} \left(\boldsymbol{\rho}_j^{n+1/2} - \boldsymbol{\rho}_j^n \right) \varphi(t^n, x_j)}_{I_1} + \underbrace{\Delta t \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T} \left(\boldsymbol{F}_{j+1/2}^n - \boldsymbol{F}_{j-1/2}^n \right) \varphi(t^n, x_j)}_{I_2} = 0.$$

We first consider I_1 .

$$I_1 = -\Delta t \Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T} \rho_j^{n+1/2} \frac{\left(\varphi(t^{n+1/2}, x_j) - \varphi(t^n, x_j)\right)}{\Delta t} - \Delta t \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \rho_j^0 \varphi(0, x_j),$$

and by the Dominate Convergence Theorem, we get for i = 1, 2.

$$I_1 \to -\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \boldsymbol{\rho}_{\boldsymbol{i}}(t, x) \partial_x \varphi(t, x) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t - \int_{\mathbb{R}} \boldsymbol{\rho}_{\boldsymbol{j}}^{\mathbf{0}} \varphi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x.$$

6.3. Numerical scheme

We now study I_2 . This term can be rewrite as

$$I_2 = -\Delta t \Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T} F_{j+1/2}^n \left(\frac{\varphi(t^n, x_{j+1}) - \varphi(t^n, x_j)}{\Delta x} \right),$$

and again by Dominate Convergence Theorem we get

$$I_2 \to -\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} \boldsymbol{F} \partial_x \varphi(t, x) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t,$$

where $\mathbf{F} = \rho_i v_i (\rho_i + (\rho_{\max} - \rho_i) \chi_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{\rho}_{[i]} * \omega_{\eta}))$ thus

$$I_1 + I_2 \to -\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \boldsymbol{\rho}_{\boldsymbol{i}}(t, x) \partial_x \varphi(t, x) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t - \int_{\mathbb{R}} \boldsymbol{\rho}_{\boldsymbol{j}}^{\mathbf{0}} \varphi(0, x) \mathrm{d}x - \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} \boldsymbol{F} \partial_x \varphi(t, x) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}t.$$

Now, the next step in the proof is to multiply (6.3.19) by $\Delta x \varphi(t^n, x_j)$ and summing over $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and over $n = 0, \ldots, N_T$ yields

$$\Delta x \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T} \left(\boldsymbol{\rho}_j^{n+1} - \boldsymbol{\rho}_j^{n+1/2} \right) \varphi(t^n, x_j)$$
$$-\Delta x \Delta t \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T} \left(-\boldsymbol{S}_j^{n+1/2}, \boldsymbol{S}_j^{n+1/2} \right) \varphi(t^n, x_j) = 0,$$

replacing $\rho_j^{n+1/2}$ of (6.3.15) in above equality we get

$$I_1 + I_2 + I_3 = 0,$$

where

$$I_3 = -\Delta x \Delta t \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T} \left(-\boldsymbol{S_j^{n+1/2}}, \boldsymbol{S_j^{n+1/2}} \right) \varphi(t^n, x_j),$$

of which we can deduce that

$$I_3 \rightarrow -\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(-\left(\boldsymbol{S}_{\mathbf{O}} - \boldsymbol{S}_{\boldsymbol{R}} \right), \boldsymbol{S}_{\mathbf{O}} - \boldsymbol{S}_{\boldsymbol{R}} \right) \varphi(t, x).$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \boldsymbol{\rho}_i(t,x) \partial_x \varphi(t,x) dx dt &+ \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} \boldsymbol{F} \partial_x \varphi(t,x) dx dt \\ &+ \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(-\left(\boldsymbol{S}_{\mathbf{O}} - \boldsymbol{S}_{\mathbf{R}} \right), \boldsymbol{S}_{\mathbf{O}} - \boldsymbol{S}_{\mathbf{R}} \right) \varphi(t,x) \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}} \boldsymbol{\rho}_j^0 \varphi(0,x) dx = 0. \end{split}$$

Г		
L		
L		_

6.4 Numerical examples

In the following numerical tests we will solve (6.2.1) numerically for $x \in [0, 5]$ and we set Δt satisfying CFL condition (6.3.21). In each numerical example we consider $\eta = 0.1$, $\delta = 0.5$ and the same maximum velocity for each class of vehicles, namely $V_{\text{max}} = 1$, we also consider the following regularization for the indicator function

$$\chi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } x < 0\\ \exp(-50(\frac{x-\varepsilon}{\varepsilon})^2), & \text{if } 0 \le x \le \varepsilon\\ 1, & \text{if } x > \varepsilon, \end{cases}$$

with $\varepsilon = 0.1$.

6.4.1 Example 12.

This example is intended to describe the behaviour of vehicles on a two-lanes and two-way road in which the lane 1 is occupied for vehicles traveling from left to right and there are no vehicles traveling in opposite direction, i.e we have a empty road with presence only of vehicles ρ_1 , more specifically we consider $\rho_1^0 = \begin{cases} 0.5 & \text{if } 0.2 < x < 0.6 \\ 0.9 & \text{if } 1 < x < 2 \end{cases}$ and $\rho_2^0 = \tilde{\rho}_1^0 = \tilde{\rho}_2^0 = 0$. In Figure 2.6.1 we show the evolution of $\rho^{\Delta}(\cdot, t)$ for $t \in [0, 2.5]$ with $\Delta x = 1/160$. This initial condition indicate that initially there are two queues of vehicles on the Lane 1, the first one with a medium density and second one with high density concentration; the first queue is shorter than second one. As time progresses we can observe that vehicles at the head of the first queue advance forming a rarefaction wave and then a few number of vehicles overtake using the Lane 2, also, we can see a few number of vehicles in the back of first queue overtaking to the Lane 2. Regarding to second queue, we can observe that between x = 1 and x = 1.5 a high concentration of vehicles overtaking using the Lane 2, after a while that vehicles return to Lane 1, and between t = 0.6 and t = 1.8, approximately, we see the formation of a shock due to the difference of densities concentration of vehicles and finally, the vehicles at the head of second queue form a rarefaction wave, it means that vehicles advance normally on the Lane 1 without to do overtaking.

6.4.2 Example 13

Main aim of this example is show that model proposed (6.2.1) doesn't allow crashes between vehicles. For this, we consider $\rho_1^0 = 0.9$ for $x \in [0.5, 1.5]$ and $\tilde{\rho}_2^0 = 0.9$ for $x \in [2.5, 3]$. This numerical example show a extreme case in which the specie ρ_1 travel on lane 1 and there is a lane invasion by the specie traveling in opposite direction, i.e., there is presence of $\tilde{\rho}_2$ closely to ρ_1 on the Lane 1. In Figure 6.4.2 we can see the evolution of the behavior of vehicles for $t \in [0, 2.5]$ with $\Delta x = 1/160$. The initial condition tell us that initially there are a big concentration of vehicles of both classes ρ_1 and $\tilde{\rho}_2$. As time progresses, vehicles of the class $\tilde{\rho}_2$ return quickly to their preferred lane, $\tilde{\rho}_1$, while vehicles



Figure 6.4.1: Numerical approximation of solutions in Example 12 at time $t \in [0, 2.5]$. Bottom: Vehicles of class ρ_1 traveling from left to right on Lane 1. Top: vehicles of class $\tilde{\rho}_2$ using lane 2 for overtaking.

of the class ρ_1 at back of queue, namely $x \in [0.5, 1]$, do overtaking using the Lane 2, while at head of queue, vehicles ρ_1 advance normally forming a rarefaction wave. After, on Lane 2, with respect to class $\tilde{\rho}_1$, we can see the formation of a shock at t = 0.75 and x = 1.625, approximately, it happens because the vehicles that have been overtaking, ρ_2 , and the vehicles of $\tilde{\rho}_1$ that returned from lane 1 are facing each other; at that moment, the vehicles of the $\tilde{\rho}_1$ class wait for those coming from the opposite direction to return to their preferred lane, so that they can continue moving forward. Now, regarding the class ρ_2 , from x = 1 we can see a decrease in density for all t, it means that after overtaking vehicles return to their preferred lane. In Figure 6.4.3 we see the behaviour of approximate solutions in three different times, t = 0, t = 0.3 and t = 1.

6.4.3 Example 14

With this example we want to illustrate the convergence of approximate solutions. For this end, we consider the same parameters of Example 13 at time t = 2.5. In Figure 6.4.4 we can see several approximate solutions computing by means Algorithm 6.3.1 for $\Delta x =$ 1/20, 1/40, 1/80, 1/160 and reference solution computed for $\Delta x = 1/640$. As expected,



Figure 6.4.2: Example 13. Bottom left: Vehicles of class ρ_1 traveling from left to right on Lane 1. Bottom right: Vehicles of class $\tilde{\rho}_2$ traveling from right to left on Lane 1. Top left: vehicles of class ρ_2 traveling from left to right, using lane 2 for overtaking. Top right: vehicles of class $\tilde{\rho}_1$ traveling from right to left, using lane 2 for returning, $t \in [0, 2.5]$.

as Δx goes to 0 the numerical solutions better approximate the reference solution, what can be checked in Table 6.4.1, in which the total error and the Experimental Order of Convergence (E.O.C.) in **L**¹ norm are shown.

Table 6.4.1: Example 14: Total L^1 -error $e_{\Delta x}(u)$ for numerical solutions computed by means of HW-type numerical scheme in Algorithm 6.3.1 with $\Delta x = 1/M$, M = 20, 40, 80, 160.

T = 0.25				
$1/\Delta x$	Total $e_{\Delta x}$	E.O.C.		
20	0.274			
40	0.1438	1.0134		
80	0.0736	1.0932		
160	0.0418	0.8012		



Figure 6.4.3: Example 13: numerical solutions of system (6.2.1) at t = 0, t = 0.3and t = 1. Bottom left: Density ρ_1 of vehicles traveling from left to right on Lane 1. At t = 0 we see the initial queue, at t = 0.3 a small shock with negative velocity is formed on the back of queue and a rarefaction wave on their head; at t = 1vehicles warn of the proximity of those coming from the opposite direction, this makes them slow down and the density begins to increase. Top left: Density ρ_2 of vehicles traveling from left to right. At t = 0 we have the initial condition, at t = 0.3 we observe an increasing of density, because vehicles of ρ_1 are using lane 2 for overtaking and at t = 1 we observe a decreasing of density because vehicles are returning to their preferred lane. Bottom right: Density $\tilde{\rho}_2$ of vehicles traveling from right to left on the lane 1. At t = 0 we observe the initial condition, at t = 0.3it is observed that a big density of vehicles return to their preferred lane, lane 2, and at t = 1 density continues decreasing because vehicles continue returning to lane 2. Top right: Density $\tilde{\rho}_1$ of vehicles traveling from right to left. At t = 0 we see $\tilde{\rho}_1 = 0$, at t = 0.3 we observe an increasing of density, because vehicles of $\tilde{\rho}_2$ are returning and then we observe the same pattern as in bottom left, even for t = 1.

6.5 Conclusions of Chapter 6

In this chapter we introduced a system of nonlocal balance laws which describes vehicular traffic flow in a two way and two lane road. System allows vehicles to overtake to adjacent lane and return to their preferred lane, namely, lane to their right. We distinguish four classes of vehicles, labeled ρ_1 , ρ_2 , $\tilde{\rho}_1$, $\tilde{\rho}_2$, according to the direction of travel and the lane that they use. We provided compactness estimates that allowed us to apply the Helly's Compactness Theorem to prove existence and convergence of entropy solutions. We show some numerical experiments in which some features of the model are displayed, namely, no crashes between vehicles, the overtaking and returning maneuvers, and also that two vehicles of different classes traveling in opposite direction can not



Figure 6.4.4: Example 14. Bottom: Convergence of sequence of approximate solutions ρ_1^{Δ} to reference solution. Top: Convergence of sequence of approximate solutions $\tilde{\rho}_1^{\Delta}$ to reference solution.

occupy the same cell. We was not able to prove a maximum principle for the proposed numerical scheme, but in all the numerical examples shown we can observe that the sum of vehicles density traveling in opposite direction in a same lane is always less than 1.

Chapter 7 Conclusions and future work

In this chapter we present a discussion of the main results of this thesis and a description of the future work to develop.

7.1 Conclusions

The main results of the thesis are related to the modeling, analysis and numerical approximation of nonlocal balance laws that model sedimentation and vehicular traffic. In this thesis we provided new models that allow to describe vehicular traffic flow on roads with different realistic features, e.g., roads with rough conditions, roads with on-off ramps and two way two lane roads. Likewise, this work also provides an approach for a rigorous treatment of boundary conditions in the case of a spatially one-dimensional nonlocal IBVP which models, for instance, a batch sedimentation process in a closed column, moreover we developed new numerical schemes that are more accurate and less diffusive in comparison to schemes based on the Lax-Friedrichs flux. We studied well-posedness of each introduced model and developed numerical simulations in order to show the behaviour of solutions. Here we present a summary with the main contributions and conclusions of the thesis.

The simulation model proposed in [55] can be understood as a simple method for approximating solutions of scalar conservation laws whose flux is of density times velocity type, where the density and velocity factors are evaluated on neighboring cells. The resulting scheme converges to the unique entropy solution of the underlying problem. The same idea was applied in the Chapter 2 of this thesis in order to devise a numerical scheme for a class of one-dimensional scalar conservation laws with nonlocal flux and initial and boundary conditions. The new developed numerical scheme takes advantage of the form in which the flow is written and results less diffusive than schemes based on the Lax-Friedrichs flux. Numerical experiments provided evidence of performance of the numerical scheme. In Chapter 3 we proved the well-posedness for a class of space-discontinuous scalar conservation laws with non-local flux arising in traffic modeling. We approximate the problem by means of a HW-type numerical scheme and we show convergence to a entropy weak solution of nonlocal conservation law considered in this chapter. We also establish \mathbf{L}^1 stability, and thus uniqueness for weak solutions satisfying the entropy condition.

In Chapter 4 we propose a new traffic flow model with nonlocal flux, which through the source and sink terms includes the effects of the inflow and output flow over the on- and off- ramps, respectively. The source term include a nonlocal term which models the fact that drivers on the on-ramp can see what happens behind and in front of them on the main road. We proved well-posedness of the proposed model and present some numerical experiments in order to show the effect of including ramps in a road. A limit model as the kernel support tends to zero is numerically investigated.

Chapter 5 was focused on to prove the stability of entropy weak solutions of a nonlocal balance law that models vehicular traffic flow on a road with on- and off-ramps, with respect to a function kernel present in a source term. We get an estimate of the dependence of the solution with respect to the initial datum, the on-ramp rate, the off-ramp rate and the mentioned kernel function. We also shown a sample numerical experiment in order to model an optimization problem in traffic flow with on-ramps.

Chapter 6, on the basis of assumptions about of behaviour of drivers concerning acceleration or slow down and lane changing maneuvers, a macroscopic traffic flow model for two lanes and two way road is constructed. The model allows maneuvers of lane changes, i.e. overtaking and returning between the two lanes, due to vehicle interactions, such maneuvers are modeled through source and sink terms. The resulting model is a system of balance law with nonlocal flux functions, in which each equation is a generalization of nonlocal LWR models proposed in [14, 51], but unlike those works, the model developed here considers velocity functions that depends not only on density of the class of vehicles traveling in their preferred lane but also of density of vehicles traveling in opposite direction on each lane. We proved the existence of weak solutions of the system and for that we use the HW-type numerical scheme in order to approximating solutions and proved that the limit of the discrete solutions constitutes a weak solution. In addition, we show numerical simulations in order to describe different traffic situations.

7.2 Future works

The methods developed and the results obtained in this thesis have motivated several ongoing and future projects. Some of them are described below:

- 1. Vehicular traffic. In the frame of this topic it has been proposed:
 - Multiclass and multilane traffic flow with on- and off-ramps. It is well known that on-ramp merging has a great impact on traffic efficiency,

if one concentrates on highway networks the reduction of the capacity is often due to on- and off-ramps, for this reason is important to construct more generalized macroscopic models in order to describe the dynamics of multiclass traffic flow on a multilane highways including on- and off-ramps. In this sense, the non-local models play a key role regarding lane changes and vehicular speed control. Taking into account this, It is natural propose to extend to its multilane and multiclass version the non-local model with on- and off-ramps (4.2.1) introduced in the Chapter 4 and study their wellposedness. A representation of such a model is shown in Figure 7.2.1.



Figure 7.2.1: Section of a highway with three lanes an on-ramp.

- Second-order schemes. We would like to consider a second-order version of the model (4.2.1) as in [82].
- Traffic flow management by means of calibrating models with real data. Due to the realistic features introduced in the traffic models studied here and the rapidly growing amount of data obtained by GPS, navigating tools like Google Maps or Waze and mobile phones within vehicles, it is necessary to consider the objective of developing a data-driven modeling approach for accurate calibration and simulation of vehicular traffic in real-life transportation networks, with applications in real-time decision support systems and urban planning. Moreover, by comparing model predictions with data and changing the values of the model parameters to obtain a maximum fit, a model can be calibrated which is a prerequisite for any meaningful application

2. Sedimentation processes. It has been proposed

• Non-local balance laws with memory. In sedimentation processes one of the forces that may act on a given particle is the Basset force, which addresses the temporal delay in the development of the boundary layer surrounding the particle as a consequence of changes in the relative velocity. This force is usually called the "history" force. This force is represented by an integral whose accurate numerical evaluation is rather difficult. Taking into account this, I am interested in develop approximate solutions to the non-local initial value problem

$$\gamma u_t + \beta * u_t + f(u)_x + g(y)_y = \Delta A(u), \quad (x, y, t) \in \Pi_T := \mathbb{R}^2 \times ((07\mathbb{Z})1)$$
$$u(x, y, 0) = u_0(x, y) \quad (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2, \tag{7.2.2}$$

We assume that $A(u) = \int_0^u a(s)ds$, $a(u) \ge 0$. Moreover, γ is a parameter that may assume the values $\gamma = 0$ or $\gamma = 1$, which also includes all cases $0 < \gamma < 1$ by suitable scaling. the memory term $\beta * u_t$ denotes the Volterra convolution integral

$$\beta * u_t = (\beta * u)_t(x, y, t) = \int_0^t \beta(t - s) u_t(x, y, s) ds.$$

Here we assume that for all t > 0, $\beta \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^+)$, $\beta(t) \ge 0$ is a non-increasing function. Of particular interest is the choice

$$\beta(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} t^{-\alpha}, \quad \alpha \in (0,1),$$

for which $\beta * u_t$ corresponds to the Caputo fractional derivative of order α . In order to carry out the proposed study I will rely on [69], where a numerical scheme was considered to approach an one dimensional conservation laws with memory represented by a Volterra term with a smooth decreasing but possibly unbounded kernel. Likewise, another important work to base the study of the proposed problem is [41], where the authors consider consistent, conservative-form, monotone difference schemes for a strongly degenerate nonlinear convection-diffusion equation in one space dimension in which solutions can be discontinuous and, in general, are not uniquely determined by their data, and they prove that the difference scheme converge to the unique **BV** entropy weak solution of the problem.

3. Pedestrian flow. We aim to investigate how to extend the numerical scheme developed in this thesis in applications such as crowd dynamics models where the function V(x,t) is a vector field containing the preference directions and nonlocal corrections terms.

Appendix

Appendix A: Technical estimates

In this appendix we show the computations for some estimates used in the proofs of above sections. First, we prove estimates (2.4.11) in the proof of Lemma 2.8. We denote $y_k := (k - 1/2)\Delta x$, for $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and then we compute

$$\begin{split} &|V_{j+3/2}^{n} - V_{j+1/2}^{n}| \\ &= \left| \frac{\Delta x}{W_{j+3/2}} \sum_{k=1}^{M} \omega^{k-j-1} v(\rho_{k}^{n}) - \frac{\Delta x}{W_{j+1/2}} \sum_{k=1}^{M} \omega^{k-j} v(\rho_{k}^{n}) \right| \\ &= \left| \frac{\Delta x}{W_{j+3/2}} \sum_{k=1}^{M} (\omega^{k-j-1} - \omega^{k-j}) v(\rho_{k}^{n}) + \Delta x \left(\frac{1}{W_{j+3/2}} - \frac{1}{W_{j+1/2}} \right) \sum_{k=1}^{M} \omega^{k-j} v(\rho_{k}^{n}) \right| \\ &\leq \left| \frac{\Delta x}{W_{j+3/2}} \sum_{k=1}^{M} (\omega^{k-j-1} - \omega^{k-j}) v(\rho_{k}^{n}) \right| \\ &+ \left| \frac{\Delta x^{2}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j+1/2}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{M} \omega^{k-j} v(\rho_{k}^{n}) \right) \sum_{k=1}^{M} (\omega^{k-j} - \omega^{k-j-1}) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{\Delta x ||v||_{\infty}}{|W_{j+3/2}|} \sum_{k=1}^{M} |\omega^{k-j-1} - \omega^{k-j}| \\ &+ \frac{\Delta x ||v||_{\infty}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j+1/2}} \left| \Delta x \left(\sum_{k=1}^{M} \omega^{k-j} \right) \sum_{k=1}^{M} (\omega^{k-j} - \omega^{k-j-1}) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{\Delta x}{K_{\omega}} ||v||_{\infty} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{M} \left| \int_{y_{k-j-1}}^{y_{k-j-1}} \omega'(y) \mathrm{d}y \right| + \sum_{k=1}^{M} |\omega^{k-j} - \omega^{k-j-1}| \right) \leq \mathcal{L}\Delta x \end{split}$$

with $\mathcal{L} = 2K_{\omega}^{-1} \|v\|_{\infty} \|\omega'\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})}$. Now following closely [50], we compute

$$\begin{aligned} \left| V_{j+3/2}^n - 2V_{j+1/2}^n + V_{j-1/2}^n \right| \\ &= \left| \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^M v(\rho_k^n) \left(\frac{\omega^{k-j-1}}{W_{j+3/2}} - \frac{\omega^{k-j}}{W_{j+1/2}} - \frac{\omega^{k-j}}{W_{j+1/2}} + \frac{\omega^{k-j+1}}{W_{j-1/2}} \right) \right| \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} &\leq \left| \frac{\Delta x^3}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j+1/2}} \left(\left(\sum_{k=1}^M v(\rho_k^n) \int_{\xi_{k-j-1/2}}^{\xi_{k-j+1/2}} \omega''(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right) \sum_{l=1}^M \omega^{l-j} \right. \\ &\quad - \left(\sum_{k=1}^M v(\rho_k^n) \omega^{k-j} \right) \sum_{l=1}^M \int_{\xi_{l-j-1/2}}^{\xi_{l-j+1/2}} \omega''(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right) \right| \\ &\quad + \left| \frac{2\Delta x^4 \|\omega'\|_{L^1}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j+1/2}W_{j-1/2}} \left(\left(\sum_{k=1}^M v(\rho_k^n) \omega^{k-j} \right) \sum_{l=1}^M \omega'(\xi_{l-j+1/2}) \right) \right. \\ &\quad - \left(\sum_{k=1}^M v(\rho_k^n) \omega'(\xi_{k-j+1/2}) \right) \sum_{l=1}^M \omega^{l-j} \right) \right| \\ &\leq \left| \frac{\Delta x^2 \|v\|_{\infty}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j+1/2}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^M \int_{\xi_{k-j-1/2}}^{\xi_{k-j+1/2}} \omega''(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right) \Delta x \sum_{l=1}^M \omega^{l-j} \right| \\ &\quad + \left| \frac{\Delta x^2 \|v\|_{\infty}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j+1/2}} \left(\Delta x \sum_{k=1}^M \omega^{k-j} \right) \sum_{l=1}^M \int_{\xi_{l-j-1/2}}^{\xi_{l-j+1/2}} \omega''(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right| \\ &\quad + \left| \frac{2\Delta x^2 \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)} \|v\|_{\infty}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j+1/2}W_{j-1/2}} \left(\Delta x \sum_{k=1}^M \omega^{k-j} \right) \Delta x \sum_{l=1}^M \omega'(\xi_{l-j+1/2}) \right| \\ &\quad + \left| \frac{2\Delta x^2 \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)} \|v\|_{\infty}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j+1/2}W_{j-1/2}} \left(\Delta x \sum_{k=1}^M \omega'(\xi_{k-j+1/2}) \right) \right) \Delta x \sum_{l=1}^M \omega^{l-j} \right| \\ &\leq \Delta x^2 \|v\|_{\infty} \left(\left| \frac{1}{W_{j+3/2}} \sum_{k=1}^M \int_{\xi_{k-j-1/2}}^{\xi_{k-j+1/2}} \omega''(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right| \\ &\quad + \left| \frac{2 \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j-1/2}} \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^M \omega'(\xi_{l-j+1/2}) \right| \\ &\quad + \left| \frac{2 \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j-1/2}} \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^M \omega'(\xi_{k-j+1/2}) \right| \\ &\quad + \left| \frac{2 \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j-1/2}} \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^M \omega'(\xi_{k-j+1/2}) \right| \\ &\quad + \left| \frac{2 \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j-1/2}} \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^M \omega'(\xi_{k-j+1/2}) \right| \\ &\quad + \left| \frac{2 \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j-1/2}} \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^M \omega'(\xi_{k-j+1/2}) \right| \\ &\quad + \left| \frac{2 \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j-1/2}} \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^M \omega'(\xi_{k-j+1/2}) \right| \\ &\quad + \left| \frac{2 \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)}}{W_{j+3/2}W_{j-1/2}} \Delta x \sum_{k=1}^M \omega'(\xi_{k-j+1/2}) \right| \\ \\ &\quad + 2 K_{\omega}^{-2} \Delta x^2 \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)}^2 \|v\|_{\infty} + 2 K_{\omega}^{-2} \Delta x^2 \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)}^2 \|v\|_{\infty} \leq \Delta x^2 \mathcal{W}, \end{aligned}$$

where we set $\mathcal{W} := 2K_{\omega}^{-1} \|v\|_{\infty} \|\omega''\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} + 4K_{\omega}^{-2} \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)}^2 \|v\|_{\infty}$ and $\xi_{k-j+1/2} \in]y_{k-j-1}, y_{k-j}[$. This concludes the proof of estimates (2.4.11) in the proof of Lemma 2.8. Next, we establish estimates (2.3.1) to (2.3.4) in Section 2.5. To this end

160

Appendix

we calculate

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\partial_x V(x,t)\right| \\ &= \left|-\frac{W'(x)}{(W(x))^2} \int_a^b v(\rho(y,t))\omega(y-x)\,\mathrm{d}y - \frac{1}{W(x)} \int_a^b v(\rho(y,t))\omega'(y-x)\,\mathrm{d}y\right| \\ &\leq 2K_\omega^{-1} \|v\|_\infty \|\omega'\|_{L^1(I)}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\partial_{xx}^{2}V\right| &= \left|\frac{-(W(x))^{2}W''(x) + 2(W'(x))W(x)}{(W(x))^{4}}\int_{a}^{b}v(\rho(y,t))\omega(y-x)\,\mathrm{d}y\right| \\ &+ \frac{W'(x)}{(W(x))^{2}}\int_{a}^{b}v(\rho(y,t))\omega'(y-x)\,\mathrm{d}y \\ &+ \frac{W'(x)}{(W(x))^{2}}\int_{a}^{b}v(\rho(y,t))\omega'(y-x)\,\mathrm{d}y \\ &+ \frac{1}{W(x)}\int_{a}^{b}v(\rho(y,t))\omega''(y-x)\,\mathrm{d}y \\ &\leq K^{-2}\|y\| = \|\varphi''\|_{2} \exp\|\varphi\|^{2} \exp\left|\varphi\|^{2} \exp\left|$$

$$\leq K_{\omega}^{-2} \|v\|_{\infty} \|\omega''\|_{L^{1}(I)} \|\omega\|_{L^{1}(I)} + 2K_{\omega}^{-3} \|v\|_{\infty} \|\omega'\|_{L^{1}(I)} \|\omega\|_{L^{1}(I)} \\ + 2K_{\omega}^{-2} \|v\|_{\infty} \|\omega'\|_{L^{1}(I)} + K_{\omega}^{-1} \|v\|_{\infty} \|\omega''\|_{L^{1}(I)},$$

$$\begin{aligned} \left| V(x,t) - U(x,t) \right| &= \left| \frac{1}{W(x)} \int_{a}^{b} \left(v(\rho(y,t)) - v(\sigma(y,t)) \right) \omega(y-x) \, \mathrm{d}y \right| \\ &= \left| \frac{1}{W(x)} \int_{a}^{b} v'(\xi)(\rho-\sigma)(y,t) \omega(y-x) \, \mathrm{d}y \right| \\ &\leq \left| \frac{\|\omega\|_{\infty(\mathbb{R})} \|v'\|_{\infty}}{K_{\omega}} \int_{a}^{b} |\rho(y,t) - \sigma(y,t)| \, \mathrm{d}y, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\partial_x V(x,t) - \partial_x U(x,t)\right| &= \left| -\frac{W'(x)}{(W(x))^2} \int_a^b \left(v(\rho(y,t)) - v(\sigma(y,t))\right) \omega(y-x) \, \mathrm{d}y \right. \\ &\left. -\frac{1}{W(x)} \int_a^b \left(v(\rho(y,t)) - v(\sigma(y,t))\right) \omega'(y-x) \, \mathrm{d}y \right| \\ &= \left| -\frac{W'(x)}{(W(x))^2} \int_a^b v'(\xi)(\rho-\sigma)(y,t) \omega(y-x) \, \mathrm{d}y \right. \\ &\left. -\frac{1}{W(x)} \int_a^b v'(\xi)(\rho-\sigma)(y,t) \omega'(y-x) \, \mathrm{d}y \right| \\ &\leq \left. \mathcal{M} \int_a^b \left|\rho(y,t) - \sigma(y,t)\right| \, \mathrm{d}y, \end{aligned}$$

with \mathcal{M} as in (2.3.4).

Bibliography

- [1] M. S. Adimurthi and G. V. Gowda. Optimal entropy solutions for conservation laws with discontinuous flux-functions. J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ., 2(04):783–837, 2005.
- [2] A. Aggarwal, R. M. Colombo, and P. Goatin. Nonlocal systems of conservation laws in several space dimensions. *SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis*, 53(2):963–983, 2015.
- [3] D. Amadori, S.-Y. Ha, and J. Park. On the global well-posedness of by weak solutions to the kuramoto-sakaguchi equation. J. Differ. Equations, 262(2):978–1022, 2017.
- [4] D. Amadori and W. Shen. An integro-differential conservation law arising in a model of granular flow. J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ., 9(1):105–131, 2012.
- [5] P. Amorim, F. Berthelin, and T. Goudon. A non-local scalar conservation law describing navigation processes. *Journal of Hyperbolic Differential Equations*, 17(04):809–841, 2020.
- [6] P. Amorim, R. M. Colombo, and A. Teixeira. On the numerical integration of scalar nonlocal conservation laws. ESAIM: Mathematical Modelling and Numerical Analysis, 49(1):19–37, 2015.
- [7] D. Armbruster, P. Degond, and C. Ringhofer. A model for the dynamics of large queuing networks and supply chains. SIAM J. Appl. Math., 66:896–920, 2006.
- [8] E. Audusse and B. Perthame. Uniqueness for scalar conservation laws with discontinuous flux via adapted entropies. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, 135(2):253–265, 2005.
- [9] F. Bachmann and J. Vovelle. Existence and uniqueness of entropy solution of scalar conservation laws with a flux function involving discontinuous coefficients. *Communications in Partial Differential Equations*, 31(3):371–395, 2006.
- [10] C. Bardos, A. Y. le Roux, and J.-C. Nédélec. First order quasilinear equations with boundary conditions. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, 4(9):1017–1034, 1979.
- [11] A. Bayen, J. Friedrich, A. Keimer, L. Pflug, and T. Veeravalli. Modeling multilane traffic with moving obstacles by nonlocal balance laws. *SIAM Journal on Applied Dynamical Systems*, 21(2):1495–1538, 2022.

- [12] F. Berthelin and P. Goatin. Regularity results for the solutions of a non-local model of traffic flow. Discrete & Continuous Dynamical Systems, 39(6):3197, 2019.
- [13] F. Betancourt, R. Bürger, K. H. Karlsen, and E. M. Tory. On nonlocal conservation laws modelling sedimentation. *Nonlinearity*, 24(3):855, 2011.
- [14] S. Blandin and P. Goatin. Well-posedness of a conservation law with non-local flux arising in traffic flow modeling. *Numerische Mathematik*, 132(2):217–241, 2016.
- [15] R. Bürger, A. García, K. Karlsen, and J. Towers. A family of numerical schemes for kinematic flows with discontinuous flux. *Journal of Engineering Mathematics*, 60(3-4):387–425, 2008.
- [16] R. Bürger, K. H. Karlsen, N. H. Risebro, and J. D. Towers. Well-posedness in by t and convergence of a difference scheme for continuous sedimentation in ideal clarifier-thickener units. *Numerische Mathematik*, 97(1):25–65, 2004.
- [17] R. Bürger, K. H. Karlsen, and J. D. Towers. An engquist-osher-type scheme for conservation laws with discontinuous flux adapted to flux connections. *SIAM Journal* on numerical analysis, 47(3):1684–1712, 2009.
- [18] R. Bürger, K. H. Karlsen, and J. D. Towers. An Engquist-Osher-type scheme for conservation laws with discontinuous flux adapted to flux connections. *SIAM J. Numer. Anal.*, 47(3):1684–1712, 2009.
- [19] R. Bürger, H. D. Contreras, and L. M. Villada. A Hilliges-Weidlichtype scheme for a one-dimensional scalar conservation law with nonlocal flux. preprint, Mathematical Engineering Research Center (CI2MA), https://www.ci2ma.udec.cl/publicaciones/prepublicaciones/prepublicacion.php?id=494, 2022.
- [20] F. A. Chiarello. An overview of non-local traffic flow models. Mathematical Descriptions of Traffic Flow: Micro, Macro and Kinetic Models, pages 79–91, 2021.
- [21] F. A. Chiarello and G. M. Coclite. Non-local scalar conservation laws with discontinuous flux. arXiv preprint arXiv:2003.01975, 2020.
- [22] F. A. Chiarello, H. D. Contreras, and L. M. Villada. Existence of entropy weak solutions for 1d non-local trafficmodels with space-discontinuous flux. *Preprint*, 2022.
- [23] F. A. Chiarello, H. D. Contreras, and L. M. Villada. Nonlocal reaction traffic flow model with on-off ramps. *Networks and Heterogeneous Media*, 17(2):203, 2022.
- [24] F. A. Chiarello, H. D. Contreras, and L. M. Villada. Stability estimates for nonlocal balance laws arising in traffic modelling. *Preprint*, 2022.

- [25] F. A. Chiarello, J. Friedrich, P. Goatin, S. Göttlich, and O. Kolb. A non-local traffic flow model for 1-to-1 junctions. *European Journal of Applied Mathematics*, page 1–21, 2020.
- [26] F. A. Chiarello and P. Goatin. Non-local multi-class traffic flow models. Networks & Heterogeneous Media, 14(2):371, 2019.
- [27] F. A. Chiarello and P. Goatin. A non-local system modeling bi-directional traffic flows. 2022.
- [28] F. A. Chiarello, P. Goatin, and E. Rossi. Stability estimates for non-local scalar conservation laws. Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications, 45:668–687, 2019.
- [29] F. A. Chiarello, P. Goatin, and L. M. Villada. Lagrangian-antidiffusive remap schemes for non-local multi-class traffic flow models. *Computational and Applied Mathematics*, 39(2):1–22, 2020.
- [30] F. A. Chiarello and L. M. Villada. On existence of entropy solutions for 1d nonlocal conservation laws with space discontinuous flux. arXiv preprint arXiv:2103.13362, 2021.
- [31] G. M. Coclite and N. H. Risebro. Conservation laws with time dependent discontinuous coefficients. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 36(4):1293–1309, 2005.
- [32] R. M. Colombo, M. Garavello, and M. Lécureux-Mercier. A class of nonlocal models for pedestrian traffic. *Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences*, 22(04):1150023, 2012.
- [33] R. M. Colombo, M. Herty, and M. Mercier. Control of the continuity equation with a non local flow. ESAIM: Control, Optimisation and Calculus of Variations, 17(2):353–379, 2011.
- [34] R. M. Colombo and M. Lécureux-Mercier. Nonlocal crowd dynamics models for several populations. Acta Math. Sci. Ser. B Engl. Ed., 32(1):177–196, 2012.
- [35] R. M. Colombo and E. Rossi. Rigorous estimates on balance laws in bounded domains. Acta Math. Sci. Ser. B Engl. Ed., 35(4):906–944, 2015.
- [36] R. M. Colombo and E. Rossi. Nonlocal conservation laws in bounded domains. SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis, 50(4):4041–4065, 2018.
- [37] H. D. Contreras, P. Goatin, and L. M. Villada. Two way nonlocal traffic model. *Preprint*, 2022.
- [38] M. G. Crandall and A. Majda. Monotone difference approximations for scalar conservation laws. *Math. Comp.*, 34(149):1–21, 1980.

- [39] C. De Filippis and P. Goatin. The initial-boundary value problem for general nonlocal scalar conservation laws in one space dimension. *Nonlinear Analysis*, 161:131– 156, 2017.
- [40] M. L. Delle Monache, J. Reilly, S. Samaranayake, W. Krichene, P. Goatin, and A. M. Bayen. A pde-ode model for a junction with ramp buffer. *SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics*, 74(1):22–39, 2014.
- [41] S. Evje and K. H. Karlsen. Monotone difference approximations of bv solutions to degenerate convection-diffusion equations. SIAM journal on numerical analysis, 37(6):1838–1860, 2000.
- [42] F. A. Chiarello and P. Goatin. Global entropy weak solutions for general non-local traffic flow models with anisotropic kernel. ESAIM: M2AN, 52(1):163–180, 2018.
- [43] J. Friedrich, S. Göttlich, and E. Rossi. Nonlocal approaches for multilane traffic models. *Communications in Mathematical Sciences*, 19(8):2291–2317, 2021.
- [44] J. Friedrich, O. Kolb, and S. Göttlich. A Godunov type scheme for a class of LWR traffic flow models with non-local flux. *Networks & Heterogeneous Media*, 13(4):531, 2018.
- [45] M. Garavello, R. Natalini, B. Piccoli, and A. Terracina. Conservation laws with discontinuous flux. *Netw. Heterog. Media*, 2(1):159–179, 2007.
- [46] M. Garavello and B. Piccoli. Traffic flow on networks, volume 1 of AIMS Series on Applied Mathematics. American Institute of Mathematical Sciences (AIMS), Springfield, MO, 2006. Conservation laws models.
- [47] T. Gimse and N. H. Risebro. Riemann problems with a discontinuous flux function. In Proceedings of Third International Conference on Hyperbolic Problems, volume 1, pages 488–502, 1991.
- [48] T. Gimse and N. H. Risebro. Solution of the Cauchy problem for a conservation law with a discontinuous flux function. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 23(3):635–648, 1992.
- [49] P. Goatin and E. Rossi. A multilane macroscopic traffic flow model for simple networks. SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics, 79(5):1967–1989, 2019.
- [50] P. Goatin and E. Rossi. Well-posedness of IBVP for 1D scalar non-local conservation laws. ZAMM Z. Angew. Math. Mech., 99(11):e201800318, 26, 2019.
- [51] P. Goatin and S. Scialanga. Well-posedness and finite volume approximations of the LWR traffic flow model with non-local velocity. *Netw. Heterog. Media*, 11(1):107– 121, 2016.
- [52] S. Göttlich and P. Schindler. Discontinuous Galerkin Method for Material Flow Problems. Math. Probl. Eng., pages Art. ID 341893, 15, 2015.

- [53] Y. Han, M. Ramezani, A. Hegyi, Y. Yuan, and S. Hoogendoorn. Hierarchical ramp metering in freeways: an aggregated modeling and control approach. *Transportation* research part C: emerging technologies, 110:1–19, 2020.
- [54] D. Helbing, A. Hennecke, V. Shvetsov, and M. Treiber. Master: macroscopic traffic simulation based on a gas-kinetic, non-local traffic model. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 35(2):183–211, 2001.
- [55] M. Hilliges and W. Weidlich. A phenomenological model for dynamic traffic flow in networks. Transportation Research Part B: Methodological, 29(6):407–431, 1995.
- [56] H. Holden and N. H. Risebro. Models for dense multilane vehicular traffic. SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis, 51(5):3694–3713, 2019.
- [57] D. Jacquet, C. C. De Wit, and D. Koenig. Optimal ramp metering strategy with extended lwr model, analysis and computational methods. *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, 38(1):99–104, 2005.
- [58] K. H. Karlsen, N. H. Risebro, and J. D. Towers. L¹ stability for entropy solutions of nonlinear degenerate parabolic convection-diffusion equations with discontinuous coefficients. *Preprint series. Pure mathematics http://urn. nb. no/URN: NBN: no-*8076, 2003.
- [59] K. H. Karlsen and J. D. Towers. Convergence of the lax-friedrichs scheme and stability for conservation laws with a discontinuous space-time dependent flux. *Chinese Annals of Mathematics*, 25(03):287–318, 2004.
- [60] K. H. Karlsen and J. D. Towers. Convergence of a Godunov scheme for conservation laws with a discontinuous flux lacking the crossing condition. J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ., 14(04):671–701, 2017.
- [61] A. Keimer, M. Singh, and T. Veeravalli. Existence and uniqueness results for a class of nonlocal conservation laws by means of a Lax–Hopf-type solution formula. *Journal of Hyperbolic Differential Equations*, 17(04):677–705, 2020.
- [62] C. Klingenberg and N. H. Risebro. Convex conservation laws with discontinuous coefficients. Existence, uniqueness and asymptotic behavior. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, 20(11-12):1959–1990, 1995.
- [63] S. N. Kruzhkov. First order quasilinear equations in several independent variables. Matematicheskii Sbornik, 123(2):228–255, 1970.
- [64] A. Kurganov and A. Polizzi. Non-oscillatory central schemes for a traffic flow model with Arrehenius look-ahead dynamics. *Netw. Heterog. Media*, 4(3):431–451, 2009.
- [65] G. J. Kynch. A theory of sedimentation. Transactions of the Faraday society, 48:166–176, 1952.

- [66] M. J. Lighthill and G. B. Whitham. On kinematic waves. II. A theory of traffic flow on long crowded roads. Proc. Roy. Soc. London. Ser. A., 229:317–345, 1955.
- [67] G. Lipták, M. Pereira, B. Kulcsár, M. Kovács, and G. Szederkényi. Traffic reaction model. arXiv preprint arXiv:2101.10190, 2021.
- [68] G. Liu, A. S. Lyrintzis, and P. G. Michalopoulos. Modelling of freeway merging and diverging flow dynamics. *Applied mathematical modelling*, 20(6):459–469, 1996.
- [69] M. Peszynska. Numerical scheme for a scalar conservation law with memory. Numerical Methods for Partial Differential Equations, 30, 01 2014.
- [70] B. Piccoli and F. Rossi. Transport equation with nonlocal velocity in Wasserstein spaces: convergence of numerical schemes. *Acta Appl. Math.*, 124:73–105, 2013.
- [71] B. Piccoli and A. Tosin. Time-evolving measures and macroscopic modeling of pedestrian flow. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 199(3):707–738, 2011.
- [72] P. I. Richards. Shock waves on the highway. Operations Res., 4:42–51, 1956.
- [73] J. Ridder and W. Shen. Traveling waves for nonlocal models of traffic flow. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 39(1078-0947 2019 7 4001):4001, 2019.
- [74] E. Rossi. Definitions of solutions to the IBVP for multi-dimensional scalar balance laws. Journal of Hyperbolic Differential Equations, 15(02):349–374, 2018.
- [75] E. Rossi. Well-posedness of general 1d initial boundary value problems for scalar balance laws. Discrete & Continuous Dynamical Systems - A, 39:3577–3608, 06 2019.
- [76] N. Seguin and J. Vovelle. Analysis and approximation of a scalar conservation law with a flux function with discontinuous coefficients. *Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences*, 13(02):221–257, 2003.
- [77] W. Shen and T. Zhang. Erosion profile by a global model for granular flow. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 204(3):837–879, 2012.
- [78] D. B. Siano. Layered sedimentation in suspensions of monodisperse spherical colloidal particles. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 68:111–127, 01 1979.
- [79] A. Sopasakis and M. A. Katsoulakis. Stochastic modeling and simulation of traffic flow: asymmetric single exclusion process with arrhenius look-ahead dynamics. *SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics*, 66(3):921–944, 2006.
- [80] J. Sun, Z. Li, and J. Sun. Study on traffic characteristics for a typical expressway on-ramp bottleneck considering various merging behaviors. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 440:57–67, 2015.

- [81] T. Tie-Qiao, H. Hai-Jun, and S. Hua-Yan. Effects of the number of on-ramps on the ring traffic flow. *Chinese Physics B*, 19(5):050517, 2010.
- [82] T. Tie-Qiao, H. Hai-Jun, S. Wong, G. Zi-You, and Z. Ying. A new macro model for traffic flow on a highway with ramps and numerical tests. *Communications in Theoretical Physics*, 51(1):71, 2009.
- [83] J. D. Towers. Convergence of a difference scheme for conservation laws with a discontinuous flux. SIAM journal on numerical analysis, 38(2):681–698, 2000.
- [84] T. Wang, J. Zhang, Z. Gao, W. Zhang, and S. Li. Congested traffic patterns of twolane lattice hydrodynamic model with on-ramp. *Nonlinear Dynamics*, 88(2):1345– 1359, 2017.